

Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state, Nigeria to implement the World Health Organisation African Region's primary eye care package.

ADA AGHAJI

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of London

February 2024

Department of Clinical Research Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Diseases London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine.

Funded by: The Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium, through the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust.

Research Group affiliation(s): International Centre for Eye Health

Declaration

I, Ada Aghaji, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where data and information have been derived from other sources, I confirm that these have been indicated in the thesis. I devised a technical feasibility capacity profile for primary eye care to guide countries wishing to implement, based on an internationally accepted feasibility framework. This profile was sent to nine experts in eye care I sub-Saharan Africa for their input and the final document was used as the basis for this study.

All analyses were undertaken by me, with advisory support from my supervisors.

Signature

Date 3rd February 2024

Abstract

Introduction

Globally 80% of the 596.3 million people worldwide who are blind or visually impaired have conditions where sight could be restored or where interventions could have prevented visual loss. An even greater number have less severe conditions where treatment is warranted. In low-and-middle income countries (LIMCs) the main reason why people become or remain blind is lack of access to eye care services. Primary health care (PHC) is the cornerstone of health care, and the same applies to eye health. However, primary eye care (PEC) as an integral component of PHC is lacking in most LMICs. In response, the World Health Organization AFRO region recently launched a PEC package for Africa (WHO AFRO PEC package) to be delivered at PHC level. It has facility-based management and health promotion components. A literature review identified many limitations to the delivery of PEC in Africa, and no studies explored the extent to which PHC has the capacities to deliver PEC. This mixed-methods study aimed to address this in six districts in Anambra State, Nigeria.

Methods

The study had the following elements: literature reviews of 1. PEC in LMICs and of theoretical frameworks on the feasibility of delivering health interventions; 2. review of relevant Nigerian policy documents; 3. a Delphi exercise to finalise the technical complexity of the two components of the WHO AFRO PEC package and the capacities needed at PHC level to deliver it; 4. development and pilot testing study tools; 5. a study in 48 PHC facilities (33 health centres and 15 health posts) and 5. In-depth interviews with district level supervisors and purposively selected heads of nine facilities. Data were analysed to identify capacity gaps using WHO's health systems framework.

Results

The following key gaps were identified: underdeveloped policy in relation to PEC in Nigeria; weak supportive supervision and lack of referral systems; eye conditions are not being recorded in registers or reported; marked under-staffing of health centres but not health posts and high staff turnover; most facilities lacked visual acuity charts and almost all had no eye medication in stock. The majority of facilities focussed on maternal and child health which was reflected in the age of patients who attended. Only four facilities provided eye care services. Two unexpected findings were that a quarter of those working in study facilities were ad hoc workers or graduate volunteers, and some facilities were visited by eye care providers who provide services. Health promotion consisted mainly of creating awareness of services available at primary health care facilities and did not promote health

literacy. Furthermore, health promotion activities were largely unsupervised and focussed mainly on maternal and child health activities.

Conclusions

Recommendations arising from the findings in relation to the delivery of the WHO AFRO PEC package as an integral component of PHC include the need to realign and strengthen policies; eye conditions need to be included in health management systems; training should be included in pre-service training of all PHC cadres and supervisors will need orientation on PEC; referral systems need to be put in place; all facilities need visual acuity charts and torches; advocacy will be needed to ensure all medication included in the Essential Drugs List are available, and strategies will need to be adopted to increase demand.

PREFACE (format of the thesis)

This PhD thesis uses the "research/review paper" format that was recently introduced by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. It therefore includes a number of papers which have been published, submitted or are formatted for submission to peer-reviewed journals. The chapters listed in the Contents page are formatted this way and where applicable, include publication details in a cover sheet, which includes acknowledgements of the contributions of other people. Other information and data not presented or covered in the papers, but which make the body the thesis more understandable and are included as linking material in other chapters. The linking chapters were written by Ada Aghaji.

Acknowledgements

The following persons contributed to make this work possible.

My heartfelt gratitude to Professor Clare Gilbert. From the beginning, she has been a pillar of support, guiding the research process and making sure it was on track. She taught me so much about robust research, from ethics, data collection tools, data management and academic writing. She also ensured that I had all the support I needed to finish this project. She has been more than a supervisor- a mentor, a mother, a big sister. I look forward to working with her on other projects.

Dr Helen Burchett. Her attention to detail has been phenomenal and she has taught me how to focus on the main picture.

Professor Allen Foster who supported me to get this study on track.

Prof Jayne Webster for appropriate and insightful feedback.

I appreciate Professor Matthew Burton, Director of the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium and current Director of the International Centre for Eye health, for his encouragement during the research period and for generously funding this work.

The support of my family members has been invaluable. My husband, Martin who stoically endured many months of my absence while I undertook this study. To my children Chukwumbudike, Chiugo, Okigbo, Dumkenechukwu, Chukwuemeka, Ugochukwu and Chisom who gave me emotional support and enjoyed having a mother who was a student; my parents and siblings who kept motivating me and cheering me on.

The Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency Executive Secretary Chioma Ezenyimulu for her support and granting me access to my study primary health care facilities. To the district supervisors for health and all the health workers in my study areas who gave me maximum cooperation. To my research team, especially Ekene Uzokwe who went over and beyond the call of duty to simplify the logistics for this study.

To the University of Nigeria that granted me study leave to undertake this research and my colleagues at the Department of Ophthalmology who covered my academic and clinical duties during the study period.

To the staff of the International Centre for Eye Health who have been like family to me and supported me every step of the way.

Finally, to Almighty God Who protected me and the research team during our numerous travels, even to hard-to-reach areas and Our Blessed Mother whose Intercessions made all this possible.

From the bottom of my heart, I say thank you.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to all those who will seek eye care services at primary care facilities and the health workers who will treat them. May both the demand and the supply sides of primary eye care be satisfying for all concerned.

Contributors

Person	Position	Contribution
Clare Gilbert	Professor of International Eye Health, LSHTM	Main PhD Supervisor
Helen Burchett	Assistant Professor Faculty of Public Health and Policy, LSHTM	PhD Supervisor
Allen Foster	Professor of International Eye Health, LSHTM	PhD Advisory Committee
Jayne Webster	Professor. of International Health and Evaluation, LSHTM	PhD Advisory Committee
Matthew Burton	Director Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium	Main Sponsor Organization
Martin Holland	LSHTM	Research Degree Coordinator
Helen White	LSHTM	Research Degree Administrator
Sarah O'Regan	Project Coordinator CEHC	Research and grant administration
Anthony Climpson Stewart	CEHC Project Administrator	Research and grant administration
Andy Roberts	CEHC Project Administrator	Research and grant administration
Shaffa Hameed	Research Fellow LSHTM	Topic guide support
David MacLeod	Assistant Professor of Statistics, LSHTM	Statistics support
Ngozi Oguego	Research Assistant	Data collection
Sunday Isiyaku	Country Director, Sightsavers	Supplied important documents
Wanjiku Mathenge	Professor of Ophthalmology, Rwanda	Delphi support
Hannah Faal	Professor of Ophthalmology, Nigeria	Delphi support
Ekene Uzokwe	Local Project Coordinator	Study logistics and administration
Obinna Onwuejekwe	Local Grants Administrator	Grant Administration

ABBREVIATIONS

AFRO	Africa Region
ASPHCDA	Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency
CHEW	Community Health Extension Worker
СНО	Community Health Officer
GAP	Global Action Plan
HMIS	Health Management Information Systems
HoF	Head of Facility
HP	Health Post
HRH	Human Resources for Health
IAPB	International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness
IM	Intramuscular
(J)CHEW	Junior Community Health Extension Worker or Community Health Extension Worker
LGA	Local Government Authority
LMIC	Low- or middle-income country
NCD	Non-Communicable Diseases
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
NHP	National Health Policy
NMW	Nurse Midwife
NPHCDA	National Primary Health Care Development Agency
NSHDP	National Strategic Health Development Plan
OIC	Officer in charge
PEC	Primary Eye Care
РНС	Primary Health Care
PHCFs	Primary Health Care Facilities
PHCUOR	Primary Health Care Under One Roof
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
SOML	Saving One Million Lives

SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SUP	Supervisor
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
VHW	Village Health Worker
WHO	World Health Organization

Table of Contents

Declaration	i
Abstract	ii
PREFACE (format of the thesis)	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Dedication	vii
Contributors	viii
Abbreviations	ix
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Case study	2
1.1 Blindness and vision impairment and impact	3
1.2 Primary eye care	4
1.3 Primary eye care in Africa	7
1.4 WHO AFRO Primary Eye Care Package	7
1.5 Primary health care workers in Nigeria	10
1.6 Setting of the study.	11
Paper 1: Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria.	14
Chapter 2 Rationale, Aims, Objectives, Research Questions	21
Chapter 3 Methods	27
3.1 Overview of the methods	28
Paper 2: The technical feasibility of integrating eye care into the health system at primary health care level in Nigeria: protocol for a mixed methods cross sectional study in Anambra State.	35
Paper 3: Results of a Delphi exercise to identify health system capacities required to deliver the World Health Organization's primary eye care package for Africa	49

Chapter 4 Results 6				
Paper 4: Human resources and governance challenges in the delivery of Primary Eye Care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria.				
Paper 4A: Policies for Primary Eyecare in Nigeria: A case study.	83			
Paper 5: Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nig equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information sys	• X/			
Paper 6: Assessing the capacity of primary health care facilities in Nigeria to delive health promotion. Results of a mixed methods feasibility study.	er eye 100			
Paper 6A: Delivering Eye health promotion: Why and How.	120			
Paper 7: Capacity gaps at primary health care level to deliver the WHO AFRO pact primary eye care in Nigeria: implications for policy and implementation.	kage for 125			
Chapter 5 Discussion & Conclusion	140			
1. Summary of the study and key findings	141			
2. Critique of the content of the WHO package	142			
3. Critique of the methodology	142			
4. Critique of published papers	144			
5. Generalisability	145			
6. Dissemination of findings and their impact	146			
7. Implications of the findings for policy and service delivery (see Paper 7)	146			
8. Implications of the findings for research	146			
9. Development of rapid assessment tools for Africa	148			
Concluding Remarks	149			
Appendices	151			
Appendix 1 Ethical Approvals	152			
Appendix 2 PEC Algorithms 15				
Appendix 3 Head of Facility Checklist	162			
Appendix 4 Head of Facility Questionnaire 1				
Appendix 5 Checklist for (J)CHEWs 170				
Appendix 6 (J)CHEW Questionnaire 173				

Appendix 7 Village Health Workers Questionnaire	180
Appendix 8 Head of Facility Topic guide	184
Appendix 9 District Supervisor Topic Guide	187
Appendix 10 Information Sheets and Consent Forms	194
Appendix 11. Additional Files from Paper 3: Results of a Delphi Exercise.	196
Appendix 12. Additional Files BMC Governance & Human Resources	203
Appendix 13 Additional Files BMC Equipment & Service Delivery	212
Appendix 14 Additional Information PLOS Public Global Health. Health Promotion Paper.	218

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION



The longest journey begins with a single step...the road to a PHC facility in Anambra state.

Case study

Sitting in the eye clinic and attending to patients, many of whom come in too late to be helped made me wonder how I could change the paradigm. One day a cataract blind 8month-old infant with a lovely smile was brought to see me. Her mother recounted all the hurdles she had to jump to come to the eye clinic. "How can a baby at this tender age start going to see the eye doctor?" family and community members asked. But the baby's mother stuck to her guns. After examinations and tests, we made a diagnosis of congenital rubella syndrome, and the baby underwent surgery. Surgery was uneventful but the visual outcome was sub-optimal. She was eventually chased out of her matrimonial home by her husband's family who felt she was bewitched to have given birth to a blind child. The baby's smile haunted me, and I felt that the system had failed both mother and child. Why hadn't we created awareness of childhood eye conditions in rural communities? Why wasn't the cataract detected earlier? How could we have made eye care more accessible to her? That was the push I needed to change the narrative and see how we could develop and implement primary eye care with health promotion to create awareness of eye conditions and make treatment timely and accessible. I felt the best way to do this was a top-down approach, so I took a year out to do a sabbatical at the National Primary Health Care Development Agency- an institution responsible for the development and implementation of primary health care policies in Nigeria. There it dawned on me that policy does not change overnight...and more importantly we needed evidence to support any policy change; hence my sojourn to the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine to undertake a research degree.

1.1 Blindness and vision impairment and impact

Globally, 596 million people were estimated to have distance vision impairment in 2020, 43 million of whom were blind. Another 510 million people had uncorrected near vision impairment. About 90% of those affected live in low-income and middle-income countries.(1) This means that almost one in seven people worldwide have vision impairment. Despite the large number of people affected, in 2017 blindness accounted for only 29.9 million DALYS globally which is lower than for hearing impairment (34.2 million) and far lower than for neonatal disorders (186 million) and diabetes (67.9 million). (2) (Table 1). The rankings are similar for age-adjusted DALY rates. These findings are likely to reflect why the control of blindness is not always prioritized politically. However, what is not captured in these data are the fact that low cost, highly effective and scalable solutions are available for the major causes of vision impairment and blindness.

Table 1. DALYS due	to blindness and	other disorder	s, globally and in su	b-Saharan
Africa				

	Total DALYS (millions)		Age-adjusted DALY rate/100,000 population		
	Global(2)	SSA(3)	Global(2)	SSA	Europe/high income
Blindness (2017)	29.9		377		
Cataract in (2015)	8.0	0.35	101.8	90 (3)	27 (3)
Refractive error	8.0		102.2	62.8*(4)	55.1* (4)
Neonatal disorders	186,000		2,765		
Diabetes	67,900		839.0		
Hearing impairment	34,200		434.6		

*Moderate and severe visual impairment and blindness

The DALY estimates for eye conditions vary from region to region. For example, the total number of DALYs for cataract blindness in Africa is lower than in other regions but ageadjusted DALY rates (90/100,00) are higher than in Europe (27/100,000), the Western Pacific and America.(3) The age standardized DALY rates for blindness from refractive errors is 1.1/100,000 population in high income countries and 6.89/100,000 population in sub-Saharan Africa.(4) Hence the populations of sub-Saharan Africa are more severely impacted by eye conditions than populations in more developed economies. The impact of blindness in terms of DALYS and where it is ranked, is largely determined by age structure of the population and the weighting given to each condition, which for blindness declined from 0.6 in 1994 to 0.173 in 2015.(2)

It is estimated that 58.4 million Africans are blind or visually impaired. In addition, over 51 million have near vision impairment.(5) However, only 30% of Africans have access to eye care(6) which is usually delivered at secondary or tertiary health facilities. A lack of access to

.

eyecare is why people become or remain blind.(1) Another reason for high levels of vision impairment in Africa is a lack of health promotion such as facial cleanliness to prevent trachoma, and physical activity and low carbohydrate diet to prevent diabetes.

1.2 Primary eye care

The World Health Organisation Global Action Plan 2014-2019 advocates a primary health care approach to eye care (Primary Eye Care) to increase access.(7) Primary eye care (PEC) is an integrated, participatory and inclusive approach to the eye health component of PHC consisting of promotive, preventive, curative and rehabilitative services.(8) The potential for PEC was realized when it was noted that, with minimal equipment, primary health care workers could be taught to identify patients with red eyes, cataracts and with additional skills, measure visual acuity- a crucial indicator of the health of the eye.(9) This could have far reaching implications for the development of eye care services at the primary level, therefore increasing access to basic eye care.(10) In the absence of eye care, including at the primary level, people with eye conditions may self-medicate, use traditional eye remedies, or purchase inappropriate medication from informal sources.(11) In Nigeria a traditional practice for cataract is couching, in which the opaque lens is dislocated into the back of the eye by a sharp instrument, often with disastrous consequences.(12)

Several eye conditions can be managed at the PHC level either by prevention, detection and treatment or detection and referral (Table 2).

Table 2. Eye conditions that can be identified, treated or referred at primary health care level.

Eye Condition	Description	Common symptoms	Prevention/ treatment	Management at Primary Health Care level
Eye conditions which c	cause blindness or visual impairment			
Conditions principally	of adults			
Cataract	 Age related condition Increasing opacity of the lens of the eye Usually bilateral Commonest cause of blindness in Nigeria 	Gradual painless loss of vision	Surgery restores vision	Detect, refer, counsel
Refractive error	 Blurred distance vision Commonest cause of visual impairment in Nigeria 	Gradual painless loss of vision	Spectacles restore distance vision	Detect, refer, counsel
Presbyopia	 Blurred near vision Affects most people over the age of 50 years 	Gradual painless loss of near vision	Spectacles restore near vision	Detect, give reading glasses
Glaucoma	 Gradual, progressive, painless loss of peripheral vision Can lead to bilateral, irreversible blindness. Second commonest cause of blindness in Nigeria 	Gradual painless loss of vision	Early detection and treatment can preserve vision	Detect, refer, counsel
Diabetic retinopathy	Complication of diabetes	Gradual painless loss of vision	This can be prevented by better control of diabetes, including self- management through diet.	Refer people with diabetes for eye examination
Corneal ulcer	 Infection often secondary to mild trauma. May be fungal 	Pain and loss of vision		Health promotion, detect and refer
HIV eye disease	Manifestation of untreated HIV	Skin lesions on lid, painless loss of vision		Detect and refer
Trachoma	 Commonest cause of infectious blindness in Nigeria. Transmitted by flies. Active infection in children; lid scarring, trichiasis and corneal scaring in adults. 	Pain/discomfort, loss of vision	Face/environmental hygiene. Mass administration of antibiotic; surgery for trichiasis	Health promotion, detect, treat

Eye Condition	Description	Common symptoms	Prevention/ treatment	Management at Primary Health Care level
Ocular trauma	Many be blunt or penetrating; foreign body	Pain / loss of vision from trauma		Health promotion, first aid, refer if serious
Loss of vision of unknown cause		Sudden or gradual loss of vision		Detect and refer
Childhood conditions				
Vitamin A deficiency	 Nutritional blindness affecting children < 5 years of age. Common cause of childhood blindness in low-income countries 	Sudden painless loss of vision	Vitamin A supplementation; vitamin A rich food; exclusive breast feeding to 6 months	Health promotion, detect, treat
Measles	 Vaccine preventable blindness in children Causes corneal opacity 	Pain with loss of vision	Measles vaccination	Prevent
Conjunctivitis of the new- born	 Caused by a sexually transmitted disease in the mother as the new- born passes down the mother's birth canal. 	Red eye(s) with thick discharge	Topical antibiotic at birth	Prevent, treat, refer more serious cases
Cataract in children	Can be genetic or due to congenital rubella	White pupil: child cannot see	Rubella vaccination	Detect white pupil, refer
Squint in children	Usually secondary to refractive errors	In/out turning eye	Spectacles and/or surgery	Detect, refer
Retinoblastoma	Can be genetic	White pupil; eye swelling; red painful eye; squint	Depends on stage	Detect white pupil, refer
Milder eye conditions	·			
Conjunctivitis	• Allergic or infective inflammation of the conjunctiva. Common in children and young adults	Red sticky eye(s)	Anti-allergic or anti- bacterial eye drops will provide relief	Treat, refer
Dry eyes	 Commoner in the elderly and postmenopausal women. Irritable itchy eyes often with a burning sensation. 	Discomfort	Eye lubricants often provide relief.	Detect, treat or refer

1.3 Primary eye care in Africa

Most curricula for PHC workers in Africa either do not include eye care, or the training is extremely limited or outdated.(13) In response, international non-government organizations (INGOs) have developed their own curricula for in-service training and have trained different cadres of PHC workers using their own trainers. Whilst this vertical approach can lead to an increase in knowledge and some change in practices,(14) there can be considerable challenges. The main challenge is that this approach is not scalable or sustainable, as they are time-bound with a limited budget. Other challenges of PEC, include inadequate supervision, attrition of workers, and the delivery of eye care is seen as extra responsibility and not part of their job description.

1.4 WHO AFRO Primary Eye Care Package

Another challenge of implementing PEC in sub-Saharan Africa is the lack of a defined curriculum which has resulted in deficient training and unrealistic expectations. (9) To address this, the WHO's African Region recently launched a packet of interventions for the delivery of primary eye care across sub-Saharan Africa (WHO AFRO PEC Package). The WHO AFRO PEC package was launched in 2019 to improve access to eye care in sub-Saharan Africa where it has been estimated that only 30% of the population has access to eyecare.(6)

The WHO AFRO PEC package arose out of many advocacy and planning meetings in African countries over several years. The package was created using a process of expert consensus and evidence of the effectiveness of interventions was not a key consideration. The package was pilot tested in Kenya and Rwanda (15) but the findings have not been published in a peer reviewed journal.

The package has two components: health promotion and facility based case management.(16)(see Appendix 2 for further details):

1. Facility case management

- 5 evidence-based algorithms, for red eye, swellings, trauma, vision loss for distance and near, and children 0-5 years (Figure 1).
- 12 evidence-based protocols [e.g., how to measure visual acuity.
- 10 standards and indicators for monitoring and evaluation
- Training package (curriculum and materials)
- Core lists of essential consumables, technologies and medicines
- Templates for the management of health data

2. Health promotion

• 4 sets of health messages for different groups



Figure 1. WHO AFRO Primary Eye Care Package algorithm for red eye(16)

The facility case management component is essentially a symptom-led, triaging tool which leads to action without a diagnosis i.e., counsel, treat, refer (routine or urgent) or a combination of these actions. The main equipment required is a visual acuity chart (at the 6/12 level only) and a torch. Treatment is recommended for conditions without loss of vision or pain, for example a red eye or ocular trauma.

The majority of the symptoms which people with eye conditions could present with to a PHC facility (Table 2) are covered by the algorithms with the exception of symptoms of dry eye

(irritation, soreness). In addition, the package does not include eliciting the red reflex to detect retinoblastoma or cataract in young children. Potential challenges of the package are that symptoms cannot easily be defined and are, therefore, open to interpretation, and nuances may be lost in translation. For example, in the Igbo language there is no word which equates to 'moderate', as there are only words which describe the extremes. There are no published studies on the validity of the algorithms in the WHO package when used by PHC staff compared with examination by an eye health professional. However, a recent study in Kenya which used a simplified algorithm which only included distance and near visual acuity and pain, had a sensitivity 91% and a specificity of 78% with a positive predictive value of 89%.(17)

The eye health promotion component includes messages for PHC workers to include in their health talks. The messages cover a) avoiding risk factors for eye diseases, b) when to access health care when they have symptoms, c) for screening (e.g., for diabetic retinopathy and glaucoma if there is a family history) and d) specific actions they can take (e.g., nutrition education for mothers to prevent vitamin A deficiency).(16) The risk factors to be avoided are all evidence based (e.g., wearing seatbelts and protective eyewear, not smoking, avoiding excessive sunlight), and there is evidence of the benefit of screening and treatment for diabetic retinopathy and glaucoma. However, the health messages and on their own will not support health literacy, nor will they empower communities.

The WHO package does not include screening for any eye conditions. However, WHO has recently added eye screening to their recommendations for newborn care, recommending that red / fundal reflex testing is assessed in all newborns.(18) Researchers at the International Centre for Eye Health have undertaken a body of work in Tanzania which has led to the inclusion of an Eye Module in the Ministry of Health's primary level child health programme, WHO/UNICEF's Integrated Management of Newborn and Childhood Illness (IMNCI).(19) The overall goal of this work is that eye care, including re/fundal reflex testing, is included in global and regional IMNCI strategies.

1.5 Primary health care workers in Nigeria

In Nigeria, PHC is delivered in primary health centres and health posts by a range of cadres of health professionals (Table 3).

Cadre in order of seniority	Training / qualifications	Roles and responsibilities	Use Standard Operating procedures#
Nurse midwife*	Nursing and midwifery (4 years)	In health centre: antenatal care; deliveries with referral of complex case. Managing less complex conditions with referral. Administration and supervision.	No
Community Health Officer (CHO)*	6 years (schools of health technology; 2 in teaching hospitals)	As above, plus supervision of staff in the community	Yes
Community Health Extension Worker (CHEW)*	4 years in schools of health technology	In health centre: antenatal care; deliveries with referral of complex case. Managing less complex conditions with referral. Health promotion: 20% of their time is spent in the community.	Yes
Junior Community Health Extension Worker (JCHEW)**	2 years in schools of health technology	In Health Facility: Treat minor ailments. Health promotion, supervise village health workers. 40% of their time is spent in the community	Yes
Village Health Worker (VHW)	On the job	Based in the community. Health promotion	-

#Also known as standing orders in Nigeria *Can be heads of PHC facilities ** Can only be head of health posts

As many PHC facilities are understaffed, existing staff often have to expand their

responsibilities, taking on more senior or junior roles.(20)

This thesis reports on the capacities that will be needed in sub-Saharan African countries to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package (and how we developed the capacity framework), the gaps that will need to be addressed before PEC can be implemented in Nigeria and finally the policy implications of our study.

The President International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness 2012 said,

"PEC is critical in expanding eye care services and creating greater equity and access. Its implementation still remains a challenge and so does integration into Primary Health Care. The evidence to support such integration and advocacy efforts needed still remain elusive."

Our study provides a piece in the jigsaw puzzle of evidence needed to implement PEC.

1.6 Setting of the study.

Nigeria is a country of great cultural and linguistic diversity with over 250 ethnic groups and languages; the three major tribes constitute 60% of the population. 56% of the population is aged 15 years and over and 62% of persons are literate. (21) Subsistence farming is practiced across the country. The north of the country, which has a hot, dry climate, is generally poorer, with lower levels of education than the tropical southern states.



Figure 2. Map of Nigeria showing Anambra state in the southeastern zone.

Anambra State (Figure 2) in the Southeast Zone, was selected for the study for several reasons: no in-service PEC training had taken place; no eye care non-governmental organizations (NGO) are active in the State; all eye care is provided by the government, and for practical reasons, as the State is adjacent to the PhD student's residence. Anambra State has the third highest literacy rate in the country (75% in those aged 6 years and above) and is ranked 30 out of the 36 states in terms of wealth, with only 14.8% of the population living below the poverty line.(22)

REFERENCES

1. Burton MJ, Ramke J, Marques AP, Bourne RR, Congdon N, Jones I, et al. The lancet global health commission on global eye health: vision beyond 2020. The Lancet Global Health. 2021;9(4):e489-e551.

2. Kyu HH, Abate D, Abate KH, Abay SM, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet. 2018;392(10159):1859-922.

3. He M, Wang W, Huang W. Variations and trends in health burden of visual impairment due to cataract: a global analysis. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science. 2017;58(10):4299-306.

4. Li H-Y, Liu Y-M, Dong L, Zhang R-H, Zhou W-D, Wu H-T, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence, disability adjusted life years, and time trends for refraction disorders, 1990–2019: findings from the global burden of disease study 2019. BMC Public Health. 2021;21(1):1-12.

5. International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Vision Atlas. <u>http://atlasiapborg/</u>. 2020;2023(28th June 2023).

6. Murthy G, Raman U. Perspectives on primary eye care. COMMUNIty EyE HEALtH JOURNAL. 2009;22(69).

7. World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019 <u>http://www.who.int/blindness</u>. AP2014_19_English pdf. 2013.

8. Du Toit R. An Overview of Primary Eye Care in Sub-Saharan Africa 2006-2012. Compiled for International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. 2014.

9. Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology. 2010;104(5):361-7.

10. Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. Skills of general health workers in primary eye care in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. Human Resources for Health. 2014;12(Suppl 1):S2.

11. Ashaye A, Ajuwon AJ, Adeoti C. Perception of blindness and blinding eye conditions in rural communities. Journal of the National Medical Association. 2006;98(6):887.

12. Gilbert CE, Murthy G, Sivasubramaniam S, Kyari F, Imam A, Rabiu M, et al. Couching in Nigeria: prevalence, risk factors and visual acuity outcomes. Ophthalmic epidemiology. 2010;17(5):269-75.

13. Okolo O. Exploring the acceptability, challenges, and opportunities of primary eye care preservice training of primary health care workers in Nigeria using the World Health Organization AFRO Primary Eye Care Package. A dissertation submitted to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc. 2022.

14. Dudley L, Garner P. Strategies for integrating primary health services in low- and middleincome countries at the point of delivery. . Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

2011(7).

15. Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Community eye health. 2017;30(100):85.

16. World Health Organisation Africa Region. Primary Eye Care Training Manual-A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa2018. p. <u>https://www.afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual</u>.

17. Rono H, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, Bunywera C, Mamboleo R, Wanjala E, et al. Smartphoneguided algorithms for use by community volunteers to screen and refer people with eye problems in Trans Nzoia county, Kenya: development and validation study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth. 2020;8(6):e16345. 18. World Health Organization. WHO recommendations on maternal and newborn care for a positive postnatal experience: World Health Organization; 2022.

19. World Health Organization. Handbook IMCI:Integrated Management of Childhood Illness: World Health Organization; 2005.

20. Okoroafor S, Ahmat A, Osubor M, Nyoni J, Bassey J, Alemu W. Assessing the staffing needs for primary health care centers in Cross River State, Nigeria: a workload indicators of staffing needs study. Human Resources for Health. 2022;19(1):1-10.

21. Central Intelligence Agency. <u>https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/nigeria/</u>2018 [

22. National Bureau of Statistics. Socioeconomic statistics, Literacy- Nigeria Data Portal. 2014 [

1.7 Paper 1: Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. BMJ Global Health BMJ Glob Health 2018;3: e000846

The following published paper (Paper 1 of the thesis) highlights the strengths, challenges and opportunities of integrating PEC into PHC in Nigeria. This paper was written to give an overview of the state of PEC in Nigeria. PEC in Nigeria has been mainly donor driven, with few states taking ownership of the intervention. We accessed data from the implementing states, their donors and documentation from the National Primary Health Care Development Agency (the agency responsible for the development of primary health care in Nigeria) to assess the challenges and opportunities, for PEC in Nigeria. Lendon School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WCLE 7HT www.ishtm.ac.uk



Registry

1: + 44(0):00 7205 4646 F: + 44(0):20 7299 4656 E: registry@shtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor.	ID No Ish 284966
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert	
Thesis Title	The Antennal capacity of primary leads care Acation in America state, Registe at implementative Receiption Dependences When Register spectra approximately and a second state.	

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B. if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMJ Global Health		
When was the work published?	October 2018		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?"	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer raview?	Choose an item. Yes

If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published formal, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?		
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:		
Stage of publication	Choose an item.	

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

	give full details of your role in he paper and in the preparation (ther sheet if necessary)	An led the conception and design of the study, defined the menuscriptions edited it with consideration of input from co-authors. CO supervised the conception and design of the study and revised the article for important methods content. HE and NI revised the article for important methods content.	
Student Signature: _		Date: 12% March 1655	
Supervisor Signature:		Date: 30 14124-2023	
Improving health worldw	ido	www.ishtm.co.uk	

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 15

BMJ Global Health

Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria

Ada E Aghaji,^{1,2,3} Claire Gilbert,¹ Nnenna Ihebuzor,³ Hannah Faal⁴

INTRODUCTION

To cite: Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, *et al.* Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. *BMJ Glob Health* 2018;**3**:e000846. doi:10.1136/ bmjgh-2018-000846

Handling editor Seye Abimbola

Received 22 March 2018 Revised 4 October 2018 Accepted 6 October 2018

Check for updates

© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2018. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC. No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ.

¹International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

²Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu, Nigeria ³Department of Primary Health Care Systems Development, National Primary Health Care Development Agency, Abuja, Nigeria

⁴Africa Vision Research Institute, Durban, South Africa

Correspondence to Ada E Aghaji; Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk

An estimated 253 million people are blind or visually impaired worldwide, 90% of whom live in low-income and middle-income countries (LMICs).¹ In Nigeria, a LMIC, approximately 4.25 million adults are blind or visually impaired with over 80% of the blindness from avoidable causes.² Cataract is the most common cause of blindness in Nigeria and is readily treatable by surgery. Refractive errors, which can readily be treated by spectacles, are the most common cause of visual impairment. However, the Nigerian national blindness survey showed that almost half of all eyes that had a procedure for cataract had been couched (a traditional procedure for clearing the visual axis as a treatment for $cataract^3$), with poor visual outcomes and <5% of those with refractive errors had spectacles.⁴⁵ Lack of accessible eye care services and lack of awareness of where to seek services are some of the reasons why patients remain visually impaired or seek unorthodox treatment, even though outcomes are poor.⁶

Other eye conditions which cause ocular morbidity for which access to eye care is needed include presbyopia (age-related decline in near vision), allergic/infective conjunctivitis and other conditions which may cause distress and warrant treatment at the primary level. A recent survey showed that one in four Nigerians (ie, approximately 43 million) have at least one ocular morbidity.⁷ Nigeria has 3.3 ophthalmologists/million population, which while higher than the sub-Saharan regional average of 2.2, is less than the four recommended.⁸ The majority of ophthalmologists are concentrated in urban areas,⁸ therefore, the greater number of Nigerians, who live in rural areas, may have to travel long distances to access care. In the absence of accessible orthodox eye care, patients access other sources, for example, patent medicine vendors, traditional healers

Summary box

- Nigeria has a high magnitude of blindness and visual impairment and in addition, there is inequity in accessing eye care.
- Primary eye care (PEC) activities in Nigeria have largely been donor driven and unsustainable partly due to primary healthcare (PHC) system challenges.
- Nigeria's current administration is implementing Universal Health Coverage through a revitalised PHC system.
- The WHO has recently piloted a PEC package for sub-Saharan Africa (WHO AFRO PEC package).
- Nigeria has the opportunity to leverage on the revitalised PHC and the recently developed WHO AFRO PEC package to implement equitable and accessible PEC and achieve universal eye health.

and couchers, which may exacerbate the visual loss through harmful practices or delay appropriate treatment. A study in Nigeria reported that over a third of people with eye problems who sought care had consulted these alternative sources.⁷ Eye conditions like presbyopia and conjunctivitis which can be treated at the primary level are principally delivered at secondary and tertiary level in Nigeria,^{9 10} resulting in inequity in access and higher costs for patients and providers.

There is an epidemic of diabetes globally, including in African countries, and diabetic retinopathy (DR) is increasing as a cause of visual impairment. In Nigeria, the prevalence of diabetes has been reported to be 3.3%, 20.5% of whom had DR.¹¹ While there are major screening challenges for DR at the primary healthcare (PHC) level, facilities can offer blood sugar testing, health education and referral to services for the detection and management of DR.

There is a need for LMICs to provide universal access to eye care for blinding conditions and for conditions that cause ocular morbidity. As early as 1984, the World Health Organisation (WHO) advocated a PHC approach to increase access to eye care.¹² Primary eye care (PEC) is an integrated, participatory and inclusive approach to the eye health component of PHC consisting of promotive, preventive, curative and rehabilitative services.¹³ To realistically implement PEC, health workers should receive adequate training to be knowledgeable and skilled in the management (identification, treatment or referral) of eye diseases, be properly equipped, have access to consumables, be adequately supervised and have access to referral centres.

There is a dearth of rigorous research into the effectiveness of PEC in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and reports from a few SSA countries have not been encouraging, highlighting challenges such as a lack of skills to manage eye conditions resulting in inappropriate treatment, delayed referrals and failure to refer serious conditions.¹⁴ Other challenges include inadequate supervision, a dearth of equipment and supplies, absenteeism and high staff turnover.¹⁵

A national survey to assess the population need for PEC in Rwanda showed that nearly a third of the population had the potential to benefit from PEC, particularly older persons and women.¹⁶ To actualise the benefits of PEC, PEC should be part of a continuum of care from community to tertiary level, with each level functioning well and supported by good referral systems between them. This can be actualised in a comprehensive eye care programme. For example, the Rwandan government has streamlined the activities of eye-care collaborators to optimise resources, launching a comprehensive PEC programme in collaboration with Vision for a Nation to develop and implement PEC. Secondary level services have been strengthened with support from the Fred Hollows Foundation and Christoffel-Blinden Mission. Equity in the geographical distribution of PEC services and provision of health insurance have improved access to eye care and demand for services at secondary and tertiary levels has increased to the extent that eye conditions are now the second most common reason for seeking healthcare in Rwanda.¹⁷ In the Gambia, in 1986, PEC was included as part of a National Comprehensive Eyecare strategy. This strategy led to a reduction in blindness from 0.7% to 0.42% over 10 years after adjusting for population growth.¹⁸ In both countries, PEC was included as part of a National Comprehensive Eyecare strategy, so the contribution of PEC is difficult to quantify.

STRENGTHS AND CHALLENGES OF INTEGRATING PEC INTO PHC IN NIGERIA

To effectively integrate PEC into PHC, a functional PHC system is crucial, as PEC can only be as strong as the primary-health structure into which it is integrated.¹⁴ However, the PHC system in Nigeria is beset with challenges which include, but are not limited to, inadequate infrastructure, shortage of health workers, absenteeism¹⁹ and a dearth of basic equipment.²⁰

Furthermore, poor governance, conflict and inadequate prioritisation of health systems have added to the deterioration of frontline health facilities.²¹ Hence, despite the availability of PHC services, rural communities in Nigeria tend to underuse them due to perceptions of poor quality and inadequacy of services.²²

Despite these PHC challenges, some states in Nigeria have integrated eye-care into PHC, but these have been largely donor driven. In Nigeria as in many LMICs, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) provide a significant proportion of eye-care services.²³ It is thought that NGOs fill the gap because of the 'relative invisibility' of eye-care by governments.²⁴ The NGOs involved in PEC in Nigeria include Sightsavers, Christoffen-Blindenmission (CBM), the Evangelical Church of West Africa and the Tulsi Chanrai Foundation (TCF). This does not include the private sector or organisations that run eye-care programmes (including PEC) outside the government health system. Figure 1 shows the location of integrated PEC activities in Nigeria.

The NGO-led PEC programmes are not without challenges and have produced mixed results. The broad aim of the Sightsavers-supported programme was to reduce preventable blindness through the provision of sustainable outreach, primary and secondary referral services using a health systems' strengthening approach. The programme covered all the districts in Sokoto, Kwara, Kaduna and Zamfara states, with one eye clinic providing services for a cluster of districts. These were integrated into PHC activities in the states. An evaluation of the Sokoto eye-care programme shows that although the prevalence of unoperated cataract remains high, there has been a sevenfold increase in cataract surgical coverage (the proportion of people who have received cataract surgery as a percentage of all those who could have benefited from cataract surgery) and a doubling of the cataract surgical rate (he number of cataract operations performed per million population/year) since the inception of the programme.²⁵ Again, this was part of a comprehensive blindness reduction strategy and the contribution of PEC could not be ascertained. A report from a recent audit of the Kwara Eye Health Programme (KEHP) showed that 40% of facilities were unable to sustain services due to insufficient government support (personal communication, Sightsavers KEHP, 2016). In Kaduna state, Sightsavers achieved its target of providing services in at least 70% of districts. However, the failure of the programme to maintain a skilled workforce at the primary level has affected sustainability.²⁶

In Jigawa state, PEC activities are supported principally by CBM in conjunction with the Evangelical Church of West Africa (ECWA) eye hospital. There is also a tangible commitment to eye-care by the state government with a budget line of 1.1% of the state health budget pledged for eye-care including PEC. Despite this, Jigawa state experiences challenges from an inadequately skilled PEC workforce.²⁷ In Cross

2



Modified from National Identity Management Commission. NIMC enrolment centres. Available from: https://www.nimc.gov.ng/nimc-enrolment-centres

Figure 1 Location of integrated PEC activities in Nigeria. PEC, primary eye care.

Rivers State, the TCF trained 176 PHC workers in PEC, but full implementation of services was stalled by lack of counterpart government funding (personal communication, TCF 2016).

A major limitation of the NGO-led initiatives in Nigeria is that activities largely ceased when funding for in-service training ended. Increasing access to eye-care is not a challenge that can be overcome by the NGO sector alone and a paradigm shift is needed in how eye health services are planned, coordinated and resourced at all levels.²⁸ Governmental support reinforced by implementable policies is key for eye-care programme implementation. The Lagos state government has trained 167 health workers in 141 primary health centres in eye-care who refer cases to eight general hospitals with eye departments. Although 4902 patients with eye conditions attended the PHCs between January and April 2011, there are limited data on the quality of the service or the number of patients referred.29

A major challenge of PEC in SSA is that there has been no consensus on the scope of practice in the PHC system, competencies required or a defined curriculum, which has resulted in deficient training and supportive supervision.¹⁴ As a consequence, in Nigeria, each implementing body has developed their own set of competencies, curricula and have trained different cadres in PEC. The National Primary Health Care Development Agency in Nigeria (NPHCDA) has recently rolled out a revised preservice curriculum for PHC workers, which includes a more comprehensive curriculum on eyecare. There is also a revised Standard Operating Procedure booklet (called National Standing Orders) for PHC workers with guidelines on how to manage a few eye conditions. However, PEC focused on the clinical component alone^{15 30} cannot lead to successful PEC outcomes. PEC requires a package of interventions, that is, eye health promotion, basic equipment for eye examination, a supply of medication and consumables, referral mechanisms, supervision, health information and referral/feedback systems, financing mechanisms and strong government commitment. PEC implementation will remain high on rhetoric and low on delivery if the entire package is not addressed.

OPPORTUNITIES AFFORDED BY NEW INITIATIVES

In December 2014, the National Health Bill was signed into law in Nigeria and became the National Health Act. The Act empowers communities to be responsible for their own health and, if properly implemented, should strengthen the PHC system.³¹ It includes funding for health insurance at front-line facilities and eligible secondary centres, provision of essential drugs, vaccines and consumables, provision and maintenance of facilities, equipment and transport, human resources for health and counterpart funding for health projects in the district. The equivalent of \$150 million has been included in the 2018 budget to implement the Act.³² This is the first time budgetary provision has been made

BMJ Global Health

to implement the National Health Act and is indicative of government commitment to PHC reforms. In addition, Nigeria's current administration has launched a bold initiative: 'Accelerating progress towards Universal Health Coverage (UHC) through PHC' to provide equitable access for all Nigerians to quality healthcare using PHC as a vehicle to achieve this. The Federal Ministry of Health through the NPHCDA and the National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS) are implementing this initiative as part of its mandate to work with states to revitalise PHC service delivery.

Currently, there is increased global and regional support for PEC. The World Health Assembly through the Global Action Plan 2014–2019 stresses the importance of PEC in attaining Universal Eye Health, calling on member states to include PEC in PHC.³³ In addition, WHO AFRO has developed competencies for all eye health personnel, including those providing PEC, for the region which will be launched on World Sight Day, on 11 October 2018.³⁴ Furthermore, to encourage uniformity and address all components of PEC in SSA, WHO recently developed a package of interventions (WHO AFRO PEC) which was informed by workshops, expert meetings and has been pilot tested in Rwanda and Kenya.

It has been suggested that this package has the potential to strengthen eye health systems and improve coverage.³⁴ The key components are health promotion and facility-based interventions, with algorithms to guide clinical management of eye conditions and a set of standards and indicators for monitoring and evaluation.³⁵

In Nigeria, in order to be scalable, the WHO AFRO PEC package needs to be integrated into the initiatives to revitalise PHC and included in preservice training. To ensure financial sustainability and financial risk protection, the WHO AFRO PEC Package should be included in the essential package for eye-care in UHC plans and the NHIS. Despite the magnitude of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria, eye-care ranks low in priority for healthcare.³⁶ The WHO AFRO PEC package, if well implemented, has the capacity to empower communities to take charge of their eye health and benefit from the national momentum towards achieving UHC. This aspiration is based on the premise that the revitalised PHC will overcome the inefficiencies and mistakes of the past and evolve into a more functional and efficient service.

Almost all the ingredients are now in place for the successful integration of eye-care into PHC: a renewed global focus on PHC; national PHC reforms and pro-poor health financing mechanisms; an enabling global policy environment for PEC and a tailor-made PEC package for SSA. However, sustained government support is crucial. In addition, continuous economic evaluation of PEC should inform how scarce resources should be deployed. Furthermore, any strategy to successfully implement PEC in Nigeria needs to be

pragmatic, building on the evidence of what works in different settings but adapted to the local context.

CONCLUSION

PEC may not be the silver bullet to solve the eye-care needs of a population. Although there is limited high quality evidence of the effectiveness of PEC, the literature suggests that implementation of PEC as part of a comprehensive eye-care strategy could increase access to eye-care.

With global and regional support for PEC and strong government commitment to PHC reform, Nigeria has the opportunity to implement PEC, potentially making eye-care accessible and equitable for all her citizens.

Contributors AEA, NI and CG drafted the initial manuscript. HF helped with subsequent revisions. AEA, CG and HF read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding This work was made possible by a scholarship from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust's Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium. The opinions and conclusions arrived at are solely those of the authors.

Competing interests None declared.

Patient consent Not required.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Data sharing statement No additional data are available.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0

REFERENCES

- 1 Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Glob Health 2017;5:e888–97.
- 2 Kyari F, Gudlavalleti MV, Sivsubramaniam S, et al. Prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria: the National Blindness and Visual Impairment Study. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 2009;50:2033–9.
- 3 Gilbert CE, Murthy GV, Sivasubramaniam S, et al. Couching in Nigeria: prevalence, risk factors and visual acuity outcomes. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2010;17:269–75.
- 4 Rabiu MM, Kyari F, Ezelum C, et al. Review of the publications of the Nigeria national blindness survey: methodology, prevalence, causes of blindness and visual impairment and outcome of cataract surgery. Ann Afr Med 2012;11:125–30.
- 5 Ezelum C, Razavi H, Sivasubramaniam S, *et al.* Refractive error in Nigerian adults: prevalence, type, and spectacle coverage. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 2011;52:5449–56.
- 6 Tafida A, Gilbert C. Exploration of indigenous knowledge systems in relation to couching in Nigeria. *African Vision and Eye Health* 2016;75.
- 7 Senyonjo L, Lindfield R, Mahmoud A, et al. Ocular morbidity and health seeking behaviour in Kwara state, Nigeria: implications for delivery of eye care services. *PLoS One* 2014;9:e104128.
- 8 Palmer JJ, Chinanayi F, Gilbert A, et al. Mapping human resources for eye health in 21 countries of sub-Saharan Africa: current progress towards VISION 2020. *Hum Resour Health* 2014;12:44.
- 9 Adepoju F, Abdulraheem I. Clinico-epidemiological pattern of eye diseases at University of Ilorin Teaching Hospital: a one year review. *Tropical Journal of Health Sciences* 2005;12:40–3.
- 10 Scott S, Ajaiyeoba A. Eye diseases in general out-patient clinic in Ibadan. Nigerian journal of medicine: journal of the National Association of Resident Doctors of Nigeria 2002;12:76–80.
- 11 Kyari F, Tafida A, Sivasubramaniam S, *et al*. Prevalence and risk factors for diabetes and diabetic retinopathy: results from the Nigeria

national blindness and visual impairment survey. *BMC Public Health* 2014;14:1299.

- 12 World Health Organization. *Strategies for the prevention of blindness in national programmes: a primary health care approach.* World Health Organization, 1997.
- Du ToitR. An overview of primary eye care in Sub-Saharan Africa 2006-2012. Compiled for International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness, 2014. Available from: https://iapblive.blob.core.windows. net/resources/3_An-Overview-of-PEC-in-Sub-Saharan-Africa_2006-2012.pdf [Accessed 25 Sep 2018].
- 14 Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, *et al.* Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* 2010;104:361–7.
- 15 Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, *et al.* A randomised controlled trial to investigate effects of enhanced supervision on primary eye care services at health centres in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2014;14(Suppl 1):S6.
- 16 Bright T, Kuper H, Macleod D, et al. Population need for primary eye care in Rwanda: a national survey. *PLoS One* 2018;13:e0193817.
- 17 Binagwaho A, Scott K, Rosewall T, et al. Improving eye care in Rwanda. *Bull World Health Organ* 2015;93:429–34.
- 18 Faal H, Minassian DC, Dolin PJ, et al. Evaluation of a national eye care programme: re-survey after 10 years. Br J Ophthalmol 2000;84:948–51.
- 19 Abimbola S, Olanipekun T, Igbokwe U, et al. How decentralisation influences the retention of primary health care workers in rural Nigeria. Glob Health Action 2015;8:26616.
- 20 Kress DH, Su Y, Wang H. Assessment of primary health care system performance in nigeria: using the primary health care performance indicator conceptual framework. *Health Systems & Reform* 2016:2:302–18.
- 21 Walley J, Lawn JE, Tinker A, et al. Primary health care: making Alma-Ata a reality. Lancet 2008;372:1001–7.
- 22 Sule SS, Ijadunola KT, Onayade AA, et al. Utilization of primary health care facilities: lessons from a rural community in southwest Nigeria. *Niger J Med* 2008;17:98–106.
- 23 Morone P, Camacho Cuena E, Kocur I, et al. Securing support for eye health policy in low- and middle-income countries: identifying

stakeholders through a multi-level analysis. *J Public Health Policy* 2014;35:185–203.

- 24 Palmer JJ, Gilbert A, Choy M, *et al.* Circumventing 'free care' and 'shouting louder': using a health systems approach to study eye health system sustainability in government and mission facilities of north-west Tanzania. *Health Res Policy Syst* 2016;14:68.
- 25 Muhammad N, Adamu MD, Caleb M, et al. Changing patterns of cataract services in North-West Nigeria: 2005-2016. PLoS One 2017;12:e0183421.
- 26 Matafeni T, Isiyaku S. Strengthening health systems in Kaduna State: investing in the health workforce and partnership for eye health. *Insight* 2009;1.
- 27 Ibrahim J. Evaluation of primary eye care services in Jigawa state North-western Nigeria. a dissertation submitted to the london school of hygiene & tropical medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc, 2016.
- 28 International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness, IAPB Africa human resources for eye health strategic plan. 2014. Available from: http://www.iapbafrica.co.za/resource/resourceitem/493/1 [Accessed 20 Oct 2014].
- 29 Lagos State ministry of Health, Blindness prevention programmes. 2014. Available from: https://health.lagosstate.gov.ng/blindnessprevention-programme-bpp/
- 30 Byamukama E, Courtright P. Knowledge, skills, and productivity in primary eye care among health workers in Tanzania: need for reassessment of expectations? *Int Health* 2010;2:247–52.
- 31 Federal Republic of Nigeria. The National Health Act. Federal Republic of Nigeria Official Gazette, 2014: A139–72.
- 32 Federal Republic of Nigeria National Assemmbly. *Appropriations bill* 2018, 2018.
- 33 World Health Organization, Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019. 2013. Available from: http://www.who.int/blindness
- 34 Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. *Community Eye Health* 2017;30:85.
- 35 World Health Organisation. Report of the expert group meeting to assess and validate a package for eye health interventions at the primary level for the African Region, 2012.
- 36 Ogundimu KO. Case study: improving the management of eye care programmes. *Community Eye Health* 2008;21:60.

Chapter 2 RATIONALE, AIMS, OBJECTIVES, RESEARCH QUESTIONS



People who live in underserved areas have the right to quality PEC too; a hard-to-reach community in Anambra state.

Rationale for the study

Nigeria has a high prevalence of ocular morbidity, blindness and visual impairment, and most vision loss is from conditions which could have been prevented or treated. A large proportion of Nigerians lack access to proper eye care services; hence they seek treatment for eye conditions from unorthodox sources which may be harmful or lead to delays in seeking appropriate care.

The WHO urges member states to integrate eyecare into PHC to improve access and has developed a primary eye care (PEC) package for sub-Saharan Africa (WHO AFRO PEC package).

Primary eye care is an integrated participatory and inclusive approach to the eye health component of PHC[1] consisting of the following elements: health protection, health promotion, detection and treatment of common eye conditions, detection and referral of more complex conditions such as cataract, and record keeping. This entails staff working in the community, who focus on health promotion and prevention, and staff in PHC facilities who focus on detection, treatment and referral. The latter require basic equipment for eye examination as well as a supply of medication, referral mechanisms, supervision health information systems. In other words, many components of the health system need to be strengthened or adapted to effectively deliver PEC. The WHO has described a health system framework, which describes the buildings blocks necessary to improve health without leading to catastrophic health expenditure (Figure 3)


Figure 3. World Health Organization health system framework[2]

The system buildings blocks are inter-related and should have patients and communities at their centre (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Interconnection between World Health Organization building blocks.[3]

The integration of eye care into PHC is a complex intervention. The Medical Research Council defines a complex intervention as an intervention with several interacting components.[4] The intervention may be delivered by more than one cadre, have a number of variable outcomes, may be a package of interventions, require behavioural change of those receiving or delivering the intervention or a combination of these.[5]

The UK's Medical Research Council (MRC) has developed a framework for the evaluation of complex interventions, which entails a number of phases (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Medical Research Council framework for the evaluation of complex interventions

As can be seen, assessing the feasibility of the intervention is a key step. Feasibility is a broad construct, consisting of political, cultural, technical and financial elements.[6] As it has been suggested that integration of a health intervention must be founded on technical grounds, this thesis focusses on technical feasibly, acknowledging that the other elements are also important. [7] To our knowledge, no technical feasibility study of the integration of eye care into PHC in sub-Saharan Africa has been undertaken. Identifying the challenges, opportunities and gaps in the technical feasibility required for the implementation of the proposed WHO AFRO PEC package will be central to influencing policy makers to make an informed choice about its implementation.

An important recommendation in the World Report on Vision is that eye care should be patient centred and delivered at every level of the health system. The services delivered should be comprehensive in terms of the eye conditions covered and the full spectrum of preventive strategies, encompassing eye health protection and promotion, prevention of specific conditions, detection and treatment and vision rehabilitation.[8] For this reason, the technical feasibility of delivering the health promotion and facility-based case management of the WHO PEC package is included in this thesis.

Research questions

- 1. What are the technical complexities of both components of the WHO AFRO PEC package?
- 2. What technical capacities are needed to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package in Nigeria?
- 3. How can these technical capacities be assessed?
- 4. What gaps would need to be addressed to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package in PHC facilities in Nigeria?

Aim

To assess the gaps which would need to be addressed to effectively deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package in Nigeria.

Objectives

- 1. To assess the technical complexity of the two components of the WHO AFRO PEC package.
- 2. To identify the technical capacities required to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package.
- To assess the technical capacities of PHC facilities to deliver PEC in 48 facilities in Anambra State, Nigeria
- 4. To analyse gaps in technical capacities which would need to be addressed to effectively deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package in Nigeria.

REFERENCES

1. Du Toit R. An Overview of Primary Eye Care in Sub Saharan Africa 2006-20122014 25th September 2014. Available from: <u>https://iapblive.blob.core.windows.net/resources/3_An-</u> <u>Overview-of-PEC-in-Sub-Saharan-Africa_2006-2012.pdf</u>.

2. World Health Organization. Everybody's business--strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. 2007.

3. De Savigny D, Adam T. Systems thinking for health systems strengthening: World Health Organization; 2009.

4. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Bmj. 2008;337:a1655.

5. Senn B, Kirsch M, Sanz C, Karlou C, Tulus K, De Leeuw J, et al. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. Studies. 2013;59:587-92.

6. Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public health nutrition. 2010;13(06):886-92.

7. Criel B, De Brouwere V, Dugas S. Integration of vertical programmes in multi-function health services: ITG Press Antwerp,, Belgium; 1997.

8. World Health Organisation. World Report on Vision. <u>https://www.hoint/publications-detail/world-report-on-vision</u>. 2019;Accessed 23rd February 2020.

Chapter 3. METHODOLOGY



Interviewing a health worker in a Primary Health Centre.

This chapter describes the methodology and includes two published papers.

3.1 Overview

First, two literature reviews were undertaken, to determine the scope of PEC in sub-Saharan Africa and to identify a suitable technical feasibility framework; we selected Gericke's technical feasibility framework.[1] Next, a technical complexity profile for PEC was created based on the WHO PEC package, augmented by findings from the literature review of PEC. Next a two-stage Delphi exercise was undertaken to reach a consensus on the technical complexity of each element of the WHO AFRO PEC package, and then the capacities needed for implementation. The resulting framework guided the development of study tools (observation, check lists; questionnaires and topic guides) and participant groups (staff and facility heads working in health centres and health posts and their supervisors, and village health workers). Field work was undertaken in 48 facilities in six districts which were selected to be representative of the state. Data were analysed for the facility-based management of eye conditions, and health promotion component of the WHO AFRO PEC package using WHO's health system framework.

The theoretical framework for the study is shown in (Figure 6) and an overview of the methodology in shown in Figure 7.



Figure 6. Theoretical framework for the study



Figure 7. Overview of the methodology used in the study, signposting the publications.

Item 1, Figure 7: literature review in PEC in Africa (see Paper 3).Item 1, Figure 7: literature review on feasibility frameworks (see Paper 3).

The search identified 25 different frameworks. Gericke's framework was selected for the study as it was the only framework which allowed an evaluation of the technical feasibility of public health interventions. Gericke's framework uses the construct that the technical feasibility of an intervention is determined by the complexity of the intervention and the capacities needed to deliver it (Figure 8). Data arising from the framework were analysed using the WHO health system building blocks.



Figure 8. Technical feasibility comprises technical complexity and technical capacity.

Gericke's framework has four main domains (Table 4).

Domain	Details		
	Basic product design		
Intervention characteristics	Supplies		
	Equipment		
Delivery characteristics	Type of facility needed.		
	Human resource requirement		
	 Communication and transport 		
Government requirements	Regulation/ legislation		
Government requirements	 Management systems 		
	Collaborative action		
	Ease of use		
Usage characteristics	Pre-existing demand		
	Black market risk		

Item 2 and item 3, Figure 7. Mapping complexities and capacities and Delphi exercise. See Paper 3 below.

Item 4, Figure 7 Data collection instruments and study participants

After the Delphi exercise, for each capacity identified, the relevant participant group(s) was selected, and the most appropriate data collection method(s) were decided (see an example in Table 5) (See all data collection data instruments in Appendices 3-9).

Table 5. Mapping data collection tools and data to be collected to participantgroups.

	Type of data collection tool					
	Checklist	Checklist	Questionnaire	Questionnaire	Questionnaire	Semi-structured Interviews
Participant group	Head of facility	Community Health Extension Worker	Head of facility	Community Health Extension Worker	Village health workers	District supervisors and selected facility heads
Examples of information sought	 Personnel available standard operating procedures available Supervision patient load 	 Evidence of health promotion activities; practices; supervision of village health workers 	 Service delivery, training 	 Facility and community service delivery practices 	 Health promotion practices and needs 	 Health system opportunities and challenges for implementing PEC

The Clinical Assessment for Systems Strengthening (CIASS) Model was used to identify the best data collection method to use. [2]

- a. Qualitative approach: Assessment is done by an external facilitator by interviews and focus group discussions (FGDs) using prepared topic guides.
- b. Semi qualitative approach: Explicit benchmarks for indicators are ranked on a Likert scale.[3] E.g. for referrals- 1. Limited or no referrals. 2. Refer orally. 3. Refer with referral slip. 4. Accompany patient to referral facility
- c. Quantitative/Scorecard approach: Generic benchmarks for indicators are ranked on a Likert scale e.g. supervision of health promotion activities: 1. weekly. 2. monthly. 3. quarterly, and 4. rarely/never
- d. Checklist approach: Indicates the presence or absence of pre-specified indicators.

Each method has its advantages and disadvantages (Table 6).

"Measurement"	Advantages	Disadvantages
Approach		
1.Qualitative	Provides detailed analysis of	Requires skilled facilitators.
	each component to be	Results are dependent on
	assessed.	facilitators' area of expertise.
	Provides most reliable	It is cost intensive.
	assessment results	Comparison of results may be
		difficult.
2. Semi qualitative	Easy to administer and	List of benchmarks may be
	comprehend.	excessive.
	States definite criteria for	Overestimation or
	capacity building efforts	underestimation of results if
	Results are comparable	benchmarks are misunderstood
		in a self-assessment.
3. Quantitative	Ease of application	Conflicts in scoring.
scorecard	Ease of comparison of results	Overestimation or
	across facilities or sectors	underestimation of assessment
4. Checklist		Confirms the existence of a
	Ease of application.	process or structure but unable
	Ease of comparison of results	to assess its level of
	across facilities or sectors.	development.
		Restricted utility as a capacity
		building tool.

 Table 6 Comparison of Capacity Assessment Measurement Approaches.[1]

We used a combination of the data collection approaches for the health workers we identified, thus triangulating our data to increase validity.

Junior Community Health Extension Workers (JCHEWs) work in the community and in the facility and are well placed to give information on both community and facility activities. Questionnaires and observational checklists were administered to the JCHEWS in the facilities. Data was sought on their activities in health service delivery at the facility and the community and availability of appropriate health promotion materials.

Questionnaires and checklists were administered to heads of facility. Data was sought on the resources available at the facility and the potential of the facility to deliver PEC.

Item 5, Figure 7 Pilot study of data collection tools (See Paper 2 below).

Item 6, Figure 7 Survey in 48 facilities in Anambra State (See Paper 2 below).

Item 7, Figure 7 Preliminary data analysis.

Facility heads and village health workers (VHWs) were considered crucial for the study but interviewing all 48 facility heads and the large number of VHWs would not have been feasible. A purposely selected sample of facilities was, therefore identified after an initial analysis of key variables from all 48 facilities. The variables analysed included staffing levels, frequency of supervision, use of SOPs, availability of referral slips, glucose testing, functional fridges, functional torches and the number of adults aged 50 and above and of all ages who attend the health facility per 100,000 population. The variables were scored and then summed to give an overall score. Nine facilities were selected: six health centres (three with the highest and the lowest scores) and health posts (two with the highest and one with the lowest score). These facilities were visited again for structured interviews with the facility heads and to deliver structured questionnaires to VHWs.

Item 8, Figure 7 Interviews with facility heads and district supervisors

Information was sought from facility heads on the challenges and opportunities they have experienced while delivering health care in their facility, the extent to which they believe PEC can be implemented in their centre and their experiences of supervising health promotion and health prevention activities in the community.

Questionnaires were administered to VHWs from selected facilities to determine their health promotion practices and their perspective on PEC health promotion and health prevention.

In-depth interviews were conducted with district level health supervisors in all six districts after the facility survey had been completed. Information was sought on the challenges and opportunities they have experienced while supervising PHC in the facilities and to explore their views on whether PEC could be implemented in the PHC centres.

In paper 2, we describe the protocol for the study, while in paper 3, we describe the how we developed a technical capacity profile needed to implement the WHO AFRO PEC.

REFERENCES

1. Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, Mills A. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2005;83(4):285-93.

2. MacLeod P. Clinical Assessment for Systems Strengthening (CIASS) Model and Methodology Review. University of Washington & University of California, San Francisco; 2013.

3. United States President's Emergency Plan For AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). Capacity Assessment Implementation Framework Best Practices:Technical Consultation Report Expert Technical Consultation Washington, DC; 2014. Paper 2: The technical feasibility of integrating eye care into the health system at primary health care level in Nigeria: protocol for a mixed methods cross sectional study in Anambra State.

In this paper, we outline the research methods used to determine the capacities which needed to be assessed to implement PEC and the methods for assessing the capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to deliver PEC.

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, London WC1.E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registryt2tahtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966	
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert	
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary insulting are tacklines in Anamica state to impleme World Health Digarization's Primary Systems Package	

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	JMIR Research Protocol		
When was the work published?	October 2020		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item. Yes

"If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an Item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the conception and design of the study drafted the manuscript and edited it with consideration of input from her supervisors and co-auth	
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023	
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023	
Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk	

Protocol

The Technical Feasibility of Integrating Primary Eye Care Into Primary Health Care Systems in Nigeria: Protocol for a Mixed Methods Cross-Sectional Study

Ada Aghaji^{1,2*}, MD, MSc; Helen Burchett^{3*}, PhD; Shaffa Hameed^{2*}, PhD; Jayne Webster^{4*}, PhD; Clare Gilbert^{2*}, MD, MSc

¹Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, Enugu, Nigeria

²Department of Clinical Research, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

³Department of Public Health, Environments and Society, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

⁴Department of Disease Control, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Ada Aghaji, MD, MSc Department of Ophthalmology College of Medicine University of Nigeria Enugu Nigeria Phone: 234 8033135567 Email: ada.aghaji@unn.edu.ng

Abstract

Background: Approximately 90% of the 253 million blind or visually impaired people worldwide live in low- and middle-income countries. Lack of access to eye care is why most people remain or become blind. The World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa (WHO-AFRO) recently launched a primary eye care (PEC) package for sub-Saharan Africa—the WHO-AFRO PEC package—for integration into the health system at the primary health care (PHC) level. This has the potential to increase access to eye care, but feasibility studies are needed to determine the extent to which the health system has the capacity to deliver the package in PHC facilities.

Objective: Our objective is to assess the technical feasibility of integrating the WHO-AFRO PEC package in PHC facilities in Nigeria.

Methods: This study has several components, which include (1) a literature review of PEC in sub-Saharan Africa, (2) a Delphi exercise to reach consensus among experts regarding the technical complexity of the WHO-AFRO PEC package and the capacities needed to deliver it in PHC facilities, (3) development of PEC technical capacity assessment tools, and (4) data collection, including facility surveys and semistructured interviews with PHC staff and their supervisors and village health workers to determine the capacities available to deliver PEC in PHC facilities. Analysis will identify opportunities and the capacity gaps that need to be addressed to deliver PEC.

Results: Consensus was reached among experts regarding the technical complexity of the WHO-AFRO PEC package and the capacities needed to deliver it as part of PHC. Quantitative tools (ie, structured questionnaires, in-depth interviews, and observation checklists) and topic guides based on agreed-upon technical capacities have been developed and relevant stakeholders have been identified. Surveys in 48 PHC facilities and interviews with health professionals and supervisors have been undertaken. Capacity gaps are being analyzed.

Conclusions: This study will determine the capacity of PHC centers to deliver the WHO-AFRO PEC package as an integral part of the health system in Nigeria, with identification of capacity gaps. Although capacity assessments have to be context specific, the tools and findings will assist policy makers and health planners in Nigeria and similar settings, who are considering implementing the package, in making informed choices.

International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): DERR1-10.2196/17263

RenderX

(JMIR Res Protoc 2020;9(10):e17263) doi: 10.2196/17263

KEYWORDS

primary eye care; primary health care; implementation; visual impairment; technical feasibility; feasibility study; health policy; Nigeria; World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa; WHO-AFRO

Introduction

Approximately 253 million people are blind or visually impaired worldwide, 90% of whom live in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) [1]. In Nigeria, about 4.25 million adults are blind or visually impaired and over 80% of the blindness is due to avoidable causes [2,3]. Lack of access to eye care services is one of the reasons why people remain or become blind [4]. Cataracts are the most common cause of blindness in Nigeria [2], and high-quality cataract surgery should be accessible and affordable for all. However, in the Nigeria National Blindness and Visual Impairment Survey, almost half of all eyes that had undergone a procedure for cataract treatment had undergone couching-a traditional procedure to treat cataracts-often with poor visual outcomes. Glaucoma, which causes irreversible visual loss, was the second-most common cause of blindness [2]. Although early treatment can prevent or slow progression of the disease, in Nigeria people with glaucoma present very late to eye care services, often already blind in one or both eyes.

Other blinding-eye conditions in Nigeria include uncorrected refractive error [5], trachoma, and diabetic retinopathy. Presbyopia, the age-related decline in near vision, affects an estimated 20 million adults in Nigeria [6] and can lead to considerable productivity losses if uncorrected. Although blindness in children is rarer than in adults, many of the blinding conditions in LMICs, such as measles infection and vitamin A deficiency, can be prevented at the primary level [7,8].

Other eye conditions that cause ocular morbidity for which access to eye care is needed include dry, irritable eyes and allergic and infective conjunctivitis [9]. There is, therefore, a need for LMICs to provide universal access to eye care, not just for blinding conditions but also for conditions causing troublesome symptoms. Approximately 25% of Nigerians have ocular conditions [9]; with a population of 200 million, this means that approximately 50 million Nigerians are in need of eye care.

In LMICs, most eye care is delivered in secondary- and tertiary-level facilities, which are mainly located in urban areas. This leads to inequity in access, higher costs for patients and providers [10], and the patronage of other sources of care (eg, informal drugs sellers, traditional and spiritual healers, and couchers), which may exacerbate the visual loss through harmful practices or delayed access to appropriate treatment [9,11]. Over 35% of Nigerians with ocular problems consult an informal

drug seller as a first option, primarily due to a lack of access to eye care services [9].

One way to improve access to eye care in LMICs is to integrate eye care into primary health care (PHC) [10], which is advocated by the World Health Organization (WHO) in their report Universal Eye Health: Global Action Plan 2014-2019 [12]. Primary eye care (PEC) entails the following elements: health protection, health promotion, specific preventive measures, detection and treatment of common eye conditions, detection and referral of more complex conditions, and record keeping. The health promotion elements can be delivered in the community as well as in facilities, while the other components principally take place in PHC facilities.

However, delivering PEC can have challenges; these include low PEC skill levels [13], inadequate supervision [14], and inadequate equipment and supplies [15]. A review of the literature on PEC in sub-Saharan Africa showed that there has been no consensus on the scope of PEC nor guidelines on the technical skills PHC workers require to implement eye care; this has resulted in deficient training and inadequate supervision [16]. To encourage uniformity of the scope of PEC in sub-Saharan Africa, the WHO Regional Office for Africa (WHO-AFRO) recently launched a package of evidence-based interventions for PEC: the WHO-AFRO PEC package [17]. The package can be subdivided into two broad elements: health promotion and facility-based eye care. The latter comprises five evidence-based algorithms and protocols on how to measure distance and near visual acuity, administer eye medication, remove foreign bodies, apply an eye patch, document findings, and refer and counsel patients. The purpose of the package is to strengthen the capacity of PHC workers in sub-Saharan Africa to manage patients with eye conditions [17] and widen access to eye care [18]. The package has been pilot-tested in Rwanda and Kenya [18].

In Nigeria, the health system has three tiers of service delivery—primary, secondary, and tertiary (see Figure 1, A)—staffed by appropriate cadres. The PHC system provides basic services and is often the first point of contact with the health system and the only source of health care for the majority of Nigerians in rural and remote communities [19]. PHC is delivered in health centers and smaller units called health posts. PHC staff comprise junior community health extension workers, community health extension workers (CHEWs), community health officers, and nurse midwives (see Figure 1, B).

Figure 1. Human resources for health in Nigeria (A) across the tiers of the health system and (B) at primary health care (PHC) facilities. CHEW: community health extension worker; CHO: community health officer; JCHEW: junior community health extension worker; NMW: nurse midwife.



Challenges of delivering PHC in Nigeria include, but are not limited to, shortage of health workers and absenteeism [20], infrastructural decay and poor funding [21], a dearth of basic equipment [22], and lack of trust in the system by the community [23]. Attempts have been made by nongovernmental organizations to implement PEC in some parts of Nigeria by training a limited number of staff using their own curricula and providing basic equipment. However, these initiatives were only scaled up with financial support in one state, so they were not scalable nor sustainable [24]. Nevertheless, to deliver an effective and sustainable intervention, it is important that feasibility studies are conducted in each implementation setting. Feasibility research can help identify the opportunities and challenges in implementing a new health initiative, including PEC, which can only be as efficient as the PHC system into which it is built [16].

Feasibility is a complex construct [25], which has been defined in different ways. For example, Snowden et al define feasibility as encompassing the following domains: political, cultural, or community acceptability as well as technical, cost, and legal feasibility [26]. This study focuses on technical feasibility, which comprises the technical complexity of an intervention and the technical capacities needed to deliver it [27]. To our knowledge, no technical feasibility study in relation to PEC in

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

RenderX

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 39

sub-Saharan Africa has been undertaken. Identifying the challenges, opportunities, and gaps in the technical capacities required will provide information for policy makers to make informed decisions about how the health system needs to be strengthened to deliver PEC as an integral component of PHC. The research is timely, as PHC reforms are currently underway in Nigeria, which include national policies to train primary-level staff and to provide essential drugs and consumables under the umbrella of Universal Health Coverage. These initiatives provide real opportunities to integrate PEC into PHC [24]. The overarching aim of this study is to determine the technical feasibility of implementing the WHO-AFRO PEC package into PHC facilities in Nigeria; in this paper, we describe, in detail, the methods to achieve this.

Methods

Overview

This study has several components, including a literature review on PEC in sub-Saharan Africa; a Delphi exercise to reach consensus among experts regarding the technical complexity of the WHO-AFRO PEC package and the capacities needed to deliver it in PHC facilities; development of PEC technical capacity assessment tools; and data collection, including facility surveys and semistructured interviews with PHC staff and their supervisors and village health workers (VHWs) to determine the capacities available to deliver PEC in PHC facilities (see Figure 2). Analysis will identify opportunities and the capacity gaps that need to be addressed to deliver PEC.

Figure 2. Flowchart of the study. PEC: primary eye care; PHC: primary health care; WHO-AFRO: World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa.



Components of the Study

Identification and Selection of Theoretical Framework

There are only a few analytical tools to assess the technical complexity of an intervention, one of which was proposed by Gericke et al [27]. This framework comprises four domains: (1) intervention characteristics, (2) delivery characteristics, (3) government capacity requirements, and (4) usage characteristics with criteria for each (see Table 1 [27]). A theoretical framework for assessing the technical feasibility of implementing the WHO-AFRO PEC package in PHC facilities in Nigeria has been designed by the investigators (see Figure 3 [27]), which builds on Gericke's framework of technical complexity [27]. This involves assessing the complexity of each component of the intervention and, from this, extrapolating to the technical

capacities required to implement it. Analysis of the data collected will reveal the gaps that need to be addressed, which may be minimal or substantial. The size and nature of the gaps will determine the feasibility of implementing the intervention.

The Delphi method is a scientific, multistage approach to achieve consensus from combined expert opinion through a series of structured questionnaires completed anonymously. Advantages of the Delphi approach include anonymity and the achievement of consensus where definitive evidence is lacking [28,29].

A two-round Delphi exercise was used to build consensus on, first, the technical complexity of the WHO-AFRO PEC package and, second, the technical capacities required to implement it. The study was conducted over 5 months in 2018.



RenderX

Aghaji et al

Table 1. Gericke et al's framework to assess the technical complexity of health interventions [27].

Category	Criteria
Intervention characteristics	
Basic product design	Stability
	Standardizability
	Safety profile
	Ease of storage
	Ease of transport
Supplies	Need for regular supplies
Equipment	High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed
	A number of different types of equipment needed
	Maintenance needed
Delivery characteristics	
Facilities	Retail sector
	Outreach services
	First-level care
	Hospital care
Human resources	Skill level required for service provision
	Skill level required for staff supervision
	Intensity of professional services in terms of frequency or duration
	Management and planning requirements
Communication and transport	Dependence of delivery on communication and transport infrastructure
Government capacity requirements	
Regulation and legislation	Need for regulation
	Need for monitoring regulatory measures and enforcement of regulation
Management systems	Need for sophisticated management systems
Collaborative action	Need for intersectoral action within government
	Need for partnership between government and external funding agencies
Usage characteristics	
Ease of use	Need for information and education
	Need for supervision
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion
Black market risk	Need to prevent resale and counterfeiting

Figure 3. Theoretical framework for technical feasibility assessment derived from Gericke et al [27]. WHO: World Health Organization.



http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

XSL•FC

RenderX

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 41

Literature Review of PEC in Sub-Saharan Africa and Mapping Onto the Appropriate Segment of Gericke's Framework to Form the Delphi Questionnaire

The WHO-AFRO PEC package was divided into two components: eye health prevention and promotion and facility-based case management. Gericke's framework was used to develop two questionnaires, one for health promotion and the other for facility-based care, which were entered into a Microsoft Excel 2016 spreadsheet.

In order to populate the two questionnaires, a literature search on PEC in sub-Saharan Africa was undertaken based on literature published in PubMed up to April 2018. Search terms included "primary eye care" and "sub-Saharan Africa." The bibliographies of the two most recent published reviews on PEC in sub-Saharan Africa were also reviewed [16,30]. A total of 173 articles were retrieved. Articles that were not related to PEC in sub-Saharan Africa were excluded, leaving 51 articles for inclusion, including 2 randomized trials.

Further implementation characteristics were identified by two of the authors (CG and AA) who have more than 40 years' combined experience in eye care in sub-Saharan Africa. These two sources yielded a list of key criteria for the technical complexity of PEC, which were used to populate the Delphi questionnaires. A 4-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly agree) to 4 (strongly disagree), was applied to each statement. The Delphi questionnaires were reviewed by an expert in international eye health (CG), a health interventions expert (HB), and a statistician (David MacCleod, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine).

The Delphi Exercise

Selection of Experts for the Delphi Exercise

The main eligibility criteria for the Delphi panel included being an eye care professional with long-standing experience in community eye care in sub-Saharan Africa, preferably for a minimum of 10 years and who is still professionally active, and having experience in eye health policy. Panel members were selected by a modified, exponential, snowball-sampling method where an initial participant provides multiple referrals [31]. Each new referral was vetted and included in the study if the eligibility criteria were met.

Delphi Rounds

A total of 12 panel members were contacted by email and telephone, 9 of whom confirmed their willingness to take part. All 9 completed both rounds of the Delphi exercise. For the first round, panel members were sent the following documents: the methods to be used during the Delphi exercise, an explanation of Gericke's framework of technical complexity, and the first pair of questionnaires on the technical complexities of PEC. Participants were invited to state their level of agreement with each statement by ticking the appropriate level in the Likert scale. A comments box was included beside each statement for comments or suggestions.

Once all the questionnaires had been received, they were analyzed for consensus, defined as at least 70% agreement on each statement in the upper-50th percentile (Likert scale scores of 1 and 2). Where consensus was reached, the statements were adopted. Statements where consensus was not reached were modified based on the suggestions and comments and were incorporated into the second round, as were newly identified statements.

For the second round, each of the agreed-upon statements on technical complexity were modified to reflect the technical capacities required for delivery, and Likert scales were added. Panel members were sent the questionnaires on technical capacities, which included the comments and suggestions of participants from the first round. Only statements that achieved consensus, as defined as above, were included in the final document. Any minority views (<70% consensus) were not adopted but were documented.

Development of PEC Technical Capacity Assessment Tools and Selection of Participant Groups

Overview

The technical capacities derived from the Delphi exercise were mapped onto the WHO's health systems framework, which comprises the health workforce, leadership and governance, financing, health management information systems, equipment, technology and infrastructure, and service delivery [32]. After reviewing the capacities needed, the optimal method of assessment was determined (ie, document review; structured questionnaires; observational checklists; in-depth interviews, using a structured topic guide; and the relevant participant groups: VHWs; PHC staff, including facility heads; CHEWs; and district supervisors) (see Table 2). Mixed methods were used to ensure a comprehensive understanding and to triangulate the data [33]. The instruments were developed in English and interviews were conducted in English, except for the VHW questionnaire, which was translated into Igbo and back-translated into English to ensure it retained its meaning.



RenderX

JMIR Res Protoc 2020 | vol. 9 | iss. 10 | e17263 | p. 6 (page number not for citation purposes)

Table 2. Methods of assessment for technical capacities and participants.

Assessment method	Participants	Data to be collected	
Document review	N/A ^a	Policies that could support implementation of primary eye care (PEC)	
In primary health care (PHC) faciliti	es		
Structured questionnaire A	Heads of facilities, which can be any cadre	Facility practices that could support PEC implementation	
Structured questionnaire B	Community health extension workers	Health promotion practices that could support PEC implementation	
Observational checklist A	Heads of facilities	Equipment, consumables, infrastructure, and register data that could support PEC implementation in facilities	
Observational checklist B	Community health extension workers	Equipment, consumables, infrastructure, and register data that could support health promotion of PEC	
In purposively selected facilities			
In-depth interviews A	Heads of facilities	PHC experiences; extent to which PEC can be implemented in their facilities	
Structured questionnaire C	Village health workers	Perspectives on PEC promotion and prevention	
In each district			
In-depth interviews B	District PHC supervisors	PHC management experiences; extent to which PEC could be im- plemented in their districts	

 $^{a}N/A$: not applicable; participants were not involved in the review of the document.

Study Area

Nigeria has 36 states in six geopolitical zones. Enugu State was selected for the pilot study and Anambra State for the main

study, both of which are in the southeast zone (see Figure 4 [34]).

Figure 4. Map of Nigeria showing the six geopolitical zones and the 36 states [34].



Pilot Study in Enugu State

A pilot study was undertaken in three PHC facilities in one district in Enugu State to assess all the data collection

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/



Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 43

instruments. Appropriate amendments were made to the study

tools based on the responses of participants.

Main Study in Anambra State

Overview

Anambra state has 21 local government areas, or districts, which can be stratified into urban, semiurban, and rural. The main occupations are agriculture, manufacturing, and commerce. The literacy rate of individuals aged 6 years and older is 75.1% [35], and 11.3% are considered to be poor [36].

Participants

Participants included heads of facilities, CHEWs, district supervisors, and VHWs. If a facility had two or more CHEWs, one was randomly selected. Data to be collected from each participant group are summarized in Table 2. Facility surveys were undertaken in primary health centers and health posts.

Selection of Districts, Facilities, and Participants

As this was a descriptive study, a sample of 48 facilities was estimated for a baseline study to be sufficient to determine a prevalence of 50% of PHCs with the technical capacity to implement PEC, with a margin of error of 20% with a 95% confidence level, a cluster design effect of 1.8, and accounting for a 10% nonresponse rate [37].

Facilities for inclusion in the main study in Anambra State, which has 21 districts with 235 PHC centers and 112 health posts (ie, a ratio of 2:1), were selected using a two-stage process. First, a list of districts was drawn up, stratified by rural, semiurban, and urban location, to create a sampling frame. Six districts were selected by selecting the appropriate number within each stratum to represent their distribution (ie, three semiurban to two rural to one urban) using simple random sampling. Second, within each district a list of PHC facilities was obtained from the National Primary Health Care Development Agency. The number of facilities—PHC centers and health posts—within each stratum was selected by probability proportionate to size in each district and to represent the 2:1 distribution of health centers and health posts.

The principal researcher administered the head-of-facility questionnaires and facility observational checklists; trained research assistants administered the CHEW and VHW questionnaires and the health promotion observational checklists. Paper forms were used to collect the data.

Preliminary Data Analysis and Purposive Selection of Participants for Qualitative Interviews

Interim data analysis was undertaken using predetermined criteria (eg, the availability of regular supervision, availability and use of standard operating procedures [SOPs], health workforce strength, and number of patients attending the facilities). The highest- and lowest-scoring facilities were stratified by location (ie, urban, rural, or semiurban) and type of facility (ie, health center or health post).

Structured Interviews With VHWs and Semistructured Interviews With Facility Heads and District Supervisors

Based on the preliminary analysis, nine facilities (ie, six health centers and three health posts) were purposively selected. The principal researcher conducted in-depth interviews with the heads of these facilities using semistructured topic guides. A

total of 2 VHWs from each of the nine facilities were also randomly selected, and the trained research assistants administered structured questionnaires. Finally, the principal investigator conducted in-depth interviews with the district supervisors of each of the six districts using semistructured topic guides. All the interviews were conducted in English apart from the questionnaires for VHWs, which were administered in the local language by bilingual research assistants.

Data Management

Overview

All the data from the two checklists and three questionnaires have been entered into specially prepared databases in Microsoft Access 2016 and transferred to Stata, version 15.1 (StataCorp LLC), using Stat/Transfer for analysis. Interviews with heads of facilities and district supervisors have been conducted and were recorded on an MP3 player. Verbatim transcription and reflection were ongoing during the interviews and evolving concepts were explored in subsequent interviews.

Quality assurance of data collection for the questionnaires was undertaken by training the research team with a daily debriefing. Each structured questionnaire was initialed by the research team member only when the form was correctly and completely filled out. For data entry, data validation rules were applied to the appropriate fields, which included range checks for numerical values. In addition, 10% of the questionnaires were randomly selected and data entry was cross-checked. During the semistructured interviews, the principal investigator was aware of her role as a benign interviewer and not a judgmental ophthalmologist. At the end of each interview, a summary of the participant's views was read to them for confirmation. The interview recordings were transcribed by the principal investigator and checked for errors or omissions by replaying the tapes.

All data have been stored in a backed-up hard drive in a password-encrypted laptop and in the institution's data repository (Filr) with controlled access limited to authorized users. Any data transferred through the internet have been encrypted. Data will be stored for 10 years to enable publications to be made from the data; they will then be deleted.

Data Analysis

Questionnaires and Checklists

Frequency tables will be generated from the data. Simple descriptive analyses will be performed (eg, the proportion of the facilities visited with tools for referrals). Existing capacities will be benchmarked against norms [38], when available (eg, staffing levels by cadre; SOPs; frequency of supervision; and some components of equipment, consumables, and medication, including systems to maintain the cold chain for vaccines). For indicators without norms, a descriptive analysis will be undertaken, benchmarking against the capacities required. The data will be analyzed based on the WHO health systems framework to highlight the elements that require strengthening.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

XSL•FO RenderX

Aghaji et al

In-Depth Interviews

Thematic analysis will be used to explore the data using OpenCode software, version 4.02. The data will be coded, categorized using the WHO health systems framework, and developed into themes. Data interpretation will be reviewed and discussed with the research team and qualitative experts. Final themes will be developed. The analysis will be supported by anonymized quotes from the data. Identification codes will be generated according to interview number, participant cadre, and type of facility. Reporting of the analysis of the interviews will follow COREQ (Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Studies) guidelines [39].

Ethical Approval

Ethical approval was granted by the ethics review committees of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria; the University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital; and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant at the beginning of each interaction. For the interviews with heads of facilities and district supervisors, consent included permission to audio record the interviews and use anonymous quotes.

Results

Consensus was reached among experts during the Delphi exercise regarding the technical complexity of the WHO-AFRO PEC package and the capacities needed to deliver it in PHC facilities. Based on the agreed-upon technical capacities, quantitative tools have been developed and relevant stakeholders have been identified to assess the technical capacity of PHC facilities to deliver the WHO-AFRO PEC package (ie, structured questionnaires, observation checklists, and topic guides of in-depth interviews).

Results from the pilot study highlighted large gaps in human resources for health and supervision at the community level, and the study tools were amended to accommodate this. The pilot study involved staff in three health centers in one district in Enugu State. All the data collection tools were pilot-tested apart from the topic guide for supervisors and the structured questionnaire for VHWs, as they were not available. Only one change was made to data collection, which was that the main survey questionnaire be administered to the appropriate cadre, as health promotion was mainly undertaken by a different cadre than anticipated.

Key findings were that none of the facilities had the full complement of staff, and none had a doctor or nurse midwife. The only in-service training that staff had received in the previous 12 months was in child health, maternal health, and HIV. Regarding health promotion, in each facility senior members of staff were providing health promotion in the community, which focused almost exclusively on maternal and child health. The only health promotion topic of relevance to eye care was not to self-medicate. The only form of transport provided to visit communities was a motorbike in one facility. No facility used forms for referral, which was done verbally. For facility-based management, all three were observed to have standing orders, and all reported supervision to be irregular. The main focus of the services delivered was maternal and child health, and none provided any eye care. Two facilities were able to test blood sugar, and none provided services for the elderly. In relation to equipment for eye care, one facility had a visual acuity chart, none had flashlights, and only one had antibiotic eye ointment. The facility survey in 48 PHC facilities has been completed as planned, and interviews with district supervisors and facility heads of the nine purposively selected facilities have been undertaken.

Capacities to deliver PEC are being analyzed, and gaps are being identified. Findings from all sources will be reviewed, including from the desk review of guidelines and policy documents. The convergence of findings will highlight whether gaps in the capacity to deliver PEC are due to limitations in the national guidelines or policies and/or whether they are due to limitations in the current delivery of PHC at district and/or facility levels.

Discussion

This is the first study, to our knowledge, to assess the technical feasibility of integrating eye care into PHC in sub-Saharan Africa and the extent to which the health system needs to be strengthened to deliver it. An alternative approach to facilitate implementation in low-capacity settings would be to adapt the PEC package. There has been renewed interest in assessing the integration of services into health systems in LMICs [40], and the results from this study will be central to enabling policy makers to make an informed choice about what needs to be done to implement PEC in Nigeria.

The development of a conceptual framework for assessing health system interventions is important [41]. This study builds upon the technical complexity framework of Gericke to incorporate technical capacity assessments and will report a gap analysis in the system based on the WHO health systems framework. It is critical that countries implementing or scaling up new interventions have access to reliable, accurate, and comprehensive data on capacities and gaps in the system to deliver an equitable [42] and sustainable intervention. This study provides tools that could be adapted or modified for use in other countries in the region that plan to deliver the WHO-AFRO PEC package.

A limitation of the study is that it only addresses technical feasibility; other aspects of feasibility as delineated by Snowden, such as cultural, legal, financial, and political feasibility, may also need to be addressed. In addition, the assessment tools are cadre specific and designed for the Nigerian PHC context and may not be applicable to other settings. In this study, the sample size was 48 facilities. The study may not have been powered sufficiently to assess any capacity differences between health centers and health posts.

Results of the study will be disseminated to stakeholders in PHC and eye care in Nigeria by communique at stakeholders' meetings and at local, national, and international ophthalmology and public health conferences, as well as in peer-reviewed journals.

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the support of the Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency; the College of Medicine, University of Nigeria; and our research team for logistic and operational support. We thank Professor Allen Foster for his contributions to the article and David MacCleod for his statistical support. AA has a research degree scholarship from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, United Kingdom, coordinated through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium, United Kingdom.

Authors' Contributions

AA and CG conceived the study. AA, CG, HB, and JW made substantial contributions to the study design. AA, CG, HB, and SH designed the study tools. AA was responsible for data collection as part of the fulfilment for a research degree. CG and HB supervised the work. All authors made contributions and agreed to the final draft.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Bourne R, Flaxman S, Braithwaite T, Cicinelli MV, Das A, Jonas JB, Vision Loss Expert Group. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2017 Sep;5(9):e888-e897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(17)30293-0] [Medline: 28779882]
- Abdull MM, Sivasubramaniam S, Murthy GVS, Gilbert C, Abubakar T, Ezelum C, Nigeria National Blindness and Visual Impairment Study Group. Causes of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria: The Nigeria National Blindness and Visual Impairment Survey. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009 Sep;50(9):4114-4120. [doi: 10.1167/iovs.09-3507] [Medline: 19387071]
- Kyari F, Gudlavalleti MVS, Sivsubramaniam S, Gilbert CE, Abdull MM, Entekume G, Nigeria National Blindness and Visual Impairment Study Group. Prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria: The National Blindness and Visual Impairment Study. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2009 May;50(5):2033-2039. [doi: <u>10.1167/iovs.08-3133</u>] [Medline: <u>19117917</u>]
- 4. Gilbert CE, Shah SP, Jadoon MZ, Bourne R, Dineen B, Khan MA, Pakistan National Eye Survey Study Group. Poverty and blindness in Pakistan: Results from the Pakistan National Blindness and Visual Impairment Survey. BMJ 2008 Jan 05;336(7634):29-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.39395.500046.AE] [Medline: 18087076]
- Ezelum C, Razavi H, Sivasubramaniam S, Gilbert CE, Murthy GVS, Entekume G, Nigeria National Blindness and Visual Impairment Study Group. Refractive error in Nigerian adults: Prevalence, type, and spectacle coverage. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2011 Jul 23;52(8):5449-5456. [doi: 10.1167/iovs.10-6770] [Medline: 21330658]
- Fricke TR, Tahhan N, Resnikoff S, Papas E, Burnett A, Ho SM, et al. Global prevalence of presbyopia and vision impairment from uncorrected presbyopia: Systematic review, meta-analysis, and modelling. Ophthalmology 2018 Oct;125(10):1492-1499
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2018.04.013] [Medline: 29753495]
- Aghaji AE, Duke R, Aghaji UCW. Inequitable coverage of vitamin A supplementation in Nigeria and implications for childhood blindness. BMC Public Health 2019 Mar 08;19(1):282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6413-1] [Medline: 30849959]
- Malik ANJ, Mafwiri M, Gilbert C. Integrating primary eye care into global child health policies. Arch Dis Child 2018 Feb;103(2):176-180. [doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2017-313536] [Medline: 28988214]
- Senyonjo L, Lindfield R, Mahmoud A, Kimani K, Sanda S, Schmidt E. Ocular morbidity and health seeking behaviour in Kwara state, Nigeria: Implications for delivery of eye care services. PLoS One 2014;9(8):e104128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104128] [Medline: 25165984]
- Blanchet K, Gilbert C, de Savigny D. Rethinking eye health systems to achieve universal coverage: The role of research. Br J Ophthalmol 2014 Oct;98(10):1325-1328. [doi: <u>10.1136/bjophthalmol-2013-303905</u>] [Medline: <u>24990874</u>]
- 11. Onwubiko S, Eze B, Udeh N, Arinze OC, Okoloagu MN, Chuka-Okosa CM. Mapping the pathways to eye care in a rural south-east Nigerian population: Any implications for practice, eye care programs and policy? Rural Remote Health 2014;14(4):2729 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25382094]
- 12. World Health Organization. Universal Eye Health: A Global Action Plan 2014-2019. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2013. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/489293/retrieve</u> [accessed 2020-10-03]
- Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. Skills of general health workers in primary eye care in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. Hum Resour Health 2014;12 Suppl 1:S2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1478-4491-12-S1-S2] [Medline: 25860909]
- Byamukama E, Courtright P. Knowledge, skills, and productivity in primary eye care among health workers in Tanzania: Need for reassessment of expectations? Int Health 2010 Dec;2(4):247-252. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.inhe.2010.07.008</u>] [Medline: <u>24037865</u>]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

RenderX

- 15. Mafwiri MM, Jolley E, Hunter J, Gilbert CE, Schmidt E. Mixed methods evaluation of a primary eye care training programme for primary health workers in Morogoro Tanzania. BMC Nurs 2016;15:41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12912-016-0163-5] [Medline: 27390550]
- Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: Do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? Ann Trop Med Parasitol 2010 Jul;104(5):361-367. [doi: 10.1179/136485910X12743554760225] [Medline: 20819303]
- 17. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa. Primary Eye Care Training Manual: A Course to Strengthen the Capacity of Health Personnel to Manage Eye Patients at Primary-Level Health Facilities in the African Region. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual</u>
- Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Community Eye Health 2017;30(100):85-87 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29483753]
- 19. National Primary Health Care Development Agency, Federal Republic of Nigeria. National Guidelines for Development of Primary Health Care System in Nigeria. 4th edition. Abuja, Nigeria: National Primary Health Care Development Agency; 2012.
- Abimbola S, Olanipekun T, Igbokwe U, Negin J, Jan S, Martiniuk A, et al. How decentralisation influences the retention of primary health care workers in rural Nigeria. Glob Health Action 2015;8:26616 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.26616] [Medline: 25739967]
- 21. Chukwuani CM, Olugboji A, Akuto EE, Odebunmi A, Ezeilo E, Ugbene E. A baseline survey of the primary healthcare system in South Eastern Nigeria. Health Policy 2006 Jul;77(2):182-201. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.healthpol.2005.07.006</u>] [Medline: <u>16107291</u>]
- 22. Bhatnagar A, Gupta S, Alonge O, George AS. Primary health care workers' views of motivating factors at individual, community and organizational levels: A qualitative study from Nasarawa and Ondo states, Nigeria. Int J Health Plann Manage 2017 Apr;32(2):217-233. [doi: 10.1002/hpm.2342] [Medline: 27062268]
- 23. Abdulraheem IS, Olapipo AR, Amodu MO. Primary health care services in Nigeria: Critical issues and strategies for enhancing the use by the rural communities. J Public Health Epidemiol 2012 Jan;4(1):5-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5897/JPHE11.133]
- 24. Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, Faal H. Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. BMJ Glob Health 2018;3(6):e000846. [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000846] [Medline: 30613423]
- 25. Bowen DJ, Kreuter M, Spring B, Cofta-Woerpel L, Linnan L, Weiner D, et al. How we design feasibility studies. Am J Prev Med 2009 May;36(5):452-457 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.02.002] [Medline: 19362699]
- Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public Health Nutr 2010 Jun;13(6):886-892. [doi: 10.1017/S136898001000011X] [Medline: 20196907]
- 27. Gericke C, Kurowski C, Ranson M, Mills A. Intervention complexity--A conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bull World Health Organ 2005 Apr;83(4):285-293 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>15868020</u>]
- 28. Hohmann E, Brand J, Rossi M, Lubowitz J. Expert opinion is necessary: Delphi panel methodology facilitates a scientific approach to consensus. Arthroscopy 2018 Feb;34(2):349-351. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.arthro.2017.11.022</u>] [Medline: <u>29413182</u>]
- 29. Hasson F, Keeney S, McKenna H. Research guidelines for the Delphi survey technique. J Adv Nurs 2000 Oct;32(4):1008-1015. [Medline: 11095242]
- 30. du Toit R, Faal HB, Etya'ale D, Wiafe B, Mason I, Graham R, et al. Evidence for integrating eye health into primary health care in Africa: A health systems strengthening approach. BMC Health Serv Res 2013 Mar 18;13:102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-13-102] [Medline: 23506686]
- 31. Dudovskiy J. Snowball sampling. Business Research Methodology. 2019. URL: <u>https://research-methodology.net/</u> <u>sampling-in-primary-data-collection/snowball-sampling/</u> [accessed 2020-10-03]
- 32. Mounier-Jack S, Griffiths UK, Closser S, Burchett H, Marchal B. Measuring the health systems impact of disease control programmes: A critical reflection on the WHO building blocks framework. BMC Public Health 2014 Mar 25;14:278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-278] [Medline: 24666579]
- Ozawa S, Pongpirul K. 10 best resources on ... mixed methods research in health systems. Health Policy Plan 2014 May;29(3):323-327. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapol/czt019</u>] [Medline: <u>23564372</u>]
- 34. NIMC enrolment centres. National Identity Management Commission. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.nimc.gov.ng/</u> <u>nimc-enrolment-centres</u> [accessed 2019-07-18]
- 35. United Nations Educational Scientific Cultural Organization (UNESCO). Reaching the 2015 literacy target: Delivering on the promise. In: Proceedings of the High level International Round Table on Literacy. Paris, France: UNESCO; 2012 Presented at: High level International Round Table on Literacy; September 6-7, 2012; Paris, France p. 1-3 URL: <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000217802</u>
- 36. University of Oxford. Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) Interactive Databank. University of Oxford. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.dataforall.org/dashboard/ophi/index.php/</u> [accessed 2016-10-20]

http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/

RenderX

- 37. Health Facility Assessment Sampling: Appropriate Methods for Small N. Geneva, Switzerland: The Global Fund; 2016 Feb 24. URL: <u>https://www.scribd.com/document/478793819/Sample-Size-Phcs</u> [accessed 2020-10-05]
- 38. National Primary Health Care Development Agency, Federal Ministry of Health. Minimum Standards for Primary Health Care in Nigeria. Abuja, Nigeria: National Primary Health Care Development Agency, Federal Government of Nigeria; 2015. URL: <u>https://hfr.health.gov.ng/resources/download/</u> <u>Minimum%20Standards%20for%20Primary%20Health%20Care%20in%20Nigeria.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-03]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Research (COREQ): A 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 40. Topp S, Abimbola S, Joshi R, Negin J. How to assess and prepare health systems in low- and middle-income countries for integration of services: A systematic review. Health Policy Plan 2018 Mar 01;33(2):298-312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czx169] [Medline: 29272396]
- 41. Adam T, Hsu J, de Savigny D, Lavis JN, Røttingen JA, Bennett S. Evaluating health systems strengthening interventions in low-income and middle-income countries: Are we asking the right questions? Health Policy Plan 2012 Oct;27 Suppl 4:iv9-iv19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czs086] [Medline: 23014156]
- 42. Nickerson JW, Adams O, Attaran A, Hatcher-Roberts J, Tugwell P. Monitoring the ability to deliver care in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review of health facility assessment tools. Health Policy Plan 2015 Jun;30(5):675-686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapol/czu043] [Medline: 24895350]

Abbreviations

CHEW: community health extension worker COREQ: Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Studies LMICs: low- and middle-income countries PEC: primary eye care PHC: primary health care SOP: standard operating procedure VHW: village health worker WHO: World Health Organization WHO-AFRO: World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.11.19; peer-reviewed by OO Oyewole, H Durrani; comments to author 29.06.20; revised version received 19.08.20; accepted 25.08.20; published 27.10.20

<u>Please cite as:</u> Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Webster J, Gilbert C The Technical Feasibility of Integrating Primary Eye Care Into Primary Health Care Systems in Nigeria: Protocol for a Mixed Methods Cross-Sectional Study JMIR Res Protoc 2020;9(10):e17263 URL: <u>http://www.researchprotocols.org/2020/10/e17263/</u> doi: <u>10.2196/17263</u> PMID: <u>33107837</u>

©Ada Aghaji, Helen Burchett, Shaffa Hameed, Jayne Webster, Clare Gilbert. Originally published in JMIR Research Protocols (http://www.researchprotocols.org), 27.10.2020. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Research Protocols, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.researchprotocols.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Paper 3: Results of a Delphi exercise to identify health system capacities required to deliver the World Health Organization's primary eye care package for Africa.

In this paper, we explain how we arrived at the technical capacities needed in health systems to implement the World Health Organisations primary eye care package for sub-Saharan Africa. It includes a review of primary eye care in sub-Saharan Africa. London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Reppet Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry Ti + 44(0)20 7299 4846 Fi + 44(0)20 7299 4858 E: registry@lahtm.ac.uk

£.

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284965		
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert		
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care tactifies in Assentics state to implement World Health Diganization's Primary Eyecare Package.		

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMJ Open			
When was the work published?	February 2021			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion				
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item. Yes	

"If yes, please attach evidence of retention, if no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the design and conceptualization of the study, collected and analyzed the data, drafted and edited the manuscript with consideration of input from her supervisions and consultions.
100 - 200	

Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 50

BMJ Open Technical capacities needed to implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process

Ada Aghaji ^(b),^{1,2} Helen E D Burchett ^(b),³ Wanjiku Mathenge,⁴ Hannah Bassey Faal,^{5,6} Rich Umeh,² Felix Ezepue,² Sunday Isiyaku,⁷ Fatima Kyari,⁸ Boateng Wiafe,⁹ Allen Foster,¹ Clare E Gilbert¹

ABSTRACT

To cite: Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Mathenge W, *et al.* Technical capacities needed to implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process. *BMJ Open* 2021;**11**:e042979. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-042979

Prepublication history and supplemental material for this paper is available online. To view these files, please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042979).

Received 24 July 2020 Revised 18 February 2021 Accepted 25 February 2021 **Objective** The aim of the study was to establish the technical capacities needed to deliver the WHO African Region's primary eye care package in primary healthcare facilities.

Design A two-round Delphi exercise was used to obtain expert consensus on the technical complexity of each component of the package and the technical capacities needed to deliver them using Gericke's framework of technical feasibility. The panel comprised nine eyecare experts in primary eyecare in sub-Saharan Africa. In each round panel members used a 4-point Likert scale to indicate their level of agreement. Consensus was predefined as \geq 70% agreement on each statement. For round 1, statements on technical complexity were identified through a literature search of primary eyecare in sub-Saharan Africa from January 1980 to April 2018. Statements for which consensus was achieved were included in round 2, and the technical capacities were agreed.

Results Technical complexity statements were classified into four broad categories: intervention characteristics, delivery characteristics, government capacity requirements and usage characteristics. 34 of the 38 (89%) statements on health promotion and 40 of the 43 (93%) statements on facility case management were considered necessary technical capacities for implementation.

Conclusion This study establishes the technical capacities needed to implement the WHO Africa Office primary eye care package, which may be generalisable to countries in sub-Saharan Africa.

Check for updates

Estimate eir indica

© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2021. Re-use permitted under CC BY-NC. No commercial re-use. See rights and permissions. Published by BMJ.

For numbered affiliations see end of article.

Correspondence to Dr Ada Aghaji; aaghaji@yahoo.co.uk INTRODUCTION

Scope of the problem

Estimates from sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) indicate that about 22 million people are blind or visually impaired, mainly from avoidable causes such as cataract and uncorrected refractive errors. In addition, over 100 million older adults in SSA are estimated to have near visual impairment.¹ The age standardised prevalence of blindness (\geq 50 years) is highest of all world regions, being in 5.1% in western and 4.3% eastern SSA,² with 80% of causes being preventable or treatable. Much of the

Strengths and limitations of this study

- This is the first study to establish the technical capacities needed to implement primary eye care in sub-Saharan Africa.
- A recognised technical feasibility framework was used, and statements were derived from a literature review of primary eye care in sub-Saharan Africa.
- A Delphi exercise was used to garner expert opinion and to reach consensus.
- Our expert panel was a non-random sample, and this may have led to hidden biases as the participants may not be representative of all the experts with the predetermined inclusion criteria.

regional variation in prevalence is explained by variability in access to eye care.³

Although there are limited data on regional estimates for non-visually impairing conditions (NVICs) in SSA, such as allergic/infective conjunctivitis and dry eye syndrome, the prevalence of NVICs in Kenya and Nigeria are estimated to be 15% and 25%, respectively.⁴⁵ These figures suggest a high need for eye care services in SSA, yet only 30% of Africans have access to eye care.⁶

Primary eye care in SSA

The inclusion of PEC in primary healthcare (PHC) has been recommended as a strategy to increase sustainability and access to eye care services,^{7 8} and there is global and regional support for PEC.⁹ Indeed, the WHO, in their Global Action Plan 2014–2019, reiterates the importance of accessible eye care services for the effective control of blindness and visual impairment and calls on member states to secure the inclusion of PEC within PHC.¹⁰ However, a literature review of PEC in SSA reported many challenges to the effective implementation of PEC. These include a lack of agreement on the scope of PEC and a lack of clear guidelines on the technical

BMJ

eve-related skills required by PHC workers; these affect the extent of training, supervision and the type of equipment and consumables required.¹¹ In response to this, the WHO Africa Office (WHO AFRO) recently developed and pilot tested a package of interventions for PEC in SSA. The WHO AFRO PEC package consists of eight elements that cover two broad areas, that is, health promotion and facility-based case management.^{12 13} For health promotion, the package has (two elements): (1) four sets of health messages for healthy people, people at risk of and with eye diseases, for children and carers, those aged 40 years and above, people of all ages and those with diabetes and (2) instructions on how to give a health talk. For facility-based case management the package has six elements: (1) five evidence-based algorithms for red eye, eve swelling, trauma, vision loss for distance and near and children 0-5 years, (2) a set of 12 evidence-based protocols covering five topics: how to measure visual acuity, how to cover an eye, medication, referrals and removal of foreign bodies, (3) a training package (curriculum and materials), (4) core lists of essential consumables, technologies and medicines, (5) a set of 10 standards and indicators for monitoring and evaluation and (6) templates to collect health information, monitoring and evaluation. Although this health initiative has the potential to increase coverage of eye health services in SSA,⁸ not all health initiatives proposed may be feasible to implement. Feasibility research can help identify the challenges as well as opportunities in implementing a new health initiative. This is particularly true for the WHO AFRO subregion where there is a marked variability in the ability of the 47 member states to implement additional interventions within PHC.¹⁴

Feasibility in relation to health initiatives is a multifaceted construct that Snowdon described as having the following components: technical, political, cultural, financial and legal feasibility¹⁵; the technical feasibility component was selected for this study. Technical feasibility is a balance between how complex the intervention is and the technical capacities required to implement it.¹⁶ The WHO AFRO PEC package has many different technical components, and the overall purpose of this study was to assess the feasibility of integrating the package into PHC in SSA. In this paper, we report the processes involved in developing the content of the feasibility framework for PEC for use in PHC settings in SSA countries.

METHODS

Our approach was framed by awareness of the limited published literature on the effectiveness of PEC in SSA¹¹ and the need to adopt a systematic method to provide expert consensus on the feasibility of implementing PEC to guide policy makers. Against this backdrop, we used a combination of methods: literature reviews (of feasibility frameworks for public health interventions and of PEC in SSA) and a Delphi process. The Delphi method is an iterative method of collecting opinions from a group of

experts where evidence from other more robust sources is not available. It uses a series of questionnaires, and responses are modified based on feedback.¹⁷ The Delphi process has been used in a wide variety of research areas, including health research.¹⁸ The classic Delphi process is characterised by: (A) anonymity of the participants to each other, which encourages free expression of opinion, (B) iteration, (C) controlled feedback from the group and (D) statistical aggregation of the group response.¹⁸

Step 1: Delphi questionnaire development

The WHO AFRO PEC package was divided into two components: eye health prevention/promotion and case management. An appropriate technical feasibility framework was identified by searching PubMed from January 2000 to April 2018 using the search terms 'technical feasibility' and 'frameworks'. The titles and abstracts of articles identified by the search strategy were screened, and potential full-text articles were reviewed by a single author (AA) (figure 1A) (see online supplemental material: appendix 1).

The conceptual framework to evaluate the technical complexity of public health interventions selected for this study, which was developed by Gericke *et al*¹⁶ has four dimensions: basic characteristics of the intervention, delivery characteristics, government capacity/need for regulation or legislation, and usage characteristics¹⁶ (table 1). Gericke's framework has been used to determine the technical complexity of condom social marketing for the prevention of HIV/AIDS and other sexually transmitted diseases¹⁶ and to assess aflatoxin risk reduction strategies in Africa, for example.¹⁹ For an intervention to be deemed feasible, the technical capacity must match the technical complexity of the intervention, thus intervention complexity complements the concept of institutional capacity.¹⁶

The WHO AFRO PEC package was divided into two components: eye health prevention/promotion and case management. The four dimensions of Gericke's framework were applied to each component, that is, intervention characteristics, delivery characteristics, government capacity requirements and usage characteristics.

To populate the framework, a literature search on PEC in SSA was conducted, and all articles of PEC in SSA up to April 2018 were searched for using MEDLINE. Search terms included 'primary eye care', with 'sub Saharan Africa' and 'eye disease' or 'eye' with 'primary healthcare' and 'Africa'.¹¹ In addition, we used all the relevant articles from the two most recent published reviews on PEC in SSA^{11 20} to identify evidence-based criteria for the technical complexities required to implement each component of the WHO AFRO PEC package (figure 1B).

Further implementation characteristics were identified by two of the authors (CEG and AA) who have more than 40 years combined experience of eye care in SSA. This yielded a list of key criteria for the technical complexity of PEC. A 4-point Likert scale (where 1=strongly agree and 4=strongly disagree) was applied to each of the



Figure 1 Literature searches for (A) technical feasibility framework and (B) primary eye care in sub-Saharan Africa.

statements, and this formed the Delphi questionnaires. The Delphi questionnaires were reviewed by an expert in international eye health (CEG), a health interventions expert (HEDB) and a statistician (DM). They were then sent to a panel of experts in PEC in SSA.

Step 2: selection of experts for the Delphi exercise

The aim was to recruit a panel of eye care professionals who were experts in eye care in SSA, with expertise to validate the relevance of the selected technical complexities and capacities required to implement the WHO AFRO PEC Package. Eligibility criteria included an eye care professional with a minimum of 10 years' experience of community eye care in SSA, still professionally active and with experience of eye health policy. They were selected by a modified exponential snowball sampling method where an initial participant provides multiple referrals.²¹ Each new referral was vetted and included in the study if the eligibility criteria were met. Two of the authors AA and CEG selected the initial participants, and these participants nominated others based on the stated eligibility criteria.

Step 3: Delphi round 1

Members of the team were contacted by email and telephone, and their availability was confirmed. Written informed consent was obtained. Members were sent the following documents: the methods to be used during the Delphi exercise, an explanation of Gericke's framework of technical complexity and a draft of the technical complexities required to deliver both components of the WHO AFRO PEC package in the form of the first Delphi questionnaires. Participants were invited to state their level of agreement to each statement in the questionnaire by ticking the appropriate level in the Likert scale in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. A comments box was included beside each statement for comments or suggestions.

Step 4: analysis of Delphi round 1

Once all the questionnaires had been received, they were analysed for consensus. Analyses were performed using STATA V.15.1 (Statcorp, Texas, USA) to generate descriptive statistics. No universally accepted criteria for consensus have been defined for Delphi studies.²² However, it has been shown that consensus can be said to have been achieved if a certain proportion of the votes fall within a predefined range.²³ Consensus for this study was defined as at least 70% agreement on each statement in the upper 50th percentile (Likert scores 1 and 2). Where consensus was reached, the statements were adopted. Statements where consensus was not reached were modified based on the suggestions/comments and incorporated into the second round, as were newly identified statements.

Step 5: modification for technical capacity

Statements included from the first round were modified so that panel members could indicate their agreement on the technical capacities, which need to be available to deliver the WHO PEC package.

Table 1 Technical fea	sibility framework of Gericke				
Gericke's framework					
Category	Criteria				
Intervention characte	ristics				
Basic product design	Stability.				
	Standardisability.				
	Safety profile.				
	Ease of storage.				
	Ease of transport.				
Supplies	Need for regular supplies.				
Equipment	High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed.				
	Ease of acquisition.				
	Number of different types of equipment needed.				
	Maintenance needed.				
Delivery characteristi	cs				
Facilities	Outreach services.				
Facilities	First-level care.				
Facilities	Hospital care.				
Human resources	Skill level required for service provision.				
	Skill level required for staff supervision.				
	Intensity of professional services in terms of frequency or duration.				
	Management and planning requirements.				
Communication and transport	Dependence of delivery on communication and transport infrastructure.				
Government capacity	requirements				
Regulation/legislation	Need for regulation.				
Management systems	Need for sophisticated management systems.				
Collaborative action	Need for intersectoral action within government.				
	Need for partnership between government and external funding agencies.				
Usage characteristics	5				
Ease of use	Need for information and education.				
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion.				
Black market risk	Need to prevent resale/ counterfeiting.				

Step 6: Delphi round 2

4

For this round, the participants received the questionnaires with the comments/suggestions of other panel members from the first round. However, this was modified for technical capacity, as stated above, and sent to the

Characteristics N (%)*				
Gender	Female	5 (55.6)		
Age (years)	<50	2 (22.2)		
	>50	7 (77.8)		
Professional group	Ophthalmologist	7 (77.8)		
	Administrator	2 (22.2)		
Primary function	Clinician	3 (33.3)		
	Researcher	3 (33.3)		
	NGO administrator	3 (33.3)		
Type of institution	Academic hospital	2 (22.2)		
	Non-academic hospital	1 (11,1)		
	Research institute	3 (33.3)		
	Eyecare NGO	3 (33.3)		
Region of practice	West Africa	5 (56)		
	East Africa	2 (22)		
	South Africa	2 (22)		
	Central Africa	1 (11)		
	Europe	1 (11)		
Involved in national policy making	Yes	9 (100)		

The mean number of years of experience in eye health of the participants was 31.1±8.9 (range 18-43) years. *Some participants had multiple roles/had worked in multiple reaions. NGO, non-governmental organisation.

same expert panel using the same Likert scale and level of consensus.

Step 7: analysis of Delphi round 2

Only statements that achieved at least 70% consensus in the upper 50th percentile (Likert scores 1 and 2) in the second round were included in the final document. Where consensus was reached, the statements were adopted and formed the basis of the final document. Any minority views (<70% consensus) did not form part of the adopted technical capacities but were documented. The technical capacities needed were mapped unto the WHO health system's building blocks.²⁴

Patients were not involved in this study.

RESULTS

Composition of Delphi panel of experts

A total of 12 experts were contacted, nine of whom agreed to participate (table 2). No response was received from the other three invitees despite at least three contacts by email. All nine completed the two rounds of the Delphi survey.

Delphi questionnaire development

A total of 81 statements on the technical complexity of the WHO AFRO PEC package were developed from

Table 3 Statements for each component of the WHO AFRO primary eye care package

	eye care package						
		Component of WHO AFRO PEC package					
		Health promotion and prevention	Facility case management				
Gericke's fram	ework domains	Number of statements					
Intervention characteristics	Basic product design	7	10				
	Supplies	2	1				
	Equipment	3	5				
Delivery characteristics	Type of facility needed	3	4				
	Human resource requirement	8	9				
	Communication and transport	3	2				
Government capacity	Regulation/ legislation	2	4				
requirements	Management systems	2	1				
	Collaborative action	4	3				
Usage	Ease of use	2	2				
characteristics	Pre-existing demand	1	1				
	Black market risk	1	1				
Total		38	43				

PEC, primary eye care; WHO AFRO, WHO Africa Office.

Gericke's framework, 38 for health promotion and 43 for facility-based case management (table 3).

In the first round, there was consensus in 84% of the statements with over 40% of the statements achieving 100% consensus (see online supplemental material: appendix 2). Based on comments from Delphi round 1, six modifications were made in the health promotion component and seven in the facility case management component (see online supplemental material: appendix 3). The modified questionnaire formed the basis of technical capacity questionnaire for round two.

In the second round, four statements were deemed not to be applicable by 89% of participants and were removed. Consensus was achieved in 94% of the statements, with 62% achieving 100% consensus (online supplemental appendix 4). Results of the 34 statements on technical capacity for health promotion for which consensus was reached are shown in table 4A with their respective Likert ratings, quartile and 50th percentile values. Results of the 40 statements on technical capacity for facility case management for which consensus was reached are shown in table 4B with their respective Likert ratings, quartile and 50th percentile values. The top quartile shows the number and proportion of participants who strongly agreed with each of the statements, while the 50th percentile shows the number and proportion of participants that strongly agreed or agreed. The technical capacities needed were mapped unto the WHO health system's building blocks (table 5A and B).

DISCUSSION

Despite global and regional interest in PEC,^{8 10 25 26} insights into the technical complexity of PEC and the technical capacities required to deliver it within PHC in SSA are lacking. The technical complexity was assessed using the well-known framework devised by Gericke, which complements the notion of institutional capacity in determining the feasibility of implementing or scaling up an intervention.¹⁶

In this study, we did not address other aspects of feasibility, such as legal and financial feasibility, and it may be argued that health financing is an important element to consider in low-resource countries, particularly in SSA, where less than half the countries have the minimum level of health financing of US\$44 per capita.²⁷ However, nonfinancial resources are considered to be the critical factor limiting the implementation of health interventions.¹⁶

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first Delphi exercise to explore the technical capacities needed to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package in SSA.

Our study complements a recent systematic review on health systems preparedness for integration of services at the PHC level,²⁸ and tools developed from our study will enable identification of elements of the health system at primary level that need to be strengthened to deliver PEC. This is important as the delivery of PEC can only be as effective as the PHC into which it is integrated.¹¹ Having said this, it is important to recognise that eye health needs to be integrated into all levels of the health system to achieve universal coverage for eye health.^{10 29}

Data to populate Gericke's framework were largely derived from a detailed review of the literature of PEC in SSA. Consensus on the capacities required to deliver PEC were reached after a two-round Delphi exercise by experts in public health for eye care in SSA: researchers, clinicians, policy makers and administrators. The primary function of panel members was evenly distributed between these three categories, and as all had been involved in policy development and service delivery for eye care in the region, they were experienced in what was feasible and what was not.

The literature review and the high consensus from the panel of experts increase the validity of the findings. In the first round, over four-fifths of the statements reached the predefined consensus, which implies that the majority of the technical complexities aligned with the views of the expert panel and their familiarity with the literature. In the second round, there was consensus on almost all the statements, with 100% consensus for almost two-thirds. This is to be expected, as the technical capacities were

Table 4A Consensus statements o	n technical capacity for health promotion, with analysis	of Lil	kert sca	les		
		Top quartile		50th percentile		
Category/criteria	Technical capacity needed (elements that need to be available)	Lik	xert 1 %	Lik	xert 2 %	_ Median (IQR)
1. Intervention characteristics						(/
Basic product design						
Stability: usable lifetime and risk of destruction	Posters that promote eye health.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Durable posters are available.	4	44.4	9	100	1 (1–2)
Standardisability: the degree to which an intervention can be standardised	Standardised posters available to deliver the same message per target group.	5	55.6	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Posters available in the language of the community.	6	66.7	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
	Posters with self-explanatory graphics available for the non-literate.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Different types of posters available for different target groups that are appropriately displayed.	5	55.6	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
Number of different types of equipment needed. Maintenance needed	Health promotion materials available that are easy to maintain.	5	55.6	9	100	1 (1–2)
	A system for the easy procurement of health promotion materials.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
2. Delivery characteristics						
Facilities						
Retail sector, outreach services, first-level care and hospital care	Health promotion in the community that includes young children and their carers, persons with diabetes and the elderly as their target audience.	4	44.4	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Time, space and willingness to deliver opportunistic eye health promotion to groups in the facility.	7	77.8	8	88.9	1 (1–1)
	Time and the willingness to deliver opportunistic eye health promotion to targeted individuals in the facility, for example, persons with diabetes.	5	55.6	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
Human resources						
Skill level required for service provision	Staff skilled in communicating with community members.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Staff who are knowledgeable about community, eye diseases and where to access care.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Village health workers resident in the community who are able to deliver health promotion.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Facility-based staff who are able to deliver health promotion.	5	55.6	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Professionals to train staff on eye health promotion and develop health promotion materials.	9	100	9	100	1 (1–1)
Skill level required for staff supervision. Degree of supervision required	Supervisors who are able to supervise health promotion activities including eye health.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Intensity of professional services in terms of frequency or duration, for example, on schedule/periodic or continuous to accommodate emergencies	Staff who regularly deliver health promotion on schedule.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Need for managerial staff: management and planning requirements	Existing managerial staff who plan and organise target audience to be sensitised in appropriate locations, for example, carers of young children.	5	55.6	9	100	1 (1–2)
						Continue

Continued

			o artile	50th ile percentile		Ð
Category/criteria	Technical capacity needed (elements that need to be available)	Lik N	ert 1 %	Like	ert 2 %	Mediar (IQR)
Communication and transport						
Dependence of delivery on communication and transport infrastructure: telephones and roads	Local transport infrastructure to visit communities.	6	66.7	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
Need for substantial exchange of information between different sectors or levels of care	Appropriate communication channels between the community and frontline health facilities. Staff who are able to communicate in the local language.	8	88.9 100	9	100 100	1 (1-1)
3. Government capacity requirements		3	100	3	100	
Regulation/legislation						
Need for legislation/regulation, monitoring regulatory measures and	Health promotion materials that have been approved and endorsed by local regulatory authorities.	5	55.6	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
enforcement of regulation	Eye health promotion activities that are recorded and monitored.	4	44.4	7	77.8	1 (1–1)
	National blindness prevention strategy that incorporates eye health promotion.	9	88.9	8	88.9	1 (1–1)
Need for sophisticated management systems and managerial staff. Level of management and planning requirements	t Existing managerial structures for health promotion that can be used to manage eye health promotion.	4	44.4	7	77.8	2 (1–2)
Collaborative action						
Need for intersectoral action within government. Need for partnership	Intersectoral activities within government or partnerships between government and civil society.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
between government and civil society	Existing school health programmes.	3	33.3	7	77.8	2 (1–2)
Need for partnership between government and external funding agencies	Collaborations with NGOs to provide health promotion. Collaboration between communities and frontline health communities.	1 7	11.1 77.8	7 9	77.8 100	2 (1–2) 1 (1–1)
4. Usage characteristics						
Ease of use						
Need for information and education	Communication channels with community to inform targe population.	ət 9	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Need for supervision	Staff to supervise health promotion activities.	9	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Pre-existing demand	out the two is the lith promotion that includes the	0	00.0	0	100	- /1)
Need for promotion	Staff who engage in health promotion that includes the uptake of eye care when required.	9	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Black market risk						
Need to prevent resale/ counterfeiting	Staff who engage and train traditional healers to identify and refer eye conditions, with a system to support training.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Table 4B Consensus statements or	n technical capacity for facility case management, with	analy	sis of L	ikert	scales	
	Top qua	o artile				
Technical capacity needed (elements that need to be		ert 1	Lik	kert 2	r	Median
	ilable) N	%	Ν	%		(IQR)
1. Intervention characteristics						
Basic product design						
Stability/ease of storage/ease Torch of transport	thes can be solar powered and are stable. 6	66	.7 9	100) 1	1 (1–2)

Continued

6

Table 4B Continued						
		Top quartile Likert 1		50t pei	h rcentile	
	Technical capacity needed (elements that need to be			Likert 2		Median
Category/criteria	available)	Ν	%	Ν	%	(IQR)
	Appropriate and secure storage for drugs and consumables.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Eye-drops that do not require cool storage should be stocked.	5	55.6	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
	Tetanus toxoid, which requires cool storage.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
	Topical antibiotic ointment does not require cold storage.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
	Sterile saline solution for eye irrigation is stable.	4	44.4	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
	High dose vitamin A is stable.	5	55.6	9	100	2 (1–2)
	Injectable antibiotics, for ophthalmia neonatorum and other conditions, may require cool storage	4	44.4	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
	Pre-existing PHC transport channels should be available to transport PEC consumables.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Standardisability	The WHO AFRO PEC package is standardised.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
Safety profile	Staff who are trained/can be trained to deliver the intervention correctly and not cause harm.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Supplies						
Need for regular supplies	Medication supply system to support regular supply of eye medications and consumables.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Equipment						
High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed	Diagnostic equipment: Snellen distance visual acuity chart; near visual acuity chart, torches and batteries.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Adequate space to use appropriate, standardised visual acuity charts.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
	Adequate space for counselling patients.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Number of different types of equipment needed	One set of diagnostic equipment.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
Maintenance needed	System to maintain equipment in the facility.	5	55.6	9	100	1 (1–2)
2. Delivery characteristics						
Facilities						
First-level care	Eye care services to manage uncomplicated eye conditions.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
Hospital care	Referral hospital to manage complicated eye conditions.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Human resources						
Skill level required for service provision	Staff able to make a diagnosis (take a history; measuring visual acuity; basic eye examination).	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Staff able to manage some conditions, for example, eye irrigation; remove foreign bodies; give IM injections.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Staff able to identify which cases to refer and the level of urgency.		88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
Skill level required for staff supervision. Degree of supervision required.	Primary healthcare supervisors knowledgeable about eye conditions and their management.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Regular supervision of PHC activities and PEC activities.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
Frequency or duration of services: for example, on schedule/periodic or continuous to accommodate	Staff trained in PEC always available to manage eye conditions and emergencies.	8	88.9	9	100	1 (1–1)
emergencies						Continue
Table 4B Continued						
--	---	------------	-------------	------------	---------------	---------
		Top qua) artile	50t pei	h rcentile	
	Technical capacity needed (elements that need to be _ available)		Likert 1		ert 2	Median
Category/criteria			%	Ν	%	(IQR)
Management and planning requirements. Need for	Facility managers who supply consumables and plan purchasing.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
managerial staff	Facility managers establish and maintain referral and feedback between the PH centre and eye care facilities.	5	55.6	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
	Managerial systems to coordinate staff rotations to ensure daily facility coverage by trained PEC staff.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Communication and transport						
Depends on delivery of communication and transport infrastructure	Communication channels to maintain referral and feedback mechanisms between the PH centre and referral centre.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
	Transportation between the PH facility and referral centre.	3	33.3	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
3. Government capacity require	ements					
Regulation/legislation						
Need for regulation	National Essential Drug List includes appropriate medication and equipment for eye care in PH facilities.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–1)
Regulatory measures need to be enforced and regulated	System that regulates drug prescribing and dispensing by appropriate staff.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Reporting systems for measles outbreaks.	9	100	9	100	1 (1–1)
	Reporting system for ophthalmia neonatorum.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Management systems						
Sophisticated management systems required	Managerial structures for PH care include eye care.	7	77.8	9	100	1 (1–1)
Collaborative action						
Intersectoral action needed within government, and partnership between government and civil society	Intersectoral action within government or partnerships between government and civil society.	6	66.7	9	100	1 (1–2)
4. Usage characteristics						
Need for supervision	Staff who make supervisory home visits.	5	55.6	7	77.8	1 (1–2)
	Staff who supervise referrals to ensure compliance.	4	44.4	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
Pre-existing demand						
Need for promotion	Staff who engage in eye health promotion to target audiences.	4	44.4	8	88.9	1 (1–2)
Black market risk						
Need to prevent resale/ counterfeiting	Staff who engage and train traditional healers to identify and refer eye conditions, with a system to support training.	6	66.7	8	88.9	1 (1–2)

IM, intramuscular; PEC, primary eye care; PH, primary health; PHC, primary healthcare; WHO AFRO, WHO Africa Office.

derived from the technical complexities. For example, one of the technical complexities was 'hospital services are needed for referrals, severe cases, treatment failures, further investigations and management, as required', and the technical capacity derived was 'the availability of a referral hospital to manage complicated eye conditions'.

The human resource elements of the delivery characteristics domain for health promotion and facility-based management had perfect consensus. Human resources for health has been identified as a key component for the successful implementation of health interventions,³⁰ which was emphasised in two review articles on PEC in SSA.^{11 20} Government support and strong partnerships are crucial for the success of PEC in terms of sustainability and scaling up, as advocated in the WHO Global Action Plan (2014–2019) and for regulatory activities.¹⁰ Hence, the majority of elements in this domain had near perfect consensus. All the elements in the usage characteristics domain for health promotion had perfect consensus in the final round, emphasising the importance of creating

management			
Category	Criteria	Technical capacity: elements that need to be available	Health system building block
(A) Health promotion			
Intervention characteris	tics		
Basic product design	Stability	Posters that promote eye health should be available. Posters should be durable.	Infrastructure, technology and
	Standardisability	Standardised posters, delivering the same message per target group.	so on
		Posters that are in the language of the community.	
		Posters with self-explanatory graphics should be available for the illiterate.	
Supplies and equipment	Ease of acquisition	Easy system to procure health promotion materials.	
	Number of different types of equipment needed	Different types of posters available for different target groups that are appropriately displayed.	technology and so on
	Maintenance needed	Health promotion materials available that are easy to maintain.	
Delivery characteristics			
Facilities	Outreach services	Health promotion that includes young children and their carers, persons with diabetes and the elderly as the target audience in the community.	Service delivery
	First-level care	Time and space available, and staff willing to deliver opportunistic eye health promotion to specific groups in the facility.	
	First-level care	Time and space available, and staff willing to deliver opportunistic eye health promotion to specific individuals in the facility, for example, persons with diabetes.	
Human resources	Skill level required for service provision	Staff skilled in communicating with community members.	Health workforce
		Staff who are knowledgeable about community, eye diseases and where to access care.	
	Intensity of professional services in terms of	Village health workers resident in the community who are able to regularly deliver health promotion.	
	frequency or duration	Facility-based staff who are able to regularly deliver health promotion.	
		Professionals to train staff on eye health promotion and develop health promotion materials.	
	Skill level required for staff supervision	Supervisors who are able to supervise health promotion activities including eye health.	
		Staff who regularly deliver health promotion on schedule.	
	Management and planning requirements	Existing managerial staff who plan and organise target audience to be sensitised in appropriate locations, for example, carers of young children.	
Communication and transport	Dependence of delivery on communication and transport infrastructure	Local transport infrastructure to visit communities.	Infrastructure, technology and so on
		Appropriate communication channels between the community and PHC facilities.	Service delivery/HMIS
		Staff who are able to communicate in the local language.	Health workforce

Government capacity requirements

10

Continued

Table 5 Continued			
Category	Criteria	Technical capacity: elements that need to be available	Health system building block
Regulation/legislation	Need for regulation/legislation	Health promotion materials that have been approved and endorsed by local regulatory authorities.	Governance and leadership
		A national blindness prevention strategy that incorporates eye health promotion.	
Management systems	Need for management systems	Existing managerial structures for health promotion can be used. Eye health promotion activities that are recorded and monitored.	HMIS
Collaborative action	Need for intersectoral action within government	Intersectoral activities within government or partnerships between government and civil society.	Governance and leadership
		Existing school health programmes.	Service delivery
	government and external	Collaborations with NGOs to provide health promotion.	Governance and leadership
	funding agencies	Collaboration between communities and PHC facilities is required.	
Usage characteristics			
Ease of use	Need for information and education/need for	Communication channels with community that are available to inform target population.	Service delivery
	supervision	Staff who are available to supervise health promotion activities.	Governance and leadership
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion	Staff who are able to engage in eye health promotion to target audience to significantly increase demand.	Service delivery
Black market risk	Need to prevent resale/ counterfeiting	Staff who are able and willing to engage with traditional healers and train them to identify and refer eye conditions. A system that supports this training.	
(B) Facility-based case	management		
Intervention characteris	stics		
Basic product design	Stability and ease of storage	Torches should be available. They can be solar powered and are stable.	Infrastructure, technology and so on
		Appropriate and secure storage for drugs and consumables should be available.	
		Eye-drops that do not require cool storage should be stocked.	
		Tetanus toxoid will require cool storage and should be available from facility childhood immunisation activities.	
		Topical antibiotic ointment does not require cold storage and should be available.	
		Injectable antibiotics for ophthalmia neonatorum may require cool storage but should be available to treat other conditions.	
		Sterile saline solution for eye irrigation is stable and should be available.	
		High dose vitamin A is stable and should be available from maternal and child health activities.	
	Ease of transport	Pre-existing PHC transport channels should be available to transport PEC consumables.	
			Continued

Table 5 Continued			
Category	Criteria	Technical capacity: elements that need to be available	Health system building block
	Standardisability	The WHO AFRO PEC package is standardised and can be available in all primary care facilities.	
	Safety profile	Available staff who are trained/can be trained to deliver the intervention correctly so as not to cause harm.	Health workforce
Supplies and equipment	Need for regular supplies	A medication supply system that can support the regular supply of eye medications and consumables.	Infrastructure, technology and so on
	High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed	Diagnostic equipment is available: Snellen distance visual acuity chart; near visual acuity chart, torches and batteries.	
		Adequate space to support the use of appropriate and standardised visual acuity charts.	
		Adequate space for counselling patients should be available.	
	Number of different types of equipment needed	The availability of one set of diagnostic equipment.	
	Maintenance needed	An available system for the maintenance of facility equipment.	
Delivery characteristics			
Facilities	First-level care	The availability of eye care services to manage uncomplicated eye conditions.	Service delivery
Facilities	Hospital care	The availability of a referral hospital to manage complicated eye conditions.	
Human resources	Skill level required for service provision	Staff who are able to make a diagnosis (eliciting a history; measuring visual acuity; basic eye examination).	
		Staff who are able to manage some conditions, for example, eye irrigation; removal of foreign bodies; give IM injections (tetanus toxoid; antibiotics)	
		Staff who are able to identify which cases to refer and the level of urgency.	
	Skill level required for staff supervision	PHC supervisors who are knowledgeable about eye conditions and their management.	Governance and leadership
		Supervisors who regularly supervise PHC activities and can supervise PEC activities.	
	Intensity of professional services in terms of frequency or duration	Staff trained in PEC who are available continuously to manage eye conditions, especially emergencies.	Service delivery
	Management and planning requirements	Existing managerial facility staff who are able to manage the supply of consumables and plan purchasing.	Governance and leadership
		Existing managerial facility staff who are able to establish and maintain referral and feedback mechanisms between the PHC facility and eye department/clinic.	
		Existing managerial systems to coordinate staff rotations to ensure daily facility coverage by trained PEC staff.	
			Continued

Continued

12

Table 5 Continued			
Category	Criteria	Technical capacity: elements that need to be available	Health system building block
Communication and transport	Dependence of delivery on communication and transport infrastructure	Communication channels to maintain referral and feedback mechanisms between the PHC facility and the referral centre.	Infrastructure, technology and so on
		Transport between the PHC facility and the referral centre.	
Government capacity re	quirements		
Regulation/legislation	Need for regulation.	Appropriate medication and equipment need to be on the national essential drug list to facilitate availability.	Governance and leadership
Management systems	Need for sophisticated management systems	A system that regulates drug prescription and dispensing by appropriate staff.	
		Communication channels to report measles outbreaks to relevant authorities.	
		Communication channels to report cases of ophthalmia neonatorum to relevant authorities.	
		Existing managerial structures for PHC that can be used to manage PEC.	HMIS
Collaborative action	Need for intersectoral action within government or partnership between government and external funding agencies.	Availability of intersectoral action within government or partnerships between government and civil society.	Governance and leadership
Usage characteristics			
Ease of use	Need for information and education/need for supervision	Staff who are available to make supervisory home visits. Staff who are able to supervise referrals to	Governance and leadership
		secondary centres to ensure compliance.	
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion	Staff who are able to engage in eye health promotion to target audience.	Service delivery
Black market risk	Need to prevent resale/ counterfeiting	Staff who are able and willing to engage with traditional healers and train them to identify and refer eye conditions. A system that supports this training.	

HMIS, Health Management Information Systems; IM, intramuscular; NGOs, non-governmental organisations; PEC, primary eye care; PHC, primary healthcare; WHO AFRO, WHO Africa Office.

demand³¹ and reducing the impact of harmful traditional eye practices.³²

The WHO health systems building blocks were mapped unto appropriate elements of the final technical capacity profile for PEC. Adopting a health systems strengthening approach in which eye health is included in all the building blocks will amplify the benefits of the intervention³³ and promote sustainability.

The technical capacity frameworks for delivering the WHO AFRO PEC package were developed using data and experts from a range of SSA countries. However, caution is needed in extrapolating the findings from the Delphi exercise in this study to all WHO AFRO countries, as local adaptation of the WHO AFRO package may be required and hence the capacities needed to address varying eye health needs in different settings and PHC contexts. For example, the cadres providing PHC are likely to vary, as is the availability of informal health providers.

There are several strengths and limitations of this study. The selection of the expert panel is a crucial part of the Delphi process as the output is based on their expert opinion.³⁴ Our expert panel was a non-random sample, and this may have led to hidden biases as the participants may not be representative of all the experts with the predetermined inclusion criteria. Indeed, almost half of the participants were from West Africa, but the majority had worked in agencies that had oversight of sub-Saharan African eye healthcare. Another limitation is that although all panel members had relevant expertise and experience, PHC practitioners were not included, as the focus was on eye care, which the majority of PHC practitioners in Africa would have little experience of.

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 63

One of the disadvantages of the Delphi consensus is that it is provides low-level evidence (expert opinion)³⁵ as randomised controlled trials provide the highest level evidence; only a few trials have been undertaken on PEC in low-income and middle-income countries.³⁶ However, the Delphi method is useful when there are limited data to guide clinical practice. In this study, the framework for the questionnaires was a validated framework that has been used to assess the non-financial inputs needed to implement new interventions with a view to scaling up.¹⁶ Our study used anonymity, which is an inherent strength of the Delphi process, which helped avoid undue influence by any members and the efficient harnessing of expert opinion from diversely geographically dispersed experts³⁷³⁸ from East, West, Southern Africa and the UK. Another strength of our study is the low non-response bias. Although 12 experts were invited to participate, nine agreed and all completed both Delphi rounds.

This study has generated the first technical feasibility capacity profile for PEC to guide countries wishing to implement PEC, based on an internationally accepted feasibility framework, a review of the PEC literature and expert opinion. However, there was limited published evidence on PEC in SSA from which the technical capacities were derived. As more high-level evidence studies on PEC in SSA are conducted, the document will need to be revised.

Future research

Mixed-methods data collection tools for different participant groups (village health workers, PHC workers, heads of facilities and district supervisors) in Nigeria have been developed based on our capacity frameworks, that is, structured questionnaires, observational check lists and topic guides for in-depth interviews. A number of PHC facilities in Southeast Nigeria have been assessed using these tools, and a gap analysis will be conducted. The capacity of PHC to deliver eye care has sparked passionate debates,²⁹ and robust studies on the effectiveness of PEC will be needed in the future.

CONCLUSIONS

Consensus was reached on the technical capacities that need to be in place to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package using a Delphi exercise. Based on this document, study tools have been developed to assess health system gaps in PHC in Nigeria. Countries or health units wishing to implement PEC using the WHO AFRO PEC package should address any capacity gaps before implementing or scaling up this intervention.

Author affiliations

¹International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK

²Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nigeria Faculty of Medical Sciences, Enugu, Nigeria

³Global Health and Development, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London, UK ⁴Rwanda Institute of Ophthalmology, Kigali, Rwanda
 ⁵African Vision Research Institute, Durban, South Africa
 ⁶Department of Ophthalmology, University of Calabar, Calabar, Nigeria
 ⁷Sight Savers International, Kaduna, Nigeria
 ⁸Department of Ophthalmology, Baze University, Abuja, Nigeria
 ⁹Operation Eyesight, Accra, Ghana

Acknowledgements We would like to acknowledge the support of David MacCleod, Statistician at the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine for guidance in developing the Delphi questionnaire and Renee du Toit, independent eye health consultant, South Africa, for her input into the analysis of the Delphi questionnaire.

Contributors AA, HEDB and CEG were responsible for the design and conception of the work. AF, WM, HBF, RU, FE, SI, FK and BW contributed to the acquisition of data. AA drafted the work. AA, HEDB and CEG substantially revised it. All authors made some input into the final version and have approved the submitted version.

Funding This research was made possible by a grant from the Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, UK, coordinated through the Commonwealth Eye health Consortium, UK. Grant number EMODXN1M6.

Disclaimer The funding organisations had no role in the design and conduct of the research.

Competing interests None declared.

Patient consent for publication Not required.

Ethics approval This was part of a wider study on primary eye care, and ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committees of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria (NHREC Approval Number NHREC/01/01/2007-12/03/2018) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM Ethics Ref: 14624).

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Data availability statement All data relevant to the study are included in the article or uploaded as supplemental information.

Supplemental material This content has been supplied by the author(s). It has not been vetted by BMJ Publishing Group Limited (BMJ) and may not have been peer-reviewed. Any opinions or recommendations discussed are solely those of the author(s) and are not endorsed by BMJ. BMJ disclaims all liability and responsibility arising from any reliance placed on the content. Where the content includes any translated material, BMJ does not warrant the accuracy and reliability of the translations (including but not limited to local regulations, clinical guidelines, terminology, drug names and drug dosages), and is not responsible for any error and/or omissions arising from translation and adaptation or otherwise.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited, appropriate credit is given, any changes made indicated, and the use is non-commercial. See: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.

ORCID iDs

Ada Aghaji http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1308-447X Helen E D Burchett http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8380-2476

REFERENCES

1 International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Vision atlas, 2016. Available: http://atlasiapborg/ [Accessed 23 Apr 2019].

- 2 Bourne RRA, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Glob Health 2017;5:e888–97.
- 3 Gray Z, Ackland P. Cataract surgical coverage. an important indicator for eye health and for monitoring progress towards universal health coverage. *International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness* 2015;2015.
- 4 Kimani K, Lindfield R, Senyonjo L, et al. Prevalence and causes of ocular morbidity in Mbeere district, Kenya. Results of a populationbased survey. PLoS One 2013;8:e70009.
- 5 Senyonjo L, Lindfield R, Mahmoud A, et al. Ocular morbidity and health seeking behaviour in Kwara state, Nigeria: implications for delivery of eye care services. *PLoS One* 2014;9:e104128.

- 6 Murthy G, Raman U. Perspectives on primary eye care. *Community Eye Health* 2009;22:10–11.
- 7 Andriamanjato H, Mathenge W, Kalua K, et al. Task shifting in primary eye care: how sensitive and specific are common signs and symptoms to predict conditions requiring referral to specialist eye personnel? *Hum Resour Health* 2014;12:S3.
- 8 Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. *Community Eye Health* 2017;30:85.
- 9 Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, et al. Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. *BMJ Glob Health* 2018;3:e000846.
- 10 World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019, 2013. Available: http://www.who.int/blindness. AP2014_19_English pdf
- 11 Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, et al. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? Ann Trop Med Parasitol 2010;104:361–7.
- 12 World Health Organisation. Report of the expert group meeting to assess and validate a package for eye health interventions at the primary level for the African region, 2012.
- 13 World Health Organisation Africa Region. Primary eye care training manual-A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African region. Brazzaville: World Health organization Regional Office for Africa, 2018. https://www.afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual
- 14 Tesema AG, Ajisegiri WS, Abimbola S, et al. How well are non-communicable disease services being integrated into primary health care in Africa: a review of progress against World Health Organization's African regional targets. PLoS One 2020;15:e0240984.
- 15 Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, *et al*. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. *Public Health Nutr* 2010;13:886–92.
- 16 Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, et al. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bull World Health Organ 2005;83:285–93.
- 17 Hsu C-C, Sandford BA. The Delphi technique: making sense of consensus. *Prac Asses, Res Eval* 2007;12:1–8.
- 18 J. Skulmoski G, T. Hartman F, Krahn J. The Delphi method for graduate research. J Inform Tech Educ: Res 2007;6:001–21.
- 19 Wu F, Khlangwiset P. Evaluating the technical feasibility of aflatoxin risk reduction strategies in Africa. *Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess* 2010;27:658–76.
- 20 du Toit R, Faal HB, Etya'ale D, *et al*. Evidence for integrating eye health into primary health care in Africa: a health systems strengthening approach. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2013;13:102.

- 21 Dudovskiy J. Snowballing, 2019. Available: https://researchmethodologynet/sampling-in-primary-data-collection/snowballsampling/ [Accessed 23 Jan 2019].
- 22 Hsu C-C, Sandford BA. The Delphi technique: making sense of consensus. *Pract Assess, Res, Evaluat* 2007;12:10.
- 23 Guan L, Gao P, Liu S, et al. Development of a global health bachelor curriculum in China: a Delphi study. BMJ Open 2019;9:e023893.
- 24 World Health Organization. *Everybody's business-strengthening* health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action, 2007.
- 25 Bright T, Kuper H, Macleod D, et al. Population need for primary eye care in Rwanda: a national survey. PLoS One 2018;13:e0193817.
- 26 Lilian RR, Railton J, Schaftenaar E, et al. Strengthening primary eye care in South Africa: an assessment of services and prospective evaluation of a health systems support package. *PLoS One* 2018;13:e0197432.
- 27 World Health Organization. State of health financing in the African region, 2013.
- 28 Topp SM, Abimbola S, Joshi R, et al. How to assess and prepare health systems in low- and middle-income countries for integration of services-a systematic review. *Health Policy Plan* 2018;33:298–312.
- 29 Blanchet K, Gilbert C, de Savigny D. Rethinking eye health systems to achieve universal coverage: the role of research. *Br J Ophthalmol* 2014;98:1325–8.
- 30 Chol C, Negin J, Garcia-Basteiro A, et al. Health system reforms in five sub-Saharan African countries that experienced major armed conflicts (wars) during 1990-2015: a literature review. *Glob Health* Action 2018;11:1517931.
- 31 Müller A, Murenzi J, Mathenge W, et al. Primary eye care in Rwanda: gender of service providers and other factors associated with effective service delivery. *Trop Med Int Health* 2010;15:529–33.
- 32 Adekoya BJ, Ayanniyi ÁA, Adepoju FG, et al. Minimising corneal scarring from the use of harmful traditional eye remedies in developing countries. Nig Q J Hosp Med 2012;22:138–41.
- 33 Blanchet K, Lindfield R. *Health systems and eye care: a way forward.* IAPB Briefing Papers, 2010.
- 34 Shah K, Naidoo K, Loughman J. Development of socially responsive competency frameworks for ophthalmic technicians and optometrists in Mozambique. *Clin Exp Optom* 2016;99:173–82.
- 35 Hohmann E, Brand JC, Rossi MJ. Expert opinion is necessary: Delphi panel methodology facilitates a scientific approach to consensus. Elsevier, 2018.
- 36 Rowe AK, de Savigny D, Lanata CF, et al. How can we achieve and maintain high-quality performance of health workers in low-resource settings? Lancet 2005;366:1026–35.
- 37 WHO. Decision-making for guideline development at WHO. In: WHO handbook for guideline development [online]. 2nd edn. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2014: 201–14.
- 38 Ferri CP, Prince M, Brayne C, et al. Global prevalence of dementia: a Delphi consensus study. Lancet 2005;366:2112–7.

Chapter 4 RESULTS



A primary healthcare centre in the study area.

Summary: This chapter includes five published papers on the results of the PHC facility survey and one paper being prepared for submission.

Paper 4: Human resources and governance challenges in the delivery of Primary Eye Care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria.

In this paper, we present our findings with respect to governance and the health workforce situation in primary health facilities in Anambra state and discuss what this means for the delivery of primary eye care.

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registy@ishtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDEL IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966			
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert			
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to implement t World Health Organization's Primary Eyecare Package.			

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	BMC Health Services Research				
When was the work published?	December 2021				
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion					
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item, Yes		

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?		
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:		
Stage of publication	Choose an item.	

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

.

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the conception and design of the study, collected and analy the data, shafted and estiled the manuscript with consideration of in from her supervisors and co authors.		
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023		
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023		
Improving health worldwide	www.ishtm.ac.uk		

RESEARCH

Open Access



Human resource and governance challenges in the delivery of primary eye care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria

Ada Aghaji^{1,2*}, Helen E. D. Burchett³, Ngozi Oguego⁴, Shaffa Hameed⁵ and Clare Gilbert²

Abstract

Background: To increase access to eye care, the World Health Organization's Africa Region recently launched a primary eye care (PEC) package for sub-Saharan Africa. To determine the technical feasibility of implementing this package, the capacity of health systems at primary level needs to be assessed, to identify capacity gaps that would need to be addressed to deliver effective and sustainable PEC. This study reports on the human resource and governance challenges for delivering PEC in Anambra State, Nigeria.

Methods: Design: This was a mixed methods feasibility study. A desk review of relevant Nigerian national health policy documents on both eye health and primary health care was conducted, and 48 primary health care facilities in Anambra state were surveyed. Data on human resource and governance in primary health facilities were collected using structured questionnaires and through observation with checklists. In-depth interviews were conducted with district supervisors and selected heads of facilities to explore the opportunities and challenges for the delivery of PEC in their facilities/districts. Data were analysed using the World Health Organization's health system framework.

Results: A clear policy for PEC is lacking. Supervision was conducted at least quarterly in 54% of facilities and 56% of facilities did not use the standard clinical management guidelines. There were critical shortages of health workers with 82% of facilities working with less than 20% of the number recommended. Many facilities used volunteers and/ or ad hoc workers to mitigate staff shortages.

Conclusion: Our study highlights the policy, governance and health workforce gaps that will need to be addressed to deliver PEC in Nigeria. Developing and implementing a specific policy for PEC is recommended. Implementation of existing national health policies may help address health workforce shortages at the primary health care level.

Keywords: Primary eye care, Health workforce, Governance, Feasibility, Nigeria, Word count 5383.

Introduction

Globally, it is estimated that 338 million people are blind or severely to moderately visually impaired [1]. Over 90% of the causes of vision loss are potentially avoidable e.g., cataract and refractive error, and over 90% of those affected live in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) [2]. The prevalence of blindness increases with advancing age and is highest in those aged 50 years and above [3]. The estimated global prevalence of blindness is 0.49% among all ages, while the estimate for older adults (>50 years) is at least 1.82%. Sub-Saharan Africa has the highest prevalence of blindness in older adults, which is estimated to be 4.19% in males and 4.36% in females [4]. In addition to conditions associated with vision loss, other less serious eye conditions like allergic and infective

*Correspondence: ada.aghaji@unn.edu.ng

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s) 2021. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

¹ Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, Enugu, Nigeria

conjunctivitis are very common, and require appropriate management [5–7].

Much of the regional and gender variation in the prevalence of visual impairment and blindness is explained by inequity in access to eye care, particularly by the poor and women. Access to eye care services in sub-Saharan Africa is limited [8]. In addition, eye care in most LMICs is principally delivered at secondary and tertiary levels, in urban areas [9] leaving rural populations under-served. The World Health Organization's (WHO) Global Action Plan 2014–2019 [10] and the World Report on Vision [9] advocate integrating eye care into primary health care (PHC) as a component of Universal Health Coverage, which could contribute to reducing this inequity in access.

The International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness (IAPB) defines PEC as "an integrated, participatory and inclusive approach to the eye health component of PHC consisting of promotive, preventive, curative and rehabilitative services." [11] One of the challenges of delivering PEC in SSA has been lack of clarity on the scope of practice [12]. To address this, the WHO Africa Regional office recently developed and launched a package of PEC interventions for sub-Saharan Africa (WHO AFRO PEC) [13] to equip PHC workers, individuals and communities in sub-Saharan Africa to effectively manage common eye diseases [14]. This package, hereafter referred to as the WHO AFRO PEC package, [13, 14] has two broad components - eye health promotion and facility-based eye care. The eye health promotion component has two elements: 1) sets of health messages for children, mothers and care givers, and people of all ages and 2) information on how to give a health talk. For facilitybased care there are six elements: 1) five evidence based algorithms (for red eye, eye swelling, trauma, vision loss for distance and near, and for children 0-5 years), 2) a set of 18 evidence based protocols covering several areas (measuring visual acuity (VA); applying an eye pad; prescribing medication; making referrals; removing foreign bodies, counselling, giving health talks), 3) a training package (curriculum and materials), 4) core lists of essential consumables, technologies and medicines, and 5) charts and recording forms. The purpose of the package is to strengthen the capacity of PHC workers in sub-Saharan Africa to manage patients with eye conditions [13] and widen access to eye care [15]. The package has been pilot tested in Rwanda and Kenya and has the potential to transform eye care in terms of treatment coverage for the majority of people with eye conditions in Africa [15].

However, PEC can only be as effective as the PHC elements of the health system into which it is integrated. In Nigeria, PHC is delivered in health centres and health posts, the former being larger and better equipped than the latter. Health centres provide 24-h services, including antenatal care and deliveries, while care health posts is more limited in scope.

The staff who work in PHC facilities and in the community include Community Health Officers (CHOs), Community Health Extension Workers (CHEWs), Junior Community Health Extension Workers (JCHEWs) and nurse-midwives (NMWs). Some primary health centres employ doctors (Additional File 1.) Support staff include health attendants and security staff [16]. The National Primary Health Care Development Agency (NPHCDA) is the national body which manages PHC and it has developed norms for staffing levels, supervision activities and minimum standards for the delivery of PHC [16]. Staff in PHC facilities are supervised by the local government authority (i.e., districts supervisors for health).

The purpose of this study was to assess the feasibility of integrating the WHO AFRO PEC package into the health system at PHC level in Nigeria, to allow policy makers and planners to make informed decisions about how the health system needs to be strengthened to deliver PEC [17]. Governance, financing and human resources for health (HRH) have been identified as key components for the successful implementation of health interventions [18]. This paper reports the findings of a mixed methods study of PHC facilities in Nigeria, highlighting the workforce and governance capacities to deliver PEC. Findings on equipment, service delivery and management information systems are reported in a companion paper.

Methods

Snowdon describes many components of feasibility which include cultural, financial, technical and legal feasibility [19]. In this paper, we report some of the findings of a study to assess the technical feasibility of integrating eye care into PHC. The full protocol has been described elsewhere [20]. Based on Gericke's technical feasibility framework, [21] the initial step was to develop a technical feasibility framework and then a technical capacity framework for PEC in sub-Saharan Africa, [22] from which tools were developed to assess the capacity of PHCs in Anambra state to deliver the intervention. Methods included a desk review, a facility survey, and semi structured interviews with relevant health workers.

Desk review

A desk review of relevant Nigerian national PHC policy and national health policy documents was undertaken to assess the extent to which policies are in place to support the technical capacities required to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package (Additional File 2). These documents were obtained from the Federal Ministry of Health, the



Primary Health Care Systems Development Department of the NPHCDA and the National Eye Health Strategic Team. Data of relevance to governance and the health workforce for the facility-based management component of the PEC package were mapped onto the WHO's health systems framework [23].

Facility survey

Study area

The study area chosen was Anambra state in southeast Nigeria, (Fig. 1) which has a population of 5.53 million [24]. There are 21 districts, which are classified by the government as rural, semi urban and urban, although there is some overlap. There are two tertiary hospitals, 35 secondary hospitals, and 347 PHC facilities comprising 235 health centres and 112 health posts (a ratio of 2:1). Anambra state was selected because it is one of the states in Nigeria that is yet to implement PEC [25].

Sampling PHC facilities

PHC facilities were selected using a two-stage stratified random sampling method to ensure representation by location and type of facility. In step one, six districts were selected randomly from a sampling frame of districts stratified by location so that two rural, three semi-urban and one urban district were selected. In step two, a list of all the PHC facilities in each selected district, stratified by type, was obtained from the National Primary Health Care Development Agency (NPHCDA). Forty-eight health facilities were proportionately selected i.e., more PHC facilities were randomly selected in districts with a larger number of facilities, maintaining the 2:1 ratio of health centres to health posts. Hence 33 health centres and 15 health posts were selected.

Data collection tools were designed based on two frameworks (one for health promotion, the other for facility-based care) developed using a Delphi exercise to assess the technical complexity of the different elements

of PEC and the capacities needed for implementation [26]. Study tools included: 1. two observational checklists to assess the resources available, one for heads of facilities (CHOs, NMWs, or (J)CHEWs) and one for (J)CHEWs; 2. two structured questionnaires; one for each head of facility and one for a (J)CHEW/facility, and 3. topic guides for semi-structured interviews with selected heads of facilities and supervisors in each district. Based on a preliminary analysis of facility survey data, nine facilities were purposively selected (six health centres, three health posts) to represent high and low performing facilities in terms of workforce, supervision, available infrastructure, and patient visits /1000 population/year. In these facilities, facility heads were interviewed. The purpose of the interviews was to explore participants' perspectives on the opportunities and challenges for delivering PEC in their facilities/districts.

The study team comprised the principal investigator (AA) and two research assistants from the Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nigeria: a recently qualified fellow in ophthalmology and an administrative officer. The principal investigator trained the team for two days on the study protocol, facility survey methodology, participant recruitment, data collection and ethical procedures. The principal investigator administered the checklists and structured questionnaires to facility heads and interviewed the supervisors and facility heads.

Data management

Quantitative data were entered by the principal investigator into databases created in Microsoft Access[®] for each questionnaire and checklist. Data were transferred to STATA V.15.1 (Statcorp, Texas) for analysis using STATransfer. Data were benchmarked against published norms, when available, such as the minimum number of each cadre of staff in health centres and health posts [16]. Simple descriptive analyses were performed e.g., the proportion of facilities visited with tools for referrals.

All interviews were conducted in English in the interviewee's office in the presence of a trained note-taker. The interviews were recorded with an MP3 player after permission was granted. Interview methods and measures to ensure confidentiality are described in detail in a protocol paper [20].

The recordings were transcribed verbatim by AA and checked for accuracy by simultaneously reading the transcripts and playing back the audio recordings. The transcripts were read several times for familiarization with the content, and then coded using the WHO's health system building blocks as the framework for analysis [26]. (Additional File 3). Framework analysis was used to obtain a descriptive overview of the data [27]. Initial coding of the transcripts was undertaken by AA using (Open Code Software V. 4.02) which was discussed with CG and HB. A matrix was developed to chart the data using the WHO Health systems building blocks in columns and the individual participant's responses in rows [27]. To interpret the data, associations and comparisons were made within and between participants to generate themes.

Ethics Ethical approval was obtained from the ethics review boards of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria, the University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. Permission was obtained to collect data from the State Ministry of Health and district departments of health. All participants gave written informed consent including to take photographs, [28] record interviews and use anonymous quotes where appropriate. Each participant was given a unique code to maintain confidentiality.

Results

Study sites

The health centres and health posts were selected from rural, semi- urban and rural districts in Anambra state (Table 1).

District location	Total health centres	Number selected	Total health posts	Number selected	Total selected
Rural	6	4	11	5	9
Rural	10	7	4	1	8
Semi-urban	11	6	2	1	7
Semi-urban	4	2	5	2	4
Semi-urban	5	3	7	3	6
Urban	20	11	5	3	14
Total	56	33	34	15	48

Table 1 Number of primary health facilities per districts selected for the study by probability proportionate to size

Facility survey and interviews

Thirty three of the 48 PHC facilities visited were health centres and 15 were health posts. All facility heads were female, and their ages ranged from 37 to 63 years (mean 48.8 years). The average number of years spent as head of facility was 7 (range 1-22) years and 69% lived in the local community. Interviews were held with a range of staff, from community health extension workers to medical doctors (Table 2).

Human resources for health Number of staff in the facilities

Health centres None of the health centres met the approved norms for clinical staffing. The mean number of nurse/midwives per health centre was 1.1 (range 1–3), whereas the normative standard is 4 (Table 3). Over three quarters (27/33, 82%) of health centres had less than 20% of the total number of community health workers

recommended, five had 30–60% of the total number of staff recommended and one had 90%.

Health posts Some health posts were inappropriately staffed with nurse midwives or had up to four times the required number of community health workers (Table 3). 47% of health posts had the full complement of the clinical staff required, and 53% had more staff than recommended.

Shortage of staff in health centres was acknowledged by two supervisors, who said the following:

You see, in all of the 34 health facilities [in the district] we have six nurses..... Six nurses! SUP/3.

None here has the full complement. In short, some of my so-called primary health centres have only one

 Table 2
 Code numbers and characteristics of health workers interviewed

Identification code	Age group (years)	Sex	Qualification	Facility type	Location
Heads of facility (HoF)					
HoF/HP/U/1	51–60	Female	Com. Health Extension Worker	Health Post	Urban
HoF/PHC/U/2	31-40	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Urban
HoF/PHC/U/3	31-40	Female	Community Health Officer	Health Centre	Urban
HoF/PHC/SU/4	51-60	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Semi urbar
HoF/PHC/R/8	31-40	Female	Community Health Officers	Health Centre	Rural
HoF/HP/R/7	31-40	Female	Com. Health Extension Worker	Health Post	Rural
HoF/HP/SU/6	41-50	Female	Community Health Officers	Health Post	Semi urbar
HoF/PHC/SU/5	41-50	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Semi urbar
HoF/PHC/R/9	51–60	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Rural
Supervisors for health ((SUP)				
SUP/1	51–60	Male	Medical Doctor	*see below	
SUP/2	51-60	Female	Community Health Officers		
SUP/3	51–60	Male	Medical Doctor		
SUP/4	51-60	Male	Medical Doctor		
SUP/5	51–60	Female	Community Health Officers		
SUP/6	51-60	Male	Medical Doctor		

*The location of supervisors for health have been anonymised to protect their identity

Table 3	Staffing norms	and number and	d cadre of clinica	I staff employed	d in health c	entres and health posts

	Health centres ($n = 33$)			Health posts ($n = 15$)			Total (N = 48)	
	*Norm	Mean (range) of available staff	% meeting norms	*Norm	Mean (range) of available staff	% meeting norms	% meeting norms	
Doctors	1	0.24 (0–1)	24%	0	**NA	*NA	24%	
Nurse midwives	4	1.1 (0-3)	0%	0	0.07 (0-1)	*NA	*NA	
(J)CHEW / CHO	10	1.9 (0–9)	0%	1	1.6 (0–4)	93.7%	29%	

*Norm = This represents the normative standards for both health centres and health posts in Nigeria [16]

**NA = not applicable as health posts are not required to be staffed by doctors or nurse midwives

member of staff. SUP/6.

The maldistribution of human resources affected the workload, as staff in health posts appeared to be underutilised, as expressed by the head of a health post:

Well, I would say that the work here is, let me tell the truth...it [the work] is not much, you understand. HoF/HP/U/1.

However, health centre staff felt overworked, as a comment by a head of a health centre shows:

We are already overloaded with work. HoF/ PHC/U/2.

The staff shortages leading to staff being overworked was also noted by the supervisors:

Sometimes, things don't go the way we like, but we cannot blame the health workers because they are handicapped in terms of manpower....to cope with the workload, most of them [heads of facility] employ volunteers. SUP/2.

It [the workload] is heavythe staff work long hours....we hope that the government will one day recruit more staff. SUP/3.

You have some facilities that have too much work and some that are not doing anything. It depends on many things. Some facilities are sited where the community cannot reach it. SUP/5.

An unexpected finding was that there was an almost equal number of volunteers and ad hoc staff working in the study facilities as formally employed PHC staff. Volunteers are either trained community health workers or informally trained health attendants who are not officially employed. Ad hoc workers, who are graduates in a medically related topic, are employed by the federal government on a temporary basis (1–2 years) and are paid the national minimum wage. Volunteers and ad hoc workers comprised 48.4% of those working in the facilities (Table 4).

Heads of facility generally used volunteers to compensate for the lack of formally employed staff:

Hmm....my workload is very hectic. But I have voluntary [a volunteer]. HoF/PHC/U/3.

You have seen it, I am the only person here, so I looked for someone to help me.... I have a volunteer. HoF/PHC/SU/4.

Concerning the scope of work performed by the ad hoc workers, a head of facility said:

It depends on their field and their training. We have a nurse who helps us to work and a microbiologist who does some statistics for us. HoF/PHC/U/2.

The use of volunteers to overcome the critical shortage of staff appears to have been approved in principle by the local administrative authorities, but facility heads need to find money to pay them, as explained by a head of facility:

Because the WDC [ward development chairperson] was told that, because there is a lack of manpower, each facility should employ one or two volunteers, but not more than two, from which we will source out funds to pay them. So, from there we manage to give them some stipend. HoF/PHC/SU/5.

Staff turnover in the previous year Two facilities had each employed a doctor in the previous year, and one had left. Five NMWs had been employed but ten had left, and 12 CHEWs had been employed while 16 had left. Hence in the previous year, there had been a net gain of one doctor and a net loss of five NMWs and four CHEWs from the facilities in the study. It appears when new facilities open, existing staff from other facilities are redeployed. This may account for staff turnover, as recounted by a facility head:

-		
lable 4	lealth workforce in primary health centres facili	ties

Staff status	Staff in Health Centres		Staff in Health Posts		Total in PHC facilities	
	N	%	n	%	N	%
Employed	87	51.2	25	53.2	112	51.6
Volunteers						
(J)CHEWs	14	8.2	3	6.4	17	7.8
Health attendants	25	14.7	8	17.0	33	15.2
Ad hoc workers	44	25.9	11	23.4	55	25.4
Total	170	100.0	47	100.0	217	100.0

You know how people are employed - today they open a health post, tomorrow again they open another facility. So, if you are three, they take one and post out [to another facility], take another and post out. That is the problem I have. HoF/PHC/ SU/4.

It also appears that there is also regular turnover of ad hoc staff, as suggested by another facility head:

There is a saying that goes "soldier go, soldier come". So, this one now.... she will finish by June (next month). When another batch [of adhoc staff] comes, there may be a nurse. If we request, the HOD [supervisor] will give us one. HoF/PHC/U2.

Health worker training In over 95% of facilities, there was at least one health worker who had received in-service training within the previous two years. The focus of the training was data collection and data management (78.8% of health centres and 66.7% of health posts), child health (76% of health centres and 87% of health posts), and maternal health (61% of health centres and 60% of health posts). Almost one in five (18.8%) facilities had workers who had undergone training in other areas of health, such as HIV. None had received in-service training in eye health, but 13.6% of (J)CHEWs reported having undergone pre-service training in eye care. The majority of the (J)CHEWs (93%) were willing to be trained in eye care. Staff had received no in-service training in care of the elderly and diabetes care. 60.9% of all the in-service training was supported by non-governmental organizations.

Comments by the head of a health centre suggested that staff attend several training sessions.

Everyone gets trained. We go for a lot of trainings. Even recently there were some people that went for training on HIV. Some people have gone for training in reproductive health. So, we go for many trainings. HoF/PHC/R8.

Concerning training in eye health, the head of a health post responded:

Eye? We have not gone for training in eye. HoF/HP/ R7.

A comment by a head of facility suggested that volunteers also attend government funded in-service training.

You know.... training always comes in batches....so they may call for one training, we may send our volunteer to go. So that is how we are doing it, it's not always the officer in charge [that goes].... HoF/PHC/ SU/5.

Informal, on the job training of volunteers by facility heads was also reported, so that these staff could become useful. One head of facility said:

So, I've been training my volunteer.....and she's picking up very fast. So, it's helpful to me, she's learning how to do it little by little. HoF/PHC/R8.

Supervision Regular supervision was conducted at least quarterly in over half of the facilities, and this was more common in health centres. However, visits by supervisors were not regular in a third of health centres and almost half of health posts. The majority (85%) of staff reported that data monitoring was the most common activity performed by supervisors during their visits (Table 5). Other supervisory activities such as teaching, observation of case management and feedback were performed less often.

The supervisors were aware of the shortcomings of their supervision when so much training was required, as one commented:

So (quarterly integrated) supportive supervision ... essentially is training people on the job. Supervision wise, I say that we are not there. SUP/4.

Another mentioned that there was an inadequate number of supervisors, and important challenges were lack of transport and the poor road infrastructure.

The most pressing challenge is that of transport.... transport. And then the personnel.... they are not enoughit is also a problem. For instance, you'll be the only person supervising over 30 health facilities. It's not easy, so that's the big challenge...... and the terrain. You have areas that have very bad terrain.... That place when it rains, it's very slippery..... SUP/3.

Two supervisors acknowledged the major role that non-governmental organisations (NGOs) play in supervising specific activities:

For immunisation campaigns, if UNICEF sponsors, they will come and supervise it....they go to the field to see what's happening... SUP/3.

What makes it [the immunisation programme] successful is that they (supervisors) do supervision from time to time. Constant monitoring. They are always in the field, monitoring. If there is any gap in the supervision, the staff backslide. Constant monitoring

Table 5 Regulation of primary health care activities

		Health (Centre	Health	post	Total	
		N	%	N	%	N	%
Frequency of supervision in the previou	is 12 months						
Norms met	Monthly	13	41.9	5	29.4	18	54.2
	Quarterly	6	19.4	2	11.8	8	
Norms not met	Bi-annually	1	3.2	2	11.8	3	6.2
	Irregularly	11	35.5	8	47.0	19	39.6
Supervisors Activities							
Data monitoring		28	84.8	13	86.7	41	85.4
Check supply of medications		14	42.4	8	53.3	22	45.8
Check supplies of other consumables		7	21.2	3	20	10	20.3
Teaching		11	33.3	5	33.3	16	33.3
Observe case management		14	42.4	5	33.3	19	39.9
Gives feedback		16	48.5	8	53.5	24	50
*Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)							
Available and observed		12	36.4	7	46.7	19	39.6
Reported use of SOPs							
Norms met	Always	0	0	2	11.8	2	43.8
	Often	3	9.7	3	17.6	6	
	Sometimes	10	32.3	3	17.6	13	
Norms not met	Rarely	16	51.6	8	47.1	24	50.0
	Never	2	6.4	1	5.9	3	6.2

* SOPs are called National Standing Orders and are clinical guidelines for primary health care workers to manage patients with basic health conditions [29].

of staff - looking into what they do, then it will run well. HoF/HP/SU/6.

Commenting on the possibility of supervising PEC when it is implemented, two supervisors noted the importance of training:

The person supervising eyecare will need some training so that he or she will know what to do. SUP/1.

[For PEC] you need to train some people as supervisors.... So the supervisor will be supervising the health care people to be sure they are doing the right things. SUP/4.

Governance

Facility oversight

In the past, PHC facilities were administered at local government area (LGA) level - the third tier of governance. In 2018 administration was handed over to a state level agency, the Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency (ASPHCDA), the second tier of governance. Some facility heads felt that this had brought some positive changes:

Yes, there is a lot of difference...a lot of difference. Because before they [the supervisors] never entered this community. If someone was sent on supervision the person will stay at his/her post and do what they like....But now they are trying, they come here and see what the community is like. HoF/PHC/R/8.

These people are more involved in our work than before and the supervisors come more frequently, steady, steady, steady. So that is the difference, and it has made everyone to buckle up. HoF/HP/R/7.

The only thing I've seen since we changed to the agency, is work. We have more work to do, more tasks......We don't rest since we moved to the Agency, all the time we are working.....Supervision is every week. So, what is happening is that if in the past you were coming to work twice a week, now you have to come every day. HoF/HP/SU/6.

However, supervisors have borne the brunt of the transitional period of change in governance, including a change in the financial management, as two of them explained:

Then this thing we are having....because of this movement from the LGA service commission to the ASPHCDA. So, you go there - you don't know who is in charge. That is the problem, even the staff, the OICs [officers in charge] are having problems. Where do they pay the funds generated? Where are they going to pay this money they are supposed to be paying? SUP/1.

It's a hard thing. In fact, we are feeling it. Because the local government - if you run to them for anything, they will say, "You people are not with us anymore. You run to the Agency, they will say "We don't have money for anything now". There is nothing for us now. In fact, we are just looking. SUP/5.

Oversight for eye care Most supervisors did not know whether eye care had been included as part of PHC, as one supervisor for health commented:

Hmm.... It's not one of the components of primary health care, unless it has been recently added. SUP /2.

Clinical management guidelines Less than 40% of facilities had clinical management guidelines, also called standard operating procedures (SOPs) or standing orders, and their reported use was low (Table 5). The regular use of SOPs was significantly more common in facilities headed by CHO/(J)CHEWs (62.5%) than by NMWs (25%) It appears NMWs are not required to use SOPs to manage patients, as mentioned by a head of facility and a supervisor:

I am a trained nurse; I am not supposed to use standing orders. I don't have any need for it. I am a trained nurse who was well taught. It is the CHEWs that use the standing orders. How can a trained nurse use standing orders? HoF/PHC/ SU/4.

Remember that it is CHEWs that use standing orders, not nurses. SUP/6.

However, a head of facility who is a community health worker attested to the importance she placed on the SOPs when she said:

The standing order is our Bible. It's our legal leg. So, if you do anything outside the standing order and there is problem, you'll go in for it. But if you do it according to the standing order, it is your legal backing...... I encourage my staff to always use it. HoF/PHC/U/3. *Policy findings (Additional File 2)* The National Health Policy 2016 emphasises that PHC is the focus of national health development. Recently, NPHCDA developed a PHC policy which devolves the administration of PHC to the states, who have administrative and financial autonomy [30].

In 2016, the NPHCDA developed a minimum health care package for PHC and included eye health under the noncommunicable diseases (NCD) umbrella, [31] while eye health was only included in any Nigeria National Strategic Health Development Plans in 2018. However, one of the objectives of the recent Plan II (2018–2022) is to eliminate avoidable blindness and reduce the prevalence of visually impairing conditions [32]. Key strategies and activities to implement this include integrating eye care services into existing national health programmes, and building capacity for eye care delivery at all levels, including the primary level. Similarly, the National Health Policy 2016 recently included eye care in its priority public health interventions, with an initiative to integrate eye care services into the existing national health programs [33]. To improve coordination of eye care services in the country, the establishment of a functional unit for eye health at the Federal and State Ministries of Health is planned [32]. However, eye health is not included in the policy document, National Guidelines for the Development of Primary Health Care System in Nigeria, developed by the NPHCDA, (the central decision making body for PHC), which lists ten components of PHC such as maternal and child, oral and mental health [34].

Policy for human resources for health The Federal Ministry of Health and its parastatals have developed several policies on human resources for health of relevance to PHC. (Additional File 2). For example, one of the goals of the National Health Policy (2016) is to provide appropriate and adequate human resources for healthcare at all levels of the health system, [33] including PHC. Another government policy stipulates that there should be a minimum number, mix and skill sets in each facility type, and that cadres of workers should be matched to services based on their competencies [16]. A further policy document indicates that the PHC management team should develop a sustainable system for human resources for health advancement and capacity building [31].

The National Health Act (2014) provides a sustainable funding policy for human resources at PHC level. It mandates the development and implementation of a Basic Health Care Provision Fund with 10% of the fund dedicated to the development of human resources for PHC [35]. The in-service training of PHC workers is the responsibility of State Ministries of Health [31].

For PEC, the National Eye Health Strategic Plan (2014–2019) recommends in-service training in eye care for PHC staff through workshops and seminars on the identification and management of some basic eye care conditions [36].

Policy for governance Standing orders (PHC management guidelines for clinical care) are compulsory for (J) CHEW/CHOs and it is advisable that nurses/midwives, doctors, dentists and dental assistants working in PHC use them [34].

Discussion

The main objective of this study was to assess the technical capacities of PHC facilities to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package, in order to identify capacity gaps that would need to be addressed. This paper reports the findings in relation to human resources and governance and is the first study to assess the capacity of PHC facilities against a PEC benchmark and highlights the gaps that would need to be addressed to effectively deliver PEC.

The main findings were a critical shortages of trained health workers, which has in part been met by volunteers and ad hoc staff, inadequate supervision in terms of the frequency and activities, the low use of SOPs in the majority of facilities, and a lack of a clear policy for PEC.

In our study, there was a maldistribution of staff which affected the workload. More than half of the health posts were overstaffed, while none of the health centres met NPHCDA normative standards for staffing. To compensate for workforce shortages, PHC facility heads engage paid volunteers. The volunteers include trained (J) CHEWs who had not been formally employed and informally trained health attendants. There is no government policy to support this, hence they are not on the government's payroll, but are paid a stipend from facility earnings. A considerable number of ad hoc workers were also working in facilities. They are university graduates, with or without relevant healthcare qualifications, who are paid to do community service for two years to reduce graduate unemployment and address deficiencies in public services (the N-power scheme) [37]. Our findings on the use of volunteers are similar to those in PHCs in Akwa Ibom state in South-south zone of Nigeria where 17.4% of the clinical staff were trained CHEWs who were informally employed as volunteers [38]. A challenge of relying on volunteers with basic training is that it is associated with dysfunctional health systems [39]. However, the use of volunteers may be a cause or a consequence of dysfunctionality. The untrained PHC worker situation is similar to that in Malawi where a significant proportion of the PHC workforce were unofficial health attendants [40]. This will pose a challenge for the delivery of PEC as the WHO AFRO PEC curriculum is specifically intended for trained medical personnel. Hence, delivering PEC in inappropriately staffed health facilities is likely to have grave implications for the quality of the services provided.

Low staffing levels are likely in part to be due to attrition of staff, as more had recently left facilities than had been recruited. An explanation given for this was that the Federal Government of Nigeria is revitalising PHC, and rather than employing new staff, existing staff are being redeployed to newly commissioned facilities, further worsening the health workforce situation. The absence of a national policy on staff transfers and postings in the PHC system in Nigeria [41] may have led to the unregulated transfer of PHC staff. A shortage of staff has also been reported in other countries, and it has been estimated that PHCs in sub-Saharan Africa only have 10% of the recommended number of PHC workers [42]. The Nigerian government urgently needs to implement policies for sustainable solutions to address the health workforce shortage [39]. It is anticipated that the new governance structure of PHC systems will lead to state governments taking responsibility for the recruitment of an appropriate number of trained staff.

The in-service training of PHC staff in study facilities focused on maternal and child health, with no training on eye care, diabetes and the elderly. These are gaps that needs to be addressed as the prevalence of eye disease increases with age, and up to 10% of people with diabetes have sight threatening retinopathy [43]. In addition, the low number of trained staff means that in-service training in the WHO AFRO PEC package would not give good coverage and would put additional strain on existing staff. Another factor to consider is that in-service training usually depends on additional funding, often from non-government sources, as identified in this study, which can result in episodic training when funding is available. In addition, our study found that volunteers as well as formally employed staff were trained, which suggests that PEC services may not be sustainable.

In Nigeria, PHC facilities should be supervised at least quarterly [34] but this requirement was met by only half of the facilities in this study during the previous year. This finding needs to be seen in the context of a recent change in the agencies responsible for PHC, and our study suggests that supervision has improved since the change was made. Reviews have been mixed on the benefits of supervision in PHC facilities in terms of the quality care [44] [45]. A cluster RCT on enhanced supervision of PEC in

three East African countries revealed that facilities with enhanced supervision were more likely to have functioning torches and visual acuity charts, and staff were able to measure visual acuity better than their routinely supervised counterparts. However, there was no difference between the two groups in the ability of staff to identify and manage common eye conditions [46]. This suggests that supervision of PEC may not significantly impact the management outcomes of PEC unless case management is also supervised. In this study there is anecdotal evidence that regular and more frequent supervision of PHC facilities is one of the benefits of the new governance structure (i.e., transition from district level to ASPHCDA). However, the transition has presented some challenges and supervisors appear to be caught in the middle. Implementers of policies should adopt appropriate strategies to ensure a more collaborative change management process to successfully implement any reforms [47]. In addition, we suggest that more research on the impact of supervision of PEC will be needed.

We found that supervision in Anambra state focused on data monitoring, and there is need to include problem solving, feedback and mentoring. Indeed, recent studies have suggested broad strategies to improve supervision outcomes which include changing supervisory practices to create a more supportive environment for primary care providers [48]. Our study suggests that supervisors will also need to be trained in PEC to provide effective supportive supervision, which is one of the technical capacity requirements for the delivery of PEC [22].

National Standing Orders / SOPs are clinical guidelines for primary health care workers to manage patients with basic health conditions [29]. PHC guidelines also advise that NMWs and doctors use SOPs to maintain uniformity of practices at PHC level [34]. However, our study suggests that NMWs may be unlikely to use SOPs for eye care as less than half of the facilities used SOPs, a finding which was more common in facilities headed by a NMW. A plausible explanation for this is that the use of SOPs are not part of their training, unlike the training of (J)CHEWs and CHOs [49]. This has implications for the delivery of the WHO AFRO PEC package, which is driven by clinical algorithms and depends on SOPs. Staff who are trained to use algorithms in clinical practice will be best suited to deliver the package i.e., (J)CHEWs and CHOs. However, the availability of SOPs is not synonymous with their use, as demonstrated in our study and in others in the region [50]. For example, the WHO's Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI) is another algorithm driven intervention. However, health workers in PHC facilities in Tanzania rarely adhered to IMCI guidelines when managing critically ill children [51]. Nevertheless, our study shows that PHC facilities headed by (J)CHEWs and CHOs are more likely to have and use SOPs. Interventions to increase adherence to SOPs will be needed when the PEC package is introduced.

Implications for policy

Clear policies exist for sustainable human resource development and adequate staffing for PHC in Nigeria, but these policies are not being fully implemented. If implemented, these policies will deepen the capacity of PHC facilities to deliver crucial health interventions, including PEC. However, there is no PHC policy on staff deployment to regulate the indiscriminate transfer of staff.

Overall, there appear to be enabling policies for PEC in Nigeria, but these are scattered across general policies for eye health and other PHC policies. There is need for a unified PEC policy, like mental health and oral health in Nigeria which have specific policies at PHC level [34]. The lack of a defined policy for PEC may affect the development and sustained implementation of PEC in Nigeria, as government support is essential [8, 25]. For example, a report from South Africa suggests that the absence of an integrated policy for eye health promotion may be responsible for limited promotion activities [52]. In contrast, the integration of mental health into PHC in Ethiopia had policy backing, with very high-level government support [53]. Securing government support and appropriate resources for eye health in LMICs will require strong stakeholder engagement at political and economic levels in ministries of health.

The national eye plan recommends in-service training in PEC for PHC workers.

However, a more sustainable solution which would give greater coverage and quality of PEC services would be to include the WHO AFRO PEC package in the pre-service training of all relevant PHC workers, possibly as a component of non-communicable diseases training or care of the elderly. This has been successfully implemented in Rwanda, leading to a regular supply of PEC trained nurses [54].

Nigeria needs a coherent government policy for PEC which will frame eye health in the context of PHC systems, while aligning with other PHC and eye health policies. Such a policy should address pre-service training, the use of clinical guidelines and adequate supervision. High level advocacy will be needed to implement existing PHC human resource policies and address retention using context specific strategies [55].

A strength of this study is that the technical feasibility assessment was based on tools derived from a technical feasibility framework validated by PEC experts in sub-Saharan Africa [22]. We expect that the tools will be applicable to other African countries with similar settings as Nigeria. This was a mixed methods study which provided broad insights into the problems encountered in the health sector, including gaps and inconsistencies in relevant policies [56]. The triangulation of data from multiple sources i.e., policy documents, observational checklists, in-depth interviews and structured questionnaires provided a deeper understanding, from multiple perspectives, of the challenges and opportunities of delivering PEC in PHCs. This study is timely as the World Report on Vision has recently recommended delivering eye care services at PHC as a component of integrated people-centred eye care, [9] which is endorsed by the Lancet Commission on Global Eye Health [2].

A limitation of the study is that it was not adequately powered to detect statistically significant differences between health centres and health posts. Another limitation of the study is that financial, legal and political feasibility, as described by Snowden [19], were not included in this study which focussed on technical feasibility [21].

Conclusions

Our study highlights health workforce, governance and policy gaps that will need to be addressed to deliver PEC in Nigeria. Developing and implementing a specific policy for PEC is recommended and the implementation of existing human resource policies may help address health workforce shortages.

Addressing the gaps highlighted in our study may result in the more effective delivery of PEC, but further research will be needed to assess the impact of an appropriately trained and supported eye health workforce on PEC and ultimately whether PEC delivery can reduce the prevalence of blindness in sub-Saharan Africa.

Abbreviations

AFRO: African Region; ASPHCDA: Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency; CHEW: Community Health Extension Worker; CHO: Community Health Officer; IAPB: International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness; IMCI: Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses; JCHEW: Junior Community Health Worker; LMICs: Lower Middle-Income Countries; NCD: Non-Communicable Diseases; NMW: Nurse Midwife; NPHCDA: National Primary Health Care Development Agency; PEC: Primary Eye Care; PHC: Primary Health Care; SOP: Standard Operating Procedure also called National Standing Orders; WHO: World Health Organization.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi. org/10.1186/s12913-021-07362-8.

Additional file 1.		
Additional file 2.		
Additional file 3.		

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of the Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency, the College of Medicine, University of Nigeria and

our research team for logistic and operational support. We thank Professor Allen Foster for his contributions to the article.

Authors' contributions statement.

AA and CG conceived the study. AA, CG, HB, and SH made substantial contributions to the study design. AA, CG, HB, and SH designed the study tools. AA and NO were responsible for data curation as part of the fulfilment for a research degree for AA. CG and HB supervised the work. All authors made contributions and agreed to the final draft.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, United Kingdom, coordinated through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium, UK.

Availability of data and materials.

The dataset generated and analysed for this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This study was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committees of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria (NHREC Approval Number NHREC/01/01/2007–12/03/2018) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM Ethics Ref: 14624). All participants gave informed written consent.

Consent for publication

Not Applicable.

Competing interests

There are no competing interests.

Author details

¹Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, Enugu, Nigeria.
²Department of Clinical Research, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ³Department of Public Health, Environments and Society, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ⁴Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, Enugu, Nigeria.
⁵International Centre for Evidence in Disability, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, GB, UK.

Received: 18 April 2021 Accepted: 23 November 2021 Published online: 10 December 2021

References

- Bourne R, Steinmetz JD, Flaxman S, Briant PS, Taylor HR, Resnikoff S, et al. Trends in prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment over 30 years: an analysis for the global burden of disease study. Lancet Glob Health. 2021;9(2):e130–e43.
- 2. Burton MJ, Ramke J, Marques AP, Bourne RRA, Congdon N, Jones I, et al. The lancet Global Health Commission on global eye health: vision beyond 2020. Lancet Glob Health. 2021;9(4):e489–551.
- Mushumbusi E, Buchan J, Mactaggart I, Macleod D, Foster A. A systematic review of the proportion of blindness in the population 50 years and Older from Total population-based surveys of blindness and visual impairment. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2021;1-7.
- Bourne RR, Flaxman SR, Braithwaite T, Cicinelli MV, Das A, Jonas JB, et al. Magnitude, temporal trends, and projections of the global prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2017;5(9):e888–e97.
- Senyonjo L, Lindfield R, Mahmoud A, Kimani K, Sanda S, Schmidt E. Ocular morbidity and health seeking behaviour in Kwara state, Nigeria: implications for delivery of eye care services. PLoS One. 2014;9(8):e104128.
- Bright T, Kuper H, Macleod D, Musendo D, Irunga P, Yip JL. Population need for primary eye care in Rwanda: a national survey. PLoS One. 2018;13(5):e01e93817.

- Kimani K, Lindfield R, Senyonjo L, Mwaniki A, Schmidt E. Prevalence and causes of ocular morbidity in Mbeere District, Kenya. Results of a population-based survey. PLoS One 2013;8(8):e70009.
- Du Toit R, Faal HB, Etya'ale D, Wiafe B, Mason I, Graham R, et al. Evidence for integrating eye health into primary health care in Africa: a health systems strengthening approach. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):102.
- World Health Organisation. World Report on Vision. https://www.whoint/ publications-detail/world-report-on-vision. 2019;Accessed 23rd February 2020.
- 10. World health organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019. http://www.who.int/blindness.AP2014_19_English.pdf. 2013.
- Du Toit R. An overview of primary eye Care in sub Saharan Africa 2006–20122014 25th September 2014. Available from: https://www.iapbl ive.blob.core.windows.net/resources/3_An-Overview-of-PEC-in-Sub-Saharan-Africa_2006-2012.pdf.
- 12. Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? Ann Trop Med Parasitol. 2010;104(5):361–7.
- 13. World Health Organisation Africa region. Primary eye care training manual-a course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa2018. https:// www.afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual.
- World Health Organisation. Report of the Expert Group Meeting to Assess and Validate a Package for Eye Health Interventions at the Primary Level for the African Region. 2012.
- 15. Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Commun Eye Health. 2017;30(100):85.
- 16. Agency NPHCD. Minimum standards for primary health Care in Nigeria. Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2015.
- Topp SM, Abimbola S, Joshi R, Negin J. How to assess and prepare health systems in low-and middle-income countries for integration of services—a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2017;33(2):298–312.
- Chol C, Negin J, Garcia-Basteiro A, Gebrehiwot TG, Debru B, Chimpolo M, et al. Health system reforms in five sub-Saharan African countries that experienced major armed conflicts (wars) during 1990–2015: a literature review. Glob Health Action. 2018;11(1):1517931.
- Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidenceinformed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public Health Nutr. 2010;13(06):886–92.
- Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Webster J, Gilbert C. The technical feasibility of integrating primary eye care into primary health Care Systems in Nigeria: protocol for a mixed methods cross-sectional study. JMIR Res Prot. 2020;9(10):e17263.
- Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, Mills A. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bull World Health Organ. 2005;83(4):285–93.
- Aghaji A, Burchett HE, Mathenge W, Faal HB, Umeh R, Ezepue F, et al. Technical capacities needed to implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process. BMJ Open. 2021;11(3):e042979.
- World Health Organization. Strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. Geneva: WHO; 2007.
- 24. National Bureau of statistics. 2017 demographics statistics Bulletin. https://www.nigerianstatgovng/download/775. 2018.
- Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, Faal H. Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. BMJ Glob Health. 2018;3(6):e000846.
- World Health Organization. Everybody's business--strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. 2007.
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2013;13:117.
- Hood CA, Hope T, Dove P. Videos, photographs, and patient consent. Br Med J. 1998;316(7136):1009.
- 29. Ekunwe E. Standing orders—a powerful tool in primary care. World Health Forum. 1984.
- National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Implementation guidelines for primary health care under one roof (PHCUOR). Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2018.

- National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Integrating primary health care governance in Nigeria: PHC under one roof (management guidelines). Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2016.
- Federal Ministry of Health. National Strategic Health Development Plan II. In: https://www.health.gov.ng/doc/NSHDP%20II%20Final.pdf, editor. Abuja2019. p. https://www.health.gov.ng/doc/NSHDP%20II%Final.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Health Abuja Nigeria. National Health Policy 2016: Promoting the Health of Nigerians to Accelerate Socio-economic Development 2016.
- National Primary Health Care Development Agency. National Guidelines for the development of primary health care system in Nigeria. Abuja Nigeria: Federal Governmet of Nigeria; 2012.
- 35. Federal Republic of Nigeria. The National Health act. Federal Republic of Nigeria official Gazette2014. p. A139–A172.
- Federal Ministry of Health. Nigeria National Eye Health Strategic Plan. 2014:2014.
- Federal Government of Nigeria. NPower Programme of the Federal Government:2017. http://www.npowergovng/n-corpshtml. Accessed 27 Oct 2019.
- Akwaowo CD, Motilewa OO, Ekanem AM. Assessment of resources for primary health care: implications for the revitalization of primary health Care in Akwa Ibom, Nigeria. Nigerian Med J. 2020;61(2):90–5.
- 39. Woo GC, Woo SY. The need for full scope primary eye care in every country. Clin Exp Optom. 2013;96(1):1–3.
- Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. Skills of general health workers in primary eye care in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. Hum Resour Health. 2014;12(Suppl 1):S2.
- Abimbola S, Olanipekun T, Schaaf M, Negin J, Jan S, Martiniuk ALC. Where there is no policy: governing the posting and transfer of primary health care workers in Nigeria. Int J Health Plann Manag. 2017;32(4):492–508.
- International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. IAPB Africa Human Resources For Eye Health Strategic Plan 2014–20232014 20th October 2014. Available from: http://www.iapbafrica.co.za/resource/resourceitem/ 493/1.
- 43. Kyari F, Tafida A, Sivasubramaniam S, Murthy GV, Peto T, Gilbert CE. Prevalence and risk factors for diabetes and diabetic retinopathy: results from the Nigeria national blindness and visual impairment survey. BMC Public Health. 2014;14(1):1299.
- Bosch-Capblanch X, Liaqat S, Garner P. Managerial supervision to improve primary health care in low-and middle-income countries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;9(9).
- Bailey C, Blake C, Schriver M, Cubaka VK, Thomas T, Martin HA. A systematic review of supportive supervision as a strategy to improve primary healthcare services in sub-Saharan Africa. Int J Gynecol Obstet. 2016;132(1):117–25.
- 46. Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. A randomised controlled trial to investigate effects of enhanced supervision on primary eye care services at health centres in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14(Suppl 1):S6.
- Javanparast S, Maddern J, Baum F, Freeman T, Lawless A, Labonte R, et al. Change management in an environment of ongoing primary health care system reform: a case study of Australian primary health care services. Int J Health Plann Manag. 2018;33(1):e76–88.
- Nkomazana O, Mash R, Wojczewski S, Kutalek R, Phaladze N. How to create more supportive supervision for primary healthcare: lessons from Ngamiland district of Botswana: co-operative inquiry group. Glob Health Action. 2016;9(1):31263.
- Uribe MV, Alonge OO, Bishai DM, Bennett S. Can task-shifting work at scale?: comparing clinical knowledge of non-physician clinicians to physicians in Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):308.
- Tilley-Gyado R, Filani O, Morhason-Bello I, Adewole IF. Strengthening the primary care delivery system: a catalytic investment toward achieving universal health coverage in Nigeria. Health Syst Reform. 2016;2(4):277–84.
- Walter ND, Lyimo T, Skarbinski J, Metta E, Kahigwa E, Flannery B, et al. Why first-level health workers fail to follow guidelines for managing severe disease in children in the coast region, the United Republic of Tanzania. Bull World Health Organ. 2009;87:99–107.
- Sithole HL. A situational analysis of ocular health promotion in the south African primary health-care system. Clin Exp Optom. 2017;100(2):167–73.

- Hanlon C, Eshetu T, Alemayehu D, Fekadu A, Semrau M, Thornicroft G, et al. Health system governance to support scale up of mental health care in Ethiopia: a qualitative study. Int J Ment Heal Syst. 2017;11(1):38.
- Yip JL, Bright T, Ford S, Mathenge W, Faal H. Process evaluation of a National Primary eye Care Programme in Rwanda. BMC Health Serv Res. 2018;18(1):950.
- Dolea C, Stormont L, Braichet JM. Evaluated strategies to increase attraction and retention of health workers in remote and rural areas. Bull World Health Organ. 2010;88(5):379–85.
- Akwataghibe N, Samaranayake D, Lemiere C, Dieleman M. Assessing health workers' revenues and coping strategies in Nigeria—a mixedmethods study. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):387.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



Paper 4A: Policies for Primary Eyecare in Nigeria: A case study.

In this paper, we summarize the policy situation in Nigeria with respect to primary health care and eye health and highlight policy gaps that will need to be strengthened to deliver primary eyecare in Nigeria.

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@tshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966				
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert				
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to implement th World Health Organization's Primary Eyecare Package.				

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Community Eye Health Journal		
When was the work published?	March 2022		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item, Yes

"If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

.

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the conceptualization and design of the study, collected and analyzed the data, drafted the manuscript and edited it with considerat of input from her supervisors and co-authors.		
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023		
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023		
Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk		



Ada Aghaji Professor of Public Health Ophthalmology: College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu Campus, Nigeria.



Professor of International Eye Health: International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK.

Policies for primary eye health care in Nigeria: a case study

New primary eye health care policies have the potential to profoundly change how eye health is delivered in Nigeria, provided the gaps are addressed.



A busy antenatal clinic in a health centre provides an opportunity for eye health promotion amongst pregnant women. NIGERIA

government is increasing political priority for eye health through recent eye health policy statements. The first National Eye Health Policy was launched in February 2022.

We undertook a review of relevant national health policies to identify components which would support the delivery of primary eye health care (PEHC) in Nigeria. Documents were obtained from the Federal Ministry of Health, the Primary Health Care Systems Development Department of the National Primary Health Care Development Agency, and the National Eye Health Strategy team. The policies have several elements of relevance to PEHC (see panel).

Integrating eye care into primary health care

The National Health Policy (2016) advocates integrating eye care services into existing national health programmes, including PHC, while the National Eye

Health Strategic Plan recommends developing a policy to support integrating eye care into PHC.

In addition, a priority area of the National Eye Health Policy is to provide access to equitable eye care, including at the primary level. These supportive policies suggest political priority for integrating eye care into PHC in Nigeria.

Health work force funding and training at PHC

The Federal Ministry of Health and its parastatals which deliver PHC have policies on human resources for health at PHC level. For example, the National Health Act (2014) states that 10% of national health funding for basic health care should be for training PHC staff.

PHC policies on staffing indicate that the PHC management team should develop a sustainable system for ongoing capacity building of PHC staff. In addition, it is recommended that there should be

National policies in Nigeria that support the delivery of eye care in primary health care (highlights)

National Eye Health Strategic Plan (2014-2019)

- A policy should be developed that includes eye care as an integral part of Primary Health Care (PHC).
- Workers in primary health facilities should undergo training • in eye care to identify and manage basic eye conditions.

NPHCDA Minimum standards for PHC in Nigeria (2015)

- Chloramphenicol eye drops and ointment, and chlortetracycline ointment, should be available at health centres
- Snellen charts and pen torches should be provided at primary health care centres.

National Primary Health Care Development Agency: Integrating PHC Governance in Nigeria: PHC under one roof (2016)

Primary eye care should be provided to reduce preventable blindness in Nigeria

National Health Policy (2016)

Eye care should be integrated into existing national health programmes

National Strategic Health Development Plan (2018–2022)

- Eye care should be included as part of the key non-communicable diseases at primary level
- The package for newborn health should include erythromycin ointment for ocular prophylaxis at all levels

National Eye Health Policy (2019)

- Primary health care workers should be trained to provide appropriate eye health services
- Referral forms and registers for eye health should be available across primary and secondary health facilities

a minimum number, mix and skill set in each type of PHC facility, and that cadres of workers should deliver services according to their competencies. If the government fully implements these policies, sustainable funding will be available to build capacity of PHC workers who are skilled to deliver a mix of health services, for maternal and child health, mental health, oral health, and eye health, for example.

In-service versus pre-service training for eye care

The policies for human resources at PHC level focus on in-service training. Even the Nigeria National Eye Health Strategic Plan recommends in-service training in eye care for PHC workers. It has been suggested that a more effective approach would be to include eve care in the pre-service training of all relevant PHC workers (doctors, nurses, midwives and community health extension workers), possibly as a component of non-communicable diseases training or care of the elderly.² Pre-service training is likely to be less costly than in-service training, and would highlight that eye care is a key component of PHC workers' role, and not an added responsibility. Refresher in-service training can then be conducted as required. The pre-service training option, which has been successfully implemented for all ages in Rwanda and for children in Bangladesh, would ensure a regular supply of trained staff members, and provide greater coverage and higher quality of care.

Eye care in health information systems

Currently, the PHC information system does not collect data on eye conditions, as they are not listed as one of the indicators at primary level.³ It is expected that the new national eye health policy will address this. Eye health data would be a valuable way of recording and reporting eye health needs in the community, for context-specific planning to appropriately address local eye health needs.

Policy gaps

Despite the numerous supporting policies for primary eye health care , some policy statements are not consistent across documents. For example, the National Eye Health Policy states that the government will promote quality eye health services at primary, secondary and tertiary levels. However, the National Guidelines for the Development of PHC Systems in Nigeria does not include eye health as a component of PHC, but oral health and mental health are included. Nevertheless, the policy for minimum standards in PHC recommends the provision of basic eye equipment



and medication at PHC level. In another example, the national newborn policy recommends the use of topical erythromycin antibiotics to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis, but it is not listed in the essential drugs list for PHC facilities.² This lack of consistency between policies will need to be addressed by policy makers in the ministry of health and relevant health agencies.

Although primary eye health care in Nigeria has several supportive policies, they are scattered across different policies for PHC, general health and eye health. A clear government policy for primary eye health care as an integral component of PHC which is aligned with other PHC and eye health policies has been recommended.²

Primary eye health care is in its infancy in Nigeria and there is insufficient evidence to indicate what works well and what does not. Nevertheless, if a specific primary eye health care policy were to be developed and implemented, it has the potential to revolutionise how eye care is delivered. Ideally, the policy would cover the following:

- Eye health promotion
- Human resource development, deployment, and retention
- The scope of eye care delivered at primary level
- The provision of appropriate drugs and consumables
- The inclusion of eye conditions in national health information systems and referral mechanisms.

The WHO AFRO primary eye care manual has been adapted for Nigeria by the Ministry of Health. NIGERIA

References

- Rabiu MM, Kyari F, Ezelum C, Elhassan E, Sanda S, Murthy GVS, et al. Review of the publications of the Nigeria national blindness survey: Methodology, prevalence, causes of blindness and visual impairment and outcome of cataract surgery. Annals of African Medicine. 2012;11(3):125-30.
- 2 Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Human resource and governance challenges in the delivery of primary eye care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):1321.
- 3 Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021;21(1):1360.

Paper 5: Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems.

In this paper, we present our findings with respect to equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems in primary health facilities in Anambra state and discuss what this means for the delivery of primary eye care.



A private optician filling in the gap at a health post in Anambra state

London School of Hyglene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WCILE 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4848 F: +44(0)20 7298 4656 E: mg/stry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966			
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert			
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to implement the World Health Organization's Primary Eyecate Package			

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	December 2021			
When was the work published?	BMC Health Services Research			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	-			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item. Yes	

"If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your the research included in the paper and in the pr of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessar	reparation
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023
Improving health worldwide	www.ishtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH



Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems

Ada Aghaji^{1,2*}, Helen E. D. Burchett³, Ngozi Oguego⁴, Shaffa Hameed² and Clare Gilbert²

Abstract

Background: Over two-thirds of Africans have no access to eye care services. To increase access, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends integrating eye care into primary health care, and the WHO Africa region recently developed a package for primary eye care. However, there are limited data on the capacities needed for delivery, to guide policymakers and implementers on the feasibility of integration. The overall purpose of this study was to assess the technical capacity of the health system at primary level to deliver the WHO primary eye care package. Findings with respect to service delivery, equipment and health management information systems (HMIS) are presented in this paper.

Methods: This was a mixed-methods, cross sectional feasibility study in Anambra State, Nigeria. Methods included a desk review of relevant Nigerian policies; a survey of 48 primary health facilities in six districts randomly selected using two stage sampling, and semi-structured interviews with six supervisors and nine purposively selected facility heads. Quantitative study tools included observational checklists and questionnaires. Survey data were analysed descriptively using STATA V.15.1 (Statcorp, Texas). Differences between health centres and health posts were analysed using the z-test statistic. Interview data were analysed using thematic analysis assisted by Open Code Software V.4.02.

Results: There are enabling national health policies for eye care, but no policy specifically for primary eye care. 85% of facilities had no medication for eye conditions and one in eight had no vitamin A in stock. Eyecare was available in < 10% of the facilities. The services delivered focussed on maternal and child health, with low attendance by adults aged over 50 years with over 50% of facilities reporting \leq 10 attendances per year per 1000 catchment population. No facility reported data on patients with eye conditions in their patient registers.

Conclusion: A policy for primary eye care is needed which aligns with existing eye health policies. There are currently substantial capacity gaps in service delivery, equipment and data management which will need to be addressed if eye care is to be successfully integrated into primary care in Nigeria.

Keywords: Primary eye care, Nigeria, Service delivery, Equipment, HMIS

Background

In sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) an estimated 21.5 million adults are blind or visually impaired, 80% from avoidable causes. Uncorrected refractive error accounts for almost half of this visual loss and cataract for another third. In

*Correspondence: ada.aghaji@unn.edu.ng ¹ Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu, Nigeria

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s) 2021. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/ficenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data.

addition, over 100 million Africans have uncorrected presbyopia (the age related decline in near vision) which can easily be treated with spectacles [1]. In Africa, at least 40% of blindness in children is avoidable being due to corneal blindness from preventable conditions such as vitamin A deficiency, measles infection and neonatal conjunctivitis, or treatable conditions such as cataract [2].

Access to appropriate health care in SSA is challenging, and the Healthcare Access and Quality Index (HAQ), a measure of personal healthcare access and quality (range 0-100), is estimated to be only 19.6 in Africa compared with 54.4 globally [3]. Furthermore, the majority (approximately 70%) of people in Africa do not have access to eye care [4] as most eye care services are in secondary and tertiary facilities in urban areas [5], reducing access by rural populations. This is significant because inequitable access to eye health services is responsible for the majority of blindness and visual impairment [6]. Primary health care (PHC) services, on the other hand, are widely accessible to the majority of the population in urban and rural areas, and the World Health Organization's (WHO) Global Action Plan (WHO GAP) 2014-2019 recommends that eye care becomes an integral component of PHC and health systems development [7]. The recent WHO World Report on Vision also recommends primary health care systems as the vehicle to deliver "integrated people-centred eye care." [8].

In Nigeria, about 4.25 million people are blind or visually impaired and over 84% of the causes of vision loss could have been prevented or treated [9, 10]. Access to eye care is a major reason why people remain blind in Nigeria [11]. We anticipate that integrating eye care into PHC in Nigeria would increase access to eye care services. Primary level facilities in Nigeria consist of health centres and health posts. Health centres are larger, better equipped 24-h facilities that manage deliveries, while health posts are less well equipped and staffed and are only open for fixed hours during the day. Health centres are staffed by nurse/midwives (NMWs), community health workers (community health officers (CHO), community health extension workers (CHEW), junior community health extension workers ((J)CHEW) and sometimes doctors. Each health post is manned by a (J) CHEW [12]. PHC in Nigeria is governed centrally by the National Primary Health Care Development Agency (NPHCDA) and more recently at state level by Primary Health Care Development Agencies [13].

The WHO Africa region recently launched a package of interventions to integrate eye care into PHC in SSA (the WHO AFRO PEC package) which has been pilot tested in Kenya and Rwanda [14]. However, despite growing support for integration of eye care at PHC level, there are limited data on the capacities needed for delivery, to guide policy makers and implementers on the feasibility of integration [15]. In addition, indicators for monitoring the WHO AFRO PEC package have not yet been published. However, the key eye health indicators for the Africa region (2017) include whether primary eye care (PEC) is part of PHC, the number of patient consultations for eye diseases and the number of relevant eye medications on the essential drug list [16].

Human resources for health (HRH), governance and health financing are crucial for health care delivery [17]. Health systems are composed of interconnected elements which must work together to be effective, as adjustments in one area may affect others [18]. The other elements of the health system i.e., service delivery, health management information systems, and equipment, technology, and consumables, also have a key role to play to achieve improved health outcomes. This article reports a component of a mixed methods study to determine the technical feasibility and the health system capacities required to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package in PHC facilities in Anambra State, Nigeria.

Methods

Methods leading up to the facility survey included a literature review to identify a relevant theoretical feasibility framework, a literature review of PEC in sub-Saharan Africa, a Delphi exercise to finalize statements on the technical feasibility and capacities needed to deliver the PEC package, and the development of a number of study instruments based on the agreed statements [19, 20]. In this paper we report the findings of a policy document review and facility survey in relation to service delivery, health management information systems (HMIS) and equipment, technology and consumables.

Desk review of policy documents

The desk review included a range of policy documents of relevance to the delivery of PHC and eye care in Nigeria (Additional file 1). Statements on service delivery, equipment, consumables, infrastructure and the data collected for HMIS which would support the WHO AFRO PEC package were extracted and mapped onto the WHO health systems framework [21].

Study location

The PHC facility survey was conducted in Anambra state in south-eastern Nigeria which has a population of 5.53 million [22]. 75.1% of the population aged \geq 6 years are literate [23] and 11.3% are poor [24]. There are two tertiary hospitals, 35 secondary hospitals, and 347 PHC facilities comprising 235 health centres and 112 health posts.

Facility survey and interviews with supervisors and facility heads

Details of how facilities were selected for the study are described in detail in a protocol paper [19]. In brief, 48 PHC facilities in six districts were selected using two stage, stratified random sampling, ensuring a proportionate mix of health centres and health posts, in rural, urban or semi urban locations.

Observational checklists were used to assess infrastructure, equipment, drugs and consumables and data recording systems, including the number of patients who attend the facility overall and by age group. Structured questionnaires were administered to facility heads (who comprised a range of different cadres) about the services provided, and referral activities and mechanisms. Nine facility heads were purposively selected for in-depth interviews based on an interim analysis to identify the highest and lowest scoring facilities in terms of patient attendances /1000 population, the health workforce and regularity of supervision. These were stratified by location (urban, rural or semi urban) and type of facility (PHC or health post). Six health centres and three health posts were selected.

Semi-structured interviews were conducted with district supervisors for health in the six selected districts. Topic guides were used to explore the challenges they encounter in delivering PHC and their views on the feasibility of delivering PEC. All interviews were conducted in English by the principal investigator (AA) and were recorded after informed consent had been obtained.

Data management

Data were recorded on paper forms and entered into separate Microsoft Access® databases for the guestionnaire and checklists and were transferred into STATA V,15.1 (Statcorp, Texas) using STATransfer for analysis. Frequency tables were generated from the data. Simple descriptive analyses were performed e.g., the proportion of facilities visited with space for visual acuity assessment. Differences in quantitative variables between health posts and health centres were explored using the z-test statistic. Tests of significance were set at the 95% level. The interview recordings were transcribed verbatim, checked for accuracy and coded by AA. The WHO health systems building blocks were used as the framework for analysis after familiarisation of the data by rereading, indexing, charting, mapping and interpretation. Open Code Software V. 4.02 was used to assist analysis.

Ethics

Ethical approval was obtained from the ethics review boards of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria, the University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. Permission to collect data from the state Ministry of Health and district departments of health was obtained. All participants gave written informed consent including to audio record interviews and use of anonymous quotes where appropriate. The following steps were taken to ensure confidentiality; no names were collected for any component of the study and each facility and participant was allocated a unique code. Supervisor codes did not include the district.

Results

Policy document review

Nigeria has no specific policy for PEC. However, recent national health policies support eye care delivery at the PHC level. For example, the National Health Policy 2016 recommends building capacity for eye care services delivery at all levels, including PHC level [25].

In addition, as part of the minimum package for prevention and control of non-communicable diseases, the NPHCDA recommends the provision of primary eye care to reduce preventable blindness which contributes to increased morbidity and mortality [13].

The recent National Strategic Health Development Plan (NSHDP II) 2018–2022 includes eye care as part of the non-communicable disease package at PHC level and recommends scaling up eye care services at all levels, particularly at PHC level. The NSHDP II also recommends the assessment of the prevalence and causes of vision loss to generate more current data and track trends over time. In terms of medication, the NSHDP II recommends that Erythromycin ointment for ocular prophylaxis of the new-born be included in the package for new-born health at all level, including PHCs [26].

Chloramphenicol eye drops and ointment, and Chlortetracycline ointment are the only eye medicines on the Essential Drugs list to be available at primary health centres [27]. The NPHCDA Minimum standards for PHC in Nigeria 2015 recommends that Snellen's charts and pen torches should be available in health centres but not in health posts [12].

The National Health Act (2014), mandates the establishment of the Basic Health Care Provision Fund: of which 20% should be used for essential drugs, vaccines and consumables15% of the fund be used to provide and maintain facilities, equipment and transport for eligible PHC facilities [28]. An additional file shows the relevant sections of the policy documents in more detail. (See Additional file 1).

Sample characteristics of survey

Surveys including observational checklists were conducted in 48 facilities: 33 primary health care centres and 15 health posts. Data were obtained from all heads of facilities. Four of the 48 (J)CHEWs were unavailable (on study or maternity leave). Interviews were conducted with nine facility heads and six district supervisors for health (Table 1).

Findings from the facility survey and interviews Infrastructure, equipment and consumables

Over 90% of facilities had space to measure visual acuity (6 m) but less than 5% had a visual acuity chart (Table 2). Less than a third of the facilities had a functioning torch and less than half had secure (i.e., lockable) storage for medication or a functioning refrigerator. It seems that staff in facilities are responsible for repairing and, in some cases, procuring equipment, or staff charge a small fee to cover the cost of replacement, as mentioned by two facility heads:

But in case we don't have a sphyg [sphygmomanometer] or it gets spoilt, you have to go and buy (it) because you cannot be waiting for them until they provide a syphg which you use on a daily basis. You have to go and buy to make sure that the work continues. HoF/PHC/SU/5

Here's what we do.... this sphyg that is functioning, we collect 50 Naira [£0.12] when someone comes for the services, so if it gets spoilt, we will use the N50 collected and replace it, so that when people come this service will still be available. HoF/PHC/U/2 The majority (81.5%) of facilities were observed to have vitamin A 200,000 IU in stock but almost 30% did not have the lower dose (100,000 IU) for younger children (Table 2). Six facilities (12.5%) had no vitamin A. Over 90% of facilities had access to measles vaccine (i.e., either in stock or provided on measles immunization days) but over 85% of health centre, and 100% of health posts, lacked medication for eye conditions.

Facility heads reported that drugs are obtained from multiple sources and that staff also purchase drugs:

SOML (Saving One Million Lives, a federal government initiative to increase access to maternal and childcare services at PHC level) brings [the drugs], then the state, then the local government commission. When they bring [the drugs] we go and pay for them.....then we buy ours and add to them because they do not give us all the drugs we need. HoF/PHC/ SU/4

We used to buy our medications but recently SOML started bringing medications. There are some that the (district) supervisor brings (HoF/HP/R/7

There may also be challenges with the quality of the drugs supplied, as explained by a facility head:

What upsets us is that the drugs they give us.... are inferior drugs, they bring us inferior products. They are difficult for us to dispose of. When you give it to a patient, they'll say "what kind of drug is this that

Table 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of the interviewees

Identification code	Age group (years)	Sex	Qualification	Facility type	Location
Supervisors for health					
SUP/1	51–60	Male	Medical Doctor	^a see below	
SUP/2	51–60	Female	Community Health Officers		
SUP/3	51–60	Male	Medical Doctor		
SUP/4	51–60	Male	Medical Doctor		
SUP/5	51–60	Female	Community Health Officers		
SUP/6	51-60	Male	Medical Doctor		
Heads of facility					
HoF/HP/U/1	51-60	Female	Com. Health Extension Worker	Health Post	Urban
HoF/PHC/U/2	31-40	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Urban
HoF/PHC/U/3	31-40	Female	Community Health Officer	Health Centre	Urban
HoF/PHC/SU/4	51-60	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Semi urban
HoF/PHC/SU/5	41-50	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Semi urban
HoF/HP/SU/6	41-50	Female	Community Health Officers	Health Post	Semi urban
HoF/HP/R/7	31-40	Female	Com. Health Extension Worker	Health Post	Rural
HoF/PHC/R/8	31–40	Female	Community Health Officers	Health Centre	Rural
HoF/PHC/R/9	51-60	Female	Nurse midwife	Health Centre	Rural

^a Location not documented to maintain confidentiality. Facility type is not applicable here.

Table 2 Infrastructure, equipment and	d consumables in 48 prima	y health care facilities
---------------------------------------	---------------------------	--------------------------

	Health centre		Health	Health post		Total		ce
	N	%	N	%	N	%	%	p value
Infrastructure and equipment								
Space to measure visual acuity	32	97.0	13	86.7	45	93.8	10.3	0.2
Visual acuity chart	1	3.0	1	6.7	2	4.2	NA	
Torch available	17	51.5	5	33.3	22	45.8	18.2	0.5
Torch available and functioning	11	33.3	3	20	14	29.2	13.3	0.7
Space for counselling	27	81.2	7	46.7	34	70.8	35.1	0.6
Secure drug storage	13	39.4	9	60	22	45.9	20.6	0.3
Functioning refrigerator	18	54.6	4	26.7	22	45.8	27.9	0.3
Medication of relevance to eye care								
Vitamin A 200,000 IU in stock	29	87.9	10	66.7	39	81.5	21.2	0.1
Vitamin A 100,000 IU in stock	25	75.8	10	66.7	35	72.9	0.9	0.6
No vitamin A in stock	4	12.1	2	13.3	6	12.5	1.2	1.0
Access to measles vaccine	30	90.9	14	93.3	44	91.7	0.3	0.8
Tetanus toxoid	22	66.7	4	26.7	26	54.2	40	0.1
Injectable antibiotics	28	84.9	6	40	34	70.8	44.9	0.02
Medication for eye conditions								
Antibiotic eye drops	4	12.1	0	0	4	8.3	12.1	-
Antibiotic eye ointment	5	15.2	0	0	5	10.4	15.2	-
Anti-allergy eye drops	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-
Consumables for eye care								
Saline	21	63.6	5	33.3	26	54.2	30.3	0.2
Cotton wool	29	87.9	12	80	41	85.4	7.9	0.5
Gauze	24	73.7	6	42.8	30	63.8	29.9	0.2
Plasters	23	69.7	3	20	26	54.2	49.7	0.09
Bandages	8	24.2	2	13.3	10	20.8	10.9	0.7

looks like imitation?" But if we are going to buy the drugs ourselves, we know the best companies to go to for [drugs] that work. But here they supply us with drugs that we know nothing about and then they tell you how much you'll pay for them. HoF/HP/SU/6

A district health supervisor had a different view and explained some of the challenges they face in how drugs are managed in facilities:

There was a drug revolving fund, but we found out that some of the health workers will keep the drugs and will be selling their own drugs.... A lot of our drugs, ... are good drugs, but were on the expensive side. Even among the supervisors we have discussed about that. We say, "these things are expensive." If you give them to these officers in charge [heads of facility] they will just pack them there and use their own money to buy their own. At the end of the day, they will tell you, "this thing has expired". So, you find out that when you are talking about this drug revolving fund, you really need to find out which ones the people can afford. SUP/1

Service delivery

Scope of services delivered and patient load

Overall, the mean number of patient visits per 1000 catchment population per year was similar for health centres (mean 316 ± 257) and health posts (301 ± 350) (p = 0.9). Antenatal care was available in over 90% of the facilities, and 97% of health centres and 26.7% of health posts provided services for deliveries (Table 3). Measles immunization was provided by all facilities and 93.8% provided vitamin A supplementation. Crede's ocular prophylaxis to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis was not delivered in any facility, and eye care services were available in less than 10% of facilities. Less than half of the facilities provided services for the elderly, and over half (52.1%) of the facilities saw ≤ 10 elderly persons/1000 catchment population in the year 2017. Blood sugar testing was available in a little over half of the facilities.

A head of facility and a supervisor realised the limitations of the scope of services they provide, which do not address the health needs of a large proportion of the population, including for eye care.

Services provided	Health centre		Health post		Total		Difference	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	%	P value
Maternal health services								
Antenatal care	33	100.0	11	73.3	44	91.7	26.7	0.002
Deliveries	32	97.0	4	26.7	36	75.0	70.3	0
Child health services								
Measles vaccination	33	100.0	15	100.0	48	100.0	0.0	
Vitamin A supplements	33	100.0	12	80.0	45	93.8	20.0	0.008
Credes prophylaxis	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	0.0	
General healthcare services								
Diabetic care	21	63.6	6	40.0	27	56.3	23.6	0.3
Elderly care	16	48.5	5	33.3	21	43.8	15.2	0.6
Eye care	3	9.1	1	6.7	4	8.3	2.4	0.9
Blood pressure measurement	33	100.0	15	100.0	48	100.0	0.0	
Providing 24-h services	29	87.9	3	20.0	32	66.7	67.9	0.004
Total patient visits per year (201	7)							
≤1000	7	21.2	7	46.7	14	29.1	25.5	0.3
>1000 to ≤ 2000	15	45.5	6	40	21	43.8	5.5	0.8
>2000 to ≤ 4000	8	24.2	2	13.3	10	20.8	10.9	
>4000	3	9.1	0	0	3	6.3	9.1	NA
Mean number of patient visits	2201 ± 1421		1136 ± 753		1745 ± 1310		1065	0.0015
Patients visits /1000 catchment	population per ye	ar (2017)						
≤250	16	48.5	8	53.5	24	50.0	5.0	0.8
>250- to ≤500	10	30.3	3	20.0	13	27.1	10.3	0.7
> 500	7	21.2	4	26.7	11	22.9	5.5	0.8
Mean number of patient visits	316 ± 257		301 ± 350		312 ± 283		15	0.9
Patients aged over 50 years visit	s /1000 catchmen	t populatior	n year (2017)					
<u>≤</u> 10	17	51.4	8	53.3	25	52.1	1.9	0.9
>10 to <20	6	18.2	1	6.7	7	14.6	11.5	0.8
>20 to ≤50	5	15.2	3	20.0	8	16.7	4.8	0.8
>50	5	15.2	3	20.0	8	16.7	4.8	0.8
Mean number of patient visits	21 ± 27		16 ± 19		19.5 ± 25.1		5	0.47

 Table 3
 Service delivery in primary health care facilities

That is the problem with the system - they always focus on children under 5, pregnant women, women of childbearing age, that is mostly their work.there is no place for the elderly, the handicapped - here is spacious enough that we can put it in. HoF/ PHC/U/3

In fact, thinking about it, I wonder why no one thought of including it (eye care) in primary health care. SUP/6

Eye care services

Staff were asked about their ability to deliver eye care services. Although most (84.1%) were confident in their ability to identify eye conditions, less than a third were confident in their ability to manage eye conditions and

two thirds (63.4%) had not referred a patient with an eye condition in the previous month. In only a few facilities was someone available to remove a foreign body from the eye (27.3%) or who could irrigate the eyes (29.5%) for chemical injuries.

An unexpected finding that emerged during interviews was that eye care is provided in some facilities by visiting eye care professionals.

Sometimes, there are people that come here to treat the eyes....they tell us they are coming..... we do an announcement, tell the community that people who will treat the eyes are coming, that's what we do. HoF/HP/R/7

Let me give you an instance. Last year in June... there was a group of people who came.... They
wanted to provide eye care services. They came from [name of town]. They wanted to provide eye care services in every facility in this district. HoF/PHC/U2

One of the supervisors who had an eye problem herself wished to consult the eye care provider but could not because there were too many people.

Like the other day they did this free medical clinic, a lot of people were asking... I went into the hall where they were seeing people that have eye problems, there were a lot of people. Myself, I wanted to see the [eye] doctor [for reading glasses], I was not able to see the [eye] doctor. HoF/PHC/R/9

Supervisors generally granted permission for eye care providers to visit facilities and deliver services as they realized the importance of eye care:

We actually need this eye health thing. It is very, very important. We don't just allow anyone to enter into the community [to provide eye care]. SUP/1

They [the eye care providers from the named town] discussed with the supervisor - he approved. They gave us letters and issued dates [for their visit]. HoF/ PHC/U2

However, it is unclear whether these service providers were regulated, as it appears that medication was initially provided at no cost but after some time the providers started to charge for medication, as reported by this head of facility:

When they started initially.... they said that it was free... but later they started taking money. So, after announcing that the treatment is free and they come and start charging for medication, the patients are not happy. They were coming out in large numbers initially, but when money became involved, they stopped coming out in their numbers. Only those who had serious eye problems started coming. HoF/ HP/R/7

Health service data collection

All the facilities used paper-based data collection methods. Almost all kept patient registers and about two thirds had drug inventories. Inventories for consumables were generally lacking (Table 4). On observation of patient registers, no patients with eye conditions were recorded. This finding was explained by a head of facility, which was corroborated by a supervisor:

We don't treat eyes, so we don't record them. HoF/ HP/U/1

They don't record [patients with eye conditions]. They refer immediately they see [them] because there is nothing (they can do)... but before they refer, at least they must have done some primary care, like asking questions, but because it is not in their daily register, they don't record the data. SUP/5

In addition to the registers, staff are also required to collect data in disease or programme specific registers, which entails a lot of work in documenting and compiling the data for monthly reports. One head of facility said that she had employed a volunteer to help with data management as it was so time consuming.

We have general attendance registers, out-patient department register, in-patient register, delivery register, we have immunisation register, we have growth monitoring register. All those registers... as they (patients) come, we register. At the end of the month, you summarize everything in the summary booklet and then submit (to the district)they have to submit it to the State. HoF/PHC/U/3

	Health centre		Health post		Total		Difference	
	N	%	N	%	N	%	%	<i>p</i> value
Registers / inventories								
Patient register	32	97.0	15	100	47	97.9	3	0.5
Medication inventory	23	69.7	9	60	32	66.7	9.7	0.6
Facility activities register	22	66.7	9	60	31	64.6	6.7	0.7
Consumable inventory	2	6.1	0	0	2	4.2	6.1	-
Referral mechanisms								
Referral register	9	27.3	0	0	9	18.8	27.3	-
Referral slips	9	27.3	0	0	9	18.8	27.3	-

 Table 4
 Register and inventories and referral mechanisms in health centres and health posts

I've been working alone.... (I need a volunteer) to help me, even if it's just to fill the registers... so that I can manage the treatment and other things. HoF/ PHC/R/8

Other facility heads described the diseases they are required to report to the district.

We submit data on antenatal care, immunisation, total number of patients that come, notifiable diseases like measles, AFP (acute flaccid paralysis) if you have any cases, cough with acid fast bacilli in sputum, tetanus in adults and neonatal tetanus. HoF/PHC/R/8

One of the supervisors thought that if the number of patients attending with eye conditions were also to be reported this would either require a separate column in the general patient register, or a separate register.

So, you create a column for each condition; so that anyone that you see on daily basis - that will be noted and at the end of the month it will be compiled because there are a lot of registers with us. It has to be inclusive; the eye column should be included in the registers so as to make easy flow of the registers. Getting separate registers should be done. But if the Ministry of Health welcomes that in a primary health care setting, it should be included. SUP/2

Most of the facilities (73%) had designated referral centres. 43% of heads of facilities confirmed that their designated referral centres had eye clinics while 28% were unsure. Less than 20% of facilities used referral slips, and it seems that health workers refer patients by word of mouth, as mentioned by two facility heads:

We don't have referral slips in this facility. HoF/ PHC/U/2

We refer by [word of] mouth. HoF/PHC/U/3

Discussion

Policy gaps

Recent national policies show that there is an enabling policy environment for eye care at PHC level, but there is not a specific policy for PEC. Currently no data are collected or reported on eye conditions, as they are not one of the indicators in the HMIS at primary level. However, this study shows that when eye care is provided, patients attend in large numbers, demonstrating an unmet need. The failure to implement the policies on eye care at primary level may have multiple causes, including lack of data which demonstrates demand, the inevitable lag between policy development and implementation, and/ or lack of advocacy or leadership. The development of a specific PEC policy, which brings together and adds to existing policies (e.g., for new-born care, non-communicable diseases and care of the elderly) with indicators may help to drive the delivery of eye care at PHC level. If the uptake is high, eye data will help to assess the magnitude of eye conditions and whether and how they change over time, as recommended by the National Strategic Health Development Plan 2018–2022.

A policy gap exists in the new-born policy recommendation that erythromycin antibiotics be instilled in the eyes of every new-born to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis as the current essential drugs list for PHC facilities does not include erythromycin. There is need for eye health stakeholders to advocate for the inclusion of erythromycin at PHC level in the next revision of the essential drugs list to enable implementation of this policy.

It appears that eye medications should not be stocked by health posts, as they are only included in the essential drug list for health centres. The implication is that eye care will be delivered at higher level than health posts or there could be a policy change to accommodate this.

Survey findings

The key capacity gaps in relation to delivering PEC identified in the facility survey include a dearth of eye care equipment and drugs, patients with eye conditions are not being recorded in the patient registers and that a low number of elderly persons visit PHC facilities.

Infrastructure, equipment and drugs

There was no significant difference between health centres and health posts in terms of availability of equipment, infrastructure and consumables for PEC. Visual acuity charts were not available in the majority of facilities and less than a third had functioning torches. However, the majority had space for visual acuity assessment. This is in contrast to studies in East Africa where visual acuity charts were more likely to be available in facilities where staff had undergone pre-service training in PEC, and where supervisors had also been trained in PEC [29].

Maternal and child health is one of the priority functions of PHC. Therefore, vitamin A, which plays an important role in reducing under 5 mortality and morbidity, including blindness, should always be in stock in all PHC facilities. In this study vitamin A was not available in a minority of facilities, in contrast to another study in Anambra state, where vitamin A was only available in three quarters of PHC facilities [30]. Low vitamin A supplementation coverage has been shown to be associated with corneal blindness in children in Nigeria [31]. No facilities had topical medication for allergic conjunctivitis which is included in the WHO AFRO PEC essential drug list [32] but is not on the drug list for PHC facilities.

Antibiotic eye medications (chloramphenicol eye drops and tetracycline ointment) are included in the Essential Medications List for PHCs in Anambra State but very few facilities had these in stock. This is likely to reflect the low demand, as until recently, eye care was not included in policies at PHC level. Erythromycin ointment has recently been recommended for ocular prophylaxis in new-borns [26], but this is not included in the essential drug list for PHC facilities in Nigeria [27], which needs to be addressed. For drugs of relevance to eye care to be available in PHC facilities they need to be included in the country's essential drug list for PHC, but this is not the case in many low-income countries [33], and their inclusion will require advocacy and multilevel coordination.

In this study staff in facilities reported that the drugs provided were insufficient in quantity, came from multiple sources, were too expensive or not acceptable to patients. To address these limitations staff bought drugs themselves. While it is commendable that staff used their initiative to address this critical gap, it suggests weak regulation of drug supplies. Whether the same would happen with topical eye medication remains to be seen. Most health centres had injectable antibiotics in stock, an essential drug for health centres but not health posts [27]. Staff also reported dissatisfaction with the quality of the drugs supplied. Although it is possible that some products may have been sub-standard, there is no evidence of any quality assurance to support or refute this claim. The Bamako initiative was launched by UNICEF in 1987 to improve the quality of PHC and increase access to medications at PHC level [34]. While there are several reports on the availability or non-availability of drugs at PHC facilities, there is limited data on the quality of drugs supplied [30, 35]. Policy makers should place additional emphasis on the quality of drugs procured.

Service delivery

The majority of services provided in PHC facilities focussed on maternal and child health which was reflected in the age of those attending the services i.e., very few over the age of 50 years. This is similar to a study in Enugu, Nigeria where the focus was on immunisation, treatment of minor ailments and maternal and child health services, and where less than 7% of people using PHC services were above 47 years of age [36]. In another study in North central Nigeria, almost 40% of patients attending health centres were infants aged 0–9 months [37]. These findings present a challenge to the delivery of PEC as the prevalence of visual impairment increases with age [38]. Assuming 8% of the population are aged 50 years and above and 4% are blind or visually impaired there will be approximately

64 affected individuals of this age group in the catchment population of a health centre (20,000). In addition, there will be a far larger number of adults with presbyopia, which affects most people over the age of 50 years, as well as children and adults with other non-visually impairing conditions. In order to increase access by individuals with eye conditions of all ages once PEC is in place, particularly by adults and the elderly, extensive health promotion and demand creation may be required.

Crede's prophylaxis to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis, a documented cause of blindness in children in southeast Nigeria [39], was not practised in any facility despite an enabling policy. Strategies to instate prophylaxis could include training health workers including supervisors, educating mothers and providing appropriate medication.

An unexpected finding was that some PHCs are visited by eye care professionals according to a pre-determined schedule. These services were attended by a large number of people when medication was provided at no cost. Once costs were introduced, only those with serious eye conditions continued to attend. These findings reflect the large unmet need for eye care in the community and suggest that people with eye conditions are likely to seek care if demand is created, they have confidence in the provider, and affordable services are provided. Many staff were confident in their ability to identify people with eye conditions but due to lack of in-service training they lacked confidence in how to manage them.

Almost half the facilities did not provide blood sugar testing despite being included in the minimum package for the prevention and control of non- communicable diseases in PHC facilities in Nigeria [13]. The implications are that diabetes and diabetic retinopathy may go undetected.

Health service data collection

The majority of facilities had patient registers, but up to a third lacked inventories for medication and even fewer had an inventory for consumables. None of the facilities recorded details of patients with eye conditions in their patient registers as they could not treat them. Staff could not, therefore generate or report data on the number of eye patients seen, despite this being an indicator for eye care for the African region. Similar findings have been reported from Tanzania [40] and South Africa where less than 5% of facilities collected eye health indicators [41]. However, in Rwanda, where PEC is integrated into national policies and programmes, eye health data are collected and reported at all levels to monitor progress and identify gaps that need to be addressed in secondary and tertiary eye care [42]. The lack of data from PHC level on eye care in Nigeria will impede public health decision making for PEC, as this requires robust, timely data [43].

A challenge in collecting data on eye care in PHC facilities is that this will add to the administrative workload of PHC staff who already have to compile and report data for numerous programmes and notifiable diseases.

In this study less than a fifth of facilities had referral slips or referral registers, and referrals are made orally, as had been found in other studies [44]. The lack of organised referral systems in PHC facilities, including feedback from higher level facilities, leads to lack of continuity of patient information which is likely to compromise care, particularly for patients requiring long term management [44]. Less than half of the facility heads knew whether their designated referral centre provided eye care services and almost a third were unsure. Many eye conditions which could be detected at PHC level e.g., refractive error and cataract, need to be treated at referral centres. To facilitate referrals, PHC facilities will need to be mapped to the nearest government eye care provider.

Strengths and limitations

This is the first study to assess the technical capacity of PHC to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package. A potential limitation of this study is that the sample of PHC facilities was not adequately powered to detect statistically significant differences between health centres and health posts, but every effort was made to make the sample as representative as possible in terms of health centre to health post ratios and the location of facilities. Another limitation is that the data collected focussed on facility level and the views of district level supervisors and did not include community perspectives or an assessment of eye care facilities for referrals, nor upward transmission of facility level data.

Conclusions

The key gaps for delivering the WHO AFRO PEC package identified in this component of the study include a dearth of equipment and drugs for eye care, the noninclusion of patients with eye conditions in facility registers, weak referral systems and low numbers of older adults and the elderly who visit PHC facilities. Many of these issues could be addressed by modifying and implementing existing policies, sustained advocacy, and leadership, with health promotion and community mobilization to increase demand.

Further research is needed to assess the need for and acceptability of PEC for people of all ages in communities in Anambra state and to assess whether secondary and tertiary level eye care facilities have the capacity to manage referrals. The findings will complement this PHC facility survey, providing contextually relevant data and information for decision makers.

Page 10 of 11

Abbreviations

AFRO: Africa region; CHO: Community health officer; GAP: Global action plan; HMIS: Health management information system; HOF: Head of facility; HP: Health post; HRH: Human resources for health; (J)CHEW: (Junior) community health worker; LSHTM: London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine; NHREC: National Health Research Ethics Committee; NMW: Nurse mid wife; NPHCDA: National Primary Health Development Agency; NSHDP: National Strategic Health Development Plan; PEC: Primary eye care; PHC: Primary health care; SOML: Saving one million lives; SSA: Sub Saharan Africa; SUP: Supervisor; WHO: World Health Organization.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-07359-3.

Additional file 1. National Health Policy Documents Reviewed. Health policies that support the implementation of PEC in Nigeria with regard to service delivery, HMIS, infrastructure, equipment and consumables.

Additional file 2. Framework for semi structured interviews.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the support of the Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency, the College of Medicine, University of Nigeria and our research team for logistic and operational support. We thank Professor Allen Foster for his contributions to the article.

Authors' contributions

AA and CG conceived the study. AA, CG, HB, and SH made substantial contributions to the study design. AA, CG, HB, and SH designed the study tools. AA and NO were responsible for data curation as part of the fulfilment for a research degree for AA. CG and HB supervised the work. All authors made contributions and agreed to the final draft.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, United Kingdom, coordinated through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium, UK.

Availability of data and materials

The dataset generated and analysed for this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

This research was performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committees of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria (NHREC Approval Number NHREC/01/01/2007–12/03/2018) and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM Ethics Ref: 14624). All participants gave informed written consent.

Consent for publication

Not Applicable.

Competing interests

There are no competing interests.

Author details

¹ Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu, Nigeria. ²International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ³Global Health and Development, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK. ⁴Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, Enugu, Nigeria.

Received: 20 May 2021 Accepted: 26 November 2021 Published online: 20 December 2021

References

- International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Vision Atlas. 2016. http://www.atlasiapborg/. 24th November 2017 23rd April 2019.
- 2. World Health Organization. Preventing blindness in children: report of a WHO/IAPB scientific meeting. WHO/PBL/0077. Geneva: WHO; 2000.
- Global Burden of Disease Healthcare Access Quality Collaborators. Measuring performance on the healthcare access and quality index for 195 countries and territories and selected subnational locations: a systematic analysis from the global burden of disease study 2016. Lancet. 2018;391(10136):2236–71.
- Murthy G, Raman U. Perspectives on primary eye care. Commun Eye Health J. 2009;22(69):10.
- Blanchet K, Gilbert C, de Savigny D. Rethinking eye health systems to achieve universal coverage: the role of research. Br J Ophthalmol. 2014;98(10):1325–8.
- Blanchet K, Finger RP. A need for more equity in prevention of blindness. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2015;22(5):293–4.
- World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019. 2013. http://www.who.int/blindness. AP2014_19_English pdf.
- World Health O. World report on vision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019.
- Abdull MM, Sivasubramaniam S, Murthy GV, Gilbert C, Abubakar T, Ezelum C, et al. Causes of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria: the Nigeria national blindness and visual impairment survey. IOVS. 2009;50(9):4114–20.
- Kyari F, Gudlavalleti MV, Sivsubramaniam S, Gilbert CE, Abdull MM, Entekume G, et al. Prevalence of blindness and visual impairment in Nigeria: the national blindness and visual impairment survey. IOVS. 2009;50(5):2033–9.
- 11. Rabiu MM, Muhammed N. Rapid assessment of cataract surgical services in Birnin-Kebbi local government area of Kebbi state, Nigeria. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2008;15(6):359–65.
- 12. National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Minimum standards for primary health care in Nigeria. Abuja: Federal Ministry of Health; 2015.
- National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Integrating primary health care governance in Nigeria: PHC under one roof (management guidelines). Abuja: Federal Ministry of Health; 2016.
- Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Commun Eye Health. 2017;30(100):85.
- 15. Topp SM, Abimbola S, Joshi R, Negin J. How to assess and prepare health systems in low-and middle-income countries for integration of services—a systematic review. Health Policy Plan. 2017;33(2):298–312.
- 16. World Health Organisation. Catalogue of key eye health indicators in the African region. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2017.
- Chol C, Negin J, Garcia-Basteiro A, Gebrehiwot TG, Debru B, Chimpolo M, et al. Health system reforms in five sub-Saharan African countries that experienced major armed conflicts (wars) during 1990–2015: a literature review. Glob Health Action. 2018;11(1):1517931.
- World Health Organization. Everybody's business--strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. 2007.
- Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Webster J, Gilbert C. The technical feasibility of integrating primary eye care into primary health care systems in Nigeria: protocol for a mixed methods cross-sectional study. JMIR Res Protoc. 2020;9(10):e17263.
- Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Mathenge W, Faal HB, Umeh R, Ezepue F, et al. Technical capacities needed to implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process. BMJ Open. 2021;11(3):e042979.
- World Health Organisation, WPRO. The WHO health systems framework.
 2016. Available from: website. http://www.wpro.who.int/health_services/ health_systems_framework/en/.
- 22. National Bureau of Statistics. 2017 demographics statistics bulletin. 2018. https://www.nigerianstatgovng/download/775.
- United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organisation. High level international round table on literacy "reaching the 2015 literacy target: delivering on the promise". 2012. http://www.unesco.org/new/fileadmin/ MULTIMEDIA/HQ/ED/pdf/Nigeria.pdf.
- University of Oxford. Global multidimensional poverty index databank. Oxford poverty and human development initiative. 2016. http://www.dataf orall.org/dashboard/ophi/index.php/. Accessed 20 Oct 2016.
- Federal Ministry of Health Abuja Nigeria. National health policy 2016: promoting the health of Nigerians to accelerate socio-economic development. 2016.
- Federal Ministry of Health. National strategic health development plan II. 2019. https://www.health.gov.ng/doc/NSHDP%20II%20Final.pdf. editor. Abuja.

- Federal Ministry of Health Abuja Nigeria. Essential medicines list Nigeria 2016 6th revision. 2016. https://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/en/d/Js235 28en/.
- Federal Republic of Nigeria. The national health act. Federal Republic of Nigeria Official Gazette; 2014. p. A139–72.
- Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. A randomised controlled trial to investigate effects of enhanced supervision on primary eye care services at health centres in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14(Suppl 1):S6.
- Oyekale AS. Assessment of primary health care facilities' service readiness in Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):172.
- Aghaji AE, Duke R, Aghaji UC. Inequitable coverage of vitamin a supplementation in Nigeria and implications for childhood blindness. BMC Public Health. 2019;19(1):282.
- 32. World Health Organisation Africa Region. Primary eye care training manuala course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa; 2018. https://www. afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual
- Du Toit R, Faal HB, Etya'ale D, Wiafe B, Mason I, Graham R, et al. Evidence for integrating eye health into primary health care in Africa: a health systems strengthening approach. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):102.
- 34. Asila PK. The Bamako initiative. World Health. 1997;50(5):26-7.
- Uzochukwu BS, Onwujekwe OE, Akpala CO. Effect of the Bamako-initiative drug revolving fund on availability and rational use of essential drugs in primary health care facilities in south-East Nigeria. Health Policy Plan. 2002;17(4):378–83.
- 36. Okoronkwo IL, Onwujekwe OE, Ani FO. The long walk to universal health coverage: patterns of inequities in the use of primary healthcare services in Enugu, Southeast Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014;14:132.
- Sambo MH, Lewis I, Idris SH. Quality of care in primary health centres of Tafa local government area of Niger state, north central Nigeria; the clients' perspective. Niger J Med. 2010;19(2):194–8.
- Dineen B, Foster A, Faal H. A proposed rapid methodology to assess the prevalence and causes of blindness and visual impairment. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2006;13(1):31–4.
- Aghaji AE, Ezegwui IR, Shiweobi JO, Mamah CC, Okoloagu MN, Onwasigwe EN. Using key informant method to determine the prevalence and causes of childhood blindness in south-eastern Nigeria. Ophthalmic Epidemiol. 2017;24(6):401–5.
- Jolley E, Mafwiri M, Hunter J, Schmidt E. Integration of eye health into primary care services in Tanzania: a qualitative investigation of experiences in two districts. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017;17(1):823.
- Lilian RR, Railton J, Schaftenaar E, Mabitsi M, Grobbelaar CJ, Khosa NS, et al. Strengthening primary eye care in South Africa: an assessment of services and prospective evaluation of a health systems support package. PLoS One. 2018;13(5):e0197432.
- Binagwaho A, Scott K, Rosewall T, Mackenzie G, Rehnborg G, Hannema S, et al. Improving eye care in Rwanda. Bull World Health Organ. 2015;93:429–34.
- 43. AbouZahr C, Boerma T. Health information systems: the foundations of public health. Bull World Health Organ. 2005;83:578–83.
- Mendis S, Al Bashir I, Dissanayake L, Varghese C, Fadhil I, Marhe E, et al. Gaps in capacity in primary care in low-resource settings for implementation of essential noncommunicable disease interventions. Int J Hypertens. 2012;2012:584041.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Paper 6: Assessing the capacity of primary health care facilities in Nigeria to deliver eye health promotion. Results of a mixed methods feasibility study.

In this paper, we present our findings with respect to health promotion in primary health facilities in Anambra state and discuss what this means for the delivery of eye health promotion in the state.



Village health workers being trained in health promotion for maternal and child health

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Reppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk



Registry T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966				
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert				
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anamora state to imp World Health Organization's Primary Eyecare Package.				

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?	PLOS Global Public Health	1	
When was the work published?	November 2022		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item, Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an Item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the conceptualization and design of the study, collected and analyzed the data, drafted the manuscript and edited it with consideration of input from her supervisors and co-authors.
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023
Improving health worldwide	www.lshtm.ac.uk



G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Hameed S, Gilbert C (2022) Assessing the capacity of primary health care facilities in Nigeria to deliver eye health promotion: Results of a mixed-methods feasibility study. PLOS Glob Public Health 2(11): e0000645. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645

Editor: Carmen García Peña, Instituto Nacional de Geriatria, MEXICO

Received: March 11, 2022

Accepted: October 13, 2022

Published: November 11, 2022

Copyright: © 2022 Aghaji et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The data that support the findings of this study are available in the Supporting information of this article.

Funding: AA and CG were funded for this study by The Queen Elizabeth Diamond Jubilee Trust, United Kingdom Grant number ITCRZC68, coordinated through the Commonwealth Eye Health Consortium, UK. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. RESEARCH ARTICLE

Assessing the capacity of primary health care facilities in Nigeria to deliver eye health promotion: Results of a mixed-methods feasibility study

Ada Aghaji^{1*}, Helen E. D. Burchett², Shaffa Hameed³, Clare Gilbert³

1 Department of Ophthalmology, College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu, Nigeria, 2 Department of Public Health, Environments and Society, Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom, 3 International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

* aaghaji@yahoo.co.uk

Abstract

Over 25 million people in sub-Saharan Africa are blind or visually impaired, the majority from avoidable causes. Health promotion and disease prevention are important strategies for eye health, through good governance, health literacy and increasing access to eye care services. To increase equity in access for eyecare services, the World Health Organization Africa Region developed a package of interventions for primary eye care, which includes health promotion. The aim of this study was to assess the capacity of the primary healthcare system to deliver health promotion for eye care in Nigeria. Mixed methods were used during a survey of 48 government-owned primary health care facilities in Anambra state, Nigeria: interviews with district health supervisors, facility staff and village health workers, and a desk review of policy documents for primary health care and eye care in Nigeria. Findings were benchmarked against the capacities needed to deliver health promotion agreed through a Delphi exercise and were analysed using the World Health Organization's health system building blocks. Eye health promotion policies exist but are fragmented across different national health policies. Health promotion activities focussed on "mobilising" community members to access care provided in facilities, particularly for women of childbearing age and young children, and health education was limited. Only one in ten facilities engaged the elderly and a fifth delivered health promotion for eye care. Health promotion activities were supervised in 43.2% of facilities and transport to remote areas was limited. A robust eye health promotion strategy needs to be included in the National Eye Health Policy. The scope of existing health promotion will need to expand to include eye conditions and different age groups. Increasing eye health literacy should be emphasized. Governance, training health workers in eye health promotion, educational materials, and transport to visit communities will also be needed.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Abbreviations: (J)CHEW, Junior Community Health Extension Worker / Community Health Extension Worker; HoF, Head of Facility; PEC, Primary Eye Care; PHC, Primary Health Care; SSA, Sub-Saharan Africa; VHW, Village Health Worker; WHO, World Health Organization.

Introduction

It is estimated that in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), 25 million adults have vision loss and a further 51.6 million have uncorrected presbyopia [1]. In addition, over 400,000 children in SSA are blind [2] and twice that number are visually impaired. Over 90% of the causes of vision loss are avoidable [3] and are amenable to health promotion or can be prevented. Primary health care (PHC) activities in facilities and communities are the vehicles through which health promotion and disease prevention are typically delivered. For example, many of the causes of blindness in children are preventable, through measles immunization, ocular prophylaxis of the new-born and vitamin A supplementation, with health education to promote exclusive breast feeding and a vitamin A-rich diet. Children with treatable causes such as cataract and glaucoma, need to be detected early and referred to specialist services [4, 5]. Health promotion also has a key role to play through policies which ensure that these services are accessible, and by health education to empower mothers to make the right choices about their child's eye health. In adults, refractive error, cataract and glaucoma are the most common causes of distance visual impairment while presbyopia causes near visual impairment. Although these conditions may not be treated at PHC level, they can be detected, and individuals counselled and referred for eye care. Creating awareness about these conditions and where to seek appropriate management may encourage community members to seek treatment. Trachoma, which is endemic in rural, northern Nigeria, is the most common cause of preventable vision loss in adults and has effective strategies for control. These entail facial and environmental hygiene, mass drug administration of azithromycin, and surgery for the sight-threatening lid complications. Diabetes and diabetic retinopathy are emerging epidemics in SSA particularly in urban settings and will require significant health promotion for their control. Many of the interventions for the control of visual impairment are highly cost effective, but in SSA many people become or remain blind as they do not access services even when they are available. Commonly reported barriers are cost [6-9], cultural and social factors, lack of trust in the services [6], and lack of knowledge and awareness that many eye conditions can be prevented or treated and where treatment is available [6, 7, 9]. Health promotion activities in eye health are key to overcoming these barriers.

The fundamental role of health promotion is to "enable people to increase control over, and to improve their own health" [10], as stated in the Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion in 1986. Recently, the objectives of health promotion have been realigned with the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goals, in response to globalisation and climate change [11]. Although strategies for health promotion have changed over time, the basic principle remains the same. In 2016, at the Shanghai Declaration on health promotion, the World Health Organization (WHO) identified three pillars for the delivery of health promotion; good governance, health literacy and healthy cities [11]. Good governance entails implementing clear policies, developing regulations and legislation to make healthy choices accessible and affordable to all, and creating sustainable systems for society. Health literacy entails empowering individuals to make the healthiest choices and decisions for themselves and their families by increasing their knowledge and social skills [12]. Healthy cities involves prioritising policies that create synergies between health and other city policies, supporting cities to promote equity and social inclusion of their diverse populations and re-orienting health and social services to make them more equitable [11]. The concepts articulated in the three pillars of health promotion apply directly to primary health care (PHC), and consequently can be applied to primary eye health care (PEC), the eye health component of PHC. Governance and policies (which increase access to services for eye care), and health literacy could address the high prevalence of visual impairment in SSA.





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.g001

Concerning health literacy, PHC workers can promote relevant health services and in addition, provide appropriate health education messages to empower community members to make appropriate health choices and ultimately, have better eye health "Fig 1".

In terms of healthy cities, re orienting health facilities to optimize access to health services and fostering social inclusion is crucial in reducing barriers to accessing healthcare [11].

Some of these health promotion strategies have been implemented in SSA. Data from 43 countries in SSA have shown that improving the quality of governance improves health outcomes in terms of reducing under five mortality rates, for example [13]. In SSA, mobile phone technology has been used as an intervention to improve health literacy for sexual reproductive health, maternal and child health, Ebola, tuberculosis and malaria [14]. In terms of healthy cities, health facilities located close to communities have shown higher odds of facility delivery for pregnant women and lower odds of neonatal mortality [15].

The WHO have developed a framework for the social determinants of health, which includes (i) governance and policies, (ii) social status and education, and (iii) material circumstances, i.e., living and working conditions [16]. The pillars of health promotion—governance, health literacy and healthy cities (where people live and work) bear a strong relationship with the social structures that determine equity and the health of populations. Effective eye health promotion could, therefore, play an important role in addressing inequity in eye health.

To increase access to eye care, the WHO Africa Region recently launched a package of interventions for PEC (WHO AFRO PEC package) which has two broad components: facility based management and eye health promotion [17]. WHO AFRO recommend that all aspects of their PEC package, including health promotion, be undertaken by suitably trained PHC staff. The health promotion component comprises specific eye health promotion messages, and the training curriculum includes how to give a health talk and how to counsel patients. The messages target mothers and caregivers of young children, people of all ages particularly the elderly, people with diabetes and relatives of adults with glaucoma. It is recommended that the health promotion messages be delivered using posters, health talks and in one-to-one counselling, and could include the use of mass media, such as radio, to reach communities [17]. However, before eye health promotion can be effectively delivered, it is important to determine the capacities needed to deliver health promotion, and the extent to which they are available in PHC facilities.





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.g002

In PHC facilities in Nigeria (health centres and health posts), health promotion is mainly delivered by junior community health extension workers (JCHEWs) and village health workers (VHWs). JCHEWs undergo two years of training in approved schools of health technology after completing secondary education. They are employed by the government, are attached to health centres or health posts, and spend 90% of their time in the community. VHWs are volunteers nominated and remunerated by the community; they are trained from six days to up to three weeks by the JCEHWs [18, 19]. Sometimes, health promotion may be conducted by community health extension workers (CHEWS) who undergo four years post-secondary school training in approved schools of health technology "Fig 2". However, health promotion will require more than the human resource component to be effective. Key capacities required include relevant health promotion materials, supervision, transport, referral mechanisms, intersectoral communication and partnerships [20].

The overall purpose of this study was to assess capacity gaps in PHC facilities in Nigeria which would need to be addressed to effectively deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package. PHC capacity for facility case management has already been published [22, 23]. This paper reports the capacities available to deliver the health promotion component of the package.

Methods

Ethics statement

Ethical clearance was obtained from the National Research Ethics Committee of the Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria, and the ethics review boards of the University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital and the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants and permission was taken to audio-record the interviews and to use anonymous quotes. All data collected were anonymised and every effort was made to ensure confidentiality.

Overview

The study had several stages, which have been described in detail [21]. In brief, the methods included a literature review of PEC in SSA and of technical feasibility frameworks to identify a suitable framework to assess the feasibility of delivering PEC [24], In addition, a two-round Delphi exercise was conducted to provide consensus on the technical complexity of each component of the WHO AFRO PEC package using Gericke's framework of technical complexity

[24], and the capacities needed to implement each of them. These were then mapped onto the WHO health system building blocks. The capacities needed, which were derived from the agreed technical complexities, formed the basis of the data collection methods and tools, and guided the selection of relevant participant groups. We conducted a survey in PHC facilities, interviews with district PHC supervisors, facility staff and VHWs, and a desk review of policy documents for PHC and eye care in Nigeria to identify statements of relevance to health promotion for eye health. All the findings were mapped onto WHO's health systems building blocks.

Policy review

A desk review of national health policy documents that could support eye health promotion was undertaken. Relevant statements from specific policy documents were extracted and tabulated in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet for analysis.

Selection of PHC facilities and staff

The survey of PHC facilities (health centres and health posts) was conducted in Anambra state, Nigeria, between October 2018 and May 2019. Anambra is located in south-eastern Nigeria and has a population of 5.5 million [25]. The adult literacy rate is 78.2% compared with the national average of 62% [26]. There are 21 local government areas, or districts, which can be stratified into urban, semiurban, and rural. The main occupations are farming, manufacturing, and commerce as in many other states in Nigeria.

A representative sample of facilities was selected using two-stage stratified random sampling from a total of 235 PHC centres and 112 health posts. Six districts were selected to reflect their urban, rural or semi-urban location (ratio of 1:2:3, respectively). Within districts, facilities were selected to reflect the 2:1 ratio of health centres to health posts. Hence a representative sample of 33 health centres and 15 health posts was selected. Structured questionnaires and observational checklists were administered to one (J)CHEW in each facility by a trained research assistant. If a facility had more than one (J)CHEW, one was randomly selected. Nine facilities (three health posts and six health centres) were purposively selected based on an interim analysis to identify high and low performing facilities in relation to the health workforce, patient load and supervisory practices. In these facilities, facility heads (nurse-midwives, community health officers, or (J)CHEWs) were interviewed, and 18 VHWs (two VHWs attached to the selected facility) were administered a structured questionnaire to determine their health promotion practices. Finally, the supervisors for health in the six districts were interviewed using structured topic guides. Interview findings were triangulated with data from the observational checklists and structured questionnaires.

Data management

Data from the questionnaires were entered into a custom-made database in Microsoft Access and transferred to STATA V.15.1 (Statcorp, Texas) using STATransfer for analysis. Frequency tables were generated from the data and simple descriptive analyses were performed. Interview recordings, which were all in English, were transcribed verbatim by AA and checked for accuracy. Analysis entailed re-reading the transcripts for familiarisation with the data which were then indexed, charted, mapped and interpreted by AA. Open Code Software V. 4.02 was used to assist analysis.

Results

Review of policy documents

The National Health Act (2014) and the National Health Policy (2016) support health promotion (Table 1). In addition, eye health promotion is specifically mentioned in the Nigeria Eye Health Strategic Plan (2014–2019), the National Eye Health Policy (2019) and the National Health Policy (2016). Furthermore, the National Strategic Health Development Plan II (2018– 2022) specifies that an element of the eye health package at community and PHC level should include health education to promote eye health and disease prevention. In addition, the NSHDP 2018–2022 recommends promoting the establishment of a multi-sectoral coordination platform for eye health. However, eye health is not included in the most recent National Health Promotion Policy (2019).

Facility survey

In the 48 facilities surveyed, all the heads of facility interviewed were female and representation was evenly distributed between urban, semi urban and rural facilities. However, four (J) CHEWs were not available; two were on study or maternity leave and two facilities did not have a (J)CHEW). All the (J)CHEWs were female, their mean age was 41.4 (SD \pm 8) years and 93.2% had completed training in schools of health technology.

The majority of health promotion, whether delivered in communities or facilities, focussed on young children and pregnant women, with very little time spent on health promotion for the elderly, general health for people of all ages or for people with diabetes "Fig 3A and 3B".

Health service data collection. There was no documented communication between the community and facilities as there were no referral slips, referral registers or evidence of two-way communication.

As there were some differences in health promotion activities undertaken in the community and in facilities they are described separately.

Health promotion in the community

Human resources for health. Sixteen VHWs were interviewed as one facility had no VHW attached to it. Their mean age was 47.4 ($SD\pm10$) years and 25% were male. All the VHWs lived in the community, knew it very well and spoke the local language. The mean number of years they had lived in the community was 29.8 ($SD\pm12$) years.

Less than half of the 48 facilities had a VHW who conducted health promotion in the community, while over 80% of facilities reported that community health promotion was conducted by (J)CHEWs (<u>Table 2</u>). 25% of the VHWs interviewed said they rarely conducted health promotion activities.

Health promotion in the community should, ideally, be conducted by VHWs, but this was mainly undertaken by facility staff, including facility heads. The term frequently used by staff to describe health promotion was "mobilization", by which they meant that they inform communities about the services available in the facility and encourage them to attend. The following comments from facility heads illustrate the work they do in communities:

My main work is mobilisation. To mobilise the community. . ..because most of them don't know what PHC is all about. So, my main work, my major work is to mobilise the community and tell them what PHC is all about. HoF/PHC/U/2

If there is a village meeting, we go there and inform them about the activities in the health centre and why they should come to the health centre... HoF/HP/R/7

Policy document	Policy for Health Promotion	Policy for eye health promotion		
National Health Promotion Policy 2006 [27]	• Health promotion priorities should reflect the health needs in Nigeria, including both communicable and non-communicable diseases like injury prevention, mental health and oral health	Not included		
	• Health promotion should empower individuals and communities to make informed decisions about their health			
National Primary Health Care Development Agency; Guidelines for the development of PHC systems in Nigeria. 2012 [19]	 The Minimum Health Package for Non- Communicable Diseases will include health promotion/education materials on non-communicable diseases displayed in all facilities. The health education programme will provide information on health promotion, disease prevention at community and individual levels. This requires creating awareness, demand and utilization/patronage of health services and programmes For the minimum package for health education and community mobilization, every facility should have relevant health promotion/ education materials conspicuously displayed in culturally acceptable language with graphics 			
National Health Act 2014 [28]	The National Council on Health, is the highest policy making body in Nigeria on matters relating to health, to promote health and healthy lifestyles	Not included		
National Primary Health Care Development Agency Management Guideline For Primary Health Care Under One Roof 2016 [29]	• The ward minimum health care package should include health promotion and community mobilisation	Not included		
National Eye Health Policy 2016	Strengthen the capacity for health promotion at all levels	• One of the activities is to improve public awareness of eye health		
National Strategic Health Development Plan II. 2018–2022 [30]		• An element of the eye health package at community and PHC level is health education for eye health promotion and disease prevention		
		• Strategic interventions to deliver eye care include: to strengthen advocacy, social mobilization and behaviour change communication on eye health and expand access (financial, geographical, social etc.) to comprehensive (promotive, preventive, curative and rehabilitative), appropriate and quality eye health services at all levels		
Implementation guidelines for primary health care under one roof (PHCUOR) 2018 [31]	• The Local Government Health Authority Management Team will include a programme officer for health promotion	Not included		
Nigeria Eye Health Strategic Plan. 2014–2019 [32]		• States to provide eye health education at community and PHC levels targeting those affected and those at risk of avoidable blindness. This should also focus on harmful eye practices, including *couching		
		• The National Eye Health Programme Secretariat will design and produce the eye health education materials		
National Eye health Plan 2019		 Healthcare facilities should deliver eye health promotion PHC workers should be trained to deliver eye health 		
		 Frice workers should be trained to deriver eye nearth promotion Government will facilitate and regulate community 		
		 Government will lacinate and regulate community participation in eye health promotion. Intersectoral collaboration will be done to improve eye health promotion 		

Table 1. National health documents that support health promotion and eye health promotion in Niger

*Couching: a traditional method of cataract surgery that often results in poor visual outcomes.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.t001



Fig 3. A and B amount of time staff spent with different groups on health promotion A in the community and B in facilities.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.g003

During the interview with one facility head it became clear that UNICEF had engaged their own VHWs to undertake health promotion on maternal and child health topics:

[Concerning VHWs] the UNICEF group took two persons from each ward [community]... where they are mobilising people.... What they are mainly talking about to those people [community members] is family planning and immunisation. Those are the two major things they are mobilising people for. HoF/PHC/U/3

It appears that a shortage of staff was hampering health promotion activities, as one head of facility explained:

. . .Because we have a shortage of staff, we don't do house to house mobilization. HoF/PHC/ U/3

Half (48%) of (J)CHEWs were confident about delivering eye health promotion and 96% were willing to undergo training (Table 2).

Health promotion activities. Health promotion activities by (J)CHEWS also mainly focused on mobilizing the community. For example, mothers of young children were informed that PHC facilities provide immunization and vitamin A supplements, or that medication was available for onchocerciasis, as explained by many heads of facility.

		Health centre N = 32		Health post N = 12		Total N = 44	
Health workforce	N	%	Ν	%	N	%	
Health promotion conducted by VHWs	14	43.8	5	41.7	19	43.2	
Health promotion conducted by (J)CHEWs	28	87.5	9	75.0	37	84.1	
(J)CHEW fluent in local language	31	96.9	12	100	43	97.7	
(J)CHEWs knowledge of community: good/moderately good	27	84.4	12	100	39	88.6	
(J)CHEWs confidence in delivering eye health promotion							
A little or more confident	14	43.8	7	58.3	21	47.7	
Not confident	18	56.2	5	41.7	23	52.3	
Willing to be trained on eye health promotion	30	93.8	12	100	42	95.5	

Table 2. Health workforce for community health promotion.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.t002

	Health ce	entre N = 32	Health	post N = 12	Total N = 44	
Frequency of health promotion by VHWs	N	%	Ν	%	N	%
At least weekly	4	12.5	3	25.0	7	15.9
At least monthly	3	9.4	3	25.0	6	13.6
Rarely/never	25	78.1	6	50.0	31	70.5
Community health promotion by (J)CHEWs:						
Measles immunisation	30	93.8	12	100	42	95.5
Vitamin A supplementation of young children	29	90.6	10	83.3	39	88.6
Exclusive infant breastfeeding	21	65.6	8	66.7	29	65.9
Diabetes prevention	8	25.0	2	16.7	10	22.7
Eye health	6	18.8	3	25.0	9	20.5
Care of the elderly	3	9.4	2	16.7	5	11.4
Safe water	12	37.5	3	25.0	15	34.1
Safe sanitation	15	46.9	5	41.7	20	45.5
Household waste disposal	16	50.0	2	16.7	18	40.9
How messages are communicated in the community						
Meetings with the target audience	29	90.6	12	100	41	93.2
Town criers/announcers	22	68.8	8	66.7	30	68.2
Home visits	8	25.0	3	25.0	11	25.0
Community leaders	7	21.9	1	8.3	8	18.2

Table 3. Health promotion activities in the community described by facility heads.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.t003

I will tell them [the community] the services that are available like treatment of minor ailments, antenatal care, deliveries, immunisation services, giving drugs like Mectizan, Albendazole, treatment of onchocerciasis, treatment of childhood illnesses..... we mostly target women of child-bearing age and children under 5, though we do general mobilisation. HoF/ PHC/U/2

We go there and inform them about important things like checking BP [blood pressure] and checking their sugar and other things... HoF/HP/R/7

Most of the health promotion activities focussed on mothers and children (Table 3), which included health education about exclusive breast feeding. A key role of PHC staff was also to promote safe water and sanitation, and advise on household waste disposal, activities which were reported by a third to almost half of those interviewed.

A range of avenues were available for health workers to meet with target audiences in the community for health promotion, such as village meetings, and using town criers/announcers (Table 3), as two facility heads explained:

We raised awareness by calling the announcer and telling him to tell the community that insecticide treated nets are available and they should come and get them here. HoF/HP/U/1

But I do go to their meetings, like the men's meeting, the village men's meeting, the village women's meeting, I will attend. I talk to them, I tell them what, whatever I feel is conducive to them at that particular time. HoF/PHC/U/3

Health promotion materials and transport. Over two thirds of facilities had health promotion materials for use in the community, but only a fifth were in the local language

	Health centre N = 32		Health post N = 12		Total N = 44	
	N	%	N	%	N	%
Ease of acquisition materials for all health promotion						
Fairly easy or easy	30	93.8	12	100	42	95.5
Difficult to acquire / not available	2	6.2	0	0	2	4.5
Materials for health promotion in the community						
Available	20	62.5	10	83.3	30	68.2
With explanatory graphics	19	59.4	10	83.3	29	65.9
In local languages	5	15.6	4	33.3	9	20.5
Available for the following target populations:						
Mothers with children 0-5 years	19	59.4	9	75.0	28	63.6
Pregnant women	13	40.6	9	75.0	24	54.5
All ages	3	9.4	3	25.0	6	13.6
People with diabetes	0	0	0	0	0	0
The elderly	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 4. Materials for health promotion and target audiences.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.t004

(Table 4). The commonest audiences for the posters were mothers of young children (63.6%) and pregnant women (54.5%) with none for people with diabetes or the elderly. The only education materials which mentioned eyes were posters on vitamin A supplementation.

Less than 10% of facilities had transport for PHC staff to visit communities. A head of facility commented on the challenges faced when visiting some hard-to-reach communities:

We have gone across all the riverine and hard to reach areas. We went there and sensitised them. there is no finance for our transportation. We use a flying boat to cross over. HoF/PHC/R/9

Governance. A higher proportion of health promotion activities conducted in the community by (J)CHEWs were supervised if they worked in health posts (25%) than in health centres (9.4%), and supervision of VHWs was only reported by two heads of health centres (6.3%). It became clear that (J)CHEWs were largely not aware of what the VHWs were doing, and they had limited control over their activities, as explained by two facility heads:

No, nobody supervises them [VHWs]. The only way we know that they are doing it is that you may be here, and someone will come to me and say, "nurse somebody came to our meeting (in) our church and told us that this health centre now has a residential nurse." That is the evidence that the VHWs are doing their work. HoF/PHC/U/2

[Concerning VHWs] They are invited. The government invites them, not me. They help in mobilising people in the communities to come out for immunisation. HoF/HP/U/1

One of the reasons given for the lack of VHW supervision was that they no longer dispense medication:

In those days we gave them [VHW] *drugs...but now, because we don't give them anything there is no more supervision. If you give them* [*drugs*], *you supervise how they give the drug ... but we encourage them to keep talking to people.* HoF/PHC/U/3

All the health promotion materials observed for use in the community had the official logos.

Health promotion in facilities

Service delivery. Staff in all the facilities reported that they deliver health talks for measles immunisation and vitamin A supplementation but less than 10% of facilities gave health talks for the elderly or for the prevention of diabetes (Table 5). Only one facility, a health centre, had a list of topics to be covered in health talks, but this was not a weekly or monthly schedule.

Staff also engaged in health promotion and health education talks in the facility, as explained by a facility head:

But when they come to the health facility.....we educate them. We give them a health talk on how to manage their lives and how to manage the present condition. HoF/PHC/U/2

What we do here.....we give immunisation, health talks concerning prevention of malaria and to prevent common diseases, keep the environment clean to avoid mosquito bites. I tell them to use their nets to sleep. HoF/HP/SU/6

Another facility head thought that delivering eye care in the facility would be likely to lead to a reduction in the use of traditional eye remedies:

They use traditional medicines [for eye conditions]... or if it is serious they go to [names two local towns]....they squeeze them [local herbs] and drink them but if we start seeing eye patients here they will drop that practice and use orthodox medicine. HoF/PHC/R/8

	Table 5.	Materials to supp	ort health pron	notion in primary	y health care facilities.
--	----------	-------------------	-----------------	-------------------	---------------------------

	Health c	Health centre N = 32		Health post N = 12		Total N = 44	
Leadership and Governance	n	%	n	%	n	%	
List of topics for health education in the facility	1	3.1	0	0	1	2.3	
Supervision of health promotion in the facility	15	46.9	4	33.3	19	43.2	
Facilities that conduct health talks	32	100	12	100	44	100	
Topics covered in health talks							
Vitamin A supplementation of young children	32	100	12	100	44	100	
Measles immunisation	32	100	12	100	44	100	
Exclusive infant breastfeeding	30	93.8	6	50.0	36	81.8	
Diabetes prevention	4	12.5	3	25.0	7	15.9	
Care of the elderly	1	3.1	2	16.7	3	6.8	
Materials for health promotion in facilities							
Available	32	100.0	12	100.0	44	100.	
With explanatory graphics	30	93.8	11	91.7	41	93.2	
In local languages	24	75.0	9	75.0	33	75.0	
Target populations for materials							
Mothers of children 0–5 years*	28	87.5	12	100	40	90.9	
Pregnant women	29	90.6	9	75.0	38	86.4	
All ages	8	25.0	4	33.3	12	27.3	
People with diabetes	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	
The elderly	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	

*Posters mentioned taking vitamin A for healthy eyes.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.t005

Infrastructure, equipment and consumables. Posters to support health promotion in facilities were similar to those for use in the community, but posters in facilities were more likely to be in the local language (75%), and a high proportion had illustrative graphics suitable for audiences with low levels of literacy. There were no health promotion posters for the elderly or for people with diabetes (Table 5).

Governance. A total of 19 JCHEWs (43.2%) reported that their health promotion activities in the facility were supervised, which was slightly higher in health centres (46.9%) than in health posts (33.3%) (Table 5).

Discussion

Policy gaps

Eye health promotion is key to delivering WHO's Integrated People Centre Eye Care [33] and should be a crucial pillar of any eye health policy. However, our study shows that some although enabling national policies for eye health promotion are in place, these are limited, particularly at the PHC level. In addition, these policies are not being implemented possibly because they are fragmented across several other policies, and their relevance and importance may not be appreciated by non-eye care professionals. To address this, as recommended in the Nigeria National Strategic Health Development Plan II, 2018–2022 [30], as part of a multisectoral coordination platform for eye health, stakeholders from other health disciplines and nonhealth sectors need to work together to strengthen eye health promotion policies for the Nigeria National Eye Health Policy, addressing the current limitations particularly at the primary level. The resulting cohesive and comprehensive strategy would need to be ratified by the National Council on Health, the highest health policy making body in Nigeria, and relevant components integrated into other policies, such as child health, non-communicable diseases, care of the elderly and water and sanitation. The National Eye Health Policy is the main policy and therefore advocacy instrument for eye care. We recommend bringing together all eye health promotion strategies in the National Eye Health Policy because in South Africa, failure to implement eye health promotion at the primary level was attributed to the lack of a specific eye health promotion policy [34].

Human resource development for eye health promotion

Appropriately trained health workers are crucial in the delivery of a health intervention, and workers skilled in health promotion should be available to deliver appropriate health education messages. However, imparting health education to the community, which would improve heath literacy, was limited in our study. Instead, the thrust of health promotion activities in the community was to increase uptake of the services provided in health facilities. The reason for the apparent lack of health education could be that staff lacked training in health education and behaviour change communication.

In our study, less than half of the (J)CHEWs were confident about delivering eye health promotion but almost all were willing to be trained in this area. Similar findings were reported in a study of eye health promotion in Ethiopia, where 47% of PHC workers were confident in delivering PEC and 75% felt that more training was needed [35]. Addressing this training capacity gap is crucial because health workers delivering health promotion need to be purposefully trained and have the necessary skills to deliver clear and relevant messages to the appropriate audiences [36, 37].

Appropriate health promotion materials

Health promotion needs to be supported by appropriate educational materials. In our study, although health promotion materials were readily available and easy to acquire, over a third of facilities did not use them in the community and most were not in the local language. While this may have contributed to the lack of health education in communities, the majority of the posters had self-explanatory graphics. However, the focus of the health promotion posters was on maternal and child health. One of the posters, on vitamin A supplementation, included a message that supplements keep children's eyes healthy, and there is scope for a similar message to be included in materials for measles immunization. Advocacy will be needed to ensure that messages for people with diabetes include that diabetes can causes serious eye complications, with messages which would increase their health literacy on what they could do to reduce the risk [38]. In addition, posters on eye conditions in older adults e.g. on presbyopia and cataract, could create awareness and stimulate conversations around accessing appropriate care for these conditions. More recently there have been calls for innovative methods of delivering health promotion messages [39]. A recent study in India demonstrated the effectiveness of using mobile phones to improve eve health literacy [40]. With increasing mobile phone penetration and internet connectivity in SSA, mobile phones could become an important tool for disseminating health promotion messages, including for eye health.

Service delivery

To be effective, health promotion should be delivered to the appropriate target audience. Health promotion activities were mainly targeted at women of child-bearing age and their young children. Similar findings were reported in a study of community based health workers in Ethiopia where health promotion for measles immunisation, vitamin A supplementation and Crede's prophylaxis was conducted by over 70% of PHC workers, while eye health promotion was conducted by less than a third [35]. Maternal and child health has been and remains a major and important focus of health promotion activities as a component of PHC. However, over the last decade or so there has been a global shift towards promoting the health of everyone in the community [41]. For health promotion to contribute towards a reduction in visual impairment and blindness, there needs to be an awareness of all the appropriate target groups. The elderly, who have the highest prevalence of blinding eye conditions, and people with diabetes who are at risk of diabetic retinopathy are very important target audiences. In addition, women, especially widows who have lower access to eye care in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), should also be targeted [42]. Delivering targeted eye health promotion at community level may be one step on the ladder to reduce health inequities in accessing appropriate eye care. Indeed, health promotion has been identified as a key strategy to reduce health inequalities and it has been suggested that targeted health promotion should be prioritised [43]. In this study, the (J)CHEWs used a range of mechanisms to reach different target audiences, including talking to village, town criers and community leaders. One of the PHC workers in our study indicated that the topics of the health talks were spontaneous, depending on what seems to be relevant at the time. While this is a form of "people-centredness," a prepared list of topics, including eye conditions, would ensure relevant health topics are covered. Other mechanisms for reaching the elderly and those with visual impairment could be informal providers of health care, such as Propriety Patent Medicine Vendors who are ubiquitous in Nigeria [44] and traditional healers, and religious leaders who played a key role in promoting the polio immunization campaign in Nigeria, for example [45]. One head of facility reported that oral herbal remedies were used to treat eye conditions in her community and suggested that introducing PEC may reduce their use. The use of traditional eye remedies is

widespread in SSA, some of which are harmful [46]. In addition, the use of such remedies may delay seeking treatment from orthodox sources. This emphasizes the need for accessible eye care services and targeted eye health promotion.

Supervision

Supervision is an important aspect of leadership and governance in health service delivery. However, supervision of health promotion in facilities and in the community was very limited. In the facilities, this may explain why none of the facilities had a schedule for health education talks and topics, with only one having a list of topics which should be covered in health talks.

Concerning community health promotion, VHWs were hardly supervised at all and the (J) CHEWs interviewed had very limited awareness of what the VHWs were doing. An explanation given for this was that VHWs do not require supervision as they are no longer permitted to treat patients. Lack of supervision may also explain why materials were not available in the local languages, particularly for activities in the community where it could be argued that they are more important. There was anecdotal evidence that a United Nations agency had appointed VHWs for health promotion, so by-passing the supervisory function of staff in health facilities. The fragmented structure of health promotion and its supervision may lead to the dissemination of disparate messages, and so there is need to develop a unified managerial structure for health promotion. Although there is conflicting evidence about the impact of supervision on health outcomes [47], it has been suggested that health system challenges, particularly a shortage of human resources in poor countries, make supportive supervision even more important, and that it is the quality of the supervision which is more important than the frequency [48].

Infrastructure

Health promotion and its supervision in communities will require appropriate transport arrangements, which was a challenge in this study, particularly in hard-to-reach areas. Local transport will be needed by staff to visit communities [49] and lack of transport for field work in eye care has been a recurring problem [50]. Transport promotes access to health centres by community members as well as access to communities by health workers. Policy makers need to recognise the impact of lack of transport on the delivery of health services, and inter-sectoral collaborations which align health and transport policies, may help to address this. Creating synergies between health and transport policies aligns with the "healthy cities" policy of the Shanghai declaration on health promotion [11]. This is in line with the good governance pillar of the Shanghai Health Promotion Policy and the Nigerian health policy which encourage the promotion of inter-sectoral action for health and effective partnerships among all relevant stakeholders for health development by mainstreaming 'Health-in-All' policies [51].

Generalizability to other settings

Eye health promotion, which encompasses good governance, health literacy and healthy cities with equitable access to health care, cannot exist in a vacuum and can only be embedded in existing health promotional structures. Although there are many critical gaps for health promotion, one of the strengths is the focus on maternal and childhood conditions, and eye health promotion for young children can be integrated into this. This can be an entry point for eye health promotion. Indeed, there are efforts underway to embed eye health and eye health prevention activities into WHO's Integrated Management of Childhood Illnesses (IMCI) [52]. In many countries, eye health is not included in national health plans [33]. To implement and deliver eye health promotion effectively, eye health policies need to be intentional about

including specific policies for PEC and eye health promotion which align with existing national policies. For SSA countries that will be implementing the WHO AFRO PEC, including the eye health promotion component, it is important to assess the capacity of the health system at the community and primary health care level to implement it.

Strengths and limitations

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to assess the capacity of the health system to deliver eye health promotion. Assessment tools were developed based on a rigorous process that involved a review of the literature, appropriate technical capacity frameworks and consensus from experts in eye health in SSA using a Delphi exercise. The findings may be generalizable to other countries in SSA. A limitation of this study is that it did not assess community participation, which is central to the success of health promotion.

Further studies will be needed on the impact of health promotion on the uptake of eye care services in health facilities.

Conclusions

Our study identified several capacity gaps in health promotion which will need to be addressed to implement eye health promotion effectively. A robust eye health promotion strategy needs to be included in the National Eye Health Policy. The scope of existing health promotion will need to expand to include those with eye conditions, the elderly and people with diabetes. This will require trained health workers, targeted health promotion supported by relevant health promotion materials in the local languages which are suitable for populations with low levels of literacy, transport to visit communities and supportive supervision.

Supporting information

S1 Data. JCHEW data form and checklist. (XLSX)

S2 Data. JCHEW questionnaire. (XLSX)

S3 Data. VHW questionnaire. (XLSX)

S4 Data. Criteria for selection of facilities for semi structured interviews. (XLSX)

S1 Text. Topic guide for facility heads and district level supervisors. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the support of the Anambra State Primary Health Care Development Agency, the College of Medicine, University of Nigeria and our research team for logistic and operational support, especially our project manager Mr Ekene Uzokwe. We thank Professor Allen Foster for his contributions to the article.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Ada Aghaji, Shaffa Hameed, Clare Gilbert.

Data curation: Ada Aghaji.

Formal analysis: Ada Aghaji, Helen E. D. Burchett.

Investigation: Ada Aghaji.

Methodology: Ada Aghaji, Clare Gilbert.

Software: Ada Aghaji.

Supervision: Helen E. D. Burchett, Clare Gilbert.

Writing – original draft: Ada Aghaji.

Writing - review & editing: Ada Aghaji, Helen E. D. Burchett, Shaffa Hameed, Clare Gilbert.

References

- Bourne R, Steinmetz JD, Flaxman S, Briant PS, Taylor HR, Resnikoff S, et al. Trends in prevalence of blindness and distance and near vision impairment over 30 years: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. The Lancet Global Health. 2021; 9(2):e130–e43. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X (20)30425-3 PMID: 33275950
- Chandna A, Gilbert C. When your eye patient is a child. Community Eye Health. 2010; 23(72):1–3. PMID: 20523854
- Burton MJ, Ramke J, Marques AP, Bourne RR, Congdon N, Jones I, et al. The lancet global health commission on global eye health: vision beyond 2020. The Lancet Global Health. 2021; 9(4):e489–e551. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30488-5 PMID: 33607016
- Gilbert C, Foster A. Childhood blindness in the context of VISION 2020—the right to sight. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2001; 79(3):227–32. PMID: 11285667
- Aghaji A, Okoye O, Bowman R. Causes and emerging trends of childhood blindness: findings from schools for the blind in Southeast Nigeria. The British journal of ophthalmology. 2015; 99(6):727–31. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2014-305490 PMID: 25472948
- Aboobaker S, Courtright P. Barriers to Cataract Surgery in Africa: A Systematic Review. Middle East African journal of ophthalmology. 2016; 23(1):145–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-9233.164615 PMID: 26957856
- 7. Ajibode H, Jagun O, Bodunde O, Fakolujo V. Assessment of barriers to surgical ophthalmic care in South-Western Nigeria. J West Afr Coll Surg. 2012; 2(4):38–50. PMID: 25453003
- Muhammad N, Mansur RM, Dantani AM, Elhassan E, Isiyaku S. Prevalence and causes of blindness and visual impairment in sokoto state, Nigeria: baseline data for vision 2020: the right to sight eye care programme. Middle East African journal of ophthalmology. 2011; 18(2):123–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/</u> 0974-9233.80700 PMID: 21731322
- Odugbo OP, Mpyet CD, Chiroma MR, Aboje AO. Cataract blindness, surgical coverage, outcome, and barriers to uptake of cataract services in Plateau State, Nigeria. Middle East African journal of ophthalmology. 2012; 19(3):282–8. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-9233.97925 PMID: 22837620
- 10. World Health Organisation. Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. In: WHO E, editor. 1986.
- World Health Organization. Shanghai declaration on promoting health in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Health promotion international. 2017; 32(1):7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/ daw103 PMID: 28180270</u>
- 12. Nutbeam D. The evolving concept of health literacy. Social science & medicine. 2008; 67(12):2072–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.09.050 PMID: 18952344
- 13. Makuta I, O'Hare B. Quality of governance, public spending on health and health status in Sub Saharan Africa: a panel data regression analysis. BMC Public Health. 2015; 15(1):932.
- 14. Ouedraogo I, Some BMJ, Benedikter R, Diallo G. Mobile technology as a health literacy enabler in African rural areas: a literature review. 2021.
- Karra M, Fink G, Canning D. Facility distance and child mortality: a multi-country study of health facility access, service utilization, and child health outcomes. International journal of epidemiology. 2017; 46 (3):817–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyw062 PMID: 27185809
- World Health Organization. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. World Health Organization. 2010; https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44489.

- 17. World Health Organisation Africa Region. Primary Eye Care Training Manual-A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eve patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa2018. p. https://www.afro. who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual.
- Bamisaiye A, Olukoya A, Ekunwe EO, Abosede O. A village health worker programme in Nigeria. World 18. Health Forum (World Health Organisation) 1989; 10(3):386-92. PMID: 2637712
- 19. National Primary Health Care Development Agency. National Guidelines for the Development of Primary Health Care System in Nigeria. Abuja Nigeria: Federal Governmet of Nigeria; 2012.
- Aghaji A, Burchett HE, Mathenge W, Faal HB, Umeh R, Ezepue F, et al. Technical capacities needed to 20. implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process. BMJ open. 2021; 11(3):e042979. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042979 PMID: 33741664
- Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Webster J, Gilbert C. The Technical Feasibility of Integrating Primary 21. Eye Care Into Primary Health Care Systems in Nigeria: Protocol for a Mixed Methods Cross-Sectional Study. JMIR research protocols. 2020; 9(10):e17263. https://doi.org/10.2196/17263 PMID: 33107837
- Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Human resource and governance challenges 22 in the delivery of primary eye care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021; 21(1):1321. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-07362-8 PMID: 34893081
- Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Primary health care facility readiness to 23. implement primary eve care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021; 21(1):1360. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-07359-3 PMID: 34930271
- Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, Mills A. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to 24. inform priority-setting in health. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2005; 83(4):285-93. PMID: 15868020
- National Bureau of Statistics. 2017 Demographics Statistics Bulletin. https://nigerianstatgovng/ 25. download/775, 2018.
- 26. National Bureau of Statistics. Socioeconomic statistics, Literacy-Nigeria Data Portal. 2014. https:// nigeria.opendataforafrica.org/qwfntxd/profile?states=Anambra
- Federal Government of Nigeria. National Health Promotion Policy. https://wwwafrowhoint/sites/default/ 27. files/2017-06/Nigeria_national_health_promotion_policy_feb2006pdf. 2006;Accessed 5th February 2020
- Federal Republic of Nigeria. The National Health Act. Federal Republic of Nigeria Official Gazette2014. 28. p. A139-72.
- 29. National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Integrating Primary Health Care Governance in Nigeria: PHC under one roof (Management Guidelines). Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2016
- 30. Federal Ministry of Health. National Strategic Health Development Plan II. In: https://www.health.gov. ng/doc/NSHDP%20II%20Final.pdf, editor. Abuja2019. p. https://www.health.gov.ng/doc/NSHDP%20II %Final.pdf.
- National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Implementation Guidelines for Primary Health 31. Care under one roof (PHCUOR). Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2018.
- Federal Ministry of Health. Nigeria National Eye Health Strategic Plan. 2014. 2014. 32.
- 33. World Health Organisation. World Report on Vision. https://www.hoint/publications-detail/world-reporton-vision. 2019; Accessed 23rd February 2020.
- 34. Sithole H, Oduntan O. Eye health promotion in the South African primary health care system. African Vision and Eye Health. 2010; 69(4):200-6.
- Aemero A, Berhan S, Yeshigeta G. Role of health extension workers in eye health promotion and blind-35. ness prevention in Ethiopia. JOECSA. 2014; 18(2):68-74.
- Hublev J. Gilbert C. Eve health promotion and the prevention of blindness in developing countries: criti-36 cal issues. British journal of ophthalmology. 2006; 90(3):279-84. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjo.2005. 078451 PMID: 16488944
- World Health Organisation. A Vision for primary health care in the 21st century. https://www.hoint/ 37. docs/default-source/primary-health/visionpdf. 2018;Accessed 6th February 2020.
- 38. Gurmu Y, Gela D, Aga F. Factors associated with self-care practice among adult diabetes patients in West Shoa Zone, Oromia Regional State, Ethiopia. BMC health services research. 2018; 18(1):732-. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3448-4 PMID: 30249246
- 39. Macnab AJ, Mukisa R. Celebrity endorsed music videos: innovation to foster youth health promotion. Health Promot Int. 2019; 34(4):716–25. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day042 PMID: 29897455

- Sharma IP, Chaudhry M, Sharma D, Kaiti R. Mobile health intervention for promotion of eye health literacy. PLOS Global Public Health. 2021; 1(10):e0000025.
- **41.** World Health Organization. The world health report 2008: primary health care now more than ever. 2008. Geneva, WHO. 2008.
- 42. Ramke J, Kyari F, Mwangi N, Piyasena M, Murthy G, Gilbert CE. Cataract Services are Leaving Widows Behind: Examples from National Cross-Sectional Surveys in Nigeria and Sri Lanka. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2019; 16(20). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16203854</u> PMID: 31614715
- Barsanti S, Salmi LR, Bourgueil Y, Daponte A, Pinzal E, Ménival S. Strategies and governance to reduce health inequalities: evidences from a cross-European survey. Global health research and policy. 2017; 2:18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-017-0038-7 PMID: 29202086
- Beyeler N, Liu J, Sieverding M. A systematic review of the role of proprietary and patent medicine vendors in healthcare provision in Nigeria. PLoS One. 2015; 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0117165 PMID: 25629900
- 45. Nasir S-G, Aliyu G, Ya'u I, Gadanya M, Mohammad M, Zubair M, et al. From intense rejection to advocacy: How Muslim clerics were engaged in a polio eradication initiative in Northern Nigeria. PLoS medicine. 2014; 11(8).
- 46. Aghaji A, Ezeome I, Ezeome E. Evaluation of content and cost of traditional eye medication in a resource-poor country–Implications for eye care practice and policy. Nigerian journal of clinical practice. 2018; 21(11):1514–9. https://doi.org/10.4103/njcp.njcp_201_18 PMID: 30417853
- Bosch-Capblanch X, Liaqat S, Garner P. Managerial supervision to improve primary health care in lowand middle-income countries. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011; 9(9). https://doi.org/10.1002/ 14651858.CD006413.pub2 PMID: 21901704
- Avortri GS, Nabukalu JB, Nabyonga-Orem J. Supportive supervision to improve service delivery in lowincome countries: is there a conceptual problem or a strategy problem? BMJ global health. 2019; 4 (Suppl 9):e001151. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001151 PMID: 31673434
- 49. Müller A, Murenzi J, Mathenge W, Munana J, Courtright P. Primary eye care in Rwanda: gender of service providers and other factors associated with effective service delivery. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2010; 15(5):529–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3156.2010.02498.x PMID: 20345558
- Sutter EE. Training of eye care workers and their integration in Gazankulu's comprehensive health services. Social science & medicine (1982). 1983; 17(22):1809–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(83)</u> 90396-9 PMID: 6648603
- 51. Federal Ministry of Health Abuja Nigeria. National Health Policy 2016: Promoting the Health of Nigerians to Accelerate Socio-economic Development. 2016.
- 52. Malik ANJ, Mafwiri M, Gilbert C, Kim MJ, Schellenberg J. Integrating eye health training into the primary child healthcare programme in Tanzania: a pre-training and post-training study. BMJ paediatrics open. 2020; 4(1):e000629. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjpo-2019-000629 PMID: 32671232

Paper 6A: Delivering Eye health promotion: Why and how.

In this paper, we present why eye health promotion is important, and based on the experiences from our study, we identify opportunities for how eye health promotion can be delivered.

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.lshtm.ac.uk

Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@tshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED FOR EACH RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A - Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No Ish 284966
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to implement the World Health Organization's Primary Eyecare Package.

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Community Eye Health Journal		
When was the work published?	March 2022		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?"	Choose an item No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item, Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or If the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an Item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

.....

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	AA led the conceptualization and design of the study, collected and analyzed the data, drafted the menuscript and adited it with consideration of input from her supervisors and co-authors.
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 MArch 2023
Improving health worldwide www.lsl	





Ada Aghaji Senior Lecturer: College of Medicine, University of Nigeria, Enugu Campus; Consultant Ophthalmologist: Department of Ophthalmology, University of Nigeria Teaching Hospital, Enugu, Nigeria and Research Fellow: International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, London, UK.



Clare Gilbert Professor of International Eve Health: International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK.

Delivering eye health promotion: why and how

Eye health promotion is vital for supporting the health and wellbeing of eye patients and the community, and there is a lot we can all do to help.

n low- and/or middle-income countries, nine out of ten people who are blind or visually impaired have a condition that could have been prevented or treated.¹ This suggests that preventive measures and eve health promotion could play an important role in reducing

blindness and vision impairment. However, in most countries, little attention is paid to eye health promotion.²

Why is eye health promotion needed?

Whether people remain healthy or become sick is influenced by many factors, including the conditions in which people live, their level of income, and their education. People are also more likely to become ill if they do not know how to keep themselves and their families healthy, or how and where to seek care if they become sick. The same applies to many eye conditions. For example, people are more likely to develop type 2 diabetes and vision loss from diabetic retinopathy if they do not know what causes diabetes, if they cannot afford or cook healthy food, if it is difficult for them to exercise, or if they do not understand the importance of taking their medication regularly and having their eyes examined on a regular basis. People are also more likely to become sick if there are no policies in place for affordable housing, clean water, and workplace safety, for example.

What is health promotion?

Health promotion is the process of enabling people to increase control over, and improve, their health.³ Even when there is a good health system in place, three more factors are needed to ensure that people are healthy and have a good sense of wellbeing:

- 1 A healthy environment for people to live and work in.
- 2 Health literacy: knowledge and awareness of what people can do to keep themselves healthy and safe, and how and where to get help if they need it.
- 3 Government policies that support health, such as ensuring there are safe places in urban areas where people can exercise.



Time spent outdoors needs to be built into the school day, as this reduces the risk that children will develop myopia. NEPAL

Health promotion is more effective when there is a focus on living standards as well as lifestyle, and when we realise that good health involves more than just the absence of disease. It is just as important for groups of people (e.g., people living with diabetes and medical experts) to work together to find relevant, workable, and acceptable solutions and to build skills so that people can bring about effective change in their own lives. These concepts and actions need to be adapted to the local setting and reach those who are hardest to reach.⁴

Where to start

A good place to start is to think about the different groups of people who will benefit from health promotion to improve their eye health (such as pregnant women, children, people with diabetes, and the elderly) and the setting where they can be reached. For each group, think about what should be in place to support their health in the three key areas of a healthy environment, health literacy, and government policies (see Figure 1).

- A healthy environment. What needs to be added to the environment, and what is harmful and should be removed? For example, access to water for drinking and washing is essential for a community's eye health, as is the removal of waste.
- Health literacy. What are the knowledge gaps and what misconceptions or false beliefs exist in the community? For example, for community members to have good eye health, they need information about diet and exercise, the importance of eye tests and blood sugar test, the benefits of cataract surgery and spectacle correction, and where to go if there is a problem with their eyes.
- Government policies. What policies can be put in place to support health, and which policies are potentially harmful and should be eliminated?

73 🔅 COMMUNITY EYE HEALTH JOURNAL | VOLUME 34 | NUMBER 113 | 2021

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 122

Figure 1 Examples of eye health promotion

Who? Pregnant women Where? Antenatal clinics

1 A healthy environment.

Ensure that health facilities that provide antenatal care are accessible to all women, regardless of disability or income. Ensure that pregnant women have



access to vitamin A rich food or vitamin supplements.

- 2 Health literacy. Provide information that encourages healthy behaviours and reduces the risk of preterm delivery, such as smoking cessation, abstinence from alcohol, and a healthy diet, including vitamin A rich foods. Encourage exclusive breast feeding from birth.
- 3 Government policies. Provide free or affordable antenatal care for all pregnant women on a regular basis.

Impact: Less visual loss from retinopathy of prematurity, vitamin A deficiency, and neonatal conjunctivitis.

Who? Young children Where? Immunisation clinics

1 A healthy

environment. Ensure that health facilities that provide immunisation and vitamin A supplementation are accessible to all parents of young children.



- 2 Health literacy. Provide information on the benefits of immunisation, a healthy diet, and the need for vitamin A supplements. Encourage exclusive breast feeding for infants as well as environmental and personal hygiene (including face washing).
- 3 Government policies. Provide free or affordable antenatal care for all pregnant women on a regular basis.

Impact: Less trachoma and less visual loss from measles and vitamin A deficiency.

Who? Schoolchildren, adolescents, and teachers Where? Schools

A healthy environment. A healthy school environment with water and sanitation as well as safe outdoor spaces for play as time outside reduces the risk of developing myopia.



- 2 Health literacy. Provide health education in schools about a healthy diet, personal and environmental hygiene, safe play, and the consequences of smoking and risky sexual behaviours. Encourage the use of spectacles, if required, and tell children what to do if they have an eye problem. Train schoolteachers to screen children for eye conditions and to take care of their own eyes and vision, e.g., correction of presbyopia.
- 3 **Government policies.** All children aged 5-15 years should be in school. Education policies on school health should include eye health.

Impact: Less myopia, obesity, and Type 2 diabetes; less trachoma and ocular injuries; less visual loss in children and teachers from uncorrected refractive errors; prompt management of eye conditions.

Who? People of working age Where? Workplaces

- 1 A healthy environment. A healthy and safe work environment with appropriate infrastructure to encourage good hygiene and to prevent ocular injuries.
- 2 Health literacy. Provide information on a healthy diet, regular exercise, how to protect the eyes from injury, and the benefits of smoking cessation. Emphasise the need for regular blood sugar and blood pressure tests and eye examinations to detect potentially blinding eye conditions. Provide information about where to access eye care, if needed.
- 3 Government policies. Occupational health (or health and safety) policies which protect the eye health of workers.

Impact: Fewer people develop diabetes or sustain eye injuries as well as earlier detection of blinding eye conditions.

Who? Older people/the elderly Where? Care homes, social activities for the elderly, health clinics for the elderly

- A healthy environment. A healthy and safe living environment with appropriate infrastructure. Accessible health facilities.
- 2 Health literacy. Provide information on a healthy diet, regular exercise, with regular blood sugar tests and eye examinations. Information on where to access eye care, if needed
- 3 **Government policies.** Include eye health in policies on health care for the elderly.

Impact: Fewer people develop diabetes. Early detection of blinding eye conditions such as cataract and glaucoma.

What role can we play in eye health promotion?

As ophthalmologists, optometrists, ophthalmic nurses, and allied eye health personnel, we may have access to groups such as pregnant women, children, people with type 2 diabetes, and the elderly, either where we work or in the community where we live. We can train other health care workers to deliver appropriate eye health promotion. e.g., at antenatal care clinics, in diabetes clinics, or in schools. For example, eye health workers have successfully trained staff members who were working in maternal and child health clinics to deliver primary eye care, which included eye health promotion and prevention, with appreciable success.⁵ Children in school are a captive

audience for eye health promotion, and the International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness has developed a school activity pack containing eye health promotional materials that can be downloaded free of charge (https://bit.ly/IAPBpack).6

The role of health education in eye care is to encourage the uptake of eye health promoting behaviours and increase the use of eye care services.⁷ In the course of our work, health education can be directed at individuals, families, and communities. This could include encouraging family members to have their eyes examined, particularly if there is a history of eye disease, such as glaucoma. For patients

"The role of health education in eye care is to encourage the uptake of eye health promoting behaviours and increase the use of eye care services."

Continues overleaf ►



35 FROM TOP LEFT CLOCKWISE: © LICIA PETRESC/UNSPLASH; ABIDIN ERNA/HKI CC BY-NC 4.0; AM COATES CC BY-NC 4.0; MARCELO SCHEILINI CC BY-NC 4.0; JAMSHYD MASUD CC BY-NC 4.0

with diabetes, we could explain the importance of annual eye examinations and work with them to find ways in which they could adopt a healthier lifestyle.

Improvement in the quality and quantity of services is an area of health promotion⁸ which we can also influence by making eye care services more accessible, affordable, and acceptable.

Outreach activities provide an excellent opportunity to discuss eye health promoting behaviours. We can encourage managers and regional policy makers to invest in new ways of working that prioritise health promotion. We can also advocate for policies that encourage healthy behaviours, such protective eye wear in the workplace and safe play areas in schools. World Sight Day is an excellent opportunity for eye health service providers to advocate for these policies, whether in the media, in the workplace, or in schools.

As eye health workers, we should do our best to incorporate eye health promotion into our routine eye health service delivery and become ambassadors of eye health care.

References

- Burton MJ, Ramke J, Marques AP, Bourne RRA, Congdon N, Jones I, et al. The Lancet Global Health Commission on Global Eye Health: vision beyond 2020. The Lancet Global health. 2021;9(4):e489-e551.
- 2 World Health Organization. World report on vision. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019. **bit.ly/world-report-on-vision**
- 3 World Health Organisation. Health Promotion. https://www.who.int/health-topics/health-promotion
- 4 Grabowski D, Aagaard-Hansen J, Willaing I, Jensen BB. Principled promotion of health: implementing five guiding health promotion principles for research-based prevention and management of diabetes. Societies. 2017;7(2):10.
- 5 Mafwiri MM, Jolley E, Hunter J, Gilbert CE, Schmidt E. Mixed methods evaluation of a primary eye care training programme for primary health workers in Morogoro Tanzania. BMC Nursing. 2016;15:41.
- 6 International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Love Your Eyes Education Activity Pack. https://bit.ly/IAPBpack
- 7 Hubley J, Gilbert C. Eye health promotion and the prevention of blindness in developing countries: critical issues. Br J Ophthalmol. 2006;90(3):279-84.
- 8 Hubley J. Communicating health: an action guide to health education and health promotion. 2nd ed. Oxford: Macmillan 2004.

Paper 7: Capacity gaps at primary health care level to deliver the WHO AFRO package for primary eye care in Nigeria: **implications for policy and implementation**.

Prepared for submission to British Journal of Ophthalmology.

In this paper, we use a health systems approach to discuss the capacity gaps we identified for facility- based case management and for health promotion. We proffer solutions to how these gaps can be addressed and the policy implications for the implementation of the WHO AFRO PEC package.

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT www.ishtm.ac.uk



Registry

T: +44(0)20 7299 4646 F: +44(0)20 7299 4656 E: registry@lshtm.ac.uk

RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

PLEASE NOTE THAT A COVER SHEET MUST BE COMPLETED <u>FOR EACH</u> RESEARCH PAPER INCLUDED IN A THESIS.

SECTION A – Student Details

Student	AGHAJI Ada Ejealor. ID No lsh 284966	
Principal Supervisor	Professor Clare Gilbert	
Thesis Title	Assessing the technical capacity of primary health care facilities in Anambra state to implement the World Health Organization's Primary Eyecare Package.	

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C

SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.No	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item. Yes

*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	British Journal of Ophthalmology	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Aghaji A, Burchett H, Gilbert C.	
Stage of publication	Choose an item. Ready to submit	

SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in	AA led the conceptualization and design of the study, collected and
the research included in the paper and in the preparation	analyzed the data, drafted the manuscript and edited it with consideration
of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	of input from her supervisors and co-authors.

human ing haalth wardshide	www.lahter.co.uk
Supervisor Signature:	Date: 17 March 2023
Student Signature:	Date: 12th March 2023

Improving health worldwide

www.lshtm.ac.uk

Addressing capacity gaps at primary health care level to deliver the WHO AFRO package for primary eye care in Nigeria: implications for policy and implementation.

ABSTRACT

There is a high prevalence of vision loss in sub-Saharan Africa, principally from conditions which are preventable or readily treatable. However, many Africans do not have access to eye care services as these are concentrated in urban areas; primary eye care has the potential to increase access. The World Health Organisation recently launched a package of interventions for primary eye care in sub-Saharan Africa, which has been adopted by the Nigerian Ministry of Health. However, before it can be implemented, there is need to assess the capacity of the health system at primary level to deliver it. Evidence from a recent facility-based feasibility study in Anambra state, Nigeria found a range of capacity gaps, and we propose three strategies to address them. Firstly, advocacy will be needed for government support to strengthen the primary eye care component of the National Eye Health Policy and to implement multisectoral and other health policies that support primary eyecare in recent primary health care policies. Second, health system strengthening, including implementing pre-service training in primary eye care, providing relevant equipment and the inclusion of eye conditions in the national health management information system is crucial. And lastly, health promotion in communities to increase demand for eye care and to increase eye health literacy will be needed. Primary eye care is a complex intervention and delivering it will be challenging. Strong advocacy and political will, and studies to determine the effectiveness of the package in Nigeria will be needed.

Key words. Primary eye care; Nigeria; Policy; primary health care

BACKGROUND

An estimated 60 million Africans are blind or visually impaired and a further 51 million have near vision impairment.(1) The majority of those affected, 85% of whom are aged 50 years and above, (2) have conditions which could either have been prevented (such as trachoma), or managed to prevent loss of vision (such as glaucoma) or treated to restore sight (such as cataract and refractive errors). The high magnitude of vision impairment reflects lack of access to eye care services which is also inequitable, as rural, non-literate women, and widows have lower access than other subgroups in the population.(3) The challenge of differential access to eye care and inequities in eye health has been highlighted in the World Health Organization's (WHO) Global Action Plan (2014-2019),(4) which advocates for the inclusion of eye health into national health policies and plans, including at the primary health care (PHC) level to facilitate universal access to eye care.

Primary eye care (PEC) delivered at PHC level entails the following: health protection, health promotion, detection and treatment of common eye conditions, detection of more complex conditions such as cataract with referral to a higher level, and rehabilitation of those who are irreversibly blind. In Nigeria, services at PHC level are delivered in health centres and health posts by the following cadres in order of seniority: nurse midwives, community health officers, junior and senior community health extension workers and village health workers.

However, lack of a defined scope of what PEC should entail has hampered implementation on the scale required.(5) To address this, WHO's Africa regional office recently developed a package of interventions for the delivery of PEC by PHC health workers in sub-Saharan Africa (the WHO AFRO PEC package)(6). The package has two broad components - eye health promotion/ disease prevention and facility-based eye care.(7, 8) The former includes health messages for appropriate target groups such as young children and their carers, people at risk of eye diseases, people with diabetes and people of all ages. The facility-based component has five algorithms of symptom and signs which lead to a management decision, such as treat, refer or urgent referral. The algorithms would cover the majority of common eye conditions in the population. The algorithms include the red eye, ocular trauma, vision loss and childhood eye diseases. The package has protocols for practical procedures, such as how to make an eye shield and remove a foreign body, and there is a list of essential consumables, technologies and medicines together with standards and indicators for monitoring services. As the majority of Africans live within 10 kilometres of a PHC facility, WHO AFRO PEC package has the potential to reach the majority of people with eye conditions and strengthen eye health systems.(9)

For any new intervention it is important to assess the feasibility of delivering it in a given context, and ideally this should be done before pilot testing.(10) In this paper we summarize the findings of a study undertaken in Anambra State, Nigeria, the purpose of which was to assess the capacities of PHC facilities to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package.(11) The capacities to be assessed were identified through the following iterative process. First, a literature review was undertaken to identify suitable frameworks for the study. The technical feasibility component of Snowdon's feasibility construct was chosen, (12) which was explored using Gericke's technical feasibility framework which comprises user, delivery and usage characteristics, and government capacity requirements.(13) Next, a two stage Delphi exercise was undertaken to reach a consensus on the technical complexity of each element of the WHO AFRO PEC package, and then the capacities needed for implementation.(14) The resulting framework guided the development of study tools (observation, check lists; questionnaires and topic guides) and participant groups (staff and facility heads working in health centres and health posts and their supervisors, and village health workers). Field work was undertaken in 48 facilities in six districts which were selected so as to be representative of the state. Data were analysed for the facility- based management of eye conditions, and health promotion component of the WHO AFRO PEC package using WHO's health system framework. In this paper we highlight the key capacity gaps and recommend how they might be addressed (Figure 1). The gaps can broadly be classified as 1. policy gaps, 2. health system gaps and 3. gaps in demand for eye care.

GAPS AT PHC LEVEL

1 Policies Fragmented and not aligned

2. PHC implementation

Leadership and governance: Infrequent supervision, limited supportive supervision with inadequate transport. Standard Operating Procedures often not available or used. <u>Health workforce</u>: Critical shortage of staff in health centres - none met staffing norms; high staff turnover; almost half the workforce are adhoc workers or volunteers; staff overworked. Focus of in-service training is maternal and child health (MCH) with no training in eye care, diabetes or care of the elderly.

Infrastructure, Equipment, Consumables Dearth of basic eye diagnostic equipment. Lack of supply of eye medications. Medication supply system is not regulated. Equipment supply and maintenance is adhoc. Inadequate transport to visit communities. <u>Service delivery</u>: Focus is on MCH and few facilities deliver eye care. Low attendance by the elderly. Blood sugar testing not usually available. <u>HMIS</u>: Eye conditions not recorded or reported. No system for referrals and feedback.

3. Health promotion/demand generation

Village health workers not supervised and limited supervision of health promotion activities. Focus is on MCH, mobilising communities with little health education. No posters on diabetics or the elderly. Limited health promotion materials on eye health. Inadequate transport to visit communities.

STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS THE GAPS

1 Policies

Advocacy for government support for PEC and implementation of relevant PHC policies. Develop and implement a comprehensive PEC policy. Align exisiting eye health policies.

2. PHC level Implementation

Strengthen every element of the health system to deliver facility based eye care. Include PEC in pre-service training

3. Health promotion and demand generation

Train staff to deliver eye health promotion and education, with appropriate materials which target appropriate audiences. Train supervisors to provide supportive supervision and provide transport.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

1 Policies

A comprehensive PEC policy which includes health promotion. Alignment of PEC with all relevant heath policies. Relevant PHC policies that can impact PEC are implemented.

2. PHC level Implementation

Adequately trained, supervised, equipped and supported workforce for PEC. PEC activities documented and reported.

3. Health promotion and demand generation

Adequately trained, equipped and supervised health work force to deliver health promotion to appropriate target groups in the community and facility. Improved eye health health literacy of community members who make appropriate choices.



Figure 1. Conceptual framework to address capacity gaps in primary health care to deliver primary eye care in Nigeria
1. Policy gaps

In the majority of low- and middle-income countries, plans for eye care are not currently included in national health strategic plans.(15) However, this is not the case in Nigeria, as eye care is mentioned in the National Strategic Health Development Plan (NSHDP) 2018-2022.(16) Despite this, elements of eye care of relevance to PEC at PHC level are scattered across a number of different policies, including the minimum package of services for non-communicable diseases at PHC level; the National Health Policy 2016, PHC Under One Roof; Management Guidelines 2016 to deliver PEC and the Essential Drugs List. There are also inconsistencies between policies; for example, medications recommended for PEC in the NSHDP, such as topical erythromycin to prevent neonatal conjunctivitis, are not in the Essential Drugs List for PHC. The National Council on Health's 2010 resolution directed that centres for the elderly be established in all government health institutions,(16) but this is yet to be implemented at PHC level.

Recommendations to address policy gaps.

Delivery of PEC in Nigeria will require advocacy for political commitment, and fragmented policies for PEC will need to be aligned. The national eye health policy (NEHP) was launched in 2022 in Nigeria and is the main eyecare advocacy document. Future revisions of the NEHP should adopt a multidisciplinary and multi sectoral approach to eye health and bring together all policies regarding eye health, particularly at the PHC level to address the current limitations in PEC. This should include the policies for the elderly, by establishing centres to address the low attendance by older adults. More importantly, a comprehensive policy for PEC as a separate component of the NEHP will need to be developed and implemented to address all the challenges of PEC delivery. Indeed, there is a precedent for a dedicated policy for eye care at primary level, as these are already in place in Nigeria for mental and oral health.

In Nigeria, PHC is undergoing change, as far reaching reforms are being implemented.(17) One change is that implementation of PHC has been devolved to the states from a central authority, giving regions autonomy to implement policies. This is a two-edged sword, as implementation will depend on the quality of the leadership for PHC at state level. It has been reported that PHC-oriented health systems have consistently produced better health outcomes, but focused leadership is critically important.(18)

The delivery of PEC can only be as strong as the PHC system into which it is embedded, and recent national policies for PHC, if implemented, have the potential to revolutionize PHC in Nigeria. For example, the National Health Act 2014 stipulated that a Basic Health Care Provision Fund be established, and that the National Primary Healthcare Development Agency, which is the central policy making body for PHC, disburse the funds to state PHC development authorities. Ten per cent of the fund is to build the capacity of human resources for PHC, and 20% is for essential drugs, vaccines and consumables for eligible PHC facilities. 15% of the Fund is to provide and maintain facilities, equipment and transport. If this policy is appropriately implemented, it can strengthen the health workforce at PHC level which is currently heavily dependent on volunteers and ad hoc staff.(19) Advocacy with relevant authorities will be needed to increase the health workforce for PHC, particularly given the increase in other non-communicable diseases in SSA.(20)

2. Health system gaps

Leadership and governance

In our study, almost half the health facilities were supervised infrequently, with limited supportive supervision or feedback from supervisors. Only a third of staff reported being taught during supervision, (19) and lack of transport was an important factor which limited supervisory visits. Village health workers were largely unsupervised, as they no longer dispense medication. Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs) were often not available and were used by staff in less than half of the facilities. Use was lower in facilities headed by nurse/midwives who are not required to use SOPs, which is likely to impede the use of the algorithm-driven SOPs in the WHO AFRO PEC package.

Supportive supervision is intended to build capacity in PHC and improve health outcomes, but robust evidence to support this is lacking. This may be due to the high level of external inputs required for effective supervision, which may be unsustainable.(21) However, there are reports of modest improvements in PEC delivery when supportive supervision is provided.(22)

Health workforce

Our study-in Anambra State highlighted considerable understaffing of PHC facilities, with high staff turnover, in part because staff were being redeployed to new facilities.(19) To mitigate this, several facility heads had taken on ad hoc staff (under a government scheme to give graduates short term employment), and volunteers, but neither group had received any formal training. Lack of staff meant that existing staff were overworked, particularly in health centres, and trained staff also had to spend more time in the community. The addition of eye health to PHC may increase the workload further, which may hamper effective implementation. In addition to the lack of staff, existing PHC staff were not confident in managing eye conditions and few had had any pre-service training in eye care.

Medication, equipment and Infrastructure

We found that the system to supply medication was not regulated, as there were multiple sources of supply and some staff reported purchasing drugs from the open market. Medication to manage simple eye conditions were lacking in many facilities (Figure 1), and some of those needed to deliver PEC are not on the essential drug list for PHC. Many facilities lacked basic equipment for eye examination such as a visual acuity chart and functioning torch. There was limited transport to visit communities, particularly in hard-to-reach areas.

Health information systems

Collecting and monitoring data on the number of people with eye conditions is essential for needs-based planning and the management of eye care services. However, our study showed that data on eye conditions were not recorded, collated, or reported at PHC level, as they are not included in the national health management information system (HMIS) at PHC level. There was also poor documentation of referrals.(23)

Service delivery

In our study maternal and child health services were the main focus of primary level activities in facilities and the community, reflecting the prominence this is given in policy at national and state level. (24) While this allows for the integration of eye care into child health services, (25) the majority of people with visually impairing eye conditions are over the age of 50 years. However, in our study attendance by community members aged \geq 50 years was very low. Currently, approximately 10% of the 200 million people living in Nigeria are aged 50 years and above (i.e., 20 million) which is projected to increase to 15% of 400 million by 2050 (i.e., 60 million).(26, 27) This will inevitably lead to an increase in blindness and visual impairment unless access to services is rapidly increased.

Staff in most facilities were unable to provide services for people with eye conditions, and staff lacked confidence in managing them. Our study showed that some facilities addressed this gap by allowing local eye health professionals to deliver eye care on an ad hoc basis. These services were often oversubscribed and sometimes unaffordable,(28) which demonstrates the need for affordable eye care services at PHC level.

Recommendations to address the health system gaps.

Leadership and governance

To deliver effective supervision for PEC, supervisors will need to be appropriately skilled and motivated. There is need to develop the role of a state officer for eye care who would also

have oversight of PEC, and again there is a precedent for this, as there are state immunisation and nutrition officers. Developmental partners could work with government to support these roles. Creating a department for eye care in government health management organograms would attract a budget line, enhance government commitment to eye health and give PEC the priority it deserves, which is essential for sustainability.(17, 29) Strong advocacy is needed to generate and maintain this support.

In addition to the state officer for eye care, each district should appoint and train a programme officer for eye care, who would oversee the PEC programme in the district, supervise staff facilities and report to the state officer for eye care. If funding is not available to support these posts initially, the eye health non-government organizations (NGOs) could play a role, as stated in the WHO GAP 2014-2019, in which NGOs are requested to "support national leadership in identifying the financial and technical resources required for implementing the policies/plans and inclusion of primary eye care in primary health care". (4)

Health workforce

For PEC to be sustainable a well-trained workforce of adequate size is key. Training staff of inadequate size may limit the impact of the training.(30) We propose high level advocacy to policy makers to implement existing funding policies to support the recruitment and retention of PHC staff. In addition, we recommend including the WHO AFRO PEC package in the curriculum of pre-service training for all community health extension workers and community health officers, which is likely to mean that PHC staff view eye care as an integral component of their work.

Medication, equipment and technology

Eye care professionals need to contribute to the next revision of the Essential Drugs List to ensure the inclusion of medication for PEC. There is also need to source high quality drugs from reliable sources and ensure that these drugs are available and affordable at PHC level. This will require a strong organisational system for drug procurement and management.(18) In addition, the Basic Health Care Provision Fund could be accessed to provide basic equipment for eye examination (i.e., visual acuity charts and torches).

Health Management Information System

Eye conditions need to be included in the national HMIS at all levels of care, and the WHO AFRO PEC package recommends three simple indicators for PEC (number of patients assessed, treated or referred).(8) Systems need to be put in place for referrals, and for feedback on referrals which may help PHC workers develop their capacity to manage eye patients appropriately.

Service delivery

High quality services for PEC will be needed to attract and build the trust of older members of the community who perceive PHC as being primarily for women and children. Many of the eye conditions in this age group will require referral to the nearest secondary level hospital with an eye department, and clear referral pathways and mechanisms will be needed. In addition, these hospitals will need to be adequately resourced to manage the higher number patients with more complex eye conditions. However, as in Kenya, we anticipate that fewer patients with less serious eye conditions which could be managed at PHC level would attend secondary care leading to a more rational use of services.(31)

3. Health promotion gaps

In our study less than 10% of facilities provided any eye care, and older adults and the elderly accessed PHC services in very low numbers.(23) However, the need for eye care was demonstrated by a facility head who reported that large numbers of patients with eye conditions attended PHCs facilities when private eye professionals held informal clinics. Challenges in delivering health promotion to create demand were also noted. First, the focus of health promotion was on maternal and child health, and there were no health promotion materials for the elderly, for people with diabetes or on eye conditions. Staff shortages and inadequate transport limited health promotion activities in the community by facility staff, who were not confident in delivering eye health promotion. Health promotion activities by facility staff and village health workers were rarely supervised, and health promotion activities were not documented. Health promotion activities consist mainly of "mobilisation" i.e. creating awareness of the services available in the facilities, with little health education.(32)

Recommendations for health promotion

Health literacy, which is one of the pillars of health promotion,(33) entails empowering community members with the relevant knowledge, skills and capacities to change their behaviour and to make informed health choices.(34) Primary health workers need to be trained, have relevant educational materials and access to transport to increase the eye health literacy of community members, targeting appropriate audiences such as the elderly, people with diabetes, relatives of people with glaucoma and young children and their carers. However, promoting healthy behaviours in people with chronic conditions such as diabetes, can be challenging. In high- and middle-income countries multiple interventions used in combination are more effective at improving self-management of diabetes than single interventions, such as a combination of counselling, peer support or walking groups, cooking demonstrations, daily pill boxes and mobile phone messages.(35) Research is needed to

explore which combination of interventions is feasible, acceptable and effective at PHC level in low-income countries. Despite cataract being the commonest cause of blindness, there is very little evidence on which interventions are effective at improving the uptake of cataract surgery in low-income settings.(36) Supplementary immunization activities, whereby measles immunization and vitamin A supplementation are taken into communities by PHC staff, is an effective strategy to improve coverage of both interventions.(37) PHC facilities need to be adequately resourced to continue these activities. Other approaches to improve eye health promotion could include using local radio, and eye health education of school children by teachers, who could then take health messages home and use of mobile phone technology.(38)

DISCUSSION

The feasibility study undertaken in Nigeria not only identified gaps in all elements of the health system, which would need to be addressed to deliver the WHO AFRO PEC package but has also provided tools which could be used in other countries in the region. This study could not have been more timely as Nigeria launched her version of the WHO AFRO PEC package in February 2020.(39) The WHO AFRO PEC package has been pilot tested in Bauchi State Nigeria, where similar health system challenges were identified.(40)

Our study assessed the technical feasibility of delivering the WHO PEC package and did not include any of the other components of feasibility i.e., political, cost, legal and cultural feasibility.(41) However, a recent study explored the political feasibility of including the WHO AFRO PEC Package in the pre-service training curricula of PHC workers in Nigeria by interviewing policy makers.(42)

Although financial feasibility was beyond the scope of our study, WHO has developed the OneHealth tool for governments and health sector planners to use for national strategic health planning and to cost health plans.(43) However, eye care is not yet included.(15) We assessed the technical complexity and capacities needed to deliver a specific package for PEC. However, there are other approaches to delivering PEC which we did not assess. These include providing services at stand-alone vision centres with or without telemedicine links to the base hospital, (44, 45) training community health workers to deliver basic eye care, as in Pakistan,(46) community vision and eye screening with messaging using social media to improve uptake of referrals in Kenya,(47) and integrating eye care for children into WHO's Integrated Management of Childhood Illness in Tanzania.(48) Other models to improve access to eye care include outreach, where services are delivered intermittently in the community by eye care professionals.(49) (50)

Conclusions

Primary eye care is a complex intervention and delivering it will be challenging. Strong commitment will be needed to implement the WHO AFRO PEC package in Nigeria, and further studies will be needed to determine the effectiveness of implementation and the most effective means of generating demand for eye care services. The package may need to be adapted for other contexts as 'one size may not fit all'.

REFERENCES

International Agency for the Prevention of Blindness. Vision Atlas. <u>http://atlasiapborg/</u>.
 2020;2023(28th June 2023).

2. Flaxman SR, Bourne RR, Resnikoff S, Ackland P, Braithwaite T, Cicinelli MV, et al. Global causes of blindness and distance vision impairment 1990–2020: a systematic review and metaanalysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2017;5(12):e1221-e34.

3. Ramke J, Zwi AB, Lee AC, Blignault I, Gilbert CE. Inequality in cataract blindness and services: moving beyond unidimensional analyses of social position. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 2017;101(4):395-400.

4. World Health Organization. Universal eye health: a global action plan 2014–2019 http://www.who.int/blindness. AP2014_19_English pdf. 2013.

5. Courtright P, Seneadza A, Mathenge W, Eliah E, Lewallen S. Primary eye care in sub-Saharan African: do we have the evidence needed to scale up training and service delivery? Annals of tropical medicine and parasitology. 2010;104(5):361-7.

6. Khanna R, Raman U, Rao GN. Blindness and poverty in India: the way forward. Clinical and Experimental Optometry. 2007;90(6):406-14.

7. World Health Organisation Africa Region. Primary Eye Care Training Manual-A course to strengthen the capacity of health personnel to manage eye patients at primary-level health facilities in the African Region. Brazzaville: World Health Organization. Regional Office for Africa2018. p. https://www.afro.who.int/publications/primary-eye-care-training-manual.

8. World Health Organisation. Report of the Expert Group Meeting to Assess and Validate a Package for Eye Health Interventions at the Primary Level for the African Region. 2012.

9. Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Community eye health. 2017;30(100):85.

10. Orsmond GI, Cohn ES. The distinctive features of a feasibility study: Objectives and guiding questions. OTJR: occupation, participation and health. 2015;35(3):169-77.

11. Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Webster J, Gilbert C. The Technical Feasibility of Integrating Primary Eye Care Into Primary Health Care Systems in Nigeria: Protocol for a Mixed Methods Cross-Sectional Study. JMIR research protocols. 2020;9(10):e17263.

12. Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public Health Nutr. 2010;13(6):886-92.

13. Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, Mills A. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2005;83(4):285-93.

14. Aghaji A, Burchett HED, Mathenge W, Faal HB, Umeh R, Ezepue F, et al. Technical capacities needed to implement the WHO's primary eye care package for Africa: results of a Delphi process. BMJ Open. 2021;11(3):e042979.

15. World Health Organisation. World Report on Vision. <u>https://www.hoint/publications-detail/world-report-on-vision</u>. 2019;Accessed 23rd February 2020.

16. Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. British Journal of Ophthalmology. 2011:bjophthalmol-2011-300539.

17. Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, Faal H. Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. BMJ global health. 2018;3(6):e000846.

 World Health Organisation. A Vision for primary health care in the 21st century. <u>https://www.hoint/docs/default-source/primary-health/visionpdf</u>. 2018;Accessed 6th February 2020.

19. Aghaji A, Burchet H, Oguego n, Hamid S, C G. Human resource and governance challenges in the delivery of Primary Eye Care: a mixed methods feasibility study in Nigeria. BC Health Services Research. 2020;In Press.

20. Beaglehole R, Epping-Jordan J, Patel V, Chopra M, Ebrahim S, Kidd M, et al. Improving the prevention and management of chronic disease in low-income and middle-income countries: a priority for primary health care. Lancet. 2008;372(9642):940-9.

21. Bailey C, Blake C, Schriver M, Cubaka VK, Thomas T, Martin Hilber A. A systematic review of supportive supervision as a strategy to improve primary healthcare services in Sub-Saharan Africa. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2016;132(1):117-25.

22. Kalua K, Gichangi M, Barassa E, Eliah E, Lewallen S, Courtright P. A randomised controlled trial to investigate effects of enhanced supervision on primary eye care services at health centres in Kenya, Malawi and Tanzania. BMC health services research. 2014;14(Suppl 1):S6.

23. Aghaji A, Burchett HE, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems. BMC health services research. 2021;21:1-11.

24. National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Implementation Guidelines for Primary Health Care under one roof (PHCUOR). Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2018.

25. Mafwiri MM, Kisenge R, Gilbert CE. A pilot study to evaluate incorporating eye care for children into reproductive and child health services in Dar-es-Salaam, Tanzania: a historical comparison study. BMC nursing. 2014;13(1):15.

26. Central Intelligence Agency. World Factbook; Nigeria Demographic Profile. <u>https://wwwciagov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/nihtml</u>. 2020;Accessed 19th March 2020.

27. Index Mundi. Nigeria:Demographics.

https://wwwindexmundicom/nigeria/age_structurehtml. 2019;2020(19th March 2020).

28. Aghaji A, Burchett H, Oguego N, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Primary health care facility readiness to implement primary eye care in Nigeria: equipment, infrastructure, service delivery and health management information systems BMC Health Services Research. 2020;In press.

29. Ramke J, Zwi AB, Silva JC, Mwangi N, Rono H, Gichangi M, et al. Evidence for national universal eye health plans. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2018;96(10):695-704.

30. Willcox ML, Peersman W, Daou P, Diakité C, Bajunirwe F, Mubangizi V, et al. Human resources for primary health care in sub-Saharan Africa: progress or stagnation? Human resources for health. 2015;13:1-11.

31. Rono H, Bastawrous A, Macleod D, Mamboleo R, Bunywera C, Wanjala E, et al. Effectiveness of an mHealth system on access to eye health services in Kenya: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. Lancet Digit Health. 2021;3(7):e414-e24.

32. Aghaji A, Burchett H, Hameed S, Gilbert C. Do primary health care facilities in Nigeria have the capacity to deliver eye health promotion? Results of a mixed methods feasibility study Health Promotion International. 2020;In press.

33. World Health Organization. Shanghai declaration on promoting health in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Health promotion international. 2017;32(1):7.

34. Nutbeam D. The evolving concept of health literacy. Social science & medicine. 2008;67(12):2072-8.

35. Karachaliou F, Simatos G, Simatou A. The Challenges in the Development of Diabetes Prevention and Care Models in Low-Income Settings. Frontiers in endocrinology. 2020;11:518.

36. Ramke J, Evans JR, Gilbert CE. Reducing inequity of cataract blindness and vision impairment is a global priority, but where is the evidence? The British journal of ophthalmology. 2018;102(9):1179-81.

37. Auzenbergs M, Fu H, Abbas K, Procter SR, Cutts FT, Jit M. Health effects of routine measles vaccination and supplementary immunisation activities in 14 high-burden countries: a Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) modelling study. The Lancet Global health. 2023;11(8):e1194-e204.

38. Sharma IP, Chaudhry M, Sharma D, Kaiti R. Mobile health intervention for promotion of eye health literacy. PLOS Glob Public Health. 2021;1(10):e0000025.

39. Federal Ministry of Health Nigeria. The National Eyecare Training Manual.

<u>https://wwwhealthgovng/doc/National-Primary-Eye-Care-Training-Manual-Trainees'pdf</u>. 2020.
40. Uyah A. Achievements and challenges of integrating Primary Eye Care into Primary Health

Care in Bauchi State, Nigeria. A dissertation submitted to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc. 2022.

41. Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public health nutrition. 2010;13(06):886-92.

42. Okolo O. Exploring the acceptability, challenges, and opportunities of primary eye care preservice training of primary health care workers in Nigeria using the World Health Organization AFRO Primary Eye Care Package. A dissertation submitted to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc. 2022.

43. World Health Organisation. OneHealth Tool: Supporting integrated strategic health planning, costing and health impact analysis. <u>https://www.hoint/choice/onehealthtool/en/</u>. 2012;Accessed 25th February 2010.

44. Kovai V, Rao GN, Holden B. Key factors determining success of primary eye care through vision centres in rural India: patients' perspectives. Indian J Ophthalmol. 2012;60(5):487-91.

45. John S, Sengupta S, Reddy SJ, Prabhu P, Kirubanandan K, Badrinath SS. The Sankara Nethralaya mobile teleophthalmology model for comprehensive eye care delivery in rural India. Telemedicine and e-Health. 2012;18(5):382-7.

46. Bechange S, Schmidt E, Ruddock A, Khan IK, Gillani M, Roca A, et al. Understanding the role of lady health workers in improving access to eye health services in rural Pakistan – findings from a qualitative study. Archives of Public Health. 2021;79(1):20.

47. Lodhia V, Karanja S, Lees S, Bastawrous A. Acceptability, usability, and views on deployment of peek, a mobile phone mhealth intervention for eye care in Kenya: qualitative study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth. 2016;4(2):e4746.

48. Malik ANJ, Mafwiri M, Gilbert C, Kim MJ, Schellenberg J. Integrating eye health training into the primary child healthcare programme in Tanzania: a pre-training and post-training study. BMJ paediatrics open. 2020;4(1):e000629.

49. Khan AA, Talpur KI, Awan Z, Arteaga SL, Bolster NM, Katibeh M, et al. Improving equity, efficiency and adherence to referral in Pakistan's eye health programmes: Pre- and post-pandemic onset. Frontiers in public health. 2022;10:873192.

50. Olawoye OO, Fawole O, Ashaye AO, Chan VF, Azuara-Blanco A, Congdon N. Effectiveness of community outreach screening for glaucoma in improving equity and access to eye care in Nigeria. The British journal of ophthalmology. 2023;107(1):30-6.

CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION & CONCLUSION



Celebrating the birth of a new baby at a rural primary health care centre with talcum powder: where there is new life, there is a future and there is always hope.

This thesis follows the LSHTM research paper format and consists of nine papers, eight of which have been published in peer reviewed journals. In this chapter, we summarise the key findings of the study, critique the methodology and published papers, and assess the generalizability of our findings. Finally, we discuss the implications of our findings and plans for future research. Topics are discussed under the following headings:

- 1. Summary of the study and key findings
- 2. Critique of the content of the WHO package
- 3. Critique of the methodology
- 4. Critique of published papers
- 5. Generalisability
- 6. Dissemination of findings and their impact
- 7. Implications of the findings for policy and service delivery (see Paper 7)
- 8. Implications of the findings for research
- 9. Development of rapid assessment tools for Africa

1. Summary of the study and key findings

The purpose of this study was to assess the feasibility of integrating the WHO AFRO PEC package into the health system at PHC level in Nigeria, to allow policy makers and planners to make informed decisions about the health system capacity gaps that will need to be addressed to deliver PEC. A strength of our methodology was that it was iterative, with the findings from one component feeding into the next.

Our approach was framed by awareness of the limited published literature on the effectiveness of PEC in SSA and the need to adopt a systematic method of enquiry which could identify key capacity elements needed to implement the package. Both technical complexity and technical capacity profiles were based on internationally recognised health system frameworks (Gericke's framework and the WHO health system building blocks) and were developed using a literature review on PEC in SSA. Furthermore, we developed tools to assess health system capacity gaps which are context specific for Nigeria but could be adapted to other SSA contexts. Finally, we assessed primary healthcare facilities in Anambra state Nigeria to identify capacity gaps in the delivery of the WHO AFRO PEC package.

From the desk review of relevant policies on eye health and primary health care, we identified several enabling policies for the implementation of PEC. These include that

capacity for eye services should be developed at all levels of the health system, including at primary level, that PEC should be part of the minimum service package for noncommunicable diseases at PHC level, and eye medications should be available in primary health centres. However, these policies are yet to be implemented as <10% of facilities provided eye care.

Over 40% of facilities did not meet the norm for at least once quarterly supervision and compulsory guidelines for clinical management of patients at PHC level were observed in only 40% of facilities. There was a critical shortage of HRH with only 29% of facilities meeting the staffing norms for PHC and almost half of the staff were ad hoc workers or fulltime volunteers. Less than 30% of facilities had a functioning torch, and <5% had a visual acuity chart. The HMIS system did not record eye conditions, less than 20% of facilities used referral slips or had referral registers. Few elderly patients visited the facilities; <20 elderly patients /1000 population per year. Health promotion activities for eyecare were very limited and the focus was on maternal and child health. Our study identified large capacity gaps which will need to be addressed if PEC is to be delivered effectively.

2. Critique of the content of the WHO package

The WHO package algorithms use a combination of symptoms and signs to make a management decision (i.e., treat, refer or refer urgently); a diagnosis is not made. Referring to the table of eye conditions in Table 1, Chapter 1, the only common eye condition which would be missed by the package, are the symptoms for dry eye (i.e., no redness but burning, gritty sensation).

In addition, the WHO package also does not mention the important role of supervisors.

3. Critique of the methodology

3.1 Limitations of Gericke's framework

The Medical Research Council of the United Kingdom recommends conducting feasibility studies as formative research in the monitoring and evaluating of new health interventions. (Ref) Feasibility is a multi-faceted construct and includes technical, political, cultural, financial and legal feasibility.[1] One of the limitations of our study was that it focused on technical feasibility. Further research will be needed to assess other key facets of feasibility e.g., cultural feasibility or acceptability; indeed, the authors have secured funding to assess

this. Nevertheless, it has been suggested that the argument for integration of a health intervention must be founded on technical grounds.[2]

Gericke's framework of technical feasibility formed the basis for the study. It has been suggested that this framework be used as a tool for policymakers when introducing new interventions.[3]One of the drawbacks of this framework is that it does not include financial input which is a key element of the WHO health system building blocks. However, non-financial resources, e.g., human resources are often crucial factors that influence the implementation of a new intervention in developing countries, and Gericke's framework focuses on the quality and quantity of non-financial inputs.[3]

3.2 Sample size

A larger sample size would have allowed a comparison between the capacities available to deliver PEC between health centres and health posts.

3.3 Location of the study

Our survey was conducted in Anambra state Nigeria, which may not be typical of all the states in Nigeria (see Introduction section). Nigeria is ethnically and geographically diverse, Christian dominated, tropical rainforest region in the south, whereas the north of Nigeria is largely Muslim, arid with higher levels of poverty. Indeed, no single state is representative of the entire country. However, the challenges of PHC, in terms of health workforce, provision of consumables, etc are similar across the country.[4-6]

3.4 Data collection

All data were collected on paper forms which were then entered into a database which was time consuming. An electronic system would have been quicker and could have reduced data entry errors. An advantage would have been that the preliminary analysis to identify the nine facilities for further study would have quicker.

3.5 Researcher's background

All the interviews with facility heads and supervisors were untaken by the PhD student, a consultant ophthalmologist who introduced herself as a eye health worker from a teaching hospital. This imbalance of power could have made some reticent to discuss problems on one hand but could also have encouraged openness as it gave them the opportunity to talk about the challenges they faced on the other. All the interviews were conducted in English as all those interviewed would have been educated in English. However, this could be a limitation if the interviewees were less comfortable speaking English than their mother tongue.

4. Critique of published papers

4.1 Paper 3, Delphi exercise

The technical complexity and technical capacity profile of the WHO AFRO PEC package were agreed in a Delphi exercise, by nine experts in PEC in SSA to increase the validity of our findings. There are advantages and disadvantages of a Delphi exercise. Selecting the expert panel is a key part of the Delphi as the output is based on their expert opinion. Indeed, our expert panel was a non-random sample, and this may have led to hidden biases. All our experts were senior level eye health practitioners, researchers or administrators. However, none were PHC workers, and it may have been useful to recruit PHC workers from states where NGOs had trained staff in PEC. Anonymity, which is an inherent strength of Delphi exercises was maintained throughout.

Other consensus methods, like face-to-face or electronic meetings with real time voting, were not explored. Although these methods could have generated healthy debate and a richer interaction amongst participants, there is the risk of an imbalance of power or the drowning out of dissenting voices.

4.2 Paper 4 Human resources and governance

Our HRH findings were benchmarked against PHC staffing norms in Nigeria, which showed that less than a third of PHCs had the recommended number of staff, which is typical of PHC health facilities in LMICs.[7] Another finding was that none of 33 health centres and 14 of the 15 health posts met staffing norms. Although reasons for this disparity were not explored in depth which is a limitation, our study showed that staff in health centres were often transferred to new facilities and were not replaced.

A strength of the interviews with supervisors was that the interviews were undertaken after preliminary data analysis and so the interviewer was aware of the situation. A limitation was that the supervision of externally funded, disease-specific activities were not counted separately from general supervision, which is likely to have underestimated the latter.

Our study did not assess the potential additional workload of implementing PEC or the additional number of HRH needed to implement it. The WHO has developed a tool to assess staffing levels needed in health facility based on services provided and number of patients attending the facility.[8] Additional research would be needed to assess the staffing implications of implementing PEC.

4.3 Paper 5 Equipment, consumables, service delivery and HMIS

In terms of service delivery, >80% of facility staff were confident in their ability to identify common eye conditions and less than a third reported being able to manage same. However, these were subjective metrics. A more objective method would have been to assess the knowledge and skills of PHC workers in eye care as has been done in other studies in Nigeria and Tanzania.[9, 10]

In addition, an unexpected finding was the provision of eyecare services by private providers; we did not envisage that private providers would deliver eye services in a government run PHC facility. Although it was out of the scope of the study, data on the age and sex of these attending, and types of eye conditions they presented with would have been of value as an indicator of the communities' health seeking behaviour. In addition, interviewing the private providers for their experience of providing eyecare in PHCs would be useful and could be included in further research.

4.4 Paper 6 Health promotion

The Shanghai Declaration on health promotion (2016) identified three pillars of health promotion: good governance, health literacy, and healthy cities. The WHO PEC package mentions radio, but as this is not a facility level intervention, it was not included in the Delphi exercise or data collection tools. Our study focused on good governance (policies and supervision) and the health education component of health literacy i.e., health posters and health messages which could be delivered in facilities or in the community, as these were the only health promotion activities described in the WHO package. A limitation of our study was that health talks were not observed.

4.5 Paper 7. Summary and implications for policy and implementation.

This paper summarises the gaps in PHC that will need to be addressed to deliver PEC. These are broadly classified into eye health policy gaps, health system gaps and, gaps in demand for eye care. There is still need to assess the effectiveness of Pec when all the gaps have been addressed.

5. Generalizability

Paper 3, which presents the results of a Delphi exercise, was based on a literature search on PEC in sub-Saharan Africa and the technical capacities were agreed by eye health experts from all over Africa. This increases the external validity of our findings and makes the tools developed for this study broadly applicable for use in other sub-Saharan African countries.

Paper 1 'Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria', which gives an overview of the PEC situation in Nigeria using published data and data from NGOs who support PEC in Nigeria, broadly mirror our findings in Anambra state. This suggests that the results of our study are generalisable to Nigeria despite the cultural and socio-economic differences between States. However, the findings may not be generalisable to other sub-Saharan countries where PHC is likely to vary depending on the political priority it is afforded and the resources available to support it. For example, a paper on human resources at PHC level in five African countries showed considerable variation and change over time. [11]

6. Dissemination of findings and their impact

Our findings have been disseminated to key target audiences which include eye health policy makers such as the National Eye Health Coordinator at the Federal Ministry of Health, and PHC policy makers in the NPHCDA. Towards the end of this study, Nigeria adapted and adopted the WHO AFRO PEC package which means there is a real opportunity to implement some of the recommendations arising from this study. Indeed, a further study, undertaken as a Masters' dissertation by a LSHTM student on the feasibility of integrating the WHO PEC Package into pre-service training of primary health care workers in Nigeria, which built on the findings of our study, led to the WHO-AFRO PEC package being included in the pre-service training curriculum of J/CHEWs and CHOs.

7. Implications for policy and service delivery See Paper 7

8. Implications for research

8.1 Population based survey of eye health needs.

Primary eye care will continue to evolve based on contextual factors such as the magnitude and types of eye diseases in a community, and community members health seeking behaviour. For example, in northern Nigeria, trachoma is endemic, whereas in the southeast glaucoma is a more important cause of blindness. In addition, there are very limited data on the prevalence and types of eye conditions which do not usually lead to vision loss, such as conjunctivitis and dry eye, but which cause troublesome symptoms which warrant treatment which could be provided at the primary level. The findings may influence the future modifications of the WHO PEC package.

We are planning a population-based study of ocular morbidity in Anambra state, Nigeria. Ocular morbidity includes both visually impairing and non-visually impairing conditions (NVICs). However, there are no standardized definitions or assessment methods to determine the prevalence of NVICs in population-based surveys. As a first step, we conducted a Delphi exercise and have developed a set of agreed definitions and assessment methods for NVICs in an African context. The latter has undergone preliminary pre-testing in a clinical setting before being tested in a community setting.

The next step will be to add these instruments to a standard Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness (RAAB) survey,[12] funding for which is already available, to estimate the prevalence of ocular morbidity in a defined population in Anambra state. The RAAB methodology has been used in over 200 population-based surveys globally and is now available using electronic data capture with automated data analysis (RAAB7). Our long-term goal is that NIVCs will be included in the RAAB survey methodology and database, allowing a more comprehensive assessment of the eye heath needs of populations.

8.2 Increasing demand for eye care

We know from our study and from those conducting free outreach, that when eye care is taken to communities, many people with eye conditions attend. We also know that the focus of PHC is maternal and child health, and that adults and the elderly who are more likely to have eye conditions only attend PHC facilities in low numbers.

We are planning a series of studies to explore how demand for PEC can be increased, which will have the following phases:

- 1 Assessing the eye health seeking behaviour of individuals identified in the survey with eye conditions.
- 2 Use participatory approaches with co-production of interventions to be tested to increase demand for eye care at PHC level.
- 3 Testing these interventions in communities surrounding PHC facilities where staff have been trained using the WHO package. This could take the form of a cluster randomized trial where some communities are randomized to receive the interventions and others are not. The outcome would be the number, age and sex of people attending the PHC facilities with eye conditions. Secondary facilities would need to be appropriately resourced to manage the extra workload as a result of referrals from PEC.

8.3 Evaluating the implementation of the WHO PEC package.

Evaluating the effectiveness of pre-service training in the WHO PEC package is fraught with difficulty, as the numbers trained each year is relatively small and they will be deployed all over any given State. A before and after study is not possible, as eye conditions are not included in PHC facility records, and a cluster randomised trial would not be possible as where trained health workers work would not be under the control of the researchers. A study comparing the existing PEC training with the revised pre-service training using the WHO PEC package [13] would probably be the best design, to assess the following:

- number of people trained in the WHO PEC package who were deployed to a PHC facility, and the number still in post.
- fidelity of the pre-service training and their views on the training they received.
- knowledge of eye conditions and skills in assessing the eye
- number of eye patients seen, and number treated or referred.

8.4 Feasibility study of introducing district and State Programme Officers for eye health.

As these would be new posts, a feasibility study in the first instance would be useful, to assess the views of district and State managers, and whether the NGOs would be willing to support the posts.

9. Develop of rapid assessment tool for Africa

The WHO AFRO PEC package, if properly implemented, has the potential to strengthen eye health systems and increase eye health coverage.[14] To effectively implement this intervention, relevant capacity gaps at health policy and PHC level will need to be identified and addressed. Failing to address these relevant capacity gaps may result in challenges in sustaining the intervention as has recently occurred in Bauchi state, Nigeria.[15]

Our study has developed technical capacity profiles and a series of tools to assess capacity gaps, but data collection was very time consuming. We plan to develop rapid assessment tools which could be used in other States in Nigeria and other countries in Africa.

We will work with WHO AFRO and identify a panel of experts from African countries who are willing to work on this. We will disseminate the WHO AFRO PEC package, publications from our study and our technical capacity profile. We will conduct a Delphi exercise/electronic

meetings/in person meetings or a combination, to decide on the minimum essential elements to include in an assessment tool. Following this, we will develop the first draft of the assessment tool and pilot test it in at least three countries in SSA (to be decided), after which the tool will be revised. The revised draft will be pilot tested in the same or different SSA countries (to be decided) after which the tool will be finalized and published.

Concluding remark

Although our study did not directly assess the political commitment of policy makers towards PEC, the existence of related policies might suggest some level of government interest. However, it's crucial to note that the mere presence of policies does not guarantee their effective implementation. Therefore, a more reliable indicator of government commitment would be the tangible enactment and execution of these policies. Indeed, the Federal Ministry of Health is developing a National Strategic Eye Health Plan with key stakeholders (including funders) that includes PEC. While our study does not provide sufficient evidence to conclusively predict the government's commitment to actualising these policies and plans, we expect that executing the plan could deliver PEC in Nigeria that is robust: accessible, affordable and of sufficient quality to deliver integrated people-centered eyecare, so that people like the 8-month-old baby described at the beginning of the thesis can access timely, quality eye care which will change the trajectory of their lives. Nevertheless, the real test of commitment will be observed in the long-term practical application and effectiveness of the PEC policies in enhancing timely, high-quality eye care.

REFERENCES

1. Snowdon W, Lawrence M, Schultz J, Vivili P, Swinburn B. Evidence-informed process to identify policies that will promote a healthy food environment in the Pacific Islands. Public health nutrition. 2010;13(06):886-92.

2. Criel B, De Brouwere V, Dugas S. Integration of vertical programmes in multi-function health services: ITG Press Antwerp,, Belgium; 1997.

3. Gericke CA, Kurowski C, Ranson MK, Mills A. Intervention complexity: a conceptual framework to inform priority-setting in health. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2005;83(4):285-93.

4. Aghaji AE, Gilbert C, Ihebuzor N, Faal H. Strengths, challenges and opportunities of implementing primary eye care in Nigeria. BMJ global health. 2018;3(6):e000846.

5. Bank TW. Improving primary health care delivery in Nigeria: evidence from four states: World Bank Publications; 2010.

6. Ibrahim J. Evaluation of Primary Eye Care Services in Jigawa state North-western Nigeria. A dissertation submitted to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc. 2016.

7. National Primary Health Care Development Agency. Minimum Standards for Primary Health Care in Nigeria. Abuja, Nigeria: Federal Ministry of Health; 2015.

8. World Health Organization. Workload indicators of staffing need. 2010.

9. AbdulRahman AA, Rabiu MM, Alhassan MB. Knowledge and practice of primary eye care among primary healthcare workers in northern Nigeria. Tropical Medicine & International Health. 2015;20(6):766-72.

10. Byamukama E, Courtright P. Knowledge, skills, and productivity in primary eye care among health workers in Tanzania: need for reassessment of expectations? International health. 2010;2(4):247-52.

11. Willcox ML, Peersman W, Daou P, Diakité C, Bajunirwe F, Mubangizi V, et al. Human resources for primary health care in sub-Saharan Africa: progress or stagnation? Human resources for health. 2015;13:1-11.

12. International Centre for Eye Health. RAAB 7: Rapid Assessment of Avoidable Blindness. https://www.raab.world/about-raab/raab7: https://www.raab.world/about-raab/raab7; 2021 [

13. Feldacker C, Chicumbe S, Dgedge M, Augusto G, Cesar F, Robertson M, et al. Mid-level healthcare personnel training: an evaluation of the revised, nationally-standardized, pre-service curriculum for clinical officers in Mozambique. PloS one. 2014;9(7):e102588.

14. Graham R. Facing the crisis in human resources for eye health in sub-Saharan Africa. Community eye health. 2017;30(100):85.

15. Uyah A. Achievements and challenges of integrating Primary Eye Care into Primary Health Care in Bauchi State, Nigeria. A dissertation submitted to the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine in conformity with the requirements for the degree of MSc. 2022.

APPENDICES



Appendix 1 Ethical Approvals

London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine

Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT United Kingdom Switchboard: +44 (0)20 7636 8636



www.lshtm.ac.uk

Observational / Interventions Research Ethics Committee

Dr Ada Aghaji LSHTM

1 February 2018

Dear Dr Aghaji

. .

Study Title: Assessing the Technical Feasibility of Integrating the Proposed World Health Organisation Primary Eye Care Package for sub-Saharan Africa into Primary Health Care in Nigeria

LSHTM Ethics Ref: 14624

Thank you for responding to the Observational Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

Conditions of the favourable opinion

Approval is dependent on local ethical approval having been received, where relevant.

Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document Type	File Name	Date	Version
Protocol / Proposal	Study Protocol WHOAFROPEC 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Protocol / Proposal	Topic Guides WHOAFROPEC 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Protocol / Proposal	Questionnaires & Checklists WHOAFROPEC 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Investigator CV	Prof Clare Gilbert CV	14/11/2017	14112017
Investigator CV	Ada Aghaji CV	14/11/2017	14112017
Information Sheet	Information Sheets and Consent Forms district supervisor 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Information Sheet	Head of facility Information Sheets and Consent Forms 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Information Sheet	JCHEW Information Sheets and Consent Forms 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Information Sheet	VHW Information Sheets and Consent Forms 14.11.2017	14/11/2017	14112017
Covering Letter	Ethics Response	28/01/2018	version 3

After ethical review

The Chief Investigator (CI) or delegate is responsible for informing the ethics committee of any subsequent changes to the application. These must be submitted to the Committee for review using an Amendment form. Amendments must not be initiated before receipt of written favourable opinion from the committee.

The CI or delegate is also required to notify the ethics committee of any protocol violations and/or Suspected Unexpected Serious Adverse Reactions (SUSARs) which occur during the project by submitting a Serious Adverse Event form.

An annual report should be submitted to the committee using an Annual Report form on the anniversary of the approval of the study during the lifetime of the study.

At the end of the study, the CI or delegate must notify the committee using an End of Study form.

All aforementioned forms are available on the ethics online applications website and can only be submitted to the committee via the website at: http://leo.lshtm.ac.uk

Additional information is available at: www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics

Page 1 of 2

Professor John DH Porter Chair

ethics@lshtm.ac.uk http://www.lshtm.ac.uk/ethics/

Improving health worldwide

Page 2 of 2



National Health Research Ethics Committee of Nigeria (NHREC)

Promoting Highest Ethical and Scientific Standards for Health Research in Nigeria



NHREC Protocol Number NHREC/01/01/2007-09/02/2018 NHREC Approval Number NHREC/01/01/2007-12/03/2018 Date: 12 March 2018

Re: Assessing the Technical Feasibility of Integrating the Proposed World Health Organization Primary Eye Care Package for Sub-Saharan Africa into Primary Care in Nigeria Health Research Committee assigned number: NHREC/01/01/2007

Name of Principal Investigator: Dr Ada Aghaji Address of Principal Investigator: Department of Ophthalmology College of Medicine University of Nigeria, Enugu Campus Enugu, Nigeria Tel: 08033135567 Email: aaghaji@yahoo.co.uk Date of receipt of valid application: 09/02/2018

Date when final determination of research was made: 10-03-2018

Notice of Expedited Committee Review and Approval

This is to inform you that the research described in the submitted protocol, the consent forms, advertisements and other participant information materials have been reviewed and *given expedited committee approval by the National Health Research Ethics Committee*.

This approval dates from 12/03/2018 to 11/03/2019. If there is delay in starting the research, please inform the HREC so that the dates of approval can be adjusted accordingly. Note that no participant accrual or activity related to this research may be conducted outside of these dates. *All informed consent forms used in this study must carry the HREC assigned number and duration of HREC approval of the study.* In multiyear research, endeavour to submit your annual report to the HREC early in order to obtain renewal of your approval and avoid disruption of your research.

The National Code for Health Research Ethics requires you to comply with all institutional guidelines, rules and regulations and with the tenets of the Code including ensuring that all adverse events are reported promptly to the HREC. No changes are permitted in the research without prior approval by the HREC except in circumstances outlined in the Code. The HREC reserves the right to conduct compliance visit your research site without previous notification.

Signed



Professor Zubairu Iliyasu MBBS (UniMaid), MPH (Glasg.), PhD (Shef.), FWACP, FMCPH Chairman, National Health Research Ethics Committee of Nigeria (NHREC)

Department of Health Planning, Research & Statistics Federal Ministry of Health 11th Floor, Federal Secretariat Complex Phase III Ahmadu Bello Way, Abuja Tel: +234-09-523-8367 E-mail: chairman@nhrec.net, secretary@nhrec.net, deskofficer@nhrec.net, URL: http://www.nhrec.net, UNIVERSITY OF NIGERIA TEACHING HOSPITAL ITUKU-OZALLA, P.M.B. 01129, ENUGU E-mail: cmdunth2011@yahoo.com

Chairman UNTH Management Board

Barr. S. IKE NKUME, LLB (Hons), BL MPA; B.Ed(Pot. Sc.); AHAN Director of Administration/Secretary UNTH Management Board



Dr. C. C. AMAH, MBBS, FWACS, FICS, FNIM, FCE Chief Medical Director

Dr. OBINNA D. ONODUGO MBBS FWACP Chairman Medical Advisory Committee

UNTH/CSA/329/OL.5 Our Ref:_

19th February, 2018. Date:

	ETHICAL OLEARANCE CERTIFICATE
TOPIC:	ASSESSING THE TECHNICAL FEASIBILITY OF INTEGRATING PROPOSED WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION PRIMARY EYE OF PACKAGE FOR SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA INTO PRIMARY HEALTH CAR NIGERIA.
BY:	DR. ADA AGHAJI-Dept. of Ophthalmology, university of Nigeria Teaching Hospital PROF. CLARE GILBERT-Prof. of Inter. Eye Health LSHTM DR. HELEN BURCHETT-Asst. Prof. Health Policy LSHTM
FOR	RESEARCH PURPOSE
Hospital Heal	n project on the above topic was reviewed and approved by the University of Nigeria Tea th Research Ethics Committee. This certificate is valid for one year from date of issue Please
Hospital Heal	th Research Ethics Committee. This certificate is valid for one year from date of issue. Please nittee Reserves the Right to monitor the Conduct of the study at any time for strict Complian
Hospital Heal that the Comr the Protocol. Prof. R.E. U	th Research Ethics Committee. This certificate is valid for one year from date of issue. Please nittee Reserves the Right to monitor the Conduct of the study at any time for strict Complian





hesis Page | 157

SWELLING/LUMP ON EYE OR ABNORMAL LASHES





CHILDREN AGED 5 YEARS AND UNDER



i PhD Thesis Page | 160

Healthy eyes — Messages for all ages

- Use protective eyewear when working with objects that might damage your eyes: welding, chemicals, projectile metal or wood, etc.
- If chemicals, or substances that burn or sting, come into contact with your eye, immediately rinse your eye with clean water for at least 15 minutes.
- If you have an eye problem go to your nearest health care facility as soon as possible. Go immediately if you have an eye injury, if your eyes are painful or if your vision suddenly becomes poor.
- 4. Do not put any medication into your eyes unless prescribed by a health care provider.
- 5. Protect your eyes from excessive sunlight with, for example, hats, scarves, sunglasses or umbrellas.
- If you have diabetes prevent your eyes from going blind by having a complete eye examination at least once a year, and by checking your blood sugar regularly.
- 7. If you have a relative with glaucoma, have an eye examination for glaucoma at least once a year.
- 8. If you have problems seeing small nearby objects or when reading, you may need glasses for near work.

HEALTH MESSAGES WHICH ARE IMPORTANT FOR EYE HEALTH BUT ARE ALSO INTEGRATED INTO OTHER PROGRAMMES:

- 9. Wear seat belts to avoid injuries including eye injuries.
- 10. Keep hands and faces clean to avoid infections, including eye infections.
- 11. Protect your health, including your eye health, by not smoking.

Healthy eye messages for children, mothers and caregivers

- Prevent serious eye infections in newborn infants: clean their eyes immediately after birth and if available, instil antibiotic eye medication.
- A baby with swollen eyelids and severe eye discharge needs treatment immediately: seek help from the nearest health facility.
- To avoid your child being lifelong blind, seek help from an eye care provider as soon as possible if: – the child's eyes do not look normal
- the child does not look towards or follow a face, bright object or light source
- or if someone thinks the child may have eye or vision problems.
- 4. Children should not play with or near sharp objects to avoid eye injuries.

HEALTH MESSAGES WHICH ARE IMPORTANT FOR EYE HEALTH BUT ARE ALSO INTEGRATED INTO OTHER PROGRAMMES:

- 1. Promote exclusive breastfeeding for six months.
- 2. Mothers and children should be fully immunized including against rubella and measles.
- 3. Regular vitamin A supplementation of pre-school children is important for good vision and healthy growth.
- Children should eat foods like fish, dark green leafy vegetables, carrots and fruits to keep their eyes healthy.
- 5. Children should be secured in car seats and with seat belts:

Appendix 3 Head of Facilit Check list for head o		stionnaire	1 Stud	y No
2 District/LGA	1 2 3	4 5 6	3 Facil	ity ID
4 Name of Ward/Village		5	Name of facility	
 Staff register & Rota for HF Documents on leadership Documents on collaboration Review of space, consumation Availability of eye care relation Notifiable conditions Review of data from register 	and governance on with NGOs ables, medication ated equipmetn a	n and HMIS and consumables	5	
6 Human Resources	Expected No (documents)	On register Ac (employed)	tual no o	% actual/expected
W W W			Midwife Nurses CHO CHEW JCHEW VHWs	For weighting)
7 <u>Staff turnover</u>	Employed in last one year	Left (died) in last year Doctor Midwife Nurses CHO CHEW	M & E Officers Volunteers Rota showing d PHC staff 1 Yes 0 No	aily facility coverage by

JCHEW

Documentation for leadership and governance

		Observed	Reported not seen	Not Available
10		2	1	0 Job description for head of facility
11		2	1	Evidence of supervision of PHC activities by district usupervisor in last 6 months eg visitors book, reports
12		2	1	Evidence of supervision of Health Promotion activities in this Facility in last 6 months eg register
13		2	1	0 Standing orders
14		2	1	Documentation or communication of intersectoral linkage with education sector eg school visits, water and sanitation
15		2	1	Rota for staff to deliver Health Promotion on schedule.
16		(Specify)		
	Potential for collaboration NGOs active in the following (MC		Reported not	
		Observed	seen	Not available
17		2	1	0 Child health
18		2	1	0 Elderly care
19		2	1	0 Diabetes
20		2	1	0 Eye care
21		2	1	0 Other, sp
	Space, consumables and medica	ation		
22	Space for counselling patients	1 Yes	23 Space f	for health talks
24	Drug storage:	2 No		_2No
	Rel. cool drug storage area	1 Yes	25 Clean d	drug storage area 1 Yes
		2 No		2 No
	Secure drug storage area	1 Yes 2 No		
		2 110	Reported not	
		Observed	Reported not seen	Not available
26		3	2	¹ Functioning cold storage/fridge
				Vitamin A
27		3	2	1 200,000 IU
28		3	2	1 100,000 IU 1 Tetanus toxoid
29 30		3	2	1 Tetanus toxoid 1 Antibiotic injections
20		-	1 1	

	Observed	Reported not seen	Not available
			Measles vaccine
31	3	2	1 Available
32	3	2	1 Syringes available
33	3	2	1 In cold storage
			Basic consumables
34	3	2	1 Saline
35	3	2	1 Cotton wool
36	3	2	1 Gauze
37	3	2	1 Plaster
38	3	2	1 Bandages
			HMIS
39	3	2	1 Inventory for medications
40	3	2	1 Inventory for consummables
41	3	2	1 Patient register
42	3	2	1 Register for facility activities
43	3	2	1 Referral register
44	3	2	1 Referral slips
Which of these are available in th 45 46 47	it Observed	Reported not seen 2 2 2 2	Not Available 1 Sign posts to eye care 1 Health promotion materials on eyes 1 Standing Orders for eye conditions
			Visual Acuity measurement
48	3	2	1 At least 3 metres
49	3	2	1 Well lit
50	3	2	1 Distance vision testing chart
51	3	2	1 Near vision testing chart
			Equipment
52	3	2	1 Torches
53	3	2	1 Torches in working condition
			Eye medication
54	3	2	1 Antibiotic eye drops
54	3	2	1 Antibiotic eye ointment
55			
Register of notifiable conditions ir	Observed	Reported not	Not Available
56	3	2	1 Measles cases
57	3	2	1 Neonatal conjunctivitis
			da Aghaji PhD Thesis Page 164

Data from reports / register

How many of the following patients attended this facility in 2017?		
58 Total number		{9999=not known}
59 Children (0-15years)		{9999=not known}
60 Diabetics		{9999=not known}
61 Pregnant women		{9999=not known}
62 Post partum women		{9999=not known}
63 Eye patients		{9999=not known}
64 How many referrals have you rec	eived from the community	in the last 12 months?

65

Thank you for your time

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 165

{9999=not known}

Appendix 4 Head of Facility Questionnaire

Head of Facility (Questionnaire	1 Study No
2 District/LGA	1 2 3 4 5 6	3 Facility ID
4 Name of Ward/Village		5 Facility catchment Area
6 Name of facility		
8 Health worker interviewed	1VHW2JCHEW3Head of Facility4JCHEW acting as HoF	7 Type of facility 1 Health Centre 2 Health post
9 Age	yrs	10 Sex 1 Male 2 Female
11 Live in the community	1 Yes 12 0 No	Years as Head of Facility [00 if JCHEW acting up]
13 Designation Human Resources	1Doctor2Midwife3Nurse4CHO5CHEW6JCHEW7Oper, sp	
	rescribe intramuscular antibio	iotics for newborns with serious eye infection?
		1 JCHEW 2 CHEW 3 CHO 4 Midwife 5 Doctor
15 In this facility who can <u>a</u>	<u>dminister</u> intramuscular antib	biotics for newborns with serious eye infection? 1 JCHEW 2 CHEW 3 CHO 4 Midwife 5 Doctor
16 Infants with congenital eve department for surg		(cataract) in one or both eyes need urgent referral to a
Who in this facility could		1 JCHEW 2 CHEW 3 CHO

4 Midwife 5 Doctor
In-service training for JCHEWs/CHEWs

Have any JCHEW/CHEW received any in service training or updates?

		Servi	ce Provider (If applicable)
0	None within last 24 montsh	1	Government
1	Yes, but over 24 months ago	2	NGO
2	Yes, within the last 24 months	3	Other(Specify)

Have any JCHEW/CHEW received any in service training or updates in the following?

18 Health Management	⁰ None within last 24 montsh	19 ¹ Government	
	¹ Yes, but over 24 months ago	² NGO	
	² Yes, within the last 24 months		
20 Child health	⁰ None within last 24 montsh	21 1 Government	
	¹ Yes, but over 24 months ago		
	² Yes, within the last 24 months	s ³ Other, sp.	
22 Maternal health	⁰ None within last 24 montsh	23 Government	
	¹ Yes, but over 24 months ago	² NGO	
	² Yes, within the last 24 months	s ³ Other, sp.	
24 Diabetes	⁰ None	25 1 Government	
	¹ Yes, but over 24 months ago	² NGO	
	2 Yes, within the last 24 months	3 Other, sp.	
26 Care of the Aged	⁰ None within last 24 montsh	27 1 Government	
	1 Yes, but over 24 months ago	2 NGO	
	² Yes, within the last 24 months	3 Other, sp.	
28 Eye Health	⁰ None within last 24 montsh	29 1 Government	
	1 Yes, but over 24 months ago	² NGO	
	² Yes, within the last 24 months	s 3 Other, sp.	
30 Other (Specify)		31 Government	
		² NGO	
		³ Other, sp.	
32 Are any clinical staff ava	ilable to provide 24 care 3	33 1 Yes	
		0 No	
		Yes No	
34 If yes, which staff are av	ailable 24 hours?	1 0 JCHEW	
		1 0 CHEW	
		1 0 CHO	
		1 0 Midwife	
		1 0 Doctor	

0 None

1

Leadership and Governance

35 How often are you supervised in this facility?

- 1 Monthly
- 2 Quarterly
- 3 Twice yearly
- 4 Irregularly
- 5 Other, sp.

36 If available, how often are SOs used by staff when managing patients?

1Always2Frequently3Sometimes4Rarely5Never

37 At the last supervision what did the supervisor do?



Service Delivery

38 Which of these activities are available, supervised and reported



57 How many of the following patients attended this facility in 2017?

Total number		{9999=not known}
58 Children (0-15years)	{9999=not known}
59 Diabetics		{9999=not known}
60 Pregnant women		{9999=not known}
61 Post partum womer	n	{9999=not known}
62 Eye patients		{9999=not known}
63 Referrals from facilit	y	{9999=not known}
64 How many referrals	have you received from the	community in the last 12 months? {9999=not known}
65 Is there a designate	d referral centre for this facil	ity? 66 If yes, type of referral centre
	1 Yes	1 Government General Hospital
	0 No	2 Government Tertiary Hospital
		3 Private Hospital
67		4 Private Clinic
67 Is transport available		5 Other, sp.
	2 No	
68 Does this centre ha	ve an <u>eye</u> department/clinic?	?
	1 Yes	
	0 No	
	2 Does not know	
69 If yes, is eye surgery	y available in this eye depart	ment/clinic?
	1 Yes	
	0 No	
	2 Does not know	
70 Have any eye patier	ate been referred?	71 If so, how many were referred in 2017
		{9999=not known}
	0 No	
	2 Does not know	
Thank you for yo	ur time	

Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis Page | 169

Appendix 5 Checklist for (J)CHEWs

Check list for JC	HEWs qu	estionn	aire	1 5	Study No		
2 District/LGA	1 2 3	8 4 5	6	3 F	acility ID		
4 Name of Ward/Village							
5 Name of facility					C	Check list	
 List of VHWs employ Health promotion ma Health promotion ma Check list of areas co List of topics covered Referrals from VHW topics 	terials avai terials avai overed whe I in health t	lable - for t lable - for t n JCHEWs alks in the	the facility s supervise facility	VHWs			
Staffing							
6 List of VHWs attached	2 Obser 1 Repo 0 Not a	rved rted, not se vailable	en				
Types of material for di	ferent targe	t groups <u>in r</u>	the commur	<u>iity</u>			
7 Poste Leaflet/flye Flip-cha Non Other	Pregnant women er rt e	Postp. women	Children 0-5 yrs	Adolesc ents	Diabetic s		All ages
8 Topics covered by heal	th promotio	n materials					
	Yes N	0					
	1 (,		tation of pre	gnant wome	en	
	1 (Exclusive	e breast feed	ing of infant	s (0-12 mon		
	1 (A supplemer immunizatio		ung children		

0 Child nutrition

1 1 1 1 Onlia radiation
Diabetes prevention
Care of the elderly
Use of seat belts

9 Language of materials 0 Local language

1	English
2	Both
3	Other sp.

Other sp.

Quality of materials

Yes	No	
1	0	Durable
1	0	Good graphics/self explanatory for non literate
1	0	Vernacular
1	0	Easy to maintain
1	0	Logos of authorities who issued materials

Supervision of VHWs by JCHEW

11 Do the VHWs report whether they have delivered health promotion to the following groups



12 What mode of transport is available for you to travel around the community during supervision?



Health promotion in the facility

1

1

0

Care of the elderly

0 Use of seat belts

14 Type of health promotion materials for different target groups in the health facility



Ada Aghaji PhD Thesis

Page | 171

10

17 Language of health Promotion materials in

- 0 Local language
- ¹ English
- ² Both
- ³ Other sp.

18 Quality of health promotion materials for the community

Yes	No	
1	0	Durable
1	0	Good graphics/self explanatory for non literate
1	0	Vernacular
1	0	Easy to maintain
1	0	Logos of authorities who issued materials

19 Referrals from VHWs to facility



Thank you for your time.

Appendix 6 (J)CHEW Questionnaire

JCHEW Questionnaire								No		
2 District/LGA	1	2	3	4	5	6	3 Facilit	y ID		
								E Fo	aility aa	tehment non
4 Name of Ward/Village								э га		atchment pop
6 Name of facility							-	8 Tv	pe of fa	acility
							-	• • •		
7 Health worker interviewed	1	VHV							9 1	Health Centre
	2	JCH Hea		Facilit	v				2	Health post
	4	-			•	ad of	facility			
		J 	1							1
10 Age			yrs					11 Se		Male
									2	Female
12 Live in this community	1	Yes						13 Ye	ars live	d in community
	0	No								
14 Completed Sch of Tech	1	Yes						15 Ye	ars as	JCHEW
	0	No								
<u>General services</u>			o, ida	ا ما ام	hia fa					
16 Which of the following servi	Ces a Yes	are pr	ovide No	aini	inis ta	acility				
	1		0	Ante	enata	l care				
	1	_	0	Deli	veries	5				
	1	_	0	Pos	tnata	care				
	1	_	0		d hea					
	1		0		oetes					
Health Promotion in the c	1	Junit	0		e of th	ne eld	lerly			
17 Who conducts health prom			_	in this	s com	muni	tv?			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Yes		No					do <u>VH</u>	<u>W</u> s une	dertake these activities?
	1		0	Villa	ge He	ealth \	Workers		1	Daily
	1		0	JCH	IEWs	5			2	Weekly
	1	_	0	СНЕ	EWs				3	Monthly
	1		0	Con	nmun	ity lea	aders		4	Irregularly
	1		0	Othe	er sp				5	Other sp.
19 How many VHWs do you w	ork v	vith ir	the	comr	nunit	y?				
20 How many are active in term	ns of	healt	h pro	omoti	on in	the co	ommunity?]

21 In your opinion, how skilled are the VHWs in communicating health promotion to the community?

1	Very skilled
2	Some skills
3	Poor skills
4	Unskilled
5	Cannot comment

22 How well do you know this community?

1	Very well
2	Moderately well
3	Not very well

23 Are you fluent in the local language?

1	Yes
2	No

24 About how much of <u>your time</u> do you spend on each of the following groups in the community?

A lot	Som	ne Alit	tle No	ne
3	2	1	0	Antenatal care
3	2	1	0	Postpartum women
3	2	1	0	Children 0-5 years
3	2	1	0	Adolescents
3	2	1	0	Diabetics
3	2	1	0	Elderly
3	2	1	0	All ages
3	2	1	0	Other sp

25 Do you carry out any health promotion activities in schools?



26 What type of transport is available for you to visit communities for health promotion?

0	None
1	Bicycle
2	Motorbke
3	Car/bus
4	Other sp.

27 Are some communities hard to reach?

1	Yes
2	No

28 Do your health promotion activities in the community include promoting the following

Yes	No	
1	0	Eye health
1	0	Vitamin A supplementation of pregnant women
1	0	Exclusive breast feeding of infants (0-12 months)
1	0	Vitamin A supplementation of young children
1	0	Measles immunization
1	0	Child nutrition
1	0	Diabetes prevention
1	0	Care of the elderly
1	0	Safe water
1	0	Safe sanitation
1	0	Household waste disposal
1	0	Supervising VHWs

29 What health promotion materials are available for use in the community?



30 How easy is it to get health promotion materials for the community?



31 Have you been instructed on how to dispose of old health promotion materials?

0	No
1	Yes
2	Other sp.

32 How do you disemminate health promotion messages to community members?

No	
0	Home visits
0	Community meetings with target population
0	Community leaders
0	Town Criers
0	Other sp
	0 0 0 0

Supervision of health promotion in the community

33 Are health promotion activities u	nderta	aken	by staff in this faciltiy supervised?
Yes		No 0	If no, go to section on reporting
34 How often are your health prom	otion	activi	ties in the community supervised by the head of facility?
1	Wee	ekly	
2	Mon	thly	
3	Qua	rtlerly	,
4	Irreg	Jularly	/
5			y rare
35 How often are do you supervise	the H	IP ac	tivities of VHWs?
1	Wee	ekly	
2	Mon	thly	
3	Qua	rtlerly	,
4	Irreg	Jularly	
5	Nev	er/ver	y rare
36 Do you supervise health promo		ctivitie	s with the following groups?
Yes	7	No	
1	-	0	Antenatal care
1	-	0	Postpartum women
1	-	0	Children 0-5 years
1	-	0	Adolescents
1	-	0	Diabetics
1	-	0	
1	+	0	All ages
1		0	Other sp.

37 Do you have a check list which you use during supervision?

1	Yes
2	No

38 Which of the following do you include in supervision of VHWs?

1		0	Observation of interactions with the community
1		0	Teaching
1		0	Referral mechanisms
1		0	Other, sp
	-		

Reporting by VHWs

39 Do the VHWs report their activities to you?

1 Yes 0 No 40 If yes, how frequenty do they report?

1Daily2Weekly3Monthly4Irregularly

Health Promotion in the facility

41 Does health promotion take place in this facility



42 If yes, what methods of health promotion take place in this facility?



43 Is there an agreed timetable of topics to be covered



44 About how much of your time do you spend on health promotion for each of these groups in this facility?

A lot	S	ome	A little	•	None	
3		2	1		0	Antenatal care
3		2	1		0	Postpartum women
3		2	1		0	Children 0-5 years
3		2	1		0	Adolescents
3		2	1		0	Diabetics
3		2	1		0	Elderly
3		2	1		0	All ages
3		2	1		0	Other sp.

 ${}_{45}$ What topics are covered in the health promotion in the facility?

Yes		No	
1		0	Vitamin A supplementation of pregnant women
1		0	Exclusive breast feeding of infants (0-12 months)
1		0	Vitamin A supplementation of young children
1		0	Measles immunization
1		0	Child nutrition
1		0	Diabetes prevention
1		0	Care of the elderly
1		0	Use of seat belts
	-		-

46 Which of the following specific activities take place in this facility

Yes	No	
1	0	Vitamin A supplementaiton of pregnant women
1	0	Cleaning the eyes and instilling ointment after birth
1	0	Rubella immunization
1	0	Measles immunization
1	0	Vitamin A supplementation of young chidren
1	0	Blood sugar testing
1	0	Blood pressure measurement

Referrals from VHWs	
47 Is there a referral system from the community (VHWs) to the	1 Yes
facility?	2 No
48 If yes, how are patients referred	1 Verbally
	2 Referral slip
	3 Telephone call
	4 SMS
49 Do you give feedback on referrals to the VHWs?	1 Always
To be you give recuback of referrals to the vitwos:	2 Sometimes
	3 Never
Eve Health promotion	
Eye Health promotion 50 Do you do any health promotion specifically for eye health?	1 Yes, in the community
	2 Yes, in the health facility
	3 Yes, in both
	0 No
Yes	No
51 If yes, what topics are covered 1	0 Poor near vision needs reading glasses
	0 Diabetics need yearly eye examination
1	0 Other, specify
How confident are you shout delivering booth promotion for	
52 How confident are you about delivering health promotion for Eye Health?	1 Very confident
	2 A little confident
	3 Not confident at all
	4 I don't know
53 How willing would you be to deliver eye health promotion in	1 Very willing
this facility after training?	2 Willing
	3 Reluctant
	4 Not at all
Detecting and managing eye conditions	
54 How confident are you about identifying eye problems?	1 Very confident
	2 A little confident
	3 Not confident at all
	4 I don't know
55 How confident are you about managing eye problems?	1 Very confident
	2 A little confident
	3 Not confident at all
	4 I don't know

	Are staff available who can remove a foreign body from]
56	the eye?	1	Always
		2	Sometimes
		3	Never
		4	l don't know
			1
57	Are staff available who can irrigate the eye?	1	Always
		2	Sometimes
		3	Never
		4	l don't know
			1
58	Have you received any training in eye conditions?	1	Yes
		2	No
59	How confident are you in knowing which eye conditions	1	Very confident
	need urgent referral	2	A little confident
		3	Not confident at all
		4	l don't know
			_
60	How many people with eye conditions have you referred to the	1	None
	PHC in the last month?	2	1 to 2
		3	>2 to 5
		4	>5
		5	l don't know
			۔ ۱
61	What is your perception about undergoing training for eye	1	Welcome it and do the training
	care?	2	Welcome it but no time for training
		3	Health workers are already overburdened
		4	Other

Thank you for your time

Appendix 7 Village Heal	th Workers Questionnaire
Village Health Worke	er Questionnaire 2 Study No VHW /
1 District/LGA	1 2 3 4 5 6 3 Facility ID
4 Name of Ward/Village	5 PHC attached to
6 Type of Facility	1 PHC 7 Cadre Interviewed 1 VHW 2 Health Post 2 JCHEW 3 Head of Facility
8 No of villages covered Demographics	4 JCHEW acting up
9 Age in years	10 Sex 1 Male 2 Female
11 Do you live in the communit	y where you practice health promotion? 1 Yes 12 If yes, years lived in the community 2 No
13 Years lived in community	14 Years primary school education
15 Years practising as VHW	
16 How well do you know this of18 How often do you carry out19 How do you travel around the	1 Very well 1 Yes 2 Moderately well 2 No 3 Not very well 2 No 1 Daily 2 Weekly 3 Monthly Irregularly 5 Other sp.
	1By foot1Yes2Bicycle2No3Motor bike4Other
21 What health promotion mate	rials are available for use in the community? Yes No 1 0 Posters 1 0 Fliers



29 Do you keep a register of the community activities you carry out?

1	Yes
0	No

30 Do your health promotion activities include promoting the following



31 Experience of response to key health care messages by community



32 What has been your experience with creating demand for health care in the community?

1	There is a lot of need in the community
2	There is moderate need in the community

3 It is important for a few people in the community

4 The community does not need it.

5 Other sp.

33 What do you usually do after identifying people in the community with health problems?

- 1 Refer orally
- 2 Refer with referral slip
- 3 Accompany to health centre
- 4 Other sp.

1

34 How well do you think patients comply with referral?

Do you mal	ke fol	low up	home	visits to	encourage
compliance	?				

1 Yes

2 Fair compliance

Good compliance

 3
 Poor compliance
 0
 No

 4
 Other sp.



38 The most challenging part of your health promotion activities. Choose the 2 most important.

lst		2nd	
1		1	Poor supervision
2		2	Lack of knowledge about health conditions
3		3	Heavy workload
4		4	No/Poor financial or non-financial incentives.
5		5	Lack of needed needed supplies
6		6	Transport around the community.
7		7	Other sp
	2 3 4 5 6	1 2 3 4 5 6	1 1 2 3 3 3 4 4 5 5 6 6

Now, I would like to ask you some questions on health promotion for eye health.

39 Where do patients with eye complaints go for treatment? (*Tick all that apply*)

Yes	No	
1	0	Government Hospital
1	0	Private Hospital
1	0	Private Clinic
1	0	PHC Centre
1	0	PMV/ Community pharmacist
1	0	Traditional healer
1	0	Don't know
1	0	Other sp

40 What has been your experience with health promotion for eye care?

1	There is a lot of need in the community
2	It is important for a some peope in the community
3	I have no experience with it
4	The community does not need it.
5	Other sp.

41 How confident are you about identifying (not treating) eye problems

1	Very confident
---	----------------

- 2 A little confident
- 3 Not confident at all
- 4 I don't know
- 5 Other sp.

42 What is your perception about undergoing training for eye health promotion?

1 Will welcome it and do the trainin	g
--------------------------------------	---

- 2 Will welcome it but no time for training
- 3 Health workers are already overburdened
- 4 Other sp.

43 What kind of support will you need to carry out health promotion for eye health. Choose 2 most important

1st	_	2nd	
1		1	Support from the supervisor
2		2	More knowledge in eye care from training
3		3	Employ more staff to reduce the workload
4		4	More financial or non-financial incentives
5		5	Make sure our tool kit is well stocked with the needed suppli
7		7	Provide transport for referred patients to access health centr
8		8	Other sp.
-	-		

Thank you for your time

Appendix 8 Head of Facility Topic guide

Topic Guide: Head of Facility

Aim: To assess the perceptions/experiences of facility heads about PEC implementation in the facility.

Introduction

How long have you worked here?

What is your main role in this facility?

Next, I would like to ask you some questions about your role as the Head of this Facility.

Please can you describe the activities which take place in this facility over the course of a usual week. For example, what happens on Mondays?

1. Leadership and Governance

- Do you supervise Health Promotion Activities in this community?
- If yes, what has your experience been like?
 - Probe: What groups are targeted? e.g. new-borns, mothers and their young children, the elderly
 - Probe: What health promotion activities are supervised
 - Probe: What have been your challenges and opportunities. Ask for personal examples
 - Probe for how eye health activities are supervised
 - Who supervises outreach in this community?

2. Human Resources for Eye Health

- As a member of this community, can you tell me who people usually consult first when they have a health problem?
 - What about people with eye conditions who do they usually consult first?
 What do you think about that?
 - What would you feel about working with these groups to encourage them to refer eye patients to this facility?
- Could you describe what happens when a patient with an eye problem comes to this facility? Give an example of when it happened.
 - Probe for what knowledge and skills staff have to handle eye cases
 - Probe for how confident (s)he is in supervising primary eye care and what resources (s)he may need to effectively carry out primary eye care supervision-training, time, supervision

 Probe for what in service training is available for health workers and whether any is available for primary eye care

3. Service Delivery

- I understand that the facility sometimes produces key messages for health promotion. Can you explain the process of how you do this? Give examples from your personal experience
 - What do you think about incorporating key messages for promoting eye health?
 - What has been your experience in demand creation for a new intervention?
 Give an example. e.g. insecticide treated mosquito nets
- Are any NGOs supporting services in this facility or in the community?
 - Probe: what do they support?
 - How effective has their support been?
 - In what way can these NGOs support eye care?

4. Equipment Technology Consumables.

- Do you face any difficulties in sourcing equipment for this facility?
 - Probe for how one gets equipment fixed when it breaks down
- Based on your experience, do you think there will be any problems sourcing eye care equipment in this facility? (*Snellen distance visual acuity chart; near visual acuity chart, torches and batteries*).
- How are drugs stocked I this facility? Do you have any problems with drugs being out of stock in this facility?
 - Probe: how often are drugs out of stock?
 - Probe: what is done about this?
 - Probe for an example
- How often are drugs you want to prescribe not provided in the central medical store?
 - Probe: What do you do under these circumstances?
- Based on your experience, are there problems sourcing consumables in this facility? (saline, cotton wool, gauze, plaster)
- How easy will it be to stock medications for eye conditions in this facility?
 - Probe for how easy it will be to stock eye medications, what the cost of medications are, what the demand for eye medications is like.
- How is eye care medication dispensed to patients in this facility with eye conditions who need them?
 - Probe for who prescribes the medication.

- Probe for how much the drugs cost
- Who in the facility is responsible for maintaining stocks of medication?
 - o Probe for what training if any they have had in this?

5. Health Management Information Systems

I now would like to ask you some questions about the information you record in this facility.

- Please can you explain to me who is responsible for completing the patient registers?
 - Probe: How is patient attendance documented?
 - Probe: Few eye conditions are registered in this facility (from Quant tool), why is this the case?
- What is the process for referring patients to referral centres?
 - Probe for how compliant patients are.
 - Probe for assisted referrals-phone calls or transportation.
 - Probe in what way if any feedback is given from the referral centre.
- In what way are staff shifts managed?
 - Probe: Is this a 24 hour facility?
- Probe: Is there an inventory for drugs and consumables?
 - Probe: who is responsible for maintaining it
 - Probe: whether staff have received training in inventory management.
- I understand that you collate data on the number of patients who attend the facility to send to the district on a monthly basis. Does this include patients with eye conditions?
 - Probe for who determines what data are sent to the district supervisor.

Closing

- How do you think demand for eye care in the community can be created?
- Some Primary Health Facilities in other states deliver primary eye care in their facilities.
 What is your opinion about that? Do you think it can work in your facility? Why do you say so?
- Name 3 of the most important things that would make delivery of primary eye care successful in your facility?
- Finally, is there anything I have left out or something else you would like to mention regarding primary eye care in this facility?
- If you think of something later, please feel free to contact me.

Thank you for your time

Appendix 9 District Supervisor Topic Guide

Topic Guide: District Level Supervisors

Aim: To assess (i) the extent to which eye health is supervised or can be supervised by district supervisors (ii) the perceptions/experiences of supervisors about PEC implementation in the district.

How long have you worked here?

What is your main role in this district?

Next, I would like to ask you some questions about your role as a supervisor.

Leadership and Governance

- How do you carry out the supervision of primary health facilities in this district?
 - Probe for how often each facility is supervised, how often (s)he goes on supervisory visits.
 - Are supervisory visits regular? Planned or impromptu?
 - Is there a supervisor's manual for District level supervision? Probe for what activities are supervised.
 - Probe for what have been the challenges for supervision e.g. transport, time, funding.
 Ask for personal examples.
 - What do you usually do during a supervisory visit? (check register, drugs in store; teaching, observation of case management; solving problems; giving feedback and recommendations)
- Do you supervise eye health activities at primary health care facilities in this district?
 - o If yes, what has been your experience?
 - If no, is there any reason why you don't? Please explain.
 - Do any of the facilities you make supervisory visits to deliver eye care by visiting eye care professionals? If so, is this activity included in your visits?
 - 0

Human Resources for Health.

- How would you describe your workload?
 - Probe for what happens on a normal working day.
- How confident are you about supervising PEC activities in this district?
 - Probe: What training if any have you undergone in supervision of PEC?
 - Probe: What is your opinion of you and other district supervisors undergoing inservice training to supervise primary eye care in the districts?
- Do most facilities have the full complement of staff?
 - Probe: if not why not

- Probe: it seems as if many facilities use volunteer CHEWs/JCHEWs i.e., they are not registered on the payroll. Why is this the case?
- What is staff turnover like in this district?
 - Probe for how easy it is to recruit staff. Give an example of when this happened.
 - Is absenteeism a problem? Why?
- How is in-service training of newly recruited staff done?
 - Probe: Who does the training? How can staff to undergo in service training for eye care in this district?
 - Probe: Do any NGOs work in this community? How could they facilitate PEC training for health workers-VHWs, JCHEWs, CHEWs, etc?

Service Delivery

- I understand that some districts in other states deliver primary eye care in their facilities. What do you think about making eye care available to community members at primary health facilities in this district? Why do you say so?
 - Probe: What do you think will make it work?
 - What do you see as the problems in delivering effective eye care?
- I understand that community members sometimes seek eye care from inappropriate sources such traditional health practitioners or patent medicine vendors.. What is your opinion on working with these sources to train them to refer patients to you?.
- Is there any relationship between the health department and the education department at district level?
 - Probe for how school eye health can be incorporated in schools?

Equipment, technology and consumables.

- How are regular supplies of standard drugs and consumables ensured for facilities in this district?
 - Probe: How regular or irregular is the supply?
 - Probe: What affects this supply?
 - Probe: How might eye drugs be supplied regularly to facilities in this district?
- What processes would be required to supply equipment for eye care which is not currently listed as essential for PHCs, such as for examining the eyes or measuring vision?
 - Probe for how basic eye equipment e.g. Snellen's chart can be procured.
 - Probe for how new equipment is procured (sourced and supplied).
- What processes would be required to supply medication for eye medication which not currently listed as essential for PHCs, such as for allergic eye disease?
- How are health promotion materials developed in this district?
- What processes would be required to develop new health promotion materials for eye care?

HMIS

• What data do you collect from the primary health facilities in your district?

- Probe: Who determines what data is collected?
- Who collects it?
- What happens to this data?
- How can eye care data be included in the data collected from the facilities?

Conclusion

- What do you see as the main problems that might prevent primary eye care from being delivered well in this district?
- Name 3 of the most important things that would make delivery of primary eye care successful in your district.
- Finally, is there anything I have left out, or something you would like to mention regarding primary eye care in this district?

Thank you for your time.

Appendix 10 Information Sheets and Consent Forms





Information Sheets and Consent Forms

Assessing the technical feasibility of integrating eye care into primary health care.

INFORMATION SHEET for District Supervisor.

My name is Ada Aghaji and I am a research degree student working on a project with staff at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, under the supervision of Prof Clare Gilbert and Dr Helen Burchett. I am carrying out research on Primary Eye Care in your state and would like you to participate.

What is the purpose of the project? Studies from Nigeria have shown that eye diseases are quite common, but the majority of people do not have access to eye care services, especially in rural areas. Providing eye care services at PHC level may improve access to eye care. The purpose of this project is to find out if it is possible to provide eye care at Primary Health Centres in Nigeria.

Why have I been selected to take part? You have been selected to take part because you are the District Supervisor in the district that we are studying and you can give us important information on the workings of PHC in your state and how it will affect the implementation of Primary Eye Care. We will appreciate it if you take part in this project. However, participation is voluntary. You can decline to take part or withdraw from the study at any point without having to give a reason.

What will happen if I agree to take part?

You will be interviewed in your office or any convenient place you may choose. It may take between 45 minutes to an hour. With your permission, we would like to record the interview so that we do not have to rely on notes or our memory on what you say. After we have typed up the interview the recording will be destroyed.

Are there any benefits to my taking part?

You will be contributing to the body of information on primary health care and helping to shape policy. Also, we understand that you may have other business today. You will be compensated for your time.

Will what I say remain confidential? All information is confidential. We may use a tape recorder, but strict anonymity will be maintained as we will not use any names in the reporting.

Are there any risks to my taking part? There may be a slight risk of your quote being recognised, but we will ensure that no names or specific titles will be used.

What will happen to the information you obtain during this project?

Information from this project will be analysed and the results will be disseminated to the World Health Organisation, government, health workers and by publication.

Consent. If you have agreed to participate, please read the consent form below and sign it. Thank you.

Further Questions. If you have further questions about this project, please contact Ada Aghaji at any of the addresses below:

International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk or call +2348033135567





INFORMED CONSENT FORM for District Supervisor

Investigators name and contact details.

Dr Ada Aghaji International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. <u>Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk</u> +2348033135567

Date	Date		the second to the second
Signature of Participant	Signature of researcher		
Print Name of Participant	Name of researcher		
I agree to take part in the study			
l agree that anonymous quotes of w publications	hat I say can be used in reports and		
I agree that if I am interviewed, my i	nterview can be recorded		
I have had the opportunity to ask qu questions I have asked has been ans	가 Header Head 2017년 1996년 - Header Header Header 1997년 1997년 1997년 1997년 - Header Header Header Header Header H		
I have read the information above a of me if I take part	nd I understand what is expected		
To be completed by participant. Plea	ise tick as appropriate	Yes	No

Day/month/year





INFORMATION SHEET for Primary Health Centre Head of Facility.

My name is Ada Aghaji and I am a research degree student working on a project with staff at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, under the supervision of Prof Clare Gilbert and Dr Helen Burchett. We are carrying out research on Primary Eye Care in your facility and would like you to participate.

What is the purpose of the project? Studies from Nigeria have shown that eye diseases are quite common, but the majority of people do not have access to eye care services, especially in rural areas. Providing eye care services at PHC level may improve access to eye care. The purpose of this project is to find out if it is possible to provide eye care at Primary Health Centres in Nigeria.

Why have I been selected to take part? You have been selected to take part because you are the head of the PHC that we are studying and you can give us important information on the workings of your facility and how they will affect the implementation of primary eye care. We will appreciate it if you take part in this project. However, participation is voluntary. You can decline to take part without having to give a reason and you can also withdraw from the study at any point without having to give a reason.

What will happen if I agree to take part? You will be assisted to fill a questionnaire on the health activities in your facility. In addition, you may be asked to participate in a short, structured interview- either alone or with other PHC participants in your office or any agreed on convenient location. It may take between 45 minutes to an hour. With your permission, we would like to record the interview so that we do not have to rely on notes or our memory on what you say. After we have typed up the interview the recording will be destroyed. In addition, photographs will be taken of this facility which may be used for publication or electronically in a manner in which you may or may not appear and in which you may or may not be identified.

Are there any benefits to my taking part?

You will be contributing to the body of information on primary health care and helping to shape policy. Also, we understand that you may have other business today. You will be compensated for your time.

Will what I say remain confidential? All information is confidential. We may use a tape recorder, but strict anonymity will be maintained as we will not use any names in the reporting.

Are there any risks to my taking part? There may be a slight risk of your quote being recognised, but we will ensure that no names or specific titles will be used.

What will happen to the information you obtain during this project? Information from this project will be analysed and the results will be disseminated to the World Health Organisation, government, health workers and by publication.

Consent. If you have agreed to participate, please read the consent form below and sign it. Thank you.

Further Questions. If you have further questions about this project, please contact Ada Aghaji at any of the addresses below:

International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk or call +2348033135567





INFORMED CONSENT FORM for Primary Health Centre Head of Facility.

Investigators name and contact details. Dr Ada Aghaji International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. <u>Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk</u> +2348033135567

To be completed by participant. Please tick as appropriate	Yes	No
I have read the information above and I understand what is expected of me if I take part		
I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and any questions I have asked has been answered to my satisfaction		
I agree that if I am interviewed, my interview can be recorded		
I agree that you can take photos of the facility		
*I agree that you can take photos of me in the facility during our discussions or in the course of my work in the facility		
I agree that anonymous quotes of what I say can be used in reports and publications		
I agree to take part in the study		
*Participant may decide not to consent to have his/her picture taken. All oth	her fields mus	t be filled for the participant
to take part in the study.		
Print Name of Participant Name of researcher		

Date _____

Day/month/year

Signature of Participant _____

Signature of researcher_____

Date___





INFORMATION SHEET for Junior Community Health Extension Workers

My name is Ada Aghaji and I am a research degree student working on a project with staff at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, under the supervision of Prof Clare Gilbert and Dr Helen Burchett. We are carrying out research on Primary Eye Care in your facility and would like you to participate.

What is the purpose of the project? Many people in Nigeria have eye problems and do not know where to go for treatment, especially people living in villages. If eye care is provided at PHCs, many people will be able to receive treatment. We want to find out if it is possible for PHCs to provide some eye care, so that people who need eye care can benefit.

Why have I been selected to take part? You have been selected to take part because you are a health worker in the PHC that we are studying and you can give us some information on how you go about your job in the health centre and how eye care could benefit from it. We will appreciate it if you take part in this project. However, your taking part is up to you. You can decline to take part or withdraw from the study at any point without having to give a reason.

What will happen if I agree to take part? You will be assisted to fill a questionnaire and an observational checklist on your activities in the facility.

Are there any benefits to my taking part? You will be giving us information that could help us make eye care available at PHCs. Also, we understand that you may have other business today. You will be compensated for your time.

Will what I say remain confidential? All information is confidential. Strict anonymity will be maintained as we will not use any names in the reporting.

Are there any risks to my taking part? You may find the process time consuming.

What will happen to the information you obtain during this project? Information from this project will be analysed and the results will be disseminated to the World Health Organisation, government, health workers and by publication.

Consent. If you have agreed to participate, please read the consent form below and sign it. Thank you.

Further Questions.

If you have further questions about this project, please contact Ada Aghaji at any of the addresses below:

International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk or call +2348033135567





INFORMED CONSENT FORM for Village Health Workers.

Investigators name and contact details.

Dr Ada Aghaji International Centre for Eye Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street. WC1E, 7HT. <u>Ada.Aghaji@lshtm.ac.uk</u> +2348033135567

To be completed by participant. Please tick as appropriate	Yes	No
I have read the information above and I understand what is expected of me if I take part		
I have had the opportunity to ask questions about the study and any questions I have asked has been answered to my satisfaction		
I agree that if I am interviewed, my interview can be recorded		
I agree that anonymous quotes of what I say can be used in reports and publications		
I agree to take part in the study		
Print Name of Participant Name of researcher		
Signature of Participant Signature of researcher	2	CORRECT TO THE
Date Date		

Day/month/year

Appendix 11. Additional Files from Paper 3: Results of a Delphi Exercise.

Supplemental material

BMJ Publishing Group Limited (BMJ) disclaims all liability and responsibility arising from any reliance placed on this supplemental material which has been supplied by the author(s)

Appendix 1

Search Strategy for Technical Feasibility Frameworks

Search number	Query	Filters	Search Details	Results
3	(technical feasibility AND (2000/1/1:2018/4/30[pdat])) AND (framework* AND (2000/1/1:2018/4/30[pdat]))	from 2000/1/1 - 2018/4/30	("technical"[All Fields] OR "technicalities" [All Fields] OR "technicality"[All Fields] OR "technically"[All Fields]) AND ("feasibilities"[All Fields] OR "feasibility"[All Fields] OR "feasible" [All Fields] OR "feasibility"[All Fields]) AND 2000/01/01:2018/04/30[Date - Publication] AND ("framework*"[All Fields] AND 2000/01/01:2018/04/30[Date - Publication])	274
2	framework*	from 2000/1/1 - 2018/4/30	"framework*"[All Fields]	192,596
1	technical feasibility	from 2000/1/1 - 2018/4/30	("technical"[All Fields] OR "technicalities" [All Fields] OR "technicality"[All Fields] OR "technically"[All Fields]) AND ("feasibilities"[All Fields] OR "feasibility"[All Fields] OR "feasible" [All Fields] OR "feasiblity"[All Fields])	16,587

Aghaji A, et al. BMJ Open 2021; 11:e042979. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2

Search Strategy for Primary Eye Care in sub-Saharan Africa

Search number	Query	Filters	Search Details	Results
	((("primary eye care" AND ((humans[Filter]) AND (1980/1/1:2018/4/30[pdat]) AND (english[Filter])) OR ((eye disease) AND (primary healthcare) AND (lhumans[Filter]) AND (1980/1/1:2018/4/30[pdat]) AND (english[Filter]))) OR ((eye) AND (humans[Filter]) AND ((humans[Filter]) AND (english[Filter])))) AND ((Africa) OR ("sub-Sahara Africa") AND ((humans[Filter]) AND (lhumans[Filter]) AND (1980/1/1:2018/4/30[pdat]) AND (english[Filter])))	Humans, English, from 1980/1/1 - 2018/4/30	(("primary eye care"[All Fields] AND ("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND 1980/01/01:2018/04/30[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language]]) OR (("eye diseases"[MeSH Terms] OR ("eye"[All Fields] AND "diseases"[All Fields]] OR "eye diseases"[All Fields] OR ("eye"[All Fields] AND "disease"[All Fields]] OR "eye disease"[All Fields]] AND ("primary health care"[MeSH Terms] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "health"[All Fields]] AND "care"[All Fields]) OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields]] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]] OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields] OR ("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND 1980/01/01:2018/04/30[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language]]) OR ("eye"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]] OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("eye"[All Fields]] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]] OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields]] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]] AND "health care"[MeSH Terms] OR ("primary"[All Fields]] AND "health"[All Fields] AND "care"[All Fields]) OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "health"[All Fields] AND "care"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields] OR "primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields] OR "primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields]) AND ("furmars"[MeSH Terms] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields]) AND ("furmars"[MeSH Terms] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields]) AND ("furmars"[MeSH Terms] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "africas"[All Fields] OR "sub-Saharan Africa"[All Fields]) AND ("humans"[MeSH Terms] AND 1980/01/01:2018/04/30[Date - Publication] AND "english"[Language]))	217
4	(Africa) OR ("sub-Saharan Africa")	Humans, English, from 1980/1/1 - 2018/4/30	"africa"[MeSH Terms] OR "africa"[All Fields] OR "africa s"[All Fields] OR "africas"[All Fields] OR "sub- Saharan Africa"[All Fields]	194,607
3	(eye) AND (primary healthcare)	Humans, English, from 1980/1/1 - 2018/4/30	("eye"[MeSH Terms] OR "eye"[All Fields]) AND ("primary health care"[MeSH Terms] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "health"[All Fields] AND "care"[All Fields]) OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields])	2,330
2	(eye disease) AND (primary healthcare)	Humans, English, from 1980/1/1 - 2018/4/30	("eye diseases"[MeSH Terms] OR ("eye"[All Fields] AND "diseases"[All Fields]) OR "eye diseases"[All Fields] OR ("eye"[All Fields] AND "disease"[All Fields]) OR "eye disease"[All Fields]] AND ("primary health care"[MeSH Terms] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "health"[All Fields] AND "care"[All Fields]] OR "primary health care"[All Fields] OR ("primary"[All Fields] AND "healthcare"[All Fields]) OR "primary healthcare"[All Fields])	2,635
1	"primary eye care"	Humans, English, from 1980/1/1 - 2018/4/30	"primary eye care" [All Fields]	192

Aghaji A, et al. BMJ Open 2021; 11:e04297

Appendix 2

Category

Delphi Round 1 Health Promotion

Criteria

Technical Complexity of community based interventions which comprises health promotion and prevention

Health promotion includes health messages for healthy people, health prevention comprises health messages for people at risk for eye diseases targeting children and their carers, those aged 40 years and above, people of all ages and those with diabotes.

Technical Complexity

conchord	O ATOMO									
Intervention characte	ristics	(Elements that need to be addressed)	Strongly	Agree	Agr	88	Disa	gree	Strongly	disagre
		ana ana ana ao amin' ao amin' ami	n	N	n % n % n % 2 22.2 0 0 0 0.0 3 33.3 0 0 0 0.0 2 22.2 2 22.2 0 0.0 3 33.3 0 0 0 0.0 1 11.1 2 22.2 1 11.1 1 11.1 0 0.0 0.0 4 44.4 1 11.1 0 0.0 3 33.3 0 0 0 0.0 4 44.4 2 22.2 0 0.0 4 44.4 2 22.2 0 0.0 1 11.1 4 44.4 0 0.0 1 31.1 3 33.3 1 11.1 3 33.3 0 0 0.0 0.0 3 33.3 0 0 0.0					
	Stability: usable lifetime and risk of destruction	Posters for health Prevention and promotion are needed.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	0.0
		Posters should be made durable by lamination.	5	55.6	2	22.2	2	22.2	0	0.0
	Standard izability: the degree to which an intervention can be standardized	per taget group.	6	66.7	3	33.3	0	0	0	0.0
Basic product design		This should be translated into the language of the community as is done for other health promotion posters.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	0.0
	Safety pixile of the intervention in terms of adverse effects, and risks associated with inappropriate use, e.g. from over the counter sales of prescription-only madications	No risk of serious side effects.	5	55.6	N n N n N n N 77.8 2 22.2 0 0 0 0.0 55.6 2 22.2 2 2 2.2 0 0.0 55.6 2 22.2 0 0 0 0.0 77.8 2 22.2 0 0 0 0.0 55.6 1 11.1 2 22.2 1 11.1 88.9 1 11.1 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 52.2 6 66.7 1 17.1 0 0.0 52.2 6 66.7 1 11.1 0 0.0 53.3 4 44.4 2 22.2 0 0.0 53.3 4 44.4 2 22.2 0 0.0 54.7 1 11.1 3 33.3 1 11.1 55.6 0 0 0					
		Messages should be clear, unambiguous and understandable displaying appropriate information.	8	88.9	1	11,1	0	0	y6 n 0 0 0 0 22.2 0 0 0 22.2 1 0 0 11.1 0 11.1 0 0 0 11.1 0 0 0 12.2 0 44.4 0 33.3 1 11.1 3 13.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11.1 2 0 0 11.1 0 0 0 11.1 0 0 0 11.1 0 0 0 11.1 0	0.0
	Ease of storage e.g. the need for refrigeration. Ease of transport	Health promotion materials do not have any specific requirements for storage and #ansportation.	4	44.4	4	44.4	1	11.1	0	0.0
	Need for regular supplies, and the number and types of different supplies needed. Ease of acquisition.	No requirements for regular supplies.	z	22.2	6	66.7	1	11.1	0	0.0
Supplies	ta minura anglesiar manana , cana ar segurama s	Different types of posters are be needed for different target groups, e.g. diabetics, the elderty, carers of young children.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	0.0
	High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed. Ease of acquisition	High technological equipment not required.	4	44.4	4	44.4	1	11.1	0	0.0
Equipment	Number of different types of equipment needed.	Low mantenance.	6	66.7	3	33.3	0	o	0	0.0
	Maintenance needed	Health promotion materials relatively easy to acquire.	3	33.3	4	44.4	2	22.2	0	0.0
Delivery characterist	ics		198	ly Agree				10.22		1000
	Detail sector Cuterack sectors - Circling large	Should be delivered in the community through outreach services for	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
	Retail sector, Outreach services, First-level care, Hospital care	diabetics, carers of young children during maternal and child health activities .	3	33.3	4	44.4	2	22.2	0	0.0
acilities		Should be delivered to specific groups that attend the primary health facility e.g. people over 40 years, Should be delivered to specific people that attend the primary health	4	44.4	3970	123251				192
		facility a g. people over 40 years,	4	44.4	1	11.1	3	33.3	1	11,
	Skill level required for service provision	Low skill requirement.	2	22.2	3	33.3	1	33.3 1 11.1 3 11.1 0 0 0 11.1 0 0 0	33,	
		Will require knowledge about community, eye diseases and where to access care.	6	66.7	.7 2 22.2 1 15.1 0 6 .7 3 33.3 0 0 6 .2 6 66.7 1 15.1 0	0.				
		Vilage Health Workers who live in the community should be trained to deliver health promotion in the communities. Facility based workers should deliver health prevention to	6	66.7			- 1923) 		0.9765	
luman resources		groups/individuals in the facility.	2	22.2	6	66.7	1	11.1	0	0.0
		Development of the health promotion materials and staff training will require professional instruction.	5	55.6	4	44.4	٥	٥	0	0.0
	Skill level required for staff supervision. Degree of supervision required.	Mid-level skill required to supervise health promotion/prevention activities.	3	33,3	5	55,6	aa a a aa aa a a a a aa a a a a a a a a			
	duration e.g. on schedul experiodic or continuous to	schedule.	6	66.7	3	33.3	0	0	0	0.0
	Need for managerial staff: Management and planning requirements.	Planning will be required to organise target audience to be sensitised in appropriate locations e.g. Mothers or care givers of young children.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	3.0 0 3.0 0 3.0 0 3.0 0
Communication and	Dependence of delivery on communication and transport in trastructure: roads, telephones, need for substantial exchange of information between different sectors or	Local transport in frastructure will be needed to visit communities.	4	44.4	3	93.3	2	22.2	0	0.0
ransport	levels of care.	Communication between the communities and the Front Line Health Facilities required	7	77.8	2	22.2	a	٥	0	0.0
		Communication in local language required	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	0.0
Government capacity	y requirements		Strong	ly Agree		ee S		% 8100	200.020	1211100
	Need for legislation/regulation, monitoring regulatory massures. Need for enforcement of regulation.	No special legislation required.	3	33.3		33.3	1 - 1 - 1	11.1	1000	1.5
legulation/legislation	conservation reasons of a matching of any preservation	A national prevention of blindness strategy will be ideal as is advocated in the Global Action Plan.	7	77.8	2	27.2	٥	٥	0	0.0
	Need for sophisticated management systems. Need for	No need for sophisticated management systems.	2	22.2	6	66.7	1	13.1	0	0.0
lanagement systems	managerial staff. Level of management and planning requirements.	Health Promotion logistics should be managed by managerial structure at frontline health facilities.	5	55.6	2	22.2	1	11.1	1	11
	partnership between government and civil society. Need	There is need for intersectoral action within government in trachomal endemic areas to implement water sanitation and hygione programmes.	8	88.9	1	11.1	0	0	0	0,
oilaborative action	for partnership between government and external funcing agencies	Eye health promotion could be effectively done in schools.	6	66.7	3	33.3	0	0	0	0.0
		Health Promotion will require collaboration with NGOs.	4	44.4	4	44.4	1	11.1	Q	0.0
		Collaboration between communities and Front Line Health Facilities is required.	7	77.8	2	22.2	٥	0	0	0.0
Jsage characteristic	s		Strong	ly Agree	Agr		Disa	8160	Strongly	dikagr
		Information and education of the target population in the community is	n	-2010			-	10000	12,000	
ase of use	Need for information and education	nacessary.	7	77.8						
	Need for supervision	Supervision of the Village Health Workers is important. The burden of ocular morbidity/BLNI has been established in many	8	88.9	1	11.1	U	u	U	UI
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion	setting in LMICs, but the demand for eye care services is low. Significant level of health promotion needed.	7	77.8	1	11.1	1	11.1	0	0.0
	Need to prevent resail counterfeiting	In some communities, itinerant couchers and traditional healers may								

Delphi Round 1 Facility Case Management

Technical Complexity of facility-based intervention

	Criteria	addressed)								
Intervention characteristi	CB		A			y 90		groo	disa	gree
		Batteries for torchas are not stable in hol olimates. Will require	n	55	n	**	15	*	n	56
		inoquent replacement.	1	11.1	5	22.2	5	55.6	2	22
		Eye drops will require cool storage.	1	11.1	5	55.6	2	22.2	1	11.
		Tetanus toxoid will require cold stoxage (refridgeration)	ß	66.7	1	11,1	1	11.1	0	0.0
	Stabilitylease of storage/ease of transport	Topical antibiotic ointment does not need odd storage	4	44.4	A	44,4	1	11.1	0	0.0
		Injectable antibidics for ophthalmia neovatorum will require cold storage	2	22.2	4	44.4	1	11.1	1	11
Basic product design		Sterile saline solution for eye imigation is needed and is stable	6	667	з	33.3	۵	0	٥	0.0
		High dose vitamin A is needed and is stable	4	44.4	5	55.6	o	0	0	0.0
		All the above consummables will be transported by pre-existing PHC transport channels	8	88.9	1	11.1	0	0	0	0.0
	Standardizability	The WHO AFROC PEC package as 5 algorithms for facility- based care with 12 protocols and 7 standards. Hence the	6	66.7	3	33.3	0	0	0	0.6
		intervention is standardized.								
RAINER	Safety profile	None of the products cause any harm, if delivered correctly	4	44.4	4	44.4	1	11.1	0	0.0
Supplies Squpment Delivery characteristics	Need for regular supplies	Regular supplies of sys medication are needed.	В	88.9	1	11,1	0	0	0	0.0
	High-technology equipment and infrastructure needed	Diagnostic equipment needed: Sedien distance visual acuity chart; eear visual acuity chart, torches and batteries.	6	667	3	33.3	D	0	0	0.0
		Infrastructure: Bridistance to measure visual acuity.	1	11.1	4	44.4	3	33.3	1	.11
-quipment		Space for counselling required.	4	44.4	5	55.6	0	0	0	0.0
	Number of different types of agapment needed Maintenance needed	One set of degrastic equipment per tability is readed	3	333	5	55.6	1	11.1	0	0.0
	wantehance needed	Toron batteries will need to be charged.		222 angly	5	55.6		0	Ster	11. ogty
Selivery characteristics				37 00		900 %	Disa	gree %		igree %
	Betal sector	Not applicable	ō.	0	4	11.1	6	66.7	2	22
	Outreach services		- 83 - 14					0.00	-	
	L'ultrach salvaat	None (see health promotion framework)	8	11.1	D	0.0	5	55.6	3	22
	Firshevel care	Diagnoses of management of uncomplicated passes can be delivered in Primary Health Centres and Health Posts.	5	55.6	4	44.4	D	0	0	0
	Hospital care	Hospital services are needed for referrals, severe cases and treatment laivnee, further investigations and management, as required.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	0	0	0
		Mid-level skill is required to make a diagnosis (eliciting a history; measuring visual acuity tracic eye examination)	7	77.8	3	11.1	D	٥	0	0
	Ballievel required for service provision	MisHevel skill is required for management of some conditions e.g., eye imigation; removal of foreign bodies; giving intramuscular injections (lotanue loxeid; antibiotice)	5	55.6	2	22.2	0	0	,	11
		Mid-level skill is required for identifying which cases to refer and the level of urgency	5	55.6	2	22.2	D	0	0	0.0
	Shill level required for staff supervision. Degree of supervision required.	Primary Health Care supervisers need a good lovel of knowledge of eye conditions and their management and be skilled in the above, activity needed.	5	55.6	3	33.3	٥	0	1	11
luman resources		Regular supervision of PEC required.	B	88.9	1	11,1	0	0	0	0
	Intensity of professional services in terms of frequency or duration, e.g. on schedule (periodic or continuous to accommodate emergencies.	Primary Health Care workers trained in eye care should be available continuously to manage emergencies	7	77.8	2	22.2	٥	0	0	0
		Managenal staff needed to manage supplies of consumables and plan purchasing	3	33.3	5	55.6	1	11.1	0 C 0 C	0
	Management and planning requirements. Need for managerial staff	tespecial services in terms of frequency exactledue (palkotic or both/recover to) exactledue (palkotic)	0							
		Manageral systems to coordinate staff rotations to ensure daily taxitity coverage by trained PEC staff.	5	556	3	33.3	1	11.1	0	0
or disaribre, e.g., ex echecide (particido de positiveo eccontrendade energiencies. Managoment and planning requiriements. Naed fo	Depends on communication to establish and maintain referral and feedback mechanisms between PH centres and eye	7	77.8	2	22.2	D	0	o	0	
Communication and Transport		department diric. Respond to tepdback from referrals. Transportation between PH Centre and referral centre imperative.	6	667	2	22.2	1	11,1	0	0
Government capacity req	mirements		Str	ongiy	4		Disa	gree		ingly
coreinsien copierid red			A n	3700 %	n	*	n	*	dica	ignee %
	Need for regulation	Appropriate medication 8 equipment need to be on the national essential drug list to facilitate availability.	в	889	1	11.1	Ð	0	0	0
	Need for monitoring regulatory measures. Need for	essense or g is to technise an analonity. There is need for regulation of drug prescription and dispensing	7	77.8	2	22.2	D	Ū	σ	0
Regulation/legislation	enfacement d'regulation.	by appropriate stall.	1	17.8	2	22.2	U	0	0	0
		Measies is a notifiable condition and should be reported to appropriate regulatory authorities.	8	88.9	0	0.0	1	11.1	0	0
		Ophthalmic noonatorum is a notifiable condition and should be reported	6	66.7	1	11.1	2	22.2	Ø	0
llanagement systems	Need for expiriciticated management systems	No need for pophisticated management systems	2	22.2	5	55.6	2	22.2	0	0
	Need for inter-sectoral action within government. Need for partnership between government and ovil society.	interectional action withingovernment or partherships between government and civil society are desirable but edilm atidatory.	4	44.4	4	44.4	1	11.1	0	0
collaborative action	Need for partners hip between government and external funding operates	Need for partnerships between governments and NGOs.	4	44.4	5	55.6	0	0	0	0
	renang system.	NGOs are responsible for the bulk of eye care in LMICs.	2	22.2	5	55.6	2	22.2	Ū	0
Usage characteristics				angly		y 90	Disc	gree		ngly
Conge characteristica	X0XXXxEED FOR INFORMATION		A	3700 %	n	~	n	×.	disa	gree %
		Outcomes of consultation at the PH Centre will be reassurance.	_							
	Need for supervision	tradiment (and) or referral. At this level, prescribed tradiments may not require supervision at home. Referrals to secondary control may require supervision to ensure	3	333	3	33.3	3	33.3	0	0
Ease of use			7	778	2	22.2	D	0	0	0
Ease of use		compliatod and may have to be supported.	6	11.0	£.	11111		1	(7)	
Ease of use Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion		7	77.8	2	22.2	D	0	n	0

Appendix 3

Modifications made in the technical complexity requirements after Delphi round 1

Gericke's Framework Dimensions	WHO AFRO PEC Package Component							
	Health Promotion and Prevention	Case Facility Management						
	Statem	ents Modified						
Intervention Characteristics								
Basic Product Design	Community Health Workers should be instructed on the	Torches can be solar-powered and are stable.						
	potential side effects of any health Promotion materials.	Appropriate and secure storage for drugs and consummables should be available.						
		Eye drops that do not require cool storage should be stocked.						
		Injectable antibiotics for ophthalmia neonatorum may require cool storage but should be available to treat other conditions.						
Equipment		Adequate space to support the use of appropriate and standardized visual acuity charts og 3m or 6m						
Delivery Characteristics	15. under de lan de la Staard (uit der							
Type of Fadility needed	Availability of community leaders to deliver eye health promotion when required							
	Opportunistic eye health promotion can be delivered to groups in the facility							
	Opportunistic health promotion can be delivered to individual people in the facility- if time permits.							
Human Resource Requirement								
Communication and Transport		Existing managerial facility staff should be able to establish and maintain referral and feedback mechanisms between the PH centre						
Government Capacity Requirements								
Regulation/Legislation	Heath promotion materials should be approved and endorsed by local regulatory authorities. Eye health promotion activities should be recorded and monitorad.							
Usage Characteristics								
Ease of use& Need for Supervision		Staff who are available to make supervisory home visits.						

Appendix 4

Delphi Round 2 Health Promotion

Category	Criterla	Technical Complexity	Technical Capacity needed								
		(Elements that next) to be addressed)	(Elements that next to be available)								
Intervention charact	eristics			Stee Ap		Ag	ree	Disa	gree		angly agree
	Stability usable lifetime and risk of destruction	Posters for health Provention and promotion are needed.	Postors that prande eye health should be available.	0	% 37.8	2	% 22.2	n 0	56 0	n D	*
	cablely, usuae was rearding of a service of	Posters i to restri Proveniun and promotin are recess.	The sustability of durable posters.		44.4	5	12.2	a	0	0	0
	Standardizability: the degree to which an intervention can be standardized	The Posters should be standardised by having the same message per target group.	The subliability of standardized posters, deficienting the same missission per target group.	5	55.n	4	44,4	0	٥	0	0
		This should be translated into the language of the community as is done for other health promotion posters.	Available posters should be in the language of the community.	ж.	66.7	1	11.1	3	22.2	D	0
lasic produci design	Solvey profile of the miseweetion in terms of adverse effects, and ricks associated within appropriate use, eq- finant over-the-counter seles of prescription-only medications.	No hill of sertue site effects.	Community Health Workers should be instructed on the potential dangers, such as liss of wall posters of any health Promotion materials. Machanisms for the proper disposed of indiposites should be impose.	3	33.3	\$	32.3	2	22.2	1	t1.1
		Messages should be dissr, unantiliguous and understandable displaying appropriate information.	Posters with self expansiony graphics should be available to accommodate the illinoists.	8	\$8.9	I.	11.1	0	0	.D	0
	Ease of storage e.g. the need for reingenation. Ease of transport	Health promotion materials do not have any specific requirements for storage and learnspot allor.	NA.								
	Need for regular supplies, and the number and types of otherent supplies needed. Ease of acquisition.	Norequirements for regular supplies.	NA								
Suppl es		Different types of posters are be needed for different target groups, e.g. diabetics, the elderly, casers of young unidem.	Availability of different types of posters for different larget groups which are appropriatility displayed.	ŝ	\$5.6	3	11.3	3	11.1	0	0
	High-technology equipment and intrestructure nabled.	High technological aquipment not required.	NA.								
Eguipment	Eabt of sequilitien. Number of different types of equipment needed. Mointenance-needed.	Los mantenance.	The availability of health promotion materials that are easy to maintain.	5	55.6	43	44,2	0	a.	0	0
		Health promotion materials relatively easy to sequire.	A system for the easy procurament of health promotion	6	66.7		11.3	0	0	0	0
Delivery characteris	die e		midanati.	Ster				Disa		Str	ndy
Dervery characteris			(3	Ag n	750 %	- AQ	740 156	0	S.	dia n	ngree N
	Rotal sextor, Duitoach services, First-level care, Hospital core	Should be delivered in the community through autreach services for diabetics, carers of young children during maternal and unitid health adjivites.	Availability of health promotion in the community that includes young children and their carers, diabetic send the didarty as their target audence. Availability of community leaders to didiver eye health	4	44.4	5	55.6	٥	o	Ó	0
Puelling		Should be delivered to appealle groups that allord the primary health	prandian when required The availability of time, space and willingness to doliver	3	33.3	2	22.2	3	33.3	1	11.1
		facility e.g. pacete ever 40 years. Sheuld be delivered to asset lic people that oftend the primary health	opportune to an inside prematen to groups in the facility.	2	77.8	1	11.1	1	111	0	0
		sincere se canverae to asserie peope inautento the permany neutrin facility e.g. people ever 40 years,	opportunia to ovo hositih promotion to targot ad individuale in the lacitity e.g. chabelics.	a.	55.6	2	22.2	2	22.2	D	0
	Skill level required for servic eprovision	Los dilli requirement.	Availability of stall's killed in communicating with community members	7	77.8	z 2	22.2	0	e,	0	0
		Will require locavicige about community, eye diseases and where to access care.	Availability of staft who are increasing able about community, eye diseases and where to secress care	7	77,8	z	22.2	0	σ	D	0
		Village Health Workers who has in the community should be trained to deliver health promotion in the communities .	Availability of vitage health workers resident in the community who are able to deliver health promotion.	6	65.7	3	21.2	a	ø	0	0
Human resources		Facility based waters should deliver health prevention to groups/individuals in the lacility	Fability based staff who are table to deliver health promotion:	5	55.6	4	44,4	0	0	0	0
		Development of the health promotion materials and staff training will require protestional instruction.	Availability of professionals to train staff on eye health promotion and develop health promotion materials.	9	100	0	0	0	σ	ā	0
	Skill level required for staff a upervision. Degree of supervision required.	Mid-level aikil required to aup-anise health pranelion/provertion activities.	Availability of supervisors who are cold to supervisionalith promotion aphylics including eye health.	7	77.8	2	22.2	0	α	Ø	0
		Health Promotion and prevention activities should be derivered on actualize.	Availability of stall who regularly deliver health promotion on schoolds.	7	77.8	2	22.2	٥	σ	n	0
	Need for increage at alaft. Monagement and planning requirements.	Planning will be required to organischarget audience to be sensitized in appropriate locations e.g. Mohers or care givers of young children.	Availability of existing managerial staff who plan and organise target audience to be sensitized in appropriate toordicnes e.g., carers of young children.	÷	\$5.6	2	4.6	0	0	.0	0
	initiastructure: roads, telephones, need for substantial	Load transport in trastructure will be needed to visit communities.	The sublability of local transport infrastructure to visit communities.	6	66.7	t	11.1	2	22.2	D	0
Communication and insnaport	exchange of internation between different sectors or laves of care.	Communication between the communities and the Front Line Health Facilities required	The sustaining of appropriate communication channels between the community and trontine results facilities.	н	88.9	E.	11.1	o	0	D	0
		Communication in local language required.	The svelability of staff who are oble to communicate in the	2	100	ø	ø	0	0	p	0
Government capacit	lu radul samante		local language.	Stes			ree	Disa	20	587	way
				74	25		5	n		dis n	agross Th
Regulation/legislation	Need for legislation/regulation, monitoring regulatory measures. Need for enforcement of regulation.	No special legislation required.	Health promotion materials which have been approved and andersoid by local regulatory autorities.	5	\$5.6	3	33.5	1	111	0	0
			Eye health promation activities that are recorded and manifored.	4	40.0	à.	11.1	1	11.1	ø	0
	Next for sophisticated management settems. Next for	A national provention of blindhesis bhategy will be ideal as is advocated in the Global Action Plan. No need for sachielia and immagement seatens.	Availability of a national bindings prevention shalegy that inceparates eye health promotion.	в	88.9		a	1	11.1	0	0
Manogement systems	neregetal staff. Level of increagement and planning requirements.	No need to signification insingenien system. Health Promotion logistics should be managed by managetal structure at frontline health facilities.	sen Availability of existing managerial dructures for Health Promotion that can be used to manage eye health promotion.	4	44.4	3	33.3	1	111	1	11.1
	partnership between government and civil society. Need	There is need for intersectional action within government in eachema endemic areas to implement water canitation and hydrene	Availability of interspectoral activities within government or permanentips between government and chail sockey	8	66.7	1	21.8	0	0	8	0
Collaborative action	for partnership between government and ecternal lunding signifiae	Fige realth promotion could be effectively conein echaols	The sustability of existing school realth programmes	3	33,3	÷	44.4	1	th	1	11.1
Considerative action		Health Promotion will require estudionation with NGOs.	The availability of octabenations with NGOs to provide nearth	1	11.1	6	66.7		22.2	D	0
		Collaboration between communities and Priori Line Health Pacifilies is required.	Availability of collaboration between communities and honline health communities is regulared.	7	77.8	z	22.2	0	0	D	0
Usage characteristic	C3		inclusion of the state of the s	Stes		As	ree	Disa	gree		angly
				A8 N	5		*	n	54	n	agrass 75
	Need for information and education	Information and education of the larger population in the community is necessary.	Communication channels with community that are available to inform target population	8	88.9	1	11.1	0	o	0	0
Ease of use	Next) for supervision	Supervision of the Village Health Workers is important.	Stall who are snallable to to expensive health promotion activities	в	88.9	i)	11.1	0	o	D	0
Pre-existing demand	Need for promotion	The burdes of coulds morticitly/BLIM has been established in many setting in LMEs, but the demand for eye care services is low. Significantioned of health promotion needed.	Staft who are able to engage in health promotion which includes the uptake of eye care when required.	8	88.9	1	11.1	0	٥	D	0
	Need to prevent resale/counterfielding	In some communities, lithwant couchers and traditional hoders may compete with ontoobx eye care practionners for the patients. Need to	Stall who are able and willing to engage with tracitional healers and train them to identify and refer eye conclutors. A system								

Delphi Round 2 Facility Case Management

Technical Capacity for facility-based intervention Category Criteria

Intervention cheracteriist	kos			51	di.se	**		Diss.	grue	Sto	41
		Batteries for the law out states in his calculus. Will segare traject	Torviers can be action amened and are statifie. They should be available Appropriate and uses response for allogs and comparisons are statid by	4	68.87	3	% 332		1	9 0	-
		Eye choos will way be card utorison.	evaluate E ye kirapa that do not require cast scrings sheatrone so shed		86.00		005	-		a :	3
		Eye chope will require contactings. Tribungs to service mouth storage controlmentions	Teterus boostwill was in consistences and should be realided from the failing	2	66.99	2	222	1	1	0	1
	State Marylesses of stategenieses of Itemsport	Tranco contrava aques collaborada con operativa Trancol emblicato parte est dess not reesi cold storage	el felolicocol remeranticocon contrellars. Transcell ambiendo contrelent e deve not require e contrellorager artici alfendo i ser		66.87		222	1		a.	
		 Concentration contracting and and and and an an an and an an	available injectotie on biotics for outplaining records strong oversame confettorage bat	1	44.46		233		11.1	19. 19.	
esia product design			should be pushed to best ofter conditions								
		Statile salme solution for eye imigation is meeted and le state	Statis mine solution for eye introduce a statis and should be scalable. Note they vice in A is vice and should be sublished from Malastrai and Child	2	44.44		233	2	31.3	g	
		(High close what the A is resided and is stable	hult addie	٥,	55.99		14.8	1	8	a	
		All the states of consummations while transportiently pre-entering PHC managed duration	Pre-average PAC transport channels should be presiden to transport PEC our sammacket.	7	27.78	7	222	T.		α.	
	Dan fuelikatility	The NHO AFROG PEC asking r as 5 algorithms for bolity lased care with 12 proceeds and 7 interested. Hence, he intervention to interchardise.	The NHO MYED PDG Package is standardized and content-oxidate in all Primary Case hashing	æ	71.53		033	t	1	α	
	Statively people	None of the products cause snythams, if delivered correctly	A valiable staff who are transitions be trained to beliver the intervention constitivity as an extra cause heim.	i.	10.22	16	114	1	i.	ġ.	
	Need for regular way dies.	Regular capalise of eye medication are meeting	A mechanical wardly extent first can expose the regains warply of eye	÷.	88.89	14	nă.	1	1	6	
Dappiers	name to region on the		Endlighters and consultations	1							
	High Lefracity on mean on internative readed	Diagnosts mappiner checker: Siselen distance visual accity chart man visual analy chart, torches and bigranies.	Diagnostic mappenent is available. Swellen discouse visual acatly of an web- micual socially chart, to dress and bulgaries.	7	77.78	2	582	1		α	
		where one an analysis is many sources	A declarate approximate a support the use of appropriate and standardized risks accept strange.	4	88,87		222	. 8		a.	
opuparan Delivery characteriosics		Space to counseling required.	Adaquate pasce la courselling patients should be suglidate.		10.19	1	ii.i	1	1	a	
againe in the second se	Note in or offerent goes of equipment respect	Gree set of clears axis, equipment per facility is readed	The eventuality choice set of diagnostic equipments,	×	15.87	\mathbf{z}	22	. 1	31.5	a	
	Maneerance resided	Functions and most take chargest	An anishing system for the maintenance of facility-regionment		15.94	*	44.8	ŧ.		a.	
livery characteristics					ands	4.0	-	0.0	-	Strue clicate	1
					*						
	Fishevatore	Diagnose of management of an complicated cases can be between the Remark Health Contents and Health Prats.	Тhe изволяр стеуе сая ранках зо параде инстримает не согология.		05.87	.2	33.8			a	
	Hospital core	Interest your control and many faith Interest batter investigations and management, as required	The residually of a whereal inception to manage complicated was constitutes.		10.99					a	
	Contract Carl								15		
		Molevel and is equival to index a diagnosis relating shistory, measuring assut assity, basic eye exprince/or a	Shaf who are ade to rake a diagnatic ploting a history measuring kinal act by task: we examinately	18	05.99	33	114	т	1	٥.	
	Skill level recepted for centice provider	Molecul dull is recorred for examplement of some conditions e.g. eye Highelox reenced of funion todies; giving intranuccular injections detarase transit and laterois;	Staff who are addr to manage save econditions e.g., type trigation, revealed of transprovation, giving intermacular injectors, premium societ, and edical	4	PR.19	1	114		1	â	
		Multi-tower swill as explained functionality ing which cases its refler and the available segments	Staff who are able to lease Pywhich cases to write and the facel of larger cy-	×.	88.99	(0)	11.1	× 1	10	α	
	Skill level received for code sinces. It reported	Primary manife Care supervisors need a paori tensi el knowleage of eye catologica se other analogicaent and te sidectin di matore, actuary	Polyary Health Care rependence who are increasing of every conditions and their		16.17	-	22.5	- 1		ä.	
	enti esveryas recimente	conditions of other management and be existence to endowe tacking reserved	racipment.	1	66.87	1	23.8			a.	
ingen restaurces		Regardle succession of PSIC required.	Supervices, who againty spansice PHC address and call spansis PSC advises	4	66.87	э	288	.1		a	
	Internéj di professional sentione la rema di Trepannay la ducapita e g. on scheekale parentik tarcombastas so sociami tobas amargancias.	Phinton-Holdb Care wathers trained in eye care should be available contributed by the manager emergencies	Staff values in PED who are available continues to manage type conditions, as pathly wrange state.	a	88.89	23	10	×	Ŧ	σ	
		Mayogethi staff needed is manage succifies of can samplifies and plan purchasing	Existing noncopelial facility soft will are able to manage the supply of consummables and plan punchasing.		66.97	3	333	1	8	U.	
	Management and planning requirements. Need for management shaft	Managerial staff resident a establish and resident effects and evaluation resolutions between the P / Centra and the objects period.	E esting nanogeral tabliq saif wire are issle to establish war wartan referant and leaduct, respirations between the PH cannot are eye departmenticient.	18	55.90	2	\$25	:1	313	1	
		Managemil nystems to scendinate staff retailors to ensure it sity facility contrage by barreal PSC staff	Execting managemalogithem to coordinate staff excisions to ensure dely facility surrange by trained PSC staff.	a	22.36	2	22.2	÷.	×.	ä	
record lating and Tomasor's	Departis an delivery of communication and transport	Organists on communication (Lineacalish) and reampler interval and backback mechanisms (Jawawa) Pricontines and upperform/comec. Respond to feedback from referrals.	The posistality of communication-channels connection where and sectors, mechanisms between the primary health facility and the referral center.	4	78.55	2	332	1	*	9	
none had been and Transport Department of communication and the effects indexes		Transportationsbetween #H Serper and referrationsmittingerative	The inside the of comparisation between the Primary feading add the refer on cardina		23.33		44.6	4	HER .	ă.	
Begends, an delivery of communication and trans-			AND AND ADD	51	rongly	49	-	Do	gran	Steo	4
	Nand for englishin	Appropriate or efficiency is equipment metric transmitte national escentral desprint to facilitate evolutionity	The industry of as propriate needsplice is equipment need to be or the material essential lengths? In both the containing.	4	86.87	2	191	1	1	π	1
	Need for monitoring regulatory meanware. Need for well scatter not regulation	There is need for regulation of drug prescription and dependingly y accordiates colf.	A system that regulates decay prescription and dispensing by oppropriate staff	7	77.78		225	. 1		a.	
pulation/legislation		Deaders is a reducable condition and should be recorded to approximate	The excisionity allow manuador channels to report measures outlensing to		100	0	0			٥.	
		ngi koyarlottes.	referencias Portiles. The exalicities of connected on charments its report automass of collitionies.								
		Optimistria aportazione la sinolfable condition and al rulo pereported	intergiorums to mility and authorities.	37	77.78	2	221	1	зŧ.	a	
ra general systems	Next for applications management systems	No meet for sophisticated management systems	Exercise includes the two of the second to the second to manage FDC.	1Ŧ	77.78	2	222	- 8	1	σ	
	Need for inter-sector alluption within powerment, filled to possible displayment generations, sectoral society.	time second action withingoverne will or partnerships between government withing activity an owidable but no montology	A subbility of interactional soften within government or partnerships between presentation and childractedy	4	00.67	3	082	ı.	1	۵.	
	Multiple and the barrier of second	Next for patrentific between governments and NGOs	Availability of health care NGOs in the correct with	-10	0	5	25.6	-	84	a :	
leborative aution	tand of forthering constructions and example		the second se	1			55.6		222	30	į
labo valive sulice			A standard of the second s					0 F.	412		
		NDOs are responsible for the tark of every an UNIOs	A validativy of evenue RGDs in the community.	50	11.51	6		12.0	Lang.		ß
			Availability of exercate INCOs in the community.	50		49	-	00	- C.	-	ſ
		NOCs are reported to the lask of the care in UNICs	Availability of exercise INODs in this community.	\$1	andy.			0 0 1	9100 5	1644 1	1
alaborativa autore Ukanga citua actoriatica			Bief n'n um weiste in n'er sogenter y ferennies.	50	andy.	49	-		- C.	-	
		NDCs are reported for the style of or cars in UNCs Outpress of completion style Pri Center will be reactable on temporary cardinates of the Bridge product compression on the same temporary of them. Not deal to consider under them,		51	andy gree	4g 1	5		*	1844 1	
		XOCs are reported to the lot if an out or resulting a Colourer of complete stiffs R1Contential or resolate or, tensors () and contents if it is a tenu, proclassifications require tes is a contention of them.	Shift white the conductor is an other sequence of them to the second sequence of the second	50 4 1	50.05	49 14 2	5 5 222	*	*	alisa a	

Aghaji A, et al. BMJ Open 2021; 11:e042979. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042979
Appendix 12. Additional Files from Paper 4. BMC HSR Human Resources & Governance.

ADDITIONAL FILE 1

Health posts and primary health care centres: coverage, cadres of staff and their expected responsibilities

Source Minimum Standards for Primary Health Care In Nigeria. National Primary Heath Care Development Agency. 2015

	Health posts	Health Centres
Population covered	500	10-20,000
Staff	JCHEW (1)	Doctor, if available
		CHO (1)
		CHEW (3)
		JCHEW (6)

Health attendants

The Health Post should be headed by a JCHEW. The JCHEW in addition to other duties see below should supervise Community Resource Persons (CORPs)

CORPs include voluntary village health workers, traditional birth attendants and other community based health service providers recognised by the appropriate health authorities

CORPs should provide health education and health promotion to support antenatal care, post-natal care and encourage institutional deliveries. They should not assist deliveries.

TYPE OF SERVICE	RECOMMENDED PROVIDERS					
	Community Health Officer (CHO)	Nurse Midwife (NMW)	Communirty Health Extension Worker (CHEW)	Junior Community Health Extension Worker (JCHEW)	Doctor	
A. Health education and promotion	X	x	Х	Х	Х	
B. Health management information system	X	x			Х	
C. Routine home visits; community outreach	Х	x	Х	Х	Х	
D. Maternal, newborn and child care	Identification of pregnant women, antenatal care, deliveries, post natal care, early childhood nutrition and growth monitoring. Only doctors and nurse midwives will take deliveries or perform basic emergency obstetric care					
	Х	x	х	х	Х	
E. Family planning	Counselling and motivation for family planning and dispensing of contraceptives. Only doctors, CHOs and nurse midwives can insert intrauterine contraceptive devices and give injectibles.					
y	Х	x	Х	Х	Х	
F. Promote proper nutrition; food education	x	х	Х	х	Х	

G. Immunization	x	х	Х	Х	х		
H. HIV AIDS	Voluntary counselling and testing, Follow up care for people living with AIDS. Only doctors and, nurse midwives and CHOs can treat opportunistic infections. Only trained personnel will conduct testing.						
	X	X	Х	Х	Х		
I. Tuberculosis	Diagnosis, case tracing	and case management in	TB centres. JCHEWS do	not undertake case mana	gement.		
	Х		х	Х	х		
J. Malaria	Treatment of children ar preventive treatment to		e treated nets. Only docto	rs and nurse midwives ca	n give intermittent		
	Х	X	х	Х	х		
K. Curative care	Treatment of health conditions should be according to the appropriate standing order for JCHEWs, CHEWs and CHOs						
	х	x	х	х	x		
L. Essential drugs	Drug dispensing. Stock management is done by the CHO and Pharmacy technician						
L. Essential drugs	Х	Х			х		
M. Water and sanitation							
	Х	Х	х	Х	х		
N. Oral health	Advice on care of the mouth and teeth. JCHEWS cannot treat oral or dental conditions						
	Х	X	х	х	х		
O. Community mental health	CHOs, nurse midwives and doctors can give mental health education and identify mental health disorders. All cadres can give advice and counsellig on drugs and substance abuse						

	x	х	х	х	х		
P. Referrals	Doctors, CHOs and nurse midwives to give counselling and motivation for referrals.						
P. Referrais	x	х	Х	Х	х		
O Maintaining PHC records	Only doctors, nurse mide	wives and CHO analyse d	ata				
Q. Maintaining PHC records	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
P. Monitoring							
R. Monitoring	X	х	Х		х		
C. Supervision	Each cadre may supervise a lower cadre. JCHEWs supervise CORPs						
S. Supervision	x	х	Х	Х	х		
T. Wasta dianasal	Use of safety boxes and colour coded bins based on WHO standard recommendations.						
T. Waste disposal	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
	Provision of DOTs treatment and support for TB, malaria and leprosy						
U. Others	Х	х	Х		Х		
V Adelessent health	Counselling and support	t. Treatment of minor ailme	ents				
V. Adolescent health	X	Х	Х		Х		

Health Policy Documents reviewed:
1. National Health Policy, 2016; Promoting the Health of Nigerians to Accelerate Socioeconomic Development.
2. National Health Act 2014

- 3. National Strategic Health Development Plan (NSHDP) 2010 2015
- 4. National Strategic Health Development Plan 2018-2022,
- 5. National Guidelines for the Development of Primary Health Care System in Nigeria 2012.
- 6. National Primary Health Care Development Agency; Minimum Standards for Primary Health Care in Nigeria, 2015
- 7. National Primary Health Care Development Agency Management Guideline for Primary Health Care Under One Roof. (PHCUOR) 2016
- 8. National Primary Health Care Development Agency; Implementation guidelines for Primary Health Care Under One Roof (PHCUOR) 2018
- 9. National Standing Orders for Community Health Officers 2015
- 10. Essential Medicines List 2016. 6th edition.
- 11. National Eye Health Strategic Plan, 2014-2019

Policy document	Governance		Health workforce		
	Primary Health Care	Eye health	Primary Health Care	Eye health	
National Primary Health Care Development Agency; Guidelines for the development of PHC systems in Nigeria, 2012.	Supervision of health facilities to be conducted quarterly by the local government management team. Standing orders ensure quality of care and provide legal backing for health workers, and are advisable for nurses/midwives, doctors, dentists and dental assistants working in PHC.		The state ministry of health is responsible to establish a formal continuing education system for upgrading the knowledge and skill of all practicing health workers within the State and LGAs		
National Health Act, 2014	The Basic Health Care Provision Fund shall be established and the NPHCDA shall disburse this fund to state primary health care development authorities.		Mandates the development and implementation of a Basic Health Care Provision Fund. 10 per cent of the fund shall be used for the development of human resources for PHC		
Minimum Standards For Primary Health Care in Nigeria, 2015	Supervisors should be at least one level above those supervised		There should be a minimum number, mix and skill sets required in each facility type. [details of cadres listed]. It is recommended that the cadres are		

Findings of policy document review, highlighting references to primary health care and eye care, for human resources for health and governance.

Policy document	Gover	mance	Health workforce		
	Primary Health Care	Eye health	Primary Health Care	Eye health	
			matched to services based on their competencies.		
National Eye Health Strategic Plan, 2014- 2019		Objective: to advocate for policy that includes PEC as an integral part of PHC.		PHC workers will be integrated into PEC through workshops and seminars on the identification and management of some basic eye care conditions.	
National Primary Health Care Development Agency Management Guideline For Primary Health Care Under One Roof. (PHCUOR) 2016		Objective: to implement a minimum package for prevention and control of non-communicable diseases including the provision of PEC to reduce preventable blindness which contributes to increased morbidity and mortality.	PHC management team should develop a sustainable system for human resources for health advancement and capacity- building.		
National Health Policy 2016	PHC shall remain the basic philosophy and central focus for national health development. The overall policy directives for PHC shall include strengthening of PHC management through a unified governance system at the state and LGA levels.	Objective: to integrate eye care services into the existing national health programs.	To provide appropriate and adequate human resources for healthcare at all levels of the health system.		

Policy document Gover		nance	Health w	orkforce
	Primary Health Care	Eye health	Primary Health Care	Eye health
Implementation guidelines for Primary Health Care Under One Roof (PHCUOR) 2018	The State PHC Board is an administratively autonomous and self-accounting PHC entity established by law to manage PHC in the State as recommended by the 54 th National Council on Health through Resolution 29, backed up by the National Health Act of 2014.			
National Strategic Health Development Plan II, 2018- 2022		Develop/adapt policies, plans and programmes for eye health and prevention of visual impairment. Establish a functional unit for eye health at the Federal and State Ministries of Health. Promote establishment of a multi- sectoral coordination platform for eye health.		

The World Health Organization's Health System's Framework Building Blocks



(1) World Health Organization. Everybody's business--strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. 2007

Codes for data analysis of semi-structured interviews.

ating to the Employment, Attrition,
training, number and distribution of d,
lating to Policy, Supervision, ship, clinical guidelines, oversight and
ating to data collection; staff and ata transmission and dissemination,
ertaining to services delivered in the nities, types of interventions, target
ertaining to the availability, naintenance of equipment and supply delivery mechanisms for
of this research

1. World Health Organization. Everybody's business--strengthening health systems to improve health outcomes: WHO's framework for action. 2007.

Appendix 13. Additional Files from Paper 5 BMC HSR Equipment Service Delivery

Document	Service Delivery		HMIS	HMIS		Drugs, Equipment, Infrastructure		
	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy		
	Objective: to strengthen Nigeria's health system, particularly the PHC subsystem, to deliver quality, effective, efficient, equitable, accessible, affordable, acceptable and comprehensive health care services to all Nigerians	Part of the package for key non- communicable diseases includes screening for eye disease at primary level, the diagnosis and provision of basic eye treatment services and referrals, and rehabilitation for the visually impaired.			Accelerate revitalization of PHC infrastructure for improved access to health services			
National Strategic Health Development Plan 2018-2022.		• A scale-up provision of comprehensive (preventive, curative and rehabilitative) and equitable eye care services across all levels of the health system, from PHC level, with emphasis on vulnerable groups such as children and the elderly is planned/recommended.		Recommends assessment of the prevalence and causes of vision loss to generate more current data and track trends over time	Endorses the integration of essential eye health medicines, equipment and technologies into the logistics supply chain management system at all levels	Erythromycin ointment for ocular prophylactic of the new-born included in the package for new-born health at all levels.		
		 Erythromycin ointment for ocular prophylaxis of the new-born included in the package for new-born health at all levels 						
NPHCDA Minimum standards for PHC in			• Data are generated by maintaining records which includes completion of cards, routine and notifiable disease forms, HMIS register and summary forms.			• Recommends that Chloramphenicol eye drops and ointment, and Chlortetracycline ointment be available at health centres as part of the minimum standards for PHC		
Nigeria 2015			 All health facilities are to submit hard copies of routine data to LGA M & E officers for entry into the DHIS2 platform on a monthly basis, while LGAs are to submit to States quarterly. 			 Snellen's chart and pen torches should be available in health centres but not in health posts. 		
National Essential Medicines List 2016.						Chloramphenicol eye drops and ointment, and Chlortetracycline ointment to be		

Appendix 13. Additional Files from Paper 5 BMC HSR Equipment Service Delivery

Document	Service Delivery		HMIS	HMIS		Drugs, Equipment, Infrastructure	
	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	
						available at primary health centres. Erythromycin not included.	

Appendix 13

Additional file 1. National Health Policy Documents Reviewed. Health policies that support the implementation of PEC in Nigeria with regard to service delivery, HMIS, infrastructure, equipment and consumables.

Document	Service Delivery		HMIS		Drugs, Equipment, Infrastructure	
	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy
National Health Act 2014.	50% of the Basic Health Provision Fund to provide basic minimum package of health services to citizens.		• The Federal Ministry of Health shall facilitate and co-ordinate the establishment, implementation and maintenance by State Ministries, LGA Health Authorities and the private health sector of the health information systems at national, state and local government levels to create a comprehensive National Health Management Information System.		• Mandates the establishment of the Basic Health Care Provision Fund: 20% to be used for essential drugs, vaccines and consumables for eligible PHC facilities.	
	package of health services to citizens, in eligible primary or secondary health care facilities through the National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS).	• The Minister may, for the purpose of creating, maintaining or adapting databases within the national health information systemprescribe categories or kinds of data for submission and collection and the manner and format in which and by whom the data are to be compiled or collated and shall be submitted to the Federal Ministry of Health.		• Recommends that 15% of the Basic Healthcare Fund be used to provide and maintain facilities, equipment and transport for eligible PHC facilities.		

Document	Service Delivery		HMIS	HMIS		Drugs, Equipment, Infrastructure	
	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	PHC policy	PEC policy	
					• A compendium of drugs approved for use in health facilities throughout the Federation (in this Act referred to as the "Essential Drugs List"), to be reviewed periodically by National Drugs Formulary, and Essential Drugs List Review Committee.		
National Health Policy 2016	to provide and ensure access to, and use of, high quality and equitable health care services by all Nigerians, particularly at PHC level.	To build capacity for eye care services delivery at all levels	 Objective: to provide timely reliable and accurate data that will inform policy making, evidence-based decisions and resource allocation for improved health care at all levels. The NPHCDA has been mandated to provide annual reports on the status of PHC implementation nationwide. Objective: To strengthen data infrastructure, including ICT infrastructure at all levels To institutionalize an integrated and sustainable health information system for decision-making at all levels in Nigeria 		Supports the NHA that 15% of the Basic Healthcare Fund be used to provide and maintain facilities, equipment and transport for eligible PHC facilities		
National PHC Development Agency: Integrating PHC Governance in Nigeria: PHC under one roof. 2016.		As part of the minimum package for prevention and control of non- communicable diseases, the NPHCDA recommends the provision of primary eye care to reduce preventable blindness which contributes to increased morbidity and mortality.					

Additional file 2. Framework for semi structured interviews.

Topic Guide: Head of Facility

Aim: To assess the perceptions/experiences of facility heads about PEC implementation in the facility.

Introduction

How long have you worked here?

What is your main role in this facility?

Next, I would like to ask you some questions about your role as the Head of this Facility.

6. Leadership and Governance.

- I understand that you supervise Health Promotion Activities in this community. What has your experience been like?
 - Probe: What groups are targeted? e.g. new-borns, mothers and their young children, the elderly.
 - Probe: What health promotion activities are supervised.
 - Probe: What have been your challenges and opportunities. Ask for personal examples.
 - Probe for how eye health activities are supervised.

7. Human Resources for Eye Health

- As a member of this community, can you tell me who people usually consult first when they have a health problem?
 - What about people with eye conditions who do they usually consult first? What do you think about that?
 - What would you feel about working with these groups to encourage them to refer eye patients to this facility?
- •
- Could you describe what happens when a patient with eye problems comes to this facility? Give an example of when it happened.
 - Probe for what knowledge and skills staff have to handle eye cases.
 - Probe for how confident (s)he is in supervising PEC and what resources (s)he may need to effectively carry out PEC supervision-training, time, supervision.
 - Probe for what in service training is available for health workers and whether any is available for PEC.

8. Service Delivery

- I understand that the facility sometimes produces key messages for health promotion. Can you explain the process of how you do this? Give examples from your personal experience.
 - What do you think about incorporating key messages for promoting eye health?
 - What has been your experience in demand creation for a new intervention? Give an example. e.g.
 Insecticide treated mosquito nets.
- Are any NGOs supporting services in this facility or in the community?
 - Probe: what do they support?
 - How effective has their support been?
 - In what way can these NGOs support eye care?

9. Equipment Technology Consumables.

- Do you face any difficulties in sourcing equipment for this facility?
 - Probe for how one gets equipment fixed when it breaks down.
- Based on your experience, do you think there will be any problems sourcing eye care equipment in this facility? (*Snellen distance visual acuity chart; near visual acuity chart, torches and batteries*).
- Based on your experience, do you think there will be any problems sourcing consumables in this facility?? (saline, cotton wool, gauze, plaster)
- How would easy will it be to stock eye medications in this facility.
 - Probe for how easy it will be to stock eye medications, what the cost of medications are, what the demand for eye medications is like.
- How is eye care medication dispensed to patients in this facility with eye conditions who need them?
 - Probe for who prescribes the medication. Probe for how much the drugs cost.
 - Probe: What happens when stock outs occur? Please give an example of when this occurred.
- Who in the facility is responsible for maintaining stocks of medication?
 - Probe for what training if any they have had in this?

10. Health Management Information Systems

I now would like to ask you some questions about the information you record in this facility.

- Please can you explain to me who is responsible for completing the patient register?
 - Probe: How is patient attendance documented?
 - Probe: If eye conditions have not been registered in this facility (from Quant tool), why is this the case?
- What is the process for referring patients to referral centres?
 - Probe for how compliant patients are.
 - Probe for assisted referrals-phone calls or transportation.
 - Probe in what way if any feedback is given from the referral centre.
- In what way are staff shifts managed?
 - Probe: Is this a 24-hour facility?
- Probe: In what way do staff manage an inventory for drugs and consumables?
 - Probe for record keeping.

- Probe whether staff have received training for inventory management.
- I understand that you collate data and send to the district. Is eye health data included?
- Probe for who determines what data is sent to the district supervisor.

Closing.

- How do you think demand for eye care in the community can be created?
- Some Primary Health Facilities in other states deliver PEC in their facilities. What is your opinion about that? Do you think it can work in your facility? Why do you say so?
- Name 3 of the most important things that will be necessary to make PEC work successfully in your facility.
- Finally. Is there anything left out or something you would like to mention regarding primary eye care in this facility?
- If you think of something later, please feel free to contact me.

Thank you for your time.

Appendix 14. Additional Files from Paper 6: Health Promotion PLOS Global Health

<u>S1 Data.</u> JCHEW data form and checklist. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.s001 (XLSX) Please see Appendix 5. Page 170

<u>S2 Data.</u> JCHEW questionnaire. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.s002 (XLSX) Please see Appendix 6. Page 173

<u>S3 Data.</u> VHW questionnaire. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.s003</u> (XLSX) Please see Appendix 7. Page 180

<u>S1 Text.</u> Topic guide for facility heads and district level supervisors. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.s005</u> (DOCX) Please see Appendix 8. Pages 184-189

<u>S4 Data.</u> Criteria for selection of facilities for semi structured interviews. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000645.s004</u>

(XLSX)

	Factor	Source	Measure	Score
1	Leadership and Governance			
	Observed evidence of PHC Facilitysupervision in last 6 months	HoF Checklist	Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Availability of SOPs in Facility	HoF Checklist	Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Use of SOPs at least frequently	HoF Questionnaire	Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
2	HReH			
	Have requisite number of formally trained CHEWs (whether salaried or not)	HoF Checklist	Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Have requisite number of active health workers (JCHEW)		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
3	Service Delivery			
	Health Promotion in community 2x monthly	HP Questionnaire		
	Health Promotion Facility (health talks) x4 monthly	JCHEW Questionnaire		
	Number of patients attending all ages / 1000 population		data	highest
	Number of patients attending 50+ years / 1000 population		data	highest
	Blood glucose measurement		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
4	HMIS			
	Any eye patients recorded	HoF Questionnaire	Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Referral slips		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
5	Equipment/Infrastructure			
	Space for counselling	HoF Checklist		
	Space for VA measurement	HoF Checklist		
	Observed inventory for medication	HoF Checklist		
	Medication available for eye care		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Functioning refridgerators for cold chain for measles vaccine		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2
	Functioning torches		Yes/No	Yes=1; no=2

Selection of 9 Facilities

PHC 1 "Top performing" and 1 "under- performing" from urban, semi urban and rural districts. Sub-total=6 Health Posts 1 "top performing" from rural and semi urban districts and 1 "under-performing" from urban. Sub-total 3

				Criter	ia for sele	cting Fa	Facilities for Semi structured interviews and					ealth Wor	ker Asses	sment											
			Governance				HR		Service delivery							ŀ	HMIS	Infrat	Infratructure & Equipment]		
Facility ID	District	Type of District	Name of facility	PHC/ Post	Supervisi on often	Have SOPs	Use SOPs often	Enough CHEWs	Enough JCHEWS	Catchment pop	Patients all ages	Rate all ages	>200=1, <200=0	Patients aged 50+years	Rate in patients aged 50+years	>20=1. <20=0	Glucose testing	Any eye patients	Referral slips	Eye medication	Fridge (working)	Torch (working)	Total score		Criteria
				PHC or HP	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0								yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0	yes=1/ no=0			
PR		TH CENTRES																						1	
1 30	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	1	1	1	1	0	6444	4037	626	1	456	71	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	9	Selected	Top performing urban PHC
2 6	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	1	0	24609	5036	205	1	1769	72	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	8	Selected	Top performing semi urban PHC
3 13	Redacted		Redacted	PHC	1	1	0	0	0	6197	778	126	0	170	27	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	7		
4 <u>25</u> 5 <u>37</u>	Redacted Redacted	Urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	3330 7500	2087	627	1	112 44	<u>34</u> 6	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	7	Selected	Top performing rural PHC
6 1	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	PHC	1	1	0	0	0	3000	1384	461	1	69	23	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	6		
7 11	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	1	0	0	10500	626	60	0	110	10	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	6		
3 <u>14</u> 9 20	Redacted Redacted	Semi urban Urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	1	1	0	0	0	3479 11562	654 NA	188 NA	0	75 NA	22 NA	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	6	-	
20	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	2960	1873	633	1	281	95	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	6	1	
1 32	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	1	1	1	0	0	7345	1914	261	1	54	7	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	6]	
2 35 3 40	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	3746	830	222	1	52	14	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	6		
3 40 4 12	Redacted Redacted	Rural Semi urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	1	1	0	0	0	9895 7197	1412 445	143 62	0	27 125	3	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	6 5	-	
5 19	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	2451	1401	572	1	256	104	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	5	1	
6 27	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	0	0	0	0	0	2051	2793	1362	1	96	47	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	5]	
7 34	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	0	0	0	0	0	7200	2665	370	1	111	15	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	5		
8 <u>28</u> 9 31	Redacted Redacted	Urban Urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	12519 7222	2544 NA	203 NA	1	NA NA	NA NA	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	4	-	
33	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	4852	1037	214	1	40	8	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	4	-	
1 36	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	0	1	0	0	0	5008	1419	283	1	26	5	0	1	0	0	0	0	1	4		
2 41	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	1	1	1	0	0	4808	1638	341	1	37	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4		
3 <u>43</u> 4 4	Redacted Redacted	Rural Semi urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	13370 6617	1606 845	120 128	0	NA 39	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	4		
5 5	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	23190	7048	304	1	256	11	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	3	-	
6 9	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	9867	626	63	0	110	11	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	3	1	
7 18	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	7024	1360	194	0	48	7	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	3		
8 <u>7</u> 910	Redacted Redacted	Semi urban Semi urban	Redacted Redacted	PHC	0	0	0	0	0	10000 16324	419 1747	42 107	0	24 135	2	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	Selected	Under-performing semi urban PHC
0 24	Redacted		Redacted	PHC	0	0	0	0	0	4782	3075	643	1	164	34	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	4	
1 26	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	7896	2884	365	1	84	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	Selected	Under-performing urban PHC
2 42	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	1	0	0	0	0	14007	3579	256	1	87	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2		
3 38	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	PHC	0	0	0	0	0	10208	1305	128	0	43	4	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	Selected	Under-performing rural PHC
	HEALTH	POSTS																						1	
2	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	HP	1	1	1	1	1	11185	277	25	0	39	3	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	9	Selected	Top performing semi urban HP
2 23	Redacted	Urban	Redacted	HP	0	0	0	1	1	1317	1752	1330	1	84	64	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	6	Calculation	Top porterming grant UD
8 48 15	Redacted Redacted	Rural Semi urban	Redacted Redacted	HP	0	1	1	0	1 0	5025 2115	1724 545	343 258	1	26 103	5 49	0	1	0	0	0	0	1 0	6	selected.	Top performing rural HP
5 3	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	HP	1	1	0	1	1	8791	231	230	0	29	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4		
8	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	HP	0	0	0	1	0	6000	1237	206	1	62	10	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	5		
7 16	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	HP HP	1	0	0	1	1	NA 0047	836	NA	NA	66 NA	NA	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	4		
3 <u>22</u> 9 44	Redacted Redacted	Urban Rural	Redacted Redacted	HP	1	1	0	1	0	9047 5850	NA 963	NA 165	NA 0	NA 43	NA 7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	-	
45	Redacted	Rural	Redacted	HP	0	1	0	1	0	9253	2571	278	1	197	21	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	5	1	
1 17	Redacted	Semi urban	Redacted	HP	0	0	0	1	0	5754	433	75	0	141	25	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	4		
2 <u>39</u> 346	Redacted Redacted	Rural Rural	Redacted Redacted	HP HP	1	0	0	0	0	22500 14004	NA 2346	NA 168	0	NA 26	2	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	3		
3 46 4 47	Redacted		Redacted	HP	0	1	0	1	1	5233	1262	241	0	26	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3	1	
5 21	Redacted		Redacted	HP	0	0	0	1	0	3847	1309	340	1	NA	NA	NA	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	Selected	Under-performing urban HP
							ity/1000 pc																		
				Names of	f Facilities	and their	districts ha	ave been r	edacted to	maintain anony	/mity														
										ractice Guideline	es														
					/- (lunior)	Commun	ity Health E	Extension	Workor																